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Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust

Council of Governors Meeting

Location: MS Teams

Microsoft Teams Need help?

Join the meeting now

Meeting ID: 374 043 479 333

Passcode: nbseuq

Dial-in by phone

+44 20 3321 5208,,310898013# United Kingdom, London

Find a local number

Phone conference ID: 310 898 013#

Date: 18 July 2024
Time: 14:00 - 15:30
AGENDA
1.0 | GENERAL BUSINESS
1.1 | Welcome and Apologies for absence Verbal | Chair
Apologies: Maureen Chatterley
1.2 | Declarations of interest Verbal | Chair
- Minutes of CoG Meeting held on 17t April 2024
- Minutes of Extraordinary CoG Meeting held on
29" May 2024
1.3 - Minutes of Extraordinary CoG Meeting held on Paper | Chair
27™ June 2024
- Action Log
2.0 | UPDATES
2.1 | Chair’s Report and NWL Acute Provider Collaborative paper | Chair
(APC) Update P
2.2 | Chief Executive’s Report and Trust Update Paper | Chief Executive Officer
3.0 | FOR DISCUSSION
To receive the Annual Report and Accounts which will be Chief Executive Officer
3.1 | formally presented at the AMM later on 18 July Paper | and Chief Financial
Officer
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Chair of the Audit and

3.2 | Annual Report from the Chair of the Audit and Risk Paper . .
. Risk Committee
Committee (ARC)
Chair of Council of
Council of Governors Membership and Engagement Sub- Governors Membership
3.3 . Paper
Committee Report and Engagement Sub-
Committee
4.0 QUALITY
Chair of the Quality
. Committee (Vice
4.1 | Quality Update Paper Chair)/Chief Nursing
Officer
4.2 | AccessAble work update Paper | Vice Chair
5.0 | OTHER BUSINESS — ITEMS FOR NOTING
Lead Governor
Updates from Governor Focus Conference Verbal /
51 Governors
Any other business, including: Paper
5.2 | #5.2.1 CoG Forward plan and schedule of Council of
Governor meetings 2024/25 Paper Chair/Lead Governor

*5.2.2 Governor attendance register

Date and Time of the Next Meeting

17t™ October 2024, Main Boardroom, Lower Ground Floor
at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital and MS Teames,
16:00 —18:30

Chair
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1.1 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

; Chair
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1.2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
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1.3 MINUTES OF COG MEETING

1.3a Minutes of CoG Meeting held on 17 April 2024
1.3b Minutes of Extraordinary CoG Meeting held on 29 May 2024
1.3c Minutes of Extraordinary CoG Meeting held on 27 June 2024

| REFERENCES
ﬁ 1.3a CoG Meeting -17 April 2024v2.pdf
ﬁ 1.3b Extraordinary CoG Meeting - 29 May 2024.pdf

A
k 1.3c Extraordinary CoG Meeting - 27 June 2024.pdf

Only PDFs are attached
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Present:

In Attendance:

Apologies:

Did not attend:

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust

DRAFT MINUTES OF COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS (COG)
17t April 2024 — 12:30-15:00hrs
In person and MS Teams
Small Hall, Chelsea Old Town Hall, King's Rd, London SW3 5EE

Matthew Swindells

Stephen Gill

Caroline Boulliat Moulle

Nigel Clarke
Cass J Cass-Horne
lan Dalton

Simon Dyer
Minna Korjonen
Nina Littler

Stella Macaskill
Cllr Will Pascal
David Phillips
Lucinda Sharpe
Desmond Walsh
Laura-Jane Wareing
Jo Winterbottom

Lesley Watts CBE
Robert Bleasdale
Lindsey Stafford-Scott
Patricia Gallan
Virginia Massaro
Peter Jenkinson
Marie Price
Magdalena Farias
Graham Chalkley
Alexia Pipe

Richard Ballerand
Maureen Chatterley
Nara Daubeney
Christopher Digby-Bell
Stuart Fleming

Rose Levy

Ras. | Martin
Professor Mark Nelson
Parvinder Singh Garcha
Aman Dalvi

Carolyn Downs

Ajay Mehta

Neena Modi

Syed Mohinuddin
Catherine Jervis
Neville Manuel

Julie Carter

North West London (NWL) Acute Provider
Collaborative (APC) Chair in Common
Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director
Patient Governor

Lead Governor/Public Governor

Public Governor

Patient Governor

Patient Governor

Patient Governor

Public Governor

Patient Governor

Appointed Governor

Patient Governor

Staff Governor — Nursing and Midwifery
Appointed Governor

Public Governor

Public Governor

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Nursing Officer

Chief People Officer

Non-Executive Director

Chief Financial Officer

Director of Corporate Governance

Deputy Director of Corporate Governance
Corporate Governance Administrator
Corporate Governance Officer

Chief of Staff to the Chair in Common

Public Governor

Public Governor

Public Governor
Patient Governor
Public Governor

Public Governor

Public Governor

Staff Governor — Medical and Dental
Public Governor
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director

Public Governor

(Chair)
(SG)
(CB)
(NC)
(CJCH)
(ID)
(SD)
(MK)
(NL)
(SMa)
(WP)
(DP)
(LS)
(bw)
(LJW)
(w)

(Lw)
(RB)

(LSS)
(PG)
(VM)
(PJ)

(MP)
(MF)
(GC)
(AP)

(RBD)
(MC)
(ND)
(CDB)
(SF)
(RL)
(RIM)
(MN)
(PSG)
(AD)
(CD)
(AM)
(NMi)
(SMo)
(Q))
(NMa)

(JC)
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1.0 GENERAL BUSINESS

1.1 Welcome and apologies for absence

The Chair welcomed members of the Council of Governors and those in attendance to the meeting,
apologies were noted, the meeting was quorate.

1.2 Declarations of interest
There were no Declarations of Interest.

13
Minutes of previous meeting held on 25" of January 2024
Except for minor amendments, the minutes were approved.

Minutes of the Extraordinary CoG meeting held on 26" of February 2024
The minutes were approved.

Action Log
There was nothing to report.

2.0 UPDATES

21 Chair’s Report and NWL APC Update

The Chair summarised his report and confirmed that two new Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) (Loy
Lobo (LL) and Vineeta Manchanda (VM)) had been appointed at London North West University
Healthcare NHS Hospital Trust (LNWH) & Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (ICHT); and at The
Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (THHT) & CWFT respectively, and added that LL had started
in post in February and VM would start on 1 May.

The Chair added that SG’s term of office as a NED would end in October 2024 after 7 years, and that
the new CWFT Vice-Chair would be recruited from the existing pool of NEDs across the wider NWL
Acute Provider Collaborative (APC), with expressions of interest to be sought in May. Approval will be
required from the full CWFT CoG for this appointment.

Once this post is filled and depending on who takes on the role, there may then need to be an external
recruitment process for a CWFT NED.

The Chair also added that CJ was stepping down as Vice Chair at THHT and NED at THHT and CWFT in
September 2024, recruitment for this post would follow the same process as for the CWFT VC and will
require approval from the full THHT CoG. It was confirmed that any external NED recruitment process
would begin this summer.

2.2 Chief Executive’s Report and Trust Update

LW summarised her report and focused on key areas, one of which was the Operational Performance
of the Trust. LW commented that the Trust’s 24-hour A&E performance in February 2024 was 81.78%
which was the highest in London. LW commented that this had been achieved through the effort from
all the staff and thanked them for their hard work.

NC commented on the complaints that were received, and asked how quickly these were resolved.
LW summarised the process and confirmed that complaints were normally resolved within 25 days,
but added that there were exceptions, particularly where cases were more complex.

The Council raised the issue of waiting lists and clearing the backlog, and LW commented that this
was a challenge for Trusts across the country, and added that waiting lists were prioritised focussing
on clinical need and length of waits, and work was underway at the Trust to address this.

3.0 FOR DISCUSSION

3.1 Annual Report from the Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee

PG summarised the Annual Report from the Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee and
noted the key items the Committee had considered, which included the Treatment Centre at the
Chelsea site. PG noted that the original contractor who had been appointed to work on this project
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could not deliver to the timescales required, and therefore another contractor had been appointed.
PG added that the work on the Treatment Centre had commenced and this was all now going to plan.

PG commented that the Trust was one of the highest performing Trusts in the country, and to ensure
that this continued the Trust would regularly review systems and processes. VM added that there was
also a rolling programme of internal audits.

Through further discussion, the Chair commented that the Council should have a wider understanding
of the financial environment and how the Trust operated within it, and added that we worked within
an extremely tight budget. VM added that even though this had not been finalised as yet, it was
anticipated that the Trust would submit a ‘break even’ plan for financial year 2024/25, and ensured
that an update would be brought back to the Council.

3.2 CWHFT Staff Survey Update

LSS provided a summary of the CWFT National Staff Survey Results for 2023 and confirmed that in
many areas the Trust scored better than our peers, with the response rate for substantive staff
reaching 51% which was higher than 2022.

LSS reviewed the main aspects that came up in the responses, which included advocacy (the Trust was
the second-most recommended NHS acute trust employer in London) and morale (staff retention was
a key focus). LSS added that respondents felt that the Trust encouraged a compassionate and inclusive
environment which translated to the high-quality care that the patients received. However, the survey
also highlighted that some staff had experienced discrimination based on their ethnic background,
religion, and age, which was a priority for the Trust to address.

LSS commented that the Trust’s Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) approach had made a positive impact,
as the number of staff who felt confident that the Trust would address their concerns had increased,
as had the number of staff who felt secure about raising concerns regarding potentially unsafe clinical
practices.

LSS commented on the next steps following this survey which included the National Exemplar
Programme, providing feedback to the staff and demonstrating action in areas where it was required.

NC referred to the response that staff gave in relation to feeling confident that their concerns would
be addressed, and LSS commented that the Trust wanted staff to raise concerns, and noted that whilst
this was a challenge it was essential that the Trust showed transparency.

WP commented on the number of staff who were resigning and asked whether this was due to them
being unhappy in their role or if this reflected other factors. LSS confirmed that a deep dive into
retention had taken place, and this had been narrowed down to key areas including a better work/life
balance.

JW raised a concern regarding appraisals, and suggested whether this system could be reviewed. LSS
noted that appraisals were reported by staff as a positive experience, and confirmed that the Trust
was in the middle of a review regarding the appraisal system to explore how to further increase
performance.

SG summarised that we needed to analyse the information that came from the survey, and noted that
discrimination and reducing pressure on Trust staff were important focus areas.

3.3 Updating the Trust Constitution
MP explained that the Trust’s Constitution was updated periodically to reflect new requirements and
improvements, and summarised the proposed changes which included:

(i)-reflecting the fit and proper persons (FPP) regulations in background checks for new Governors;
(ii)-reflecting integrated care system (ICS) and acute provider collaborative (APC) arrangements; and
(iii)-the use of inclusive language across the Constitution (replacing gender specific pronouns with
generic pronouns).

MP explained that this was being presented at this meeting for the Council to approve the proposed
changes in principle. The next step to be that the details of the amended Constitution would be
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presented to the Council’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee for review and approval, and
then the updated Constitution to be presented to the Board of Directors and the Council in May 2024
for approval.

The Council discussed this further and the issue of conducting the background checks for new
Governors was raised. NC asked how this would be judged, and asked whether we would advise an
individual that they had been declined the post as a Governor due to information discovered during
the checks. MP confirmed that they would be advised.

DW commented on e-Governance and referred to transcripts for meetings and if they were recorded.
The Chair advised the Council that there was an Al facility but this was not used for these meetings,
and confirmed that the only transcript that we created for these meetings were the official minutes,
and the Council approved these. He added that it should be made clear that there should be no
separate Al or transcription product used by any attendee to the meeting.

The Council approved the proposed changes in principle. MP advised that an Extraordinary CoG
meeting would take place to formally approve the agreed changes to the Constitution following
detailed review by the CoG Nominations & Remuneration Committee.

Action:
Extraordinary Council of Governors Meeting to be arranged to approve the proposed changes to the
Constitution. (MP/GC)

34 AcessAble Work Update

SG provided a summary and confirmed that the update focused on the accessibility requirements at
the Chelsea site. SG added that the report detailed 23 areas for improvement and confirmed that 9 of
these had been completed, 11 were in progress, and 3 required a detailed business case in order to
continue. SG added that the next step would be to work through the review and recommendations
for the West Middlesex site.

MK added that she was happy with how this had progressed even though there was still a long way to
go. The Chair and the CEO both echoed MK’s comments and agreed that this was a good piece of work
and it was noted that this had started as an intervention by the Council several years ago.

3.5 Council of Governors Membership and Engagement Sub-Committee Report

DP provided a summary, the key items included the Members’ News which was published monthly
and had been well-received and had managed a good outreach; a QR code had been set up to make
it easier for those who wished to become a member of the Trust, and this was advertised throughout
the Trust and at different sites; and the continuation of strengthening links with Healthwatch and the
Voluntary Sector. DP noted that Unconscious Bias training would also be taking place.

DP also added that his final meeting as Chair of the Membership and Engagement Sub-Committee
would take place in July, and asked members of the Council to contact the Corporate Governance
Team if they wished to put their names forward to stand for Chair of this Sub-Committee, however
Governors were encouraged to complete the separate template circulated with their interests in
terms of Committee and other roles. DW commented that the Unconscious Bias training would be
positive, and it was agreed that all members of the Council should commit to undertaking this.

4.0 QUALITY

4.1 Quality Update

RB summarised the slides that had been submitted to the Committee prior to the meeting, and
commented these would cover the Quality Account, the process for setting the Trust’s Quality
Priorities and the Quality work across the APC for the year ahead.

e CWFT Quality Priorities 2024/25
RB commented that the Quality Priorities were a mandated element of the Quality Account, and listed
the Trust’s Quality Priorities for 2024/2025 which were:
(i)-Deteriorating Patients,
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(ii)-Improving Care for frail patients (this had been included for a second year),
(iii)-Tobacco/Smoking reduction,

(iv)-Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF), and

(v)-Improving Patient Experience (Nutrition and Hydration).

DW asked why tobacco and smoking reduction had been included. RB confirmed that the NHS Long
Term Plan commits to providing NHS funded tobacco dependency treatment to all inpatients who
smoke.

RB also advised the Council that if something was not listed as one of the Trust’s Quality Priorities it
did not mean that it was not something that the Trust was working on and many areas were addressed
through business as usual.

RB summarised the process for how the Quality Priorities were agreed, and noted that when setting
the priorities the requirement to address health inequalities was considered, and the priorities for the
year were aligned to Divisions. RB added further that each priority would establish metrics for delivery
and improvement, with a timeline for delivery and associated project risk management, and priorities
had been included as part of business planning so they were aligned with any investments, local or
national strategy and part of the Division priorities for the year.

e CWFT Proposed Quarterly Quality Updates to the CoG
RB confirmed that a quarterly update would be provided to the CoG which would be aligned to the
annual reporting cycle of the Quality Committee, alongside the usual Trust performance report. A
structure that confirmed what items would be reported on at each quarter was tabled and discussed
by the Council.

The Quality Work streams for the APC for 2024/2025 were discussed, the 5 priorities are: Maternity
and Neonatal standards; Infection Prevention and Control; Mental Health in an acute setting;
Embedding the PSIRF approach; and National Standards for Invasive Procedures (NatSSIPs2).

e Quality Account 2023/24 Production
RB summarised the Quality Account and advised the Council that this was a legal requirement for all
Trusts to produce, with a prescriptive format that featured information and a range of metrics that
we reported on, as well as what we had achieved and what we needed to do. RB also summarised
what the timeline for producing the Quality Account was and when it needed to be published, and
stressed that this was a key issue for the Trust. SG added that the Quality Account would also be
published on the Trust’s website.

4.2 Schedule of future topics for deep dives
The Council discussed what future topics could be used for deep dives, and what information and the
format they wanted these to be presented in.

5.0 OTHER BUSINESS — ITEMS FOR NOTING

5.1 Any Other Business
5.1.1 Forward Plan and schedule of Council of Governor meetings 2024/25
5.1.2 Governance attendance register

The Chair confirmed that these items were for noting.

The Chair noted that there was no other business to discuss.

The date of the next meeting would be Thursday 18 July 2024. The Chair reminded the Council that
this meeting would approve the Annual Accounts and the Annual Report from the Chair of the Audit
and Risk Committee (ARC).

Meeting closed at 14:30hrs.
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MINUTES OF EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS (COG) MEETING

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust

29th May 2024 17:00 - 17:30

Via MS Teams

Present: Matthew Swindells North West London (NWL)
Acute Provider Collaborative (APC) Chair
in Common (Chair)
Richard Ballerand Public Governor (RB)
Cass J Cass-Horne Public Governor (CICH)
Maureen Chatterley Public Governor (MCQ)
Nigel Clarke Public Governor/Lead Governor (NC)
lan Dalton Patient Governor (ID)
Christopher Digby-Bell  Patient Governor (CDB)
Simon Dyer Patient Governor (SD)
Minna Korjonen Patient Governor (MK)
Nina Littler Public Governor (NL)
David Phillips Patient Governor (DP)
Jo Winterbottom Public Governor (Jw)
In Attendance: Stephen Gill Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director  (SG)
Lesley Watts Chief Executive Officer (Lw)
Alexia Pipe Chief of Staff to the NWL APC Chair (AP)
Marie Price Deputy Director of Corporate Governance (MP)
Graham Chalkley Corporate Governance Officer (GC)
Apologies: Caroline Boulliat Moulle Patient Governor (vote by proxy) (cBM)
Dr Nara Daubeney Public Governor (ND)
Stuart Fleming Public Governor (vote by proxy) (SF)
Rose Levy Public Governor (vote by proxy) (RL)
Professor Mark Nelson  Staff Governor (vote by proxy) (MN)
Clir Will Pascal Appointed Governor (vote by proxy) (WP)
Lucinda Sharpe Staff Governor (LS)
Dr Desmond Walsh Appointed Governor (Dw)
Laura-Jane Wareing Public Governor (vote by proxy) (LJW)
Peter Jenkinson Director of Corporate Governance (PJ)
No response: Julie Carter Public Governor (Jo)
Stella Macaskill Patient Governor (SM)
Ras. | Martin Public Governor (RIM)
Parvinder Singh Garcha Public Governor (PSG)

1.0
1.1

GENERAL BUSINESS
Welcome and apologies for absence

The Chair welcomed and thanked those attending for joining this Extraordinary Council of Governors
(CoG) Meeting, and added that the purpose of this meeting was to approve the appointment of the
Trust Vice Chair & Senior Independent Director (SID) and the proposed amendments to the Trust
Constitution. The Chair noted apologies as above. It was confirmed that the Committee was quorate
for this meeting based on Governors attending and proxy votes received.

1.2 Declarations of interest
No declarations of interest were received.

2.0 FOR APPROVAL

2.1 Approval and Remuneration of the Trust Vice Chair & SID

AP summarised the process for the appointment of the Trust’s Vice Chair & SID, and confirmed that
an Expression of Interest had gone out to all the current North West London Acute Provider
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Collaborative (NWL APC) Non-Executive Directors (NEDs), and one application had been submitted by
Patricia Gallan (PG). AP added that the Chair, LW and NC interviewed and discussed the Vice Chair &
SID role with PG, and unanimously decided to put forward the recommendation to the CoG
Nominations and Remuneration Committee that PG was appointed as Vice Chair & SID for a period of
three years, starting in November 2024.

The Chair added that the CoG Nominations and Remuneration Committee unanimously approved this
recommendation, and this was to be presented to the Council of Governors to approve this
appointment. NC added that PG had experience of working in complex organisations and managing
people in difficult circumstances, and strongly supported this nomination.

The Council approved the appointment of PG as Vice Chair & SID for a period of three years with effect
from 1 November 2024. SG added that the numeration for the Vice Chair & SID remained unchanged
at £23.5k per annum.

Action:
PG to be appointed as the Trust’s Vice Chair & SID for a period of three years from 1 November 2024.

The Chair added that the same process to appoint a new Vice Chair & SID for The Hillingdon Hospital
Foundation Trust (THHFT) had also taken place, as Catherine Jervis (CJ) was standing down as the
current Vice Chair & SID. The Chair confirmed that Carolyn Downs (CD) had been appointed as the
new Vice Chair & SID, and added that CD would continue as a NED at Chelsea and Westminster.

2.2 Approval of changes to the Trust Constitution

MP commented that the proposed changes to the Trust Constitution had been discussed and
approved in principle at the CoG meeting that had taken place on 17 April. MP summarised the
changes which included the reference to:

-the use of e-governance, voting and on-line meetings:

-reflecting the fit and proper persons (FPP) regulations in background checks for new Governors;
-reflecting integrated care system (ICS) and acute provider collaborative (APC) arrangements; and
-the use of inclusive language across the Constitution (replacing gender specific pronouns with generic
pronouns).

MP added that the CoG Nominations and Remuneration Committee had approved these changes and
recommended that these were submitted to the Council of Governors for their approval. MP added
that subject to any views or comments that the Council had, this would then go to the Trust Board for
approval.

The Council approved the proposed amendments to the Trust Constitution.

Action:
Proposed amendments to the Trust Constitution approved by the Council of Governors, and this
would now be presented to the Trust Board.

The Chair commented on the recruitment of NEDs, and referred to the details of the Trust’s NEDs, and
asked the Council if they thought we should be looking for any particular skills or skillset during the
next recruitment exercise. The Council discussed this and it was noted that the current compliment
of NEDs did not feature any nursing staff, and RB added that someone with previous legal experience
could be beneficial.

Following discussion on this issue, LW commented that even though it was beneficial to appoint those
with specific professional backgrounds, a key aspect of appointing someone to a senior level post
would be to ensure that they could effectively review papers, understand complex information and
evidence quickly and contribute to meetings they attended.

3.0 OTHER BUSINESS

3.1 Any Other Business

RB commented that a face-to-face CoG ‘Meet the Board’ session with both Executives and NEDs
attending, this was to be arranged as agreed at the CoG Nominations and Remuneration meeting.

Noted.
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Date and time of next meeting: Thursday 18 July 2024, 14:00 — 15:30hrs
Meeting closed at 17:25hrs.
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Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust

MINUTES OF EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS (COG) MEETING
27" June 2024 14:30-14:45

Present:

Matthew Swindells

Via MS Teams

North West London (NWL)
Acute Provider Collaborative (APC) Chair

in Common (Chair)
Richard Ballerand Public Governor (RB)
Maureen Chatterley Public Governor (MC)
Simon Dyer Patient Governor (SD)
Nina Littler Public Governor (NL)
Ras. | Martin Public Governor (RIM)
Clir Will Pascal Appointed Governor (vote by proxy) (WP)
Lucinda Sharpe Staff Governor (LS)
Dr Desmond Walsh Appointed Governor (DW)
Jo Winterbottom Public Governor (Jw)
In Attendance: Marie Price Deputy Director of Corporate Governance (MP)
Graham Chalkley Corporate Governance Officer (GC)
Apologies: Cass J Cass-Horne Public Governor (CICH)
Nigel Clarke Public Governor/Lead Governor (NC)
Dr Nara Daubeney Public Governor (ND)
Christopher Digby-Bell  Patient Governor (CDB)
Laura-Jane Wareing Public Governor (vote by proxy) (Lw)
Stephen Gill Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director  (SG)
Lesley Watts Chief Executive Officer (Lw)
Peter Jenkinson Director of Corporate Governance (PJ)
Alexia Pipe Chief of Staff to the NWL APC Chair (AP)
No response: Caroline Boulliat Moulle Patient Governor (vote by proxy) (cBM)
Julie Carter Public Governor (Jo)
lan Dalton Patient Governor (ID)
Stuart Fleming Public Governor (vote by proxy) (SF)
Minna Korjonen Patient Governor (MK)
Stella Macaskill Patient Governor (SM)
Parvinder Singh Garcha Public Governor (PSG)
Professor Mark Nelson  Staff Governor (vote by proxy) (MN)
David Phillips Patient Governor (DP

1.0 GENERAL BUSINESS
1.1 Welcome and apologies for absence
The Chair thanked those attending and the apologies were noted.

It was explained that the purpose of this meeting was to confirm the appointment of the Deputy Lead
Governor following the elections that closed last week. MP reiterated that the purpose for holding
these Extraordinary CoG meetings was introduced when setting up the procedures for the Lead
Governor and Deputy Lead Governor elections.

1.2 Declarations of interest
No declarations of interest were received.

2.0 FOR CONFIRMATION

2.1 Deputy Lead Governor Election Outcome

The Chair commented that there were two candidates for the Deputy Lead Governor election, and
following the election that closed last Friday confirmed that NL had been elected Deputy Lead
Governor. The Chair also extended his thanks to CJCH for also standing for election.
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NL thanked the Chair and the Governors who voted for her, and added that she was worked as a
volunteer at the Trust for over five years and had been involved in some great initiatives during this
time, and reminded the Governors that if they wanted to be more involved in these or see the hospital
from a different perspective to please contact her.

MP added that the Corporate Governance Team were looking forward to working with and supporting
NC and NL. MP added that there had been discussions regarding the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion
(EDI) training for the Governors which was now a priority, and that NL's name had been referred to as
an excellent example of how the Volunteers had been trained.

3.0 OTHER BUSINESS

3.1 Any Other Business

LS commented that the temperature on some of the wards — especially the maternity wards - was
excessive, and asked if there was anything that the Governors could do to get this reduced. The Chair
asked that this information was passed on to the Hospital Director for Chelsea and Westminster.

Noted.

[Sec. note — information regarding the temperature of the wards at Chelsea and Westminster was
passed on to the Hospital Director for CWFT, and it was confirmed that portable air con units were
available and that work on reducing the temperature of the hospital would hopefully start the
following week. This information was relayed back to LS.]

Date and time of next meeting: Thursday 18 July 2024, 14:00 — 15:30hrs
Meeting closed at 14:40hrs.
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2.1 CHAIR'S REPORT AND NWL ACUTE PROVIDER COLLABORATIVE (APC)

UPDATE

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

A
2.1 CWFT Council of Governors Chairs Report 18.07.24 final.pdf
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NHS

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

NHS Foundation Trust
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(of meeting at which report to be presented)

Council of Governors Meeting

18 July 2024

AGENDA ITEM NO.

2.1

TITLE OF REPORT

Council of Governors Chair’s Report
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Matthew Swindells, Chair — North West London Acute
Provider Collaborative (APC)n/a

ACCOUNTABLE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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Assurance
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Committee

Date of
Meeting

Outcome

SUMMARY OF REPORT AND KEY MESSAGES THE MEETING NEEDS
TO UNDERSTAND

An update on CWFT and the APC from the Chair to the

Council of Governors

KEY RISKS ARISING FROM REPORT

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES THIS PAPER SUPPORTS (please confirm Y/N)

Deliver high quality patient centred care

Be the employer of Choice

Deliver better care at lower cost

IMPLICATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS REPORT:
Equality And Diversity
Quality
People (Workforce or Patients/Families/Carers)
Operational Performance
Finance
Public Consultation

Council of Governors
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please mark Y/N —where Y is indicated please explain the
implications in the opposite column

REASON FOR SUBMISSION TO THE BOARD IN PRIVATE ONLY (WHERE RELEVANT)

Commercial Confidentiality N
Patient Confidentiality N
Staff Confidentiality N

Other Exceptional Circumstances
(please describe)

New Government, North West London election results

We started this month with a general election and a new Government. | want to congratulate our
local MPs who were re-elected, we look forward to continuing to work with you in the coming
years; David Simmons, John McDonnell, Dawn Butler, Barry Gardiner, Ruth Cadbury, Rupa Hugq,
James Murray, Deirde Costigan, Seema Malhotra, Andy Slaughter, Bob Blackman, Gareth
Thomos and Georgia Gould.

Welcome and congratulations to our newly elected MPs, Danny Beale, Ben Coleman, Rachel
Blake and Joe Powell, we look forward to getting to know you and engaging you in the work to
support and develop our hospitals for our local communities.

Finally farewell to those who lost their seats, they were, without exception, tireless champions for
their local hospitals and we wish them the best of luck in the future. Thanks to Steve Tuckwell,
Greg Hands, Nickie Aiken and Felicity Buchan.

The Acute Provider Collaborative

At this week’s Board in Common we brought our APC strategy for final sign off, we have been
developing the approach and document over 2024. Our starting principle was “How can the APC
most effectively use our collective resources to provide better, more equitable care for the
population of North West London, over the next three years?”.

A team made up of colleagues from each of our four organisations has supported analysis, wide
ranging engagement with staff, patients and partners, and facilitated discussions at numerous
meetings. Our model of change is focusing on aligning to best practice, raising and reinforcing
standards so patients across all of NWL acute providers have access to the same high standard
of care, no matter where they live. This strategy focuses on how we move services to adopt best
practice across NWL, eliminating unwarranted variation. We will do this by first spreading the
best in NWL to all our providers; then by bringing in the best in the NHS, using existing sources
like Get It Right First Time (GIRFT) to measure ourselves nationally; and then by looking at the
best in global health, research and innovation to set leading standards and be on a continuous
improvement journey.

The APC Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Action Plan 2024 to 2026: Phase 1 — People
report was also presented to the Board in Common on Tuesday, it has been developed by the
APC EDI Improvement Plan Steering Group which was formed in early 2024 to work on
recommendations for the Board in Common on how we can advance equity and justice across
our ways of working. This first phase has focused on our people and the second phase will look
specifically at patients and communities. The plans will include actions all patients and staff can
expect within each organisation and collaborative initiatives to accelerate our progress for equity,
diversity and inclusion.
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Appointments and Recruitment
We are coming toward the end of the terms of office for two of our brilliant Vice Chairs
(VCs), Catherine Jervis, Vice Chair at The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

(THHFT) and Steve Gill, Vice Chair at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust (CWFT).

Catherine will be leaving at the end of September and this week’s BiC was her last for the

NWL APC. | would like to take this opportunity to thank Catherine on behalf of the Board in
Common for all her hard work and dedication over the last six years, especially her focus on
improving THHFT performance and culture and supporting their transition out of National
Oversight Framework (NOF) 4. Though Catherine may be moving away from NWL, | am
pleased she has recently taken on a NED role at Surrey and Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust and
her expertise is still benefiting the NHS. Steve will be here until 31 October 2024.

Fit and Proper Person Test (FPPT) requirements

The Fit and Proper Person Test (FPPT) checks which each NHS organisation is required to
conduct have been taking place across all four organisations. These checks are to carry out a
FPPT to ensure board members are, and remain, suitable for their role, the APC checks for this
year have been completed and submitted to NHSE for their June deadline.

The framework was developed in response to recommendations made by Tom Kark KC in his

2019 review of the FPPT (the Kark Review). This also takes into account the requirements of the
Care Quality Commission (CQC) in relation to directors being fit and proper for their roles.
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2.2 CHEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT AND TRUST UPDATE

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

A
2.2 CEO Report cover sheet.pdf

2.2a CEO Report July 2024 FINAL1.pdf
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Committee Date of Outcome
Meeting

Board Standing 18 July 2024

Committee

SUMMARY OF REPORT AND KEY MESSAGES THE MEETING NEEDS

TO UNDERSTAND

e The Trust ended the financial year 2023/24 in a
good position and have submitted a plan to
break-even this year. Bank and agency usage is a
key focus for the organisation right now, as well
as delivering our cost improvement programmes
(CIPs), controlling wider expenditure and
continuing to treat our long waiting patients,
which in turn secures elective recovery fund
income.

e  The Trust’s Quality Account for 2023/24 has
been approved by the Quality Committee
following discussion and input by the Council of
Governors, and showcases the positive work we
have undertaken at the Trust, including progress
against last year’s quality priorities.

e  Overall, performance remains good in the Trust,
which is testament to the hard work of our staff.

KEY RISKS ARISING FROM REPORT
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Deliver high quality patient centred care

Be the employer of Choice
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%29 Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust

Chief Executive Officer’s Report — Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Accountable director: Lesley Watts
Job title: Chief Executive Officer

Executive summary and key messages

1.0

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

Key messages

Our hospitals continue to be incredibly busy this summer. Our staff are focussed on
ensuring patients have the acute care they need in hospital and are then supported to
return home as early as possible. This means planning for their discharge early-on to
ensure they receive the ongoing care they need in the most therapeutic setting. We know
that patients needing this care and rehabilitation recover better out of the busy acute
setting. This allows us to look after those patients who most need acute care, both via
our emergency department and through our elective recovery programme. We are
working with health and social care partners to ensure that all parts of the system take
responsibility for the seamless care of all our patients.

Living within our means is central to ensuring we are a well-run organisation. We ended
the financial year 2023/24 in a good position and have submitted a plan to break-even
this year. This takes effort from every single one of us to deliver. Bank and agency
usage is a key focus for the organisation right now, as well as delivering our cost
improvement programmes (CIPs), controlling wider expenditure and continuing to treat
our long waiting patients, which in turn secures elective recovery fund income. All our
divisions and corporate teams are focused on the quality of care we deliver, the timely
care we deliver and delivering that care in the most cost effective way.

Ensuring our staff feel supported and valued is always a priority. We, together with our
staff-led networks, have hosted a number of awareness events and exhibitions to
highlight Windrush Day, National Reserves Day and Black Leaders Day, as well as
attendance at London Pride. We hosted a number of national events to celebrate
International Day of the Nurse, Midwife and Operating Department Practitioners (ODP),
partnering with NHS England for an NHS Park run. Our midwives at West Middlesex
Hospital appeared in a Times feature, where the photographs captured in 2020 will
appear as an exhibition at the hospital at the end of this month.

We collaborated with colleagues at Imperial on proactive messaging to raise awareness
of the recent resurgence of measles in London. Working with BBC London and BBC

Radio London Nabeela Mughal, Director of Infection Prevention and Control at the Trust,
shared key messages including the importance of vaccination, how to spot symptoms of
measles and why parents and families need to ensure they are up to date with their jabs.
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Dr Liz Whittaker, consultant in paediatric infectious diseases at Imperial College
Healthcare NHS Trust who shared her concerns about the rise in cases.

1.5 Industrial action by junior doctors took place and we continue to be very grateful to our
staff and services for their commitment to patients during these periods. Thanks to our
teams, there were good plans in place to mitigate the impact of the planned industrial
action, but all recognised the impact on services, patients and finances.

1.6 Our focus on digital inclusion continues and we were delighted that a digital inclusion
project, funded by the Health Foundation, led by colleagues at West Middlesex University
Hospital, the London Borough or Hounslow, our official charity CW+ and Imperial College
Health Partners has won a national Municipal Journal Award. The team at West
Middlesex have won an award for a whole council approach to tackling health
inequalities, a fantastic achievement to have taken home the prize, among many
successful local initiatives.

1.7  The Trust’'s Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24 were approved by the Trust’'s Audit
and Risk Committee in June. The Annual Report highlights our achievements over the
past year, and we look forward to sharing this with everyone who attends our forthcoming
Annual Members’ Meeting on 18 July.

2.0 Quality and safety

2.1  The Trust’s Quality Account for 2023/24 has been approved by the Quality Committee
following discussion and input by the Council of Governors. The report, which was
shared with local Healthwatch organisations, the NWL Integrated Care Board (ICB) and
NHS England, is published on the Trust’'s website. The Report showcases the positive
work we have undertaken at the Trust, including progress against last year’s quality
priorities.

2.2  This year the focus is on the following agreed priorities: Transitional Care, Deteriorating
Patients (PEWS), Deteriorating Patients (Call 4 Concern), Improving care for our Frail
Patients, Tobacco and smoking reduction, Patient experience (Nutrition and Hydration)
and continued implementation of the Patient Safety Incident Framework (PSIRF).

2.3 Infections are running above thresholds locally, which is consistent with the sector,
regional and national picture. It is however a focus for all staff, and additional
communications have been cascaded to ensure best practice in terms of infection
prevention and control.

2.4  The level of Never Events remained at five at end of year. A full review and learning from
these, including barriers, is being completed.

3.0 Operational performance

3.1  Overall, performance remains good in the Trust, which is testament to the hard work of
our staff. A&E four-hour performance in May was compliant at 80.68%, which remains
above the national target of 78%. Flow remains a challenge, impacting on performance at
the Chelsea site over the past two months.
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3.2 The 31-day and 28-day faster diagnostics standard (FDS) national targets were met in
April. The 62-day combined target delivery was 82.47% against the 85% standard with
specific challenges in urology and colorectal surgery. There are plans in place to reduce
the backlog and return to compliance. May saw improvement in the number of patients
waiting less than six weeks for diagnostics, however there is particular pressure at West
Middlesex in terms of MRI and colonoscopy. An additional MRI scanner has been
provided to support clearing the backlog to return to a compliant position.

3.3 The elective referral to treatment (RTT) 18-week wait performance remains challenging
but improved in May, standing at 63.97% with elective admitted and outpatient activity
levels in May above operational plans. The last month’s ED 4-hour performance
remained challenging due to demand, but remains above the national target.

3.4  For elective referral to treatment, performance remained challenged but improved.
Operational teams are focused on reducing delays, with targeted interventions for
specialties including Trauma & Orthopaedics, Colorectal Surgery, Plastic Surgery and
General Surgery.

4.0 Finance and estates

4.1 Finance:

As mentioned in the introduction, the financial picture is challenging. At month two, the
Trust is seeing £1.96m adverse variance to plan, largely driven by cost improvement plan
(CIP) slippage, with additional impact from registered mental health nurse (RMN) spend,
the West Middlesex Urgent Treatment Centre and general non-pay increases/inflationary
pressures. Elective recovery fund (ERF) performance is over-performing (124% delivery
vs 117% planned) which will be offset against additional costs.

Additional controls have been implemented and widely communicated by the Trust’s
leadership to return the position to plan, including a focus on bank and agency staff and
other expenditure. The forecast for a break-even position at year end remains, with a
focus on ensuring this is achieved.

4.2 Treatment Centre at Chelsea and Westminster
Works have now started to redevelop the Treatment Centre and the Therapies outpatient
department at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, with completion due in spring 2025.
Since the opening of the hospital more than 30 years ago, the Treatment Centre has
supported high quality care for thousands of patients undergoing day case and short stay
procedures. With the generous support of our official charity CW+, our aim is to: create
modern and welcoming facilities which support the latest surgical innovation and more
complex procedures; ensure the highest possible quality of care for our patients; offer a
better working environment for staff; treat more patients year-on-year; improve patient
aftercare;and improve efficiency through treating more patients at a lower cost.

4.3  Ambulatory Diagnostic Centre (ADC) at West Middlesex

Preparation to clear the ADC site is now fully underway at West Middlesex Hospital, the
demolition of the MRI building based at the back of Marjory Warren has now been
completed which is a significant step in gearing up for construction. We continue to have
a regular monthly engagement forum with local residents sharing the progress and
developments of the construction. We are now planning for our ground breaking event on
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5.0

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.0

6.1

6.2

7.0

7.1

23 July to officially start construction, this will be a key milestone moment for the Hospital
to thank everyone who has supported us in getting to this point.

People

It has been a busy period of staff events with the upcoming launch of the staff forum.
Staff-led network events including Windrush, South Asian Heritage, Reserves Day, and
London Pride were followed by a number of events to mark the NHS’s 76! Birthday.

Cyber security — we have stepped up wider awareness to all staff on being cyber secure
further to the cyber-attack across the NHS in South East London.

Leadership Summit — plans are underway to host a summit on 24 September at Brentford
Football Club for all leadership. This event will be an important date to reflect and focus
on our priorities as we head in to winter, and there will also be a focus on our strategic
priorities aligned to our revised Clinical Services Strategy, alongside the wider Acute
Provider Collaborative strategy.

Equity, diversity and inclusion

We are taking positive steps to ensure that we are continually creating a more diverse
workplace. Recently, the Trust completed the face to face modules for the Diversity in
Health and Care Partners Programme 2023/2024. The programme which is run annually,
is a comprehensive organisational development programme which helps organisations
advance equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) in the workplace. The programme
provides thought leadership, tools and tips which will positively help our organisation be
at the forefront of EDI. This important certification will help to ensure that the care we
provide is reflective of the diverse communities we serve.

Pride month is a key month for our services and our staff, and this year we led a number
of talks and events, partnered with Soul Cycle in Soho for a charity fundraising event for
our LGBTQ+ network and had a great representation at the London Pride parade. For the
third year in a row, there was an incredible turn out from Trust colleagues for London
Pride 2024, with over 60 members of staff proudly flying the Chelwest flag on our Trust-
wide float and marching in the parade. Colleagues at 56 Dean Street also marched in this
year’s parade, proudly flying the 56 Dean Street. We echoed this year’s theme
#WeAreEverywhere with our own #WeAreProudToCare message.

Chelsea and Westminster NHS Trust updates

We opened the new stroke unit at West Mid in early July. The new ward, situated in the
basement of Marjory Warren and opposite Kew ward, represents a vital lifeline to our
community, ensuring that our patients get the most appropriate care as quickly and
efficiently as possible. The opening of this dedicated stroke ward signifies a critical step
forward in providing high-quality care for the people and communities we serve at West
Mid.
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7.2 Our team of 12 surgical staff on our Chelsea site, led by surgeons James Smellie and
Oliver Warren, performed an impressive 11 robotic hernia operations in the first general
surgery ‘super Saturday’. This was made possible by using two high tech robots in side-
by-side theatres, allowing the team to perform more operations than would normally be
done on a standard day — helping us to see more patients on the waiting list. Patients
recovered well from the robotic procedure, with 8 of the 11 patients going home that
same day and the rest leaving the next morning. This would not have been possible
without the dedication of our staff working on Saturday and the meticulous planning from
all involved.

8.0 Research and innovation

8.1  Our annual Research, Innovation and Quality Improvement (RIQI) event at the West
Middlesex site on 17 July focuses on ‘curiosity, creativity, and change’. All staff are
invited to attend and can explore research, innovation, quality improvement and audit
through a range of presentations and networking opportunities.

9.0 Recognition and celebrating success.

9.1 We were pleased to announce that we have signed the Business in the Community
(BITC) Race at Work Charter. This significant step demonstrates our commitment to
promoting equality and addressing the disparities that Black, Asian, Mixed-Race and
other ethnically diverse individuals face in the workplace. By signing the Race at Work
Charter, we are taking concrete actions to eliminate these barriers and ensure that our
organisation is representative of British society today.

9.2  Our maternity team at West Middlesex University Hospital featured in a photography
editorial in the Times on International Day of the Midwife. The award winning
photographer James Kent shared the moments of his daughter’s birth at West Middlesex
Hospital in 2020. The article titled 'It takes a village' highlights the multi-disciplinary team
of healthcare professionals, including midwives, Operating Department Practitioners
(ODPs), anaesthetists, obstetric surgeons and nurses who work together to bring life into
the world, and shares some of their own personal stories. These photos will soon be on
display in an exhibition at West Middlesex hospital, thanks to a grant funded by CW+.

9.3 To mark our celebrations for International Day of the Midwife, International Nurses Day
and National ODP Day we hosted a taking over of the Fulham Palace parkrun. Over 150
of our staff completed parkrun to celebrate our Midwives, Nurses and ODPs. Leaders
from NHS England and the London Region also supported on the day, including Chief
Nursing Officer, Ruth May, Deputy Chief Nursing Officer, Duncan Burton, London
Regional Chief Nurse, Jane Clegg and London Regional Chief Midwife, Nina
Khazaezadeh. Thank you to everyone who put on their running shoes and took part.

9.4 A collaborative digital inclusion project, funded by the Health Foundation, led by
colleagues at West Middlesex University Hospital, the London Borough or Hounslow, our
official charity CW+ and Imperial College Health Partners has won an MJ Award. The
team at West Middlesex, have won an award for a whole council approach to tackling
health inequalities, a fantastic achievement to have taken home the prize, among many
successful local initiatives.
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9.5 On Armed Forces Reserves Day, we paid tribute to our Reservists for their dedication,
professionalism and commitment to serving our country and our Trust. We also raised
money for two Armed Forces charities - Combat Stress and SSAFA - in memory of and in
tribute to our friend, colleague and veteran Trevor Post who sadly passed away in April.

9.6 Catherine Sands, Head of Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response and
Business Continuity at the Trust recently received a coronation medal for her contribution
in the planning and delivery of the city wide effort to coordinate King Charles' coronation.
Catherine was nominated by NHS England (London) and received one of 29 medals
which was awarded by Amanda Pritchard, Chief Executive of NHS England.
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3. FOR DISCUSSION
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3.1 TO RECEIVE THE ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS WHICH WILL BE

FORMALLY PRESENTED AT THE AMM LATER ON 18 JULY

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

3.1 Annual Report 2023-24.pdf
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Foreword from the Chair

Welcome

We formed the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative (APC) in September 2022
with the ambition of providing better care, for more people, more fairly across the four
acute NHS trusts in our sector. We have achieved a huge amount together already and so
| want to start by thanking all our staff and volunteers for their hard work. Their
commitment has been especially impressive given the challenges of the past year, with the
continuing growth in demand, multiple rounds of industrial action and growing pressure on
public finances.

The past 12 months have seen us deliver our first major projects under our APC banner.
On 4 December, we welcomed the first patients to the new North West London Elective
Orthopaedic Centre at Central Middlesex Hospital, a centre of excellence serving
surgeons and patients from all four trusts. It has allowed us to bring together routine, low-
complexity orthopaedic procedures on a planned care site, which will improve outcomes,
allow us to treat more patients more efficiently, and reduce the risk of operations being
cancelled due to urgent and emergency care pressures.

We also opened two of three new community diagnostic centres (CDCs) planned for North
West London, in Willesden and Wembley, last year as well as one of two new eye care
diagnostic centres in Willesden. The remaining centres will open shortly, with a CDC at
Ealing Hospital and an Eye Care Centre at Health @ the Stowe, Paddington. All have
been located in areas that serve communities most at risk of health inequalities and,
together, provide more than 180,000 additional diagnostic tests annually. They will help us
bring down waiting times while also ensuring fairer access to services.

The third major development was bringing London North West University Healthcare and
The Hillingdon Hospitals onto the same electronic patient record (EPR) system as the
other two trusts, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital and Imperial College Healthcare. This
is already bringing benefits for patients who receive care at more than one of our trusts,
and the future potential in terms of aligning around evidence-based best practice in care
and supporting data-led research and development is enormous.

Collaboration is also helping us improve our day-to-day patient activities. We have peer-
review programmes, such as in A&E and discharge, to help us learn from one another and
spread best practice and innovation more quickly. Services with more capacity at one
hospital can help those with very long waiting lists at another, helping patients to get
treated more quickly and making best use of our collective resources. And we have joint
teams working on a range of improvements, from recruitment and inclusion to learning
from safety incidents and managing complaints.

All of this has supported our trusts in meeting their operational and financial performance
targets last year while also making our hospitals better places to work. The 2023 NHS staff
survey showed significant improvements for all four of our trusts, especially for morale.

As we look to the year ahead, and with a general election close on the horizon, we will be
focusing particularly on our longer-term infrastructure needs. The Hillingdon Hospitals and

Imperial College Healthcare are both part of the New Hospitals Programme and all our
trusts are committed to continuing improvement of their estates.
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Just before | close, | would like to express my gratitude to the non-executive directors who
stepped down from the board in common during the past year—Nilkunj Dodhia, Prof Andy
Bush, Peter Goldsbrough and Neville Manuel.

The last two years have shown us the power of collaboration, not just between our own
trusts but also with our patients, communities and health and care partners. There are

many challenges ahead—and much more to do—but | am more confident than ever that
our collaborative approach is the key to success.

M ff(m Jmno%

Matthew Swindells
Chair
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SECTION 1

PERFORMANCE
REPORT
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OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE
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Statement from the Chief Executive

| am pleased to introduce the 2023/24 Annual Report for Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust), reflecting on the work of our two main hospital
sites, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital and West Middlesex University Hospital, and all
our community-based services.

At the start of last year, we set ambitious quality priorities to improve the clinical
effectiveness, safety and experience of care received by all our patients. These included a
focus on end-of-life care, the safe and timely discharge of patients, improving the
identification and care of frail patients and implementing the new patient safety incident
response framework. This report sets out the progress we have made on all of these, with
the Trust retaining our position as one of the safest places in the country to receive care.

It has been a very busy 12 months for our Trust, during which we have navigated
continued recovery from COVID-19, improving our performance in all areas despite
industrial action and increasing pressures on the system. We have celebrated 30 years of
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital and have commenced much-anticipated capital
projects to transform the Treatment Centre at Chelsea and build a state-of-the-art
Ambulatory Diagnostic Centre at West Middlesex—both designed to improve care for
patients, increase access and provide new opportunities for staff for decades to come.

We have remained focused on our patients and our staff. | hope this is evident throughout
this report. We have concentrated relentlessly on the recovery of our elective care
programme, ensuring we treat our cancer and urgent patients first, and then treating our
longest waiting patients. While we strive to do our best, we acknowledge that there are
occasions when we get things wrong. Please be assured that we are committed to
learning from our mistakes and continually striving for improvement.

Our commitment to ensuring patient flow and safe discharge has remained—with the
addition of two new discharge-ready units to support the safe discharge of patients who
require care in the community. We remain in the top ten for A&E performance in the
country, are among the safest and highest-performing NHS trusts, and our maternity
services were given CQC ratings of ‘good’ (Chelsea and Westminster) and ‘outstanding’
(West Middlesex). Performance against cancer standards has remained strong.

Our internationally recognised sexual health services continue to develop in the
communities they serve. Our pioneering TransPlus service has been commissioned
nationally and our gender surgery services will increase in scope over the coming months.
Our clinicians continue to advance research and development, with a newly established
Chair of Medicine. Areas of innovation include maternal and women’s health, burns,
infectious diseases, vaccine development, colorectal surgery and ‘Human Challenge’
studies. Our focus is to ensure that everyone living and working locally has the opportunity
to participate in research, ultimately improving the care and experience of our patients.

We have worked with colleagues within the acute collaborative to provide mutual aid for
both the acute and elective programmes. The completion of work at Central Middlesex

Hospital has led to the opening of the collaborative elective orthopaedic centre, ensuring
that even more patients are treated in a timely manner.
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In partnership with Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, we have structured our
children’s services to see increasing numbers of patients and to ensure resilience across
the paediatric specialties.

We have worked hard with colleagues in Community and Mental Health services to ensure
that our patients are treated in the most therapeutic setting, sharing skills and learning
across professional backgrounds to ensure more integrated care for our patients.

Our volunteers have been central to the care we provide to patients and the support we
offer to our staff and | am always inspired by the selfless commitment they offer to our
patients.

Enabling our clinical work is a strong digital strategy, including our shared digital platform
allowing seamless access to patient records, and enabling clinical staff to have access to
relevant patient information securely and quickly. This has not only improved the
coordination of patient care but is contributing to better and more efficient care for all
patients. There is still much to do in our digital infrastructure and development, but we are
excited about the progress we have made.

But ultimately, none of this would be possible without our committed workforce—who live
our PROUD values each day. Despite another challenging year for the NHS and its
people, with operational pressures, a continued focus on elective recovery, and periods of
industrial action, they have continued to care for patients and each other with kindness,
compassion, skill and utmost dedication. | am so grateful for all they do. That is why,
following an extensive programme of staff wellbeing and recognition this past year, | am
delighted that our recent NHS staff survey results show improvement in our staff
engagement—with our people recommending our organisation as a top place to work.

It has been a positive year for our Trust, but there is always more to do to ensure that we
go above and beyond for the patients and communities we serve. This includes a
relentless focus on tackling inequities wherever we find them. | am delighted that Natasha
Singh, in her new role as Equality, Diversity and Inclusion advisor to the Board, will
support us in this vitally important work.

On that note, | want to acknowledge the excellent support of our partners in the acute
collaborative, other NHS partners, primary care, local government, and the voluntary
sector.

On behalf of everyone at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, |
would like to extend my thanks to our members, governors, patients, community and staff
for your commitment and support over the past 12 months.

When I reflect on our Trust and acknowledge the inspirational desire to continuously
improve services for patients and staff, | am struck by the commitment to teamwork and

collective effort. This coming year, we will continue to improve together. | hope you enjoy
reading the annual report and agree that we have had a challenging but successful year.

Our values
The Trust values are firmly embedded throughout our organisation. They outline the

standard of care and experience that our patients and members of the public should
expect from any of our staff and services.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24 Page 12

Overall page 44 of 355



They are:

Putting patients first
Responsive to patients and staff
Open and honest

Unfailingly kind

Determined to develop

Our priorities

Our Board-agreed strategic priorities have remained the same as the previous year:
Strategic priority 1: Deliver high-quality, patient-centred care

Patients, their friends, family and carers will be treated with unfailing kindness and respect
by every member of staff in every department, and their experience and quality of care will
be second to none.

Strategic priority 2: Be the employer of choice

We will provide every member of staff with the support, information, facilities and
environment they need to develop in their roles and careers. We will recruit and retain the
people we need to deliver high-quality services to our patients.

Strategic priority 3: Delivering better care at lower cost

We will look to continuously improve the quality of care and patient experience through the

most efficient use of available resources (financial and human, including staff, partners,
stakeholders, volunteers and friends).

Lo D

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer
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The year in photos

April 2023

HIV and sexual health services shortlisted for 2 HSJ  Our new Discharge Ready Unit opens at West
Digital Awards for their pioneering digital solutions Middlesex University Hospital

May 2023

Staff celebrated the 30th anniversary of the Maternity services at West Middlesex University
opening of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital Hospital rated ‘outstanding’ by the CQC
June 2023

Welcome

Staff commemorated the first anniversary of our We celebrated National Volunteers Week with a
Paediatric Ambulatory Care Clinic (PACC) series of events across our sites including barbecues
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July 2023

We made a splash at the Pride in London parade NHS chief executive Amanda Pritchard joined us to
with our first ever Trustwide float mark the 75th birthday of the NHS live on air

August 2023

Staff at West Mid celebrated South Asian culture as  Ron Johnson Ward at Chelsea awarded ‘silver’ as
part of South Asian Heritage Month part of our ward accreditation programme

September 2023

Gynaecology staff held a session to raise We commenced our campaign to vaccinate staff
awareness of gynaecological cancers against flu and COVID-19
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October 2023

Covered in the Evening Standard, a local family We worked with LFB to promote their #ChargeSafe
thanks doctors for saving their baby’s life aftera 7-  campaign on the dangers of incorrectly storing and
week battle with Strep A by fundraising for CW+ charging e-bikes, featured on BBC online

November 2023

Celebrating the important role of our healthcare Chelsea FC, in collaboration with our charity CW+,
assistants during HCA Day ran a wellbeing session for trans staff

December 2023

The Great Big Thank You Week was packed with We celebrated 35 years of HIV care at our Trust with
events across our sites in appreciation of our staff a gala-style evening including a panel discussion
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January 2024

e

NHS chief executive Amanda Pritchard met with Staff were treated to a complimentary breakfast as
staff in our Ambulatory Emergency Care unit part of our health and wellbeing programme

February 2024

Celebrating our staff who advanced their careers Final approval is announced for the construction of a
though our learning and development programme state-of-the-art Acute Diagnostic Centre at West Mid

March 2024

We recognised the achievements of women in our Our refurbished Nuclear Medicine department opened

Trust with events at both hospitals to mark with new, high-definition scanners enabling advanced
International Women’s Day diagnostics across a range of specialties
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History and statutory background of the Trust

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) was founded on

1 Oct 2006 under the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003
and is a statutory body. It acquired West Middlesex University Hospital NHS Trust on

1 Sep 2015, and now operates these two hospitals in addition to a range of community
services.

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital (CW) is a modern and attractive building which opened
in 1993 on the site once occupied by St Stephen’s Hospital, bringing together staff,
services and equipment from five London UK hospitals:

e Westminster Hospital: Founded in 1719 as a voluntary hospital in a small house in
Petty France, Pimlico, with just 10 beds

e Westminster Children’s Hospital: Built in 1907 as the Infant’'s Hospital—originally in
Vincent Square SW1, the hospital pioneered the treatment of malnutrition in infants

e West London Hospital: Opened in 1860, the hospital was known from the early 1970s
for its women-centred maternity service

o St Mary Abbots Hospital: An infirmary occupied the site of what had been the
Kensington workhouse, and the hospital was founded in the late 19th century

e St Stephen’s Hospital: A map of 1664 indicates on this site ‘the hospital in Little
Chelsea’—later there was a workhouse, then an infirmary, before St Stephen’s was
founded in the late 1800s

West Middlesex University Hospital (WM) also has a long history of pioneering, innovative
healthcare. It opened in 1894 as the Brentford Workhouse Infirmary and became known as
West Middlesex Hospital in about 1920. The main hospital building was redeveloped
between 2001 and 2003, with substantial redevelopment continuing today. Both sites are
at the heart of their local communities, providing accessible, state-of-the-art facilities.

Purpose and activities of the Trust

The Trust delivers specialist and general hospital care at Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital and West Middlesex University Hospital. Both hospitals have major A&E
departments and the Trust provides one of the largest maternity services in England.

Our specialist hospital care includes the burns service for London and the South East,
children’s inpatient and outpatient services, cardiology intervention services and specialist
HIV care. We also manage a range of community-based services, including our award-
winning sexual health clinics which extend to outer London areas.

We are active partners in the North West London Integrated Care System (ICS) which
brings together all parts of the NHS and local authorities to focus on improving the health
of the local population. We have exercised our functions in accordance with the plans of
the Integrated Care Board (ICB) which governs the ICS and have worked in partnership in
developing any joint capital resource plans in accordance with NHS England’s guidance
on good governance and collaboration. Within the ICS, we are part of the North West
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London Acute Provider Collaborative along with Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust,
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and London North West University
Healthcare NHS Trust. Our collaborative is focused on reducing health inequalities for
patients accessing acute care across north west London by developing joint clinical
pathways and providing mutual aid.

The Trust serves a catchment area in excess of one million people in the following areas:

Brent

Central London

Ealing

Hammersmith and Fulham
Harrow

Hillingdon

Hounslow

Kensington and Chelsea
Richmond

Wandsworth

West London

‘Rest of England’ category to reflect that national services we provide

We also have a series of contractual, systems management and other partnership
arrangements with respective local authorities. This includes membership and reporting
arrangements to health and wellbeing boards and overview and scrutiny committees. We
have established our partnership duties through a series of accountability and reporting
mechanisms to local Healthwatch groups (the statutory patient representative organisation).

Equality of service delivery

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is committed to equality and
equity of opportunity in the provision of services. In line with our strategic priorities and
values, we aim to create the best possible quality of care by delivering the highest quality
service to all sections of the community we serve without discrimination.

The Trust provides essential health services developed over the years to meet diverse
needs, ensuring they are delivered fairly and equitably. Our goal is to make these services
accessible to everyone, regardless of age, disability, gender, race, national origin,
sexuality or other factors which may cause disadvantage or inequity. We do not tolerate
any practices resulting in lower service standards due to unfair or unlawful discrimination.
During 2023/24, we have further embedded our position as part of the North West London
Acute Provider Collaborative which carries a key aim of reducing health inequalities. We
we have developed a range of collaborative pathways with other acute providers across
north west London, as well as offering mutual aid to start to reduce health inequalities
across acute health providers in north west London. This has been through support to the
Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (for example in acute physician sessional
support and seconding staff to support corporate nursing, learning and development). We
have also supported this through use of Trust facilities to support long waiters (for
example, gynaecology patients have been transferred to the Trust where we have shorter
waiting times). The Critical Care network has sought to manage capacity and demand
more flexibly across the collaborative to ensure we treat those who need this key support.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24 Page 19

Overall page 51 of 355



Our 2023/24 Equality Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) action plan recognised that critical to
experience is the ease of access to and the quality of care our patients receive and how
our communities see us. In some areas of clinical outcomes, such as neonatal mortality
which is higher for Black and Asian families, the correlation with ethnicity is well known.
We also track other areas, for example, whether race or disability impacts how long
patients wait for care and are creating new ways to identify problems and measure
improvement.

Tackling health inequalities

Health inequalities are part of wider inequalities relating to unfair and avoidable differences
in health between different groups in society. These inequalities can include access to
care, quality and experience of care.

Tackling inequalities in outcomes, experience and access is one of the four fundamental
purposes of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs). NHS England’s Healthcare Inequalities
Improvement Programme’s vision is for the NHS to deliver “exceptional quality healthcare
for all, ensuring equitable access, excellent experience and optimal outcomes”.

Good quality, robust data enables the NHS to understand more about the populations we
serve. It enables the Trust to identify groups that are at risk of poor access to healthcare,
poor experiences of healthcare services or outcomes from it, and deliver targeted action to
reduce healthcare inequalities.

We have made an impact through our prevention programme which includes the following:

e Smoking cessation: Over the last two quarters of 2023/24, more than 360 inpatients
(94% of those eligible) were referred to the SmokeLess programme to support them
with smoking cessation.

¢ Alcohol harm reduction: Over the previous 12 months, more than 2,800 patients at our
West Middlesex site received support from our Alcohol Care Team to reduce the
harmful impact of alcohol abuse.

Over the last 12 months, we have run a series of health improvement programmes
including smoking cessation, alcohol dependency and oral health through the Enterprise
Division. These have reported to our Improvement Board and their achievements have
been showcased across North West London Health Improvement forums. The multi-
disciplinary team (MDT) approach to alcohol reduction was also shortlisted for a NWL
Health Equity Award.

During 2023/24, the Trust has further improved our data quality processes on the health of
the population we serve by joining our data with the Whole System Integration Care
(WSIC). This has allowed us to align modelling on levels of Index of Multiple Deprivation
(IMD) and give a greater understanding where deprivation may be an issue with our
patient and where this contributes to inequity and unwarranted variation.

In 2024/25, we plan to expand this work through a newly established Health Improvement
Committee (chaired by the Chief Medical Officer) to:

e Deliver our Smokeless programme and further improve on smoking cessation—this
programme has been selected as one of the Trust quality priorities for 2024/25
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e Sustain and embed the alcohol reduction programme
e Explore areas around obesity

e Publish metrics set out in the NHS England’s Statement on Information on Health
Inequalities and commission further work based on data analysis of inequity and how
we can address through health inequalities impact assessment

We are collaborating with partners across North West London to ensure a consistent
approach to reporting on these metrics with the plan to co-develop strategic objectives to
tackle inequalities identified.

Principal risks for 2023/24

The Trust is committed to consistently delivering the highest quality of care and outcomes
for our patients. Our ambition is to strengthen our position as a major health provider in
north west London and beyond, to enhance our position as a major university teaching
hospital, driving internationally recognised research and development, and to establish
ourselves as one of the NHS’s primary centres for innovation. The Trust’s strategic
objectives are:

Strategic priority 1: Deliver high-quality, patient-centred care

Patients, their friends, family and carers will be treated with unfailing kindness and respect
by every member of staff in every department and their experience and quality of care will
be second to none.

Strategic priority 2: Be the employer of choice

We will provide every member of staff with the support, information, facilities and
environment they need to develop in their roles and careers. We will recruit and retain the
people we need to deliver high-quality services to our patients.

Strategic priority 3: Delivering better care at lower cost

We will look to continuously improve the quality of care and patient experience through the
most efficient use of available resources (financial and human, including staff, partners,
stakeholders, volunteers and friends).

The principal risks that could substantially impact the achievement of the Trust’s strategic
objectives, as recorded in the Board assurance framework, are outlined in greater detail
within the Annual Governance Statement which features later in this report. These are
summarised below:

¢ Failure to ensure the application of clinical and operational processes within an
increasingly complex environment could compromise the delivery of outstanding, high
guality, safe and patient-centred care

¢ Failure to innovate and coproduce quality improvements with our staff, patients, carers

and stakeholders/partners could drive health inequalities in outcomes and patient
experience
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e Failure to fully realise the Trust’'s academic and Research and Development (R&D)
potential may adversely affect its reputation and lead to loss of opportunity

¢ Risk that the population’s continuously changing need for services exceeds the Trust’s
capability and capacity to respond in a timely way—where there are instances of
demand outstripping supply, there is a risk that quality and safety of care will be
compromised, the needs of service users could be insufficiently met, and this will lead to
poorer health outcomes and experiences

¢ Insufficient or ineffective planning for current and future workforce requirements
(including number of staff, skill mix and training) may lead to impaired ability to deliver
the quantity of healthcare services to the required standards of quality and inability to
achieve the business plan and strategic objectives

e Failure to look after our staff's physical and mental wellbeing could lead to reduced
retention of staff, increased sickness levels, pressure on staff and decreased resilience,
poor staff morale, over-reliance on agency staffing at high cost/premiums, potential
impairment in service quality, and loss of the Trust’s strategic ambition to be the
employer of choice

¢ Failure to maintain a coherent and coordinated structure and approach to succession
planning, organisational development and leadership development may jeopardise the
development of robust clinical and non-clinical leadership to support service delivery
and change, staff being supported in their career development and to maintain
competencies and training attendance, staff retention, and the Trust being a ‘well-led’
organisation under the CQC domain

e Failure to develop and maintain our culture in line with the Trust values and the NHS
People Promise, which includes being compassionate and inclusive, recognition and
reward, having a voice that counts, health, safety and wellbeing of staff, working flexibly,
supporting learning and development, promoting equality, diversity and inclusivity and
fostering a team culture—the absence of this could result in harm to staff, an inability to
recruit and retain staff, a workforce which does not reflect Trust and NHS values, and
poorer service delivery

¢ Failure of the integrated care systems and provider collaboratives in which we work to
deliver transformation, reduce health inequalities, integrated care, maintain financial
equilibrium and share risk responsibly may impact adversely compromising service
delivery and the quality of patient care

e Failure to deliver a fit for purpose digital and physical estate to deliver the Trust’s clinical
strategy and strategic objectives through ineffective business planning arrangements
and/or inadequate mechanisms to track and control delivery of plans and programmes

¢ Failure to deliver the financial plan and maintain financial sustainability, including, but
not limited to non-delivery of CIP savings, budget overspends, underfunding and
constraints of block contracts in the context of increasing levels of activity and
demand—this could lead to an inability to deliver core services and health outcomes,
financial deficit, intervention by NHS England and Improvement, NWL ICS constraints,
and insufficient cash to fund future capital programmes
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¢ Failure to protect the integrity and security of our information could lead to cyberattacks
which could compromise the Trust’s infrastructure and ability to deliver services and
patient care, data loss or theft affecting patients, staff or finances, reputational damage
and/or personal data and information being processed unlawfully (with resultant legal or
regulatory fines or sanctions)

¢ Failure to take reasonable steps to minimise the Trust's adverse impact on the
environment, maintain and deliver a green plan, and maintain improvements in
sustainability in line with national targets, the NHS Long Term Plan and ‘For a Greener
NHS’ ambitions (30%, 50% and 80% reduction in emissions by 2023, 2025 and 2030,
respectively, and net zero carbon by 2040), could lead to a failure to meet Trust and
system objectives, reputational damage, loss of contracts, contribution to increased
pollution within the wider community, and loss of cost saving opportunities

¢ Failure to maintain adequate business continuity and emergency planning
arrangements to sustain core functions and deliver safe and effective services during a
widespread and sustained emergency or incident, for example a pandemic, could result
in harm to patients, pressure on and harm to staff, reputational damage and regulator
intervention

All principal risks are reviewed through the governance structure on a quarterly basis
including controls, assurances, gaps in control and actions. Our risk management process
includes the ‘three lines of assurance’ approach supporting more robust risk management.
Each principal risk is assigned to an executive lead and has a designated governance
home within the Trust committee structure. Mitigating controls include:

Clinical pathways

Clinical and non-clinical policies and procedures

Quality ‘deep dives’

Ward accreditation process

Quality Improvement (QI) programme

Peer reviews

Patient and public engagement forum

Strong operational planning and performance management
Strong financial planning, strategy and grip

Staff health and wellbeing strategies and initiatives

Mutual aid and shared learning across the acute provider collaborative
People strategy and associated sub-groups

System Oversight Meeting

Cybersecurity

Implementation of the sustainability and net zero strategy
Effective risk management systems

Going concern

The Trust has submitted a plan for 2024/25 to generate a breakeven position. As at
31 Mar 2024, the Trust holds £161.6m of cash reserves and has a forecast cash balance
of £160.8m at 31 Mar 2025.
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The directors are confident that there is a reasonable expectation that the Trust will
continue to have adequate cash resources to service its operational activities in cash
terms for the next 12 months and into 2025/26. The NHS clinical payment structures for
the Trust have remained largely unchanged, with fixed and variable elements to the
contract. The main change in 2024/25 is that NHSE has issued new Elective Recovery
Fund (ERF) targets to providers, which providers must achieve and any over/under
performance will be traded. The impact of this funding and the cash regime have been
taken into account for the Trust’s plans and projections, including cash flows, liquidity and
income base.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the services
provided by the NHS Foundation Trust will continue to be provided by the public sector for
the foreseeable future. For this reason, the directors have adopted the going concern
basis in preparing the accounts, following the definition of going concern in the public
sector adopted by HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual.
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
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How the Trust measures performance

North West London Acute Provider Collaborative

The four acute trusts in north west London approved the appropriate delegation of
authority to establish the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative (APC) in July
2022. With a chair and board in common, the collaborative came into being on 01 Sep
2022.

The organisational structure for the APC is a collaborative of four statutory organisations.
The four Trust Boards therefore continue to be the core governance mechanisms for each
Trust, responsible for setting strategy and delivery of statutory and regulatory
requirements. As a collaborative, the four boards work together to deliver common
strategic priorities where those priorities add collective value. However, each Trust Board
remains responsible for the delivery of their respective trust duties.

This approach means each trust remains an independent organisation, working closely
with our local authorities, patient groups and other partners, while also being able to make
more effective use of our collective resources to provide better care, for more people,
more fairly.

Over the past year, our collaborative approach has helped us to:

e Offer patients waiting for an operation in a trust where capacity for a particular service is
limited, the chance to have their operation sooner, in a hospital managed by one of the
other partners where there is more capacity for that service.

e Expand a single electronic patient record system to cover all 12 hospitals of the four
acute trusts, bringing immediate benefits for patients who receive care at more than one
of our trusts and creating huge potential for evidence-based, best practice and data-led
research and development.

e Improve inpatient orthopaedic care across the sector with the opening of the North West
London Elective Orthopaedic Centre. This has allowed us to bring together routine, low-
complexity orthopaedic procedures in a single centre of excellence which will improve
outcomes, allow us to treat more patients more efficiently, and reduce the risk of
operations being cancelled due to urgent and emergency care pressures.

e Continue to use the peer review process, building on the findings from the reviews we
have taken (including A&E and discharge from hospital), sharing best practice and
innovation within specific services more systematically.

e Open two of three new community diagnostic centres planned for north west London, in
Willesden and Wembley, as well as one of two new eye care diagnostic centres in
Willesden. A community diagnostic centre in Ealing and an eye care centre in
Westminster will open shortly. All have been located in areas that serve communities
most at risk of health inequalities and, together, provide approximately 196,000
additional diagnostic tests annually. They will help us bring down waiting times while
also ensuring fairer access to services.
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e Bring six urgent treatment centres (UTCs) in-house from independent sector
management, meaning all seven UTCs located in our hospitals are now managed as
part of integrated urgent and emergency care pathways, improving operational flow and
enabling us to provide a better experience for patients and staff.

e As last year, the APC overall has delivered the financial plan for 2023/24 and has
agreed coordinated financial plans for the year ahead, while also being one of the
highest-performing sectors in the NHS.

e Our leadership teams have continued to work together systematically, focused on five
key workstreams—quality, people, finance and operational performance, digital and
data, and estates and sustainability. With each work area led by one of the trust chief
executives and one of the vice chairs, we are aligning our approach to measuring
performance and impact and gathering user insights to help us identify and prioritise
shared and local challenges as well as solutions and best practice.

¢ We have embarked on developing the three-year strategy for the APC including
extensive engagement with staff and other key stakeholders. This strategy will set out
the strategic aims for the Collaborative, including the alignment of best practice,
reduction of variation across the Collaborative and therefore improving access to our
services.

¢ We have also embarked on the development of a three-year APC strategy, engaging
with staff and a range of stakeholders. The strategy, which will set out our strategic aims
and implementation approach, will be shared this summer.

Meanwhile, we have agreed the following joint work projects within our existing work
streams (plus an additional one—equality, diversity and inclusion) for the year ahead:

e Quality: Improving care for deteriorating patients and end-of-life care, continuing our
focus on a standardised approach to clinical harm and mortality reviews, incorporating
user insights, implementing the new national patient safety strategy, implementing a
new incident and risk management system, implementing a maternity and neonatal
delivery plan and focusing on infection prevention and control.

e People: Creating a careers hub and staff transfer scheme, creating a recruitment hub
for hard-to-fill vacancies, increasing the apprenticeship levy uptake, reducing violence,
aggression, bullying and discrimination and reducing the premium rate staffing
expenditure.

e Digital and data: Finalising the APC digital and data strategy, optimisation of the
Cerner system to better support frontline staff, developing a strategic reporting solution
based on the national Federated Data Platform (FDP), improving patient flow and
capacity using the care coordination solution.

e Finance and operational performance: Delivery of the activity targets in the
operational plan, support services consolidation, discharge planning and flow, agree a

programme of efficiency and productivity reducing reliance on ICB support and
improving our financial sustainability and outpatient transformation.
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e Estates and Sustainability: Developing our collaborative-wide estates strategy to
improve the facilities across all our sites, maximising our engagement with the national
New Hospitals Programme, and working together to move our trusts towards net zero
carbon emissions.

e Equity Diversity and Inclusion (EDI): Improving the data we hold to enable us to
monitor, manage and improve equity across all our services, increasing access to our
services and reducing inequality in all healthcare provision. Prioritising the elimination of
the inequalities that exist in our workforce by implementing inclusive workforce
strategies that empower our staff to advance their careers and enable an environment
that promotes their wellbeing, is safe and free from discrimination.

Local Trust level

The work of the Trust Board of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
is underpinned by five key committees—namely the Quality Committee, People and
Workforce Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Finance and Performance Committee
and the Nominations and Remuneration Committee.

Board-level

The Quality Committee and Finance and Performance Committee receive the integrated
performance report comprising a number of key performance indicators (KPIs) with
associated commentary to explain variances and detail the actions in place to deliver
improvement.

The KPlIs cover a range of contractual and internally determined metrics, providing a
balanced scorecard for the Trust’s performance across the four domains of regulatory
compliance, quality, efficiency and workforce. Each KPI, where appropriate, has a target
based on either the contractual performance standard or an internally set target, based on
benchmarking information from a peer group of other NHS organisations.

The integrated performance report presents the KPIs for both hospital sites independently,
as well as the combined Trust performance. Trend data is also provided for the last 12
months to enable the Trust Board to track progress over time.

The Trust Board receives a quarterly integrated performance and quality report which
enables triangulation of outcomes and performance across the domains of access, quality,
people and finance. This report includes comparator information of performance across
the other three trusts in the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative while also
giving nationally benchmarked performance positions. These arrangements complement a
rigorous regime of internal and external audit and accountability to the Trust Board, the
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative, the North West London Integrated Care
Board, NHS England and our regulatory bodies. The Board also receives a summary of
the Trust’s financial performance, with more detailed information provided to and
scrutinised by the Finance and Performance Committee.

Divisional-level

Performance at the divisional level is scrutinised through monthly divisional performance
review meetings, providing an opportunity for executive directors to have a more detailed
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discussion with divisional teams to support performance improvement initiatives, celebrate
good performance and challenge underperformance. Divisional performance reviews are
supported with the relevant division’s performance information against the committee and
Board-level KPIs, supplemented by additional performance information relevant to the
priorities of the division concerned.

A comprehensive programme of specialty-based deep dives has been fully embedded
across the organisation for a number of years. These reviews are executive-led and held
with the specialty multidisciplinary teams to review their quality, workforce and efficiency
metrics.

Additionally, a weekly performance meeting led by the hospital directors and divisional
directors of operations is in place to monitor the key performance metrics across both sites
and to monitor data quality. Performance against the elective recovery plan is also shared
on a frequent basis through the executive management board and all-staff webinars.

To support effective operational performance, the Trust employs a team of specialist
information professionals who provide analytical support to all parts of the organisation
and service the Trust’s internal and external reporting obligations.

Performance information is provided to the organisation routinely through a combination of
desktop self-service tools, automated routine reports, refreshed periodical scorecards and
ad hoc reporting on request. Trust performance is scrutinised and supported through a
range of daily, weekly and monthly meetings, with the necessary information available for
discussion.

Operational performance

Throughout 2023/24, the Trust faced significant challenges due to increasing demand for
services, the after-effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on elective care backlogs, and the
impact of industrial action on elective capacity. Despite these challenges, the Trust
maintained high levels of quality and performance, treating patients as effectively as
possible.

Our urgent and emergency care services experienced high demand throughout the year.
In Sep 2023, the Trust took over the management of the Urgent Treatment Centre at the
West Middlesex site and stabilised its performance. Despite pressures, the Trust has
continued to perform well and would, if reporting, rank in the top decile nationally. The
Trust has consistently delivered one of the best levels of performance in the capital and
nationally, although more needs to be done to return to pre-pandemic levels of
performance and flow.

Referral to treatment time (RTT) performance has not been achieved since Oct 2019 when
the Cerner electronic patient record system was deployed at the Chelsea site. The
subsequent impact of ceasing elective activity in Mar 2020 during the first wave of COVID-
19 meant the recovery phase was not concluded. Throughout 2023/24, performance
against this standard has remained stable despite the significant impact of industrial
action. Focus continued on treating long-waiting patients, with 53 patients waiting over 78
weeks for treatment in Mar 2024 and a trajectory to eliminate such long waits in the next
financial year. There were 27 patients waiting over 78 weeks at the end of last financial
year, but this year has been increasingly challenged due to industrial action.
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Our compliance with the 2-week wait cancer standard has been excellent despite the
challenges, meeting the standard for 11 out of 12 months. The 28-day faster diagnostic
standard (FDS) was introduced in Oct 2021 for patients referred for suspected cancer to
have a timely diagnosis. The aim is for 75% of patients to be diagnosed or have cancer
ruled out within 28 days of being urgently referred by their GP. Performance against this
standard improved considerably in 2023/24 and is now consistently delivered, with
compliance in 11 out of 12 months. There has also been an improvement in performance
against the 62-day standard, which measures the overall time from referral to treatment for
patients diagnosed with cancer. While not consistently compliant with this target, Trust
performance has trended upwards and is ranked top decile nationally.

The Trust’s strong performance against the national 95% diagnostics standard has been
challenged over the last quarter of the year, with a full recovery plan in place to return to
compliance in quarter 1 of 2024/25. The following graphs illustrate the Trust’s performance
against each of the key national standards of A&E 4-hour performance, RTT times, cancer
2-week waits, 62-day cancer waits, 28-day FDS and diagnostics as noted above.
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Cancer urgent 62-day GP referral to first treatment performance

National Target 85% within 62 Days
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Diagnostic waiting times performance
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Quality priorities

During 2023/24, the Trust set a range of quality priorities aimed at improving the clinical
effectiveness, safety and experience of care received by our patients. These included:

e End of life care: Supporting people in their last months or years of life

Effective discharge: Enabling safe and timely discharge

Frailty care: Improving the identification and care of frail patients

Patient safety incident response framework (PSIRF): Enhancing patient safety
through learning and improvement

Priorities were identified through engagement with multiple stakeholder groups:

e Engagement and feedback from our Council of Governors and Engagement Forum,
including external stakeholders

e Engagement and feedback from our Board’s Quality Committee

¢ Review of incident reporting and feedback from complaints and claims

We are proud of the progress made against our 2023/24 quality priorities. Although not all
ambitions were realised, the Trust has continued to deliver year-on-year improvements to
our services, promoting better quality of care. A brief progress update for each quality
priority is provided below.

Priority 1: Improving end of life care
Why we chose this as a quality priority

Nationally, a third of NHS inpatients are within the last 12 months of life. The Trust is
committed to ensuring that these patients receive personalised, appropriate care tailored
to their needs and the needs of those important to them. The Trust implemented a two-
year quality priority in 2022/23 focusing on the provision of coordinated, individualised care
at the end of life, delivered by staff who have had the appropriate training and education,
and in line with the preferences of the patient.
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Aim

The introduction of the London Universal Care Plan (UCP) digital system (previously called
the London Urgent Care Plan)—this system provides a shared record of patients’ care
preferences, including decisions around goals and treatment escalation. This is important
because of the association between the presence of a UCP and place of death, with more
patients dying outside of the hospital setting if they had a UCP, as demonstrated in the
charts below.

Charts: Doing the right thing report on universal care plans

LONDON DEATHS WITH A UCP LONDON DEATHS

N—"

Supporting people’s preferences for place of care and death can have significant impacts
on our patients and those important to them—for this reason, the Trust has committed to
improving the ‘fast-track’ discharge process. Fast-track is a process to rapidly access NHS
funding for care outside of hospital, either at home or in a care home, for patients who are
rapidly deteriorating in the context of a life-limiting iliness. It is the Trust’'s ambition to
reduce the timeframe of these transfers so that patient preferences can best be met at the
end of life.

Update on progress

e There is now increased operational Trustwide visibility owing to Cerner reporting of
three fast-track key moments under ‘key discharge dates’:

o fast track—initiated
¢ fast track—paperwork submitted
o fast track—approved

e Further improvement will lead to this being visible on the Timely Care Hub. Meanwhile,
an interim solution for reporting has been developed, however, this is not visible to all
members of staff..

e There are ongoing communications regarding developing the fast-track paperwork in a
digital form, increasing the safety and efficiency of completion.

¢ Significant improvement has been made to the ‘end of life matters’ intranet page,
making it a useful signposting tool and supportive to staff, including the most up-to-date
fast-track documentation End of Life (EOL) Matters.

e There is ongoing training and support for members of the multidisciplinary team,
highlighting the fast-track pathway—see the following image.
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Simplified fast track process map highlighting key
moments to update Cerner ‘Key discharge dates’
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achieved

e There has been an increase in the use of the universal care plan (UCP) with targeted
training and communications. However, we are reliant on the external company ‘Better’
to provide more granular detail of these metrics, which is currently being addressed by
the Trust—see charts below:

Chart: UCP access 2023/24 by the Trust provided by external company ‘Better’
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Chart: UCP access 2023/24 by the Trust provided by external company ‘Better’
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Key challenges

The fast-track discharge process is intricate, involving dynamic challenges that have
influenced the execution of the quality priority. Initially, there was no sustainable reporting
tool at the onset of the quality priority, leading to reliance on manual data extraction.
However, following the implementation of the Cerner change, a report now exists for
identifying fast-track patients, offering insights into the duration between crucial fast-track
milestones.

In-depth examinations of fast-track patients revealed paperwork as a major factor
contributing to delays. Continuous education and assistance have been provided to ward

teams. However, true improvements have been realised through the introduction of digital
paperwork systems.

Forward plan
A working group comprising key members has been established to sustain the progress of
improvement plans. As part of the Trust's quality priorities for 2024/2025, end-of-life care

will be highlighted whenever relevant connections are identified. End-of-life care will
continue to be reported to the following meetings:

e End-of-life steering group (bi-monthly)
¢ Clinical effectiveness group (bi-annually)

Priority 2: Supporting effective discharge
Why we chose this as a quality priority

Hospital discharge arrangements impact patient outcomes, experience and the cost of
healthcare provision. By integrating discharge processes within digital solutions, the Trust

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24 Page 35

Overall page 67 of 355



can ensure timely and safe discharges, reduce readmissions and provide patients with the
support they need to manage their conditions at home. This approach also supports better
information availability and communication between teams, improving the continuity and
quality of care.

Aim

Development of a digital solution designed to support communication between system
partners and patients, minimise internal delays and optimise the discharge process.

Update on progress

There has been an overall improvement in the number of patients having an anticipated
discharge date (ADDs) recorded within 24 hours, however, the target of 95% has not been
achieved. Once the baseline was established (27.8%), the Acute Medical Unit (AMU) and
the Acute Assessment Unit (AAU), as admitting areas, were identified as the wards
contributing to over 40% of the total ADDs set, therefore these were highlighted as areas
of focus for improvement.

The chart below demonstrates there has been a 23.4% increase in the number of ADDs
being completed within 24 hours of admission. There has also been a reduction in the
number of ADDs recorded over 48 hours (15.1%) and ADDs not recorded (6.1%).

Chart: Trust average anticipated discharge date recorded on Cerner
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Key challenges

There have been significant challenges extracting data to report on the Early Discharge
Notification (EDN) during the timeline of the quality priority. The following figure shows the
breakdown by site.

1 Not started until Mar 2024
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Figure: Community social EDN referrals by site
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A discharge dashboard is in development stages looking to be completed during 2024/25
which will enable improved visibility of key discharge metrics.

During the quality priority, staff have become more familiar with the use of recording key
discharge moments in Cerner due to ongoing training and support.

Forward plan

The metrics identified in the quality priority are part of a wider discharge transformation
programme which will continue ongoing improvement plans and report to the Clinical
Effectiveness Group (quarterly).

Priority 3: Improving frailty care
Why we chose this as a quality priority

Frailty is a loss of resilience, meaning people with frailty are unable to bounce back quickly
after an illness, accident or other stressful event. People with frailty are also at risk of
developing conditions such as anxiety and depression, and are more likely to have
unplanned hospital admissions. Due to our ageing population, an increasing number of
people are at risk of developing frailty. Early recognition and timely intervention can save
lives, prevent harm, improve patient experience and reduce unwarranted variation in care.
It is, therefore, the Trust's ambition to improve how we recognise frailty, assess patient
needs and intervene to best support patients and reduce risk.

Aim

To improve the identification, management and prevention of frailty through evidence-
based interventions, multidisciplinary team reviews and using data-driven approaches at
an earlier point within a patient’s pathway and within the emergency care pathway. We aim
to complement these aims with a robust assessment of patient experience through our
integrated care coordinators working closely with the patient experience team to develop a
continuous AFS service evaluation.
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Update on progress

The frailty quality priority was able to meet and exceed the 35% national CQUIN
(Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) targets for completing a clinical frailty
assessment and ensuring appropriate follow-up care was received, reaching 98.7% and
50% on average, respectively.

We were able to deploy a reporting solution to support this through the Trust’s digital and
business intelligence teams, which ensured that a sustainable method of CQUIN reporting
is maintained for the future—see monthly frailty metrics table below.

Metric Target

Patients aged 65 and over attending A&E or same-day emergency care (SDEC) 350
receiving a clinical frailty assessment and appropriate follow-up
Basic frailty training for all patient-facing staff (for selected staff groups) 95%

We were also able to build and deploy a frailty training programme for the Trust in

Feb 2024. While the training is open to all clinical staff, in the initial phase we prioritised
three tiers of the front door workforce (eg Emergency Department/SDEC/AAU) and aim to
collect monthly compliance lists in the new financial year.

Table: Monthly frailty metrics

Detailed Target Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
initiatives 9 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023 2024 2024 2023

Patients = 65
attending A&E
or same-day
emergency
care (SDEC)
receiving a
clinical frailty
assessment
Patients = 65
attending A&E
or same-day
emergency
care (SDEC)
receiving
appropriate
follow up
Basic frailty
training for
patient facing
staff

35% 98.3% | 98.0% | 97.0% | 99.6% | 99.2% | 97.7% | 98.4% | 99.8% | 99.7% | 99.3% | 99.7% | 99.4%

35% 48% 48% | 41.1% | 48.6% | 53.9% | 51.4% | 49.8% | 55.4% | 50.4% | 64.7% | 56.6% | 62.2%

95% Training rolled out Feb 2024—compliance register in development

Figure: Frailty training module

DANHS

Acute Frailty Network
Mandatory Training Modules
Frailty Update

Leaming & Organisational Development
Debora Ferreira Lopes - Nov 2023
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Key challenges

Despite the success of the quality priority as a whole, there were some key challenges that
the team encountered, including:

¢ |dentifying the CGA (Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment) exact criteria with North
West London leads for an appropriate follow-up involved numerous discussions with
service directors and consultants to ensure the criteria were fair and applicable to all
clinical scenarios.

e To accurately report the CFS (Clinical Frailty Score) and CGA compliance rate without
manually sifting through the data, the Business Intelligence team was asked to support
the automation of the data request and analysis. Despite challenges in operationalising
some of the Cerner data, this was used in subsequent months to provide clear data to
all board meetings.

Forward plan

Identified as a priority for 2024/25.

Priority 4: Patient safety incident response framework (PSIRF)
Why we chose this as a quality priority

The patient safety incident response framework (PSIRF) is an innovative national
approach to developing and maintaining effective systems and processes for responding
to patient safety incidents, and is a core element of the NHS patient safety strategy.

The framework enhances the Trust's approach to safety learning and supports strategic,
preventative, collaborative, fair and just, credible and people-focused investigations. The
changes required to implement PSIRF will be coordinated across the Acute Provider
Collaborative to enhance sector consistency. To gauge the organisation’s appetite for
PSIRF, a staff survey was carried out during quarter 2 of 2023/24 to better understand our
safety culture—see figure on the next page.

Aim

To empower and enable our staff to respond to patient safety events through the
implementation of the patient safety incident response framework in collaboration with the
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative. The Trust launched its implementation
of the PSIRF plan at the end of the 2023/24 financial year and has gained a better
understanding of the safety culture of the organisation and areas for improvement—see
patient safety culture survey results below.

Update

Progress has been made with the rollout of PSIRF, including:

¢ ICB-approved PSIRF Policy and Plan published on the Trust external website

o Patient safety levels 1 and 2 launched mid-June 2023, however, Trust communications

were not released until late August 2023. There has been a steady increase with
targeted communications to divisions.
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¢ 80 staff members attended the two-day accredited training
¢ Recruitment of Patient Safety Partners (PSPSs)

e Adaptation of governance report templates to include PSIRF methodology

Metric Target Performance? |
Staff to receive level 1 (essentials for patient safety) training. 90% 40%
Staff at band 6 and above and our medical professionals to 90% 30%
receive level 2 (access to practice patient safety) training.
Figure: Patient safety culture survey results
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DOING WELL? o)
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agree that they feel comfortable our safety systems
93% reporting a patient safety incident that
they have ben involved in.
WHAT
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agree that they feel comfortable raising that when a patient safety
96% concerns about patient safety with their :"m'de"';;,m o
manager. the findings are shared that
we seek patient and family
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investigated for the sole purpose of
learning and improvement, rather than WHAT
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appropriate access to
patient safety training
Chelsea and Westminster Mospltal !
NHS Foundation
2 Data taken from Qlikview as at 3 Apr 2024
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Key challenges

Patient safety level 1 and 2 e-learning has been hosted on the e-Learning for Health (EIfH)
platform, which decreased visibility and ease of access. However, this should improve due
to the eLearning now being hosted on Chelsea Learning, the main Trust e-Learning
platform since the beginning of Mar 2024. Prior to this date, our compliance rate was at
20% and has seen a marked improvement in the last month of the financial year.

Running a hybrid system of both the Serious Incident Framework (as we phased it out)
and PSIRF created an increased workload on all divisions, which were tasked with testing
new methodology as well as completing existing open serious incidents.

There was a significant increase in the number of responses, as seen in the chart below,
but this has since resolved due to the complete phasing out of the old framework and full
rollout of PSIRF during the last quarter of 2023/24.

Chart: Comparison between external and internal serious incidents (SIS)/patient
safety incident investigations (PSlls)/safety responses declared/commenced
Apr 2022—-Mar 2024
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Forward plan

Identified as a priority for 2024/25.

Financial performance

The Trust reported an adjusted surplus of £2.68m against the control total of a breakeven
plan. The overall reported position is a surplus of £7.4m for the year (before adding back
all reversals of impairments relating principally to land and buildings of £6.8m and other
adjustments of £2.1m). The Trust delivered £22.9m of cost improvement programmes
during the year. The following table shows the 2023/24 financial outturn against the
2022/23 position under NHS England’s reporting definitions.
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2023/24 outturn

2022/23 outturn

Adjusted surplus/(deficit)

(Em) (Em)
Operating revenue £940.1 £867.2
Employee expenses (£539.4) (£500.8)
Other operating expenses (£382.7) (E344.5)
Non-operating income/expenses (£10.7) (£12.6)
Other gains/(losses) including disposal of assets (£0.02) (£0.3)
Net reversal of impairments and other (£6.8) (£6.8)
non-current asset gains/(losses)
Corporation tax expense (£0.002) (£0.02)
Removal of donated assets/PPE consumables £0.1 (E2.1)
Removal I&E impact of IFRS 16 on IFRIC 12 schemes £2.0 (£0.0)

Net surplus/(deficit) % 0.29% 0.01%
Total operating revenue for EBITDA £938.8 £864.1
Total operating expenses for EBITDA (£898.1) (£822.9)
EBITDA £40.7 £41.2)
EBITDA margin % 4.3% 4.8%

Year-end cash

During the year, the balance of cash and cash equivalents increased from £160.2m (31

Mar 2023) to £161.6m (31 Mar 2024).

In 2023/24, the Trust invested £50.5m on capital, which included £30.9m on estates works
and maintenance across both sites, £8.8m on medical equipment and £9.4m on IT goods
and services. The balance of £1.7m included non-medical equipment and the impact of

IFRS16 leases.

Environmental and sustainability performance

Overall strategy for sustainability

In Nov 2021, the Trust launched its five-year Green Plan, setting out two core targets:

e For the emissions we control directly (the NHS carbon footprint), we will reach net zero
by 2040, with an ambition to reach an 80% reduction by 2028-32

e For the emissions we can influence (our NHS Carbon Footprint Plus), we will reach net

zero by 2045, with an ambition to reach an 80% reduction by 2036-39.

Our sustainability board, chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, has oversight of key
workstreams of our sustainability strategy. It focuses on progressing opportunities for
carbon reduction in alignment with the Trust’'s Green Plan. This year we have continued
working alongside our partners towards the decarbonisation of our activities to align with
our vision of a low-carbon, sustainable healthcare system.
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Our carbon footprint

The Trust measures its carbon footprint for direct greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.
Throughout the year, we have continued to collaborate with our external partners and
contractors to improve the accuracy of the data. Our estimated directly controlled carbon
footprint includes emissions from utilities (gas, electricity and oil), water and sewage, and

volatile gases.

Our predicted NHS carbon footprint tonnes of CO2e) against the
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Since 2019/20, our NHS carbon footprint for our directly controlled emissions has fallen by
around 20%. Over this period, we have seen reductions in emissions across many of our

NHS carbon footprint emission sources, including all volatile gases, waste disposal, water,
and buildings’ energy, gas and oil use.

Finite resource consumption

Water

Early last year, the Trust switched to robotic floor cleaners instead of manual floor
mopping. These machines allow water to be recycled, reducing water consumption by
90% compared to the traditional technique.

Water consumption and GHG Emissions
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The Trust reduced its water consumption by 6% compared to 2022/23. The table above
refers to GHG tCOze. GHG means ‘greenhouse gases’ and tCO:ze stands for tonnes (t) of
carbon dioxide (CO2) equivalent (e).

Energy consumption—electricity

Electrical Consumption & GHG Emissions
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The Trust operates from a large estate which requires careful management of the natural
gas and electricity consumption. The 2022/23 period saw volatility in the supply costs.
Although costs have stabilised, the estate through its decarbonisation programs will
become increasingly reliant on a stable and resilient electrical supply. There has been a
13% increase in consumption compared to 2022/23. Our capital and refurbishment
projects are focused on our net zero goals and the efficient management and monitoring of
our consumption will help towards lowering our carbon emissions and reducing costs.

Energy consumption—natural gas
CWHNHFT - Matural Gas & GHG Emissions
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Off-grid natural gas consumption to site has seen a 23% reduction compared to 2022/23.
Much of the consumption reduction is attributed to the mandatory 22,000 hours off-site unit
maintenance and associated capital works to the CWH Combined Heat and Power (CHP)
units which have not been operational during this time and have therefore required
reduced gas to fuel the units.
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Our partnerships

We recognise that we are stronger together, and as a part of the North West London Acute
Provider Collaborative, we are able to share developments, build momentum and amplify
successes. Key achievements include the commissioning of a review of all the NWL estate
to support the development of a costed decarbonisation plan across all sites.

West Middlesex University Hospital operates under a Private Finance Initiative (PFI), and
we work closely with our hard facilities management provider to explore and implement
solutions to decarbonise our estate. To this end, we now have regular representation from
the team at our Sustainability Board.

Our key successes
Waste

The Trust works closely with its staff, contractors, Infection Prevention and Control Leads,
and the wider community to improve the segregation and reduction of waste. We have a
Trustwide multidisciplinary waste group which supports our overall sustainability waste
work stream. The Trust will continue to monitor our activity against the revisions in the
HTM and overall NHS Clinical Waste Strategy updated in Mar 2023. We’ll work towards
the 2025 targets of 20% incineration, 20% infection and 60% offensive waste (20:20:60)
with developed contracts management. We will ensure data accuracy and work with NHSE
to normalise reporting data. The following table illustrates this year’s clinical waste
disposal activity.

Waste streams
120%

100%

80% 41% 48%
60%
40%
20%
0%
CWH - 23/24 WMH- 23/24
H Incineration (Clinical Waste) B Alternative Treatment (Clinical Waste) Offensive Waste

In collaboration with our soft facilities management partners, the Trust has installed a food
waste composter at the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital site. Since mid-Apr 2023, the
hospital has been utilising this innovative solution to manage the significant volume of food
waste generated annually, which amounts to 25.27 tonnes in the last nine months.

The composting machine efficiently breaks down food waste, transforming it into a high-
quality, valuable soil nutrient, while also reducing the waste by around 80% of its original
volume. This sustainable approach not only contributes to the reduction of waste and
associated environmental costs, such as transport of waste, but also delivers tangible
environmental benefits to our local communities. The Trust is proud to have regained its
status as a ‘zero-waste-to-landfill' Trust in Mar 2024.
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Buildings

The works to replace the Ethylene Tetrafluoroethylene (ETFE) roof—commonly known as
the ‘bubble roof —on our Chelsea and Westminster Hospital Site reached completion in
October 2023. This £2.5m, three-year project provides a new ETFE roof over the main
atrium. The work included thicker foils which achieve a ‘U’ value (the rate at which heat is
lost through the structure, keeping the warmth in) of 1.7 W/m?K, which is an improvement
of around 29%.

The waste materials from the old roof were subjected to industrial recycling and
reprocessing into ETFE compounds which could then be converted into other products.
This recycling of old materials ensured that the work to complete this project kept its
environmental impact to a minimum by utilising principles of the circular economy.

We have secured funding for the conversion of LED lighting upgrades at CW. This will
reduce our energy consumption significantly due to improved energy efficiency. The next
phase of LED lighting roll-out is approved for Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
outpatients and theatres.

Medicines

In collaboration with the Pan London Perioperative Audit and Research Network, and
alongside other hospitals across the London region, the Trust has engaged in the
‘NOMOREGAS’ project. Nitrous oxide is a regularly used anaesthetic gas with a
particularly high global warming potential and is directly destructive to the ozone layer. The
reduction in its use is central to the NHS net zero plan. Having participated in this audit
over the last year at West Middlesex University Hospital, we are now in a stronger position
to develop an action plan to reduce our carbon emissions associated with this volatile gas.

Information technology (IT)

This year, we made Ecosia our default search engine across our sites. Ecosia is a green
search engine with 100% of profits being used to plant new trees and support climate
action. Since the roll-out, our Trust’s searches have contributed to over 33,000 trees being
planted across the world.

In September, we implemented an innovative computer power management solution. By
automatically powering down computers when they are not in use, this software has
contributed a significant environmental benefit in reducing the Trust’s carbon footprint.
Since the installation of this software, the Trust has avoided carbon emissions in the
region of 200,000kg COze.

We have partnered with a new supplier to manage our IT-related waste. Their focus on
recycling and social value has allowed for 485 units to be reprocessed, which resulted in
over 66 tCOze to be avoided.

Staff engagement and wellbeing
The role of green spaces in supporting mental and physical well-being is increasingly
recognised, and its wider role in reducing climate change, improving social cohesion and

community connectedness, and offering opportunities for volunteering and relaxation are
well documented. Last year, we successfully bid for funding to transform an underused
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green space at the West Middlesex Hospital. This exciting project, in collaboration with our
charity CW+, will transform the lakeside area with new landscaping and planting—all
designed to improve the biodiversity of the site. There will also be an engagement
element, with workshops and activities to allow staff to reap the benefits of spending time
outdoors and in connection with nature. This project is set for delivery in phases over the
coming year.

The Trust is making steps to support sustainable travel for our staff. An interest-free
season ticket loan is available as part of the salary sacrifice scheme, to enable more staff
to access public transport for their commute. Furthermore, the Trust supports active travel
by offering staff the opportunity to purchase a bike through its cycle-to-work scheme,
which is run in accordance with the government’s Green Travel Plan.

Delivering high-quality health and care places numerous demands on natural resources
and the environment. Just by working in the way that we currently do, we are adversely
affecting the natural world and contributing to the pollution we are trying to tackle. This
means we all need to think about reducing our carbon footprint across all aspects of our
life at work. Some of these reductions may involve changes in clinical pathways; some
might be product switches; others a change in our behaviour or a cultural shift. In
collaboration with our charity CW+, we have secured funding for a Sustainability platform
for all our staff. This tool uses principles of gamification and competition to raise
awareness of sustainability in healthcare and drive positive behaviour change. Staff will be
able to participate in a range of activities, and the platform will calculate individual, team
and organisational impact. This combination of incentive, repeated action and fun will help
drive forward a culture of sustainable healthcare at the Trust over the coming year.

Patient-led assessments of the care environment (PLACE)

PLACE assessments were conducted at both main hospital sites over a three-day period
in Octr 2023. For note, the off-site clinics were not part of this year’s assessment but will
form part of the 2024 assessments later this year. In 2023, 1,106 assessments were
undertaken compared to 1,046 in 2022.

The overall national average score was 89.9%, and the Trust has scored an average of
96%, 6.1% above the overall national score. The highest national average score in 2023
was for cleanliness at 98.1%. The Trust scored an average of 99.7%, 1.6% above the
national average score. The Trust has scored above the national average scores for all
domains. The graphs below illustrate the Trust score Trustwide and by site.

PLACE 2023 - Trustwide
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PLACE 2023 - Per Site
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Estates and Facilities continue to conduct routine inspections of the hospital buildings
along with our service partners and hospital directors. This includes reviewing the
environment and cleaning standards, which are monitored in line with the National
Standards of Cleanliness and routine monthly food tasting sessions.

Patient environment

The capital investment and development programme continues to improve the hospital
environment for patients, including:

New 24 bed ward at West Middlesex: Trust investment of ~£6m
Development of treatment centre: Trust investment of ~£5.3m

West Middlesex diagnostic centre: Trust investment of ~£2.8m
Dean Street TransPlus project: Trust investment of ~E2m

New MRI units: Trust investment of ~£1.8m

Mezzanine refurbishment: Trust investment of ~£1.3m

Ward refurbishments: Trust investment of ~£1m

Burns unit ventilation upgrade: Trust investment of ~£0.8m

Car park refurbishment at West Middlesex: Trust investment of ~£0.6m
Bubble roof replacement: Trust investment of ~£0.5m
Refurbishment of mental health rooms: Trust investment of ~£0.2m
New paediatric dental theatre: Trust investment of ~£0.07m

Social, community, anti-bribery and human rights
issues
There have been no anti-bribery or human rights issues to escalate throughout the year.

The Trust’'s human trafficking statement was signed off by the Audit and Risk Committee
and demonstrates full compliance. It can be found on our website www.chelwest.nhs.uk.

Community

The Trust continued to work closely with our NHS and community partners throughout the
year to ensure effective care was provided to residents. The Trust ran and supported
many community engagement events during and post-pandemic to provide public health
messages and reassurance on the safety of the COVID-19 vaccination and the mpox
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programme. Through 2023/24, the Trust provided a COVID-19 vaccination and Mpox
program on a humber of external sites and has continued to run a public vaccination hub
on site at West Middlesex University Hospital.

Equality, diversity and inclusion

Much has been achieved towards ensuring that every one of our people, regardless of
their protected characteristics, has a great experience working with us. Understanding that
it is ever more important to achieve the link between equitable and inclusive services and
the experience of our staff, our 2023/24 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) action plan,
linked to the NHS EDI Improvement plan, set out tangible actions to address discrimination
and enhance the compassionate and inclusive culture that reflects our Trust’s values.

We reviewed existing data and defined our workforce metrics for racial, gender pay gap
and disability equalities to measure improvement. We maintained focus on career
progression and support/removal of barriers for underrepresented groups, which include
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff, disabled staff, with gender-specific targets
being considered in a refreshed strategy.

We also enrolled on the NHSE People Promise Exemplar programme, which has a focus
on the retention of staff, but will also support our work in this area through learning from
best practice and a dedicated People Promise manager resource to help drive
improvements.

Some of the progress from 2023/24 include:

e Set up of the ‘belonging in the NHS’ subgroup that acts to address unwarranted
variation and equity of experience among our workforce through the delivery of our
2023/24 EDI action plan

e Appointment of an EDI advisor to the Board who acts as a critical friend to the Board,
applying their skills, knowledge, and experience to support and challenge the Board on
the Trust’s culture transformation journey around EDI

e Embarked on a ‘culturally intelligent and inclusive leadership’ programme for 25 senior
leaders

o Refreshed our approach to ensuring diversity in recruitment through diverse interview
panels and recruitment processes for senior roles

¢ Invested in our staff networks by introducing provisions for protected time and funding
for network activities and training for network officers

¢ Relaunched our fourth cohort of the Accelerated Nurses Development programme for
internationally experienced nurses aimed at developing internationally educated nurse
(IEN) readiness for promotion into higher graded roles

e Completed our NHSE-funded Staff Networks development project, which made possible
a range of activities that increased membership across our four staff networks
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¢ Led the NWL Virtual Reality pilot project (for immersive learning as an alternative to
traditional unconscious bias training), now at evaluation stage involving NHSE/I

e Established a systematic way of regularly reviewing our health and wellbeing
programmes for inclusion and equitable access to staff from underrepresented groups

Our staff survey score of 7.47 for the ‘we are compassionate and inclusive’ people promise
is significantly better than the acute sector average, but we know there is work to do to
address discrimination and reinforce standards of acceptable behaviour from patients and
colleagues. We remain committed to building on the progress made so far, engaging our
staff and clearly communicating our plans along the way.

Disabled employees

We published our 2022/23 Workforce Disability Equality Standards (WDES) report on 31
October 2023. Overall, we have made improvements around the likelihood of disabled
staff entering the formal capability process, but disabled staff continue to experience
discrimination in appointment from shortlisting across all roles at all grades. Disabled staff
experience had also worsened in areas around harassment from patients, managers and
other colleagues. However, our 2023 staff survey results show a positive change in the
staff engagement score for disabled staff from 6.93 in 2022 to 7.11 in 2023. We published
our WDES action plan as part of our wider Trustwide EDI plan, setting out the steps we will
take to address the key areas of focus, working with the Disabled Staff Network. These will
include activities from the AccessAble working group and the effort we are taking to
upgrade from Disability Confident status (L2) to Disability Leader status (L3). An important
part of our progress will be around improved data quality, with the Disabled Staff Network
keen to ensure staff can easily update their disability status on ESR.

Learning disabilities

The Trust has continued to provide learning disability services to its patients during the
year. A lead nurse for learning disabilities heads this agenda, ensuring, as a Trust, we are
aware of all our patients with learning disabilities to ensure they have the correct care
passports in place, and offering support to families. The Trust is fully compliant with the
increasing learning disabilities mortality review initiative for all mortalities of a patient with a
learning disability and/or autism to have a full mortality review.

The Trust is now in the sixth year of Project SEARCH, with interns who have autism and/or
a learning disability placed within the Trust to gain work experience and progress to future
employment within the organisation—a number of previous interns are now employed
within the organisation.

The Trust has an active programme of learning disability staff training and a learning

disabilities steering group involving staff, local authorities, third-sector organisations,
patients and carers.

Safeguarding

The Trust actively engages with local safeguarding adult and safeguarding children
boards. The Trust has a dedicated team of professionals who work to protect vulnerable
adults and children. There are named leads for both safeguarding children and adults who
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report regularly through the governance structure to the Trust’'s Quality Committee. The
Trust has a team of independent domestic violence advisors to support patients and staff
who are affected by domestic abuse, an increasing issue over recent years.

The Trust also has a team of mental health nurse leads and mental health nurses (RMNS)
to support the care of patients with mental health issues while they are in our hospitals.
This team works alongside our partner providers and delivers extensive training
programmes throughout the organisation to enable staff to provide care and support to
those in need. The Trust offers a range of mandatory and additional training in all areas of
safeguarding for both children and adults.

Anti-bribery

The Trust does not tolerate any form of fraud, bribery or corruption by employees, partners
or third parties acting on behalf of the organisation. We investigate allegations fully and
apply sanctions to those found to have committed a fraud, bribery or corruption offence.

RSM has continued working with the Trust during 2023/24 to provide local counter-fraud
specialist services in accordance with Secretary of State directions. The Trust Board’s
Audit and Risk Committee formally approves the counter fraud annual work plan and the
policy for counter fraud and corruption, and progress reports are provided to the
Committee at each meeting.

Volunteers

In 2023/24, volunteers contributed 33,889 hours, an increase of 3,884 hours (+12%) over
2022/23. There were 222 volunteers active last year, compared to 215 in 2022/23.

The butterfly volunteer programme, which supports patients and those around them at the
end of their life, has continued to evolve, integrate and expand. In 2023/24, 185 patients
were supported at the West Middlesex site—an increase of 36 from the previous year, with
446 hours of support. The service has since been established at the Chelsea site, with 107
patients supported and 131 hours of support. The service, which plays a significant role at
an important time, receives positive feedback from patients, families and staff alike.

The ‘Open Minds’ pilot commenced in Oct 2023 and, over the six-month duration, had
supported 10 volunteers, who have a range of neurodiverse and complex needs, to
contribute more than 60 hours of volunteering each. Five of these volunteers have since
moved into full-time employment both at the Trust and externally.

The team has been working closely with volunteering partners such as CW+, the Friends,
and MediCinema to help with the recruitment and deployment of their volunteers.

Charity matters—CW+

The Trust and its official charity CW+ are proud to work in partnership to provide our
patients, families and staff with excellent care, experience and facilities. The Trust is
committed to actively promoting and supporting CW+, and several directors of the Trust
Board are CW+ Trustees. This shared governance arrangement is designed to ensure
clear alignment between the strategic priorities of the Trust and the charity.
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Throughout the past year, CW+ and its generous community continued to support our
patients, families and staff, for which we are incredibly grateful.

Thirty at Thirty

CW+ launched its most ambitious fundraising campaign to date in May, to coincide with
the 30th birthday of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital. Thirty at Thirty aims to raise £30m
to support the Trust in the ongoing delivery of outstanding care to the communities it
serves. The funds raised will help both our hospital sites by creating world-class facilities,
driving innovation and research, and enhancing patient and staff wellbeing.

As part of the birthday celebrations, CW+ hosted a sponsored abseil down the side of
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, with nearly 60 Trust staff members raising an
incredible £42,000 to kick-start the campaign.

We are delighted that by the end of the financial year, the charity had secured almost
£10m in gifts and pledges. Over the coming year, its fundraising focus will principally be on
two vitally important capital projects, which together account for more than half of the
£30m target—the redevelopment of the Treatment Centre and the creation of a 10-bed
specialist clinical research facility.

CW Innovation

Led jointly by CW+ and Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, CW
Innovation paves the way for new ideas—and new ways of using existing ideas—that will
improve patient care, patient experience and the way our hospitals and clinics are run.
Highlights this year included establishing SIPS (Sickness Information, Pregnancy Care
and Self-evaluation), a first-of-its-kind hyperemesis virtual ward at the Trust, implementing
a digital care pathway for atrial fibrillation patients using remote monitoring and launching
Dora, a pilot project in the Ophthalmology Department at Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital, which uses Artificial Intelligence technology to support patients undergoing
cataract surgery.

The second year of the Horizon Fellowship Programme, run by CW Innovation in
partnership with Digital Health London, began in September with a new cohort of Trust
staff. The programme supports staff to develop and deliver innovative projects that help to
improve patient care and experience or improve operational efficiency.

In October, the CW Innovation programme celebrated its fourth anniversary with special
staff-focused events at both hospital sites at which we discussed the Trust’s vision for the
future of healthcare and how to get involved. In February, the team held the first ‘lunch and
learn’ session at West Mid—the start of a series of short innovation workshops held in our
wards with the aim of ensuring that innovation is accessible to everyone, particularly staff
based in clinical areas.

Grants
The CW+ grants programme awards funding to Trust staff for a wide range of projects,
ranging from ‘quick fixes’ that help to improve patient experience and care to large-scale

service development and transformation projects. In the 2023/24 financial year, it awarded
a total of 224 grants (up from 111 in 2022/23).
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Up to £50,000 is available for any single major project, which this year included the official
opening of the Population Health Management Clinic at West Middlesex University
Hospital, supported by Public Health Hounslow. The ‘Making Every Contact Count’
approach in the pre-assessment unit helps to engage in conversations with patients about
their lifestyle and provide the tools and information they need to make meaningful
changes.

The annual Nurses, Midwives and Allied Health Professionals Call was held in the autumn,
and the winner was a proposal to pilot the use of mobile devices for nursing on wards. This
removes the need for large computers on wheels which can act as a barrier between
nurses and patients.

Alongside these large-scale projects, CW+ awarded over £67,000 in small grants to staff
across the Trust to support projects that will improve patient care and experience,
including white noise devices to help patients sleep better at night and items for a new
Discharge Ready Lounge for the Lampton Ward at West Middlesex University Hospital.

The Grants Team awarded more than £20,000 for staff training and development. In
addition, staff seeking support for postgraduate education or research projects can apply
for a grant via the annual Joint Research Committee, which is jointly funded by CW+ and
the Westminster Medical School.

This year, CW+ also awarded 73 grants (up from 20 in 2022/23) to support staff morale
and wellbeing, to a value of more than £28,000. The grants were used for projects such as
team-building activities that help to foster better communication and collaboration and
enhancements to staffrooms.

The charity also launched a new ‘booster’ grant this year, aimed at staff in more junior and
non-clinical roles. So far, £5,000 has been spent on radios, sensory items, video games,
and stress balls that can help while taking blood tests.

Arts in Health

For 30 years, CW+ has provided an inclusive and diverse co-designed Arts in Health
programme that includes visual art, participatory workshops and performances, film
screenings at the CW+ MediCinema, a design and environment programme to enhance
clinical and non-clinical spaces and more.

The CW+ Arts for All programme provides creative opportunities for patients and staff
through sessions on the wards, classes in the CW+ Studio, and workshops at both
hospitals. This year, artists and partners continued to deliver new and inventive ideas on
the wards, including puppet-making workshops to express emotions, creative movement
sessions focusing on rehabilitation exercises, bedside gardening to bring patients closer to
nature, and digital music-making for adolescents. In total, there were 939 artist visits to
both hospitals, reaching over 23,000 patients.

This year, the bespoke CW+ Studio at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital hosted a varied
programme, including artist residencies and health-related support groups. There were
more than 750 timetabled sessions in the studio across 54 different activities. CW+ works
with community partners to deliver specialist sessions for older adults, including singing
with Opera Holland Park and stretching and line dancing with Age UK. Sing Out London, a
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partnership between The Royal Marsden and CW+, uses the studio for weekly choir
rehearsals and performs regularly in the main atrium.

The charity also increased its delivery of staff-focused classes and workshops, including
weekly choir rehearsals and yoga sessions in the CW+ Studio. Alongside artist Adam
Stanley, staff designed a mosaic for the Cheyne Child Development Service at the
Chelsea site, and staff at West Mid created cyanotype prints that now feature in a
courtyard sculpture by metalwork artist Heather Burrell, funded by NHS Charities
Together.

The CW+ MediCinema hosted 3,000 patients, their visitors and staff at more than 280 film
screenings. Highlights included a preview of ‘Paw Patrol: the Mighty Movie’, a special
screening of the new Disney+ ‘Percy Jackson’ series, and a Q&A with actor Peter
Guinness after a screening of his latest film, “The Boys in the Boat’. There were also
tailored screenings for specific outpatient groups including child and adolescent mental
health and elderly patient support groups, and special staff screenings for International
Nurses Day, South Asian Heritage Month, Great Big Thank You Week and LGBTQ+
History Month.

Best For You

Best For You is a new approach to mental health care designed for—and in consultation
with—young people and their families. It is run in partnership by Central and North West
London NHS Foundation Trust, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust,
West London NHS Trust, and CW+. It is being evaluated by academic experts at Imperial
College.

Over the course of the year, 70,000 people visited the Best For You website, which brings
together information and resources about mental health.

Best For You is one of YouTube’s UK Health Partners, and this year it gained verification,
which means our videos are labelled as being ‘from a trusted source’ and are given
prominence at the top of search results for health-related terms on YouTube.

The charity has also developed community partnerships, including two exciting new
programmes with Chelsea Football Club—a mentoring programme for young people on
waiting lists for NHS treatment, and a social prescribing programme based around
physical activity.

In October, Best For You reached an important milestone with the opening of Arc, a
purpose-built space in SW10 made possible thanks to generous donations and
collaboration between CW+, the North West London CAMHS Provider Collaborative,
CNWL Health Charity and NHS England. Arc is home to Arc Day Programme, a first-of-its-
kind community-based service for young people with an eating disorder. The programme
provides family-based therapy alongside nutritional, medical and psychological care for
young people while empowering parents and carers to support recovery, with the aim of
reducing hospital admissions.

Next steps are to expand the out-of-hours offers at Arc, to include a volunteer-led service

supporting young people and their families and carers to access help when they need it,
either individually or via community and group settings.

Annual Report and Accounts 2023/24 Page 54

Overall page 86 of 355



We’re pleased to report that this year, Best For You has also made a difference on an
international level. After CW+ shared its learnings with a foundation in Denmark, a formal
partnership was established, and Best For You Denmark is launching in the summer of
2024.

HIV, sexual health and gender

CWH+ is proud to support the Trust’s HIV and Sexual Health directorate. In the community,
the charity has supported a range of projects including Connect to Care, which provides
vital support to 500 hard-to-reach people living with HIV, Project Respond, which has been
studying Black women living with HIV with the ultimate aim of addressing equity of care,
and Project BootCamp, which supports the health, wellbeing and social needs of trans and
trans femme women and this year included the introduction of a new fitness and wellbeing
partnership with Chelsea FC Foundation, funded by the Premier League.

The charity also supported HIV PrEP Awareness Week and Desi POV, a project designed
to remove barriers to healthcare, improve understanding of sexual risk and enhance

sexual health and wellbeing among South Asian people in the UK. The project was highly
commended at the 2023 British Association for Sexual Health and HIV conference.

Lo D

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Names of Trust directors during 2023/24

Name Title 'Period Unexpired Term |

Matthew Swindells Chair in Common 1 Apr 2022-present 2 years

Stephen Gill Vice Chair and_Senlor 1 Nov 2017—present 7 months
Independent Director

Professor Andy Bush | Non-executive Director 1 Set 2022—Aug 2023 n/a

Aman Dalvi Non-executive Director 1 Dec 2019—present 1 year, 8 months

Nilkunj Dodhia Non-executive Director 1 Jul 2014—Jun 2023 n/a

Peter Goldsbrough Non-executive Director 1 Sep 2022—Aug 2023 n/a

Catherine Jervis Non-executive Director 1 Sep 2022—present 1 year, 1 month

Neville Manuel Non-executive Director 1 Sep 2022—present 1 month

Ajay Mehta

Non-executive Director

1 Dec 2019—present

1 year, 8 months

Dr Syed Mohinuddin

Non-executive Director

1 Sep 2022—present

1 year, 3 months

Patricia Gallan

Non-Executive Director

1 July 2023-present

2 years, 3 months

Carolyn Downs

Non-Executive Director

1 Sep 2023-present

2 years, 5 months

Neena Modi Non-Executive Director 1 Sep 2023-present 2 years, 5 months
Lesley Watts Chief Executive Officer 14 Sep 2015—present open-ended
Robert Bleasdale Chief Nursing Officer 4 Apr 2022—present open-ended

Dr Roger Chinn Chief Medical Officer 4 Apr 2020—present open-ended
Robert Hodgkiss Chief Operating Officer 7 Apr 2016-Dec 2023 n/a

Virginia Massaro Chief Financial Officer 1 Oct 2019—present open-ended

In addition, we have one associate non-executive director Martin Lupton.

Martin is not a

voting member of the Board but does carry a vote on our People Committee and our

Quality Committee.

Register of interests

Board members are required to declare their interests annually and as they change, in
addition to confirming they meet the fit and proper person condition as set out in
Regulation 5 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulation

2014.

Members of the public can view the register of directors’ interests on the Trust website at
www.chelwest.nhs.uk/bod, by emailing chelwest.corporategovernance@nhs.net or by

writing to:

Corporate Governance Department
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

369 Fulham Road
London
SW10 9NH

Well-led framework

It is of paramount importance to ensure that the Trust is well-led so services are safe and
patient-centred. In Nov 2019, we welcomed the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to
inspect our services, which included a well-led inspection and a use of resources
inspection by NHS England. The Trust maintained the rating of ‘good’ overall, seeing an
improvement in the well-led rating from ‘good’ to ‘outstanding’ and maintaining a use of
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resources rating of ‘outstanding’. The Chelsea site improved the overall rating from ‘good’
to ‘outstanding’ and the West Middlesex site maintained the overall rating of ‘good’.

The organisation undertakes periodic self-assessments against the CQC and NHSE well-
led framework. An overview of the arrangements in place to govern service quality is
included in the annual governance statement and will be included in the Quality Report,
which will be published separately as per the Health Act 2009 and the National Health
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010. The arrangements include a clear ‘ward to
board’ assurance framework, which includes quality, workforce, performance and finance.
The Quality Committee seeks assurance on systems, processes and outcomes relating to
quality (safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience) on behalf of the Trust Board.
External peers are also invited to participate in ward accreditations.

Following an inspection in Feb 2023, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) has rated the
maternity service at West Middlesex University Hospital as ‘Outstanding’ and the maternity
service at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital as ‘Good’. This means that the overall CQC
rating for both maternity services remains unchanged from the last inspection in 2019.

The inspection was carried out as part of CQC’s national maternity inspection programme,
which is designed to provide an up-to-date view of the quality of hospital maternity care
across the country to support learning and improvement locally and nationally. During this
time, inspectors looked at ‘well-led’ and ‘safe’ domains.

The CQC found the following areas of outstanding practice across both the West
Middlesex and Chelsea and Westminster Hospital maternity services:

e Maternity services had a strong focus on reducing workforce inequalities and
inequalities experienced by women and birthing people using the service. Part of this
work included developing 12 staff as maternity cultural safety champions. The purpose
of the cultural safety champions is to address inequalities and improve equity for staff
and people using services with protected characteristics. The champions delivered
cultural safety training as part of yearly mandatory training.

e Maternity services had improved the way they worked with local communities. For
example, the maternity voices partnership co-produced a ‘Muslim Mums’ memo card
with local Muslim women.

e The services were awarded the National Positive Practice in Mental Health winner for
2022 in perinatal and maternal mental health for the Maternal Trauma and Loss Care
service, which offers joined-up psychological specialist support with maternity services
to treat and prevent trauma associated with childbirth.

e The services were shortlisted for work in continuing to adapt and improve services in
the ‘excellence during a global pandemic’ award, including the use of private ambulance
services to secure the homebirth service, swift adaptation of services using technology
and redeployment, and developing an antenatal vaccination centre.

e The services had a strong focus on staff wellbeing and use a number of initiatives to

maintain and improve this, including staff recognition schemes, award nominations,
career clinics and emotional wellbeing support.
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In addition, the CQC found the following area of outstanding practice at Chelsea and

Westminster:

e Provision of obstetric-led urgent ultrasound clinics within the maternity triage setting
enabled women and birthing people timely access to scans. The clinic provided a ‘one-
stop shop’, with continuity of carer where results of scans were discussed, and care

planning was completed straight away.

The reports also identified some areas for improvement on each site that were shared by
the CQC inspectors at the time of the inspection. These recommendations were reviewed,
many actioned with immediate effect and have since been fully addressed.

The Trust leadership team have regular meetings with our CQC relationship manager and
are in frequent contact to respond to any queries. To the best of the directors’ knowledge,
there are no known material inconsistencies between:

e The annual governance statement

e The corporate governance statement and annual report

e CQC insight reports and any consequent action plans

Compliance with cost allocation and charging guidance

The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM

Treasury.

Political donations

The Trust did not make any political donations during 2023/24.

The Better Payment Practice Code

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to pay all valid invoices by the due
date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later, unless
other payment terms have been agreed with the supplier. The Trust’'s compliance with the

code is set out in the following table.

Measure of compliance

Non-NHS payables

2023/24

no

2023/24
1 20[0]0)

2022/23
nO

2022/23
£000

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year

89,002

296,541

92,096

278,980

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
% of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
NHS payables

85,593

276,036

80,019

234,509

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

3,380

49,609

3,171

57,111

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target

% of NHS trade invoices paid within target
Totals

2,907

41,626

2,192

40,461

Total trade invoices paid in the year

92,382

346,149

95,267

336,090

Total trade invoices paid within target

88,500

317,661

82,211

274,971

% of total trade invoices paid within target
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The cyber attack on the Trust’s software support company, which provides the Trust
financial system, resulted in the system being shut down for an entire month in August
2022. This caused delays in making payments to suppliers and registering invoices on the
system. The backlog created in August 2022 continued to impact the BPPC performance
for the remainder of the previous financial year.

In 2023/24, there were late payment charges of £1k (2022/23 £3k).

Disclosure of information to Trust auditors

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all reasonable steps to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.

Income disclosures

The Trust has met the requirement of Section 43 (2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended
by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), in that its income from the provision of goods
and services for the purposes of the health service in England must be greater than its
income from the provision of goods and services from other purposes.

The impact of other income which the Trust has received has been invested in the
provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health service in England.

Lo D

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer
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REMUNERATION REPORT
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Annual statement on remuneration

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Trust Board
appointed in accordance with the constitution of the Trust to determine the remuneration,
allowances, pensions and gratuities or terms of service of the executive directors, and
rates for the reimbursement of travelling and other costs and expenses incurred by
directors.

In 2023/24, the committee met on four occasions to consider various matters within its
terms of reference, including making decisions on the remuneration and terms of service
of the executive directors and very senior managers. When making decisions on the
salaries of executive directors, the Committee considered benchmarking data for
comparable positions to ensure that salaries remained appropriate, particularly where the
responsibilities of senior managers were amended in line with national guidance. Changes
made to the salaries of executive directors during 2023/24 were in line with National Pay
recommendations and benchmarking.

The committee does not determine the terms and conditions of office of the chairman and
non-executive directors. These are decided by the Council of Governors at a general
meeting.

ST

Steve Gill
Vice-Chair and Chair of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee

27 June 2024

Senior managers’ remuneration policy

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee sets pay and employment policy for the
executive directors and other senior staff designated by the Trust Board. The Trust’s policy
is for all executive directors to be on permanent Trust contracts with six months’ notice.

Remuneration consists mainly of salaries (subject to satisfactory performance) and
pension benefits in the form of contributions to the NHS Pension Fund. There were eight
senior managers whose pay exceeded £150,000 during 2023/24.

Remuneration is set with due regard to benchmarking information from other NHS
organisations and public sector bodies as appropriate, and survey data. Experience,
performance and portfolio are also taken into account.

Salaries are awarded individually, considering the skills and experience of the post-holder
and comparable salaries for similar posts elsewhere. Pay is also compared with that of
other staff on nationally agreed Agenda for Change terms and conditions, and medical and
dental staff terms and conditions.

Increases in pay can be withheld if it is considered, through the annual appraisal process,
that individual or Trust performance does not warrant an increase. This is also subject to
affordability and labour market conditions.
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There are provisions within the directors’ contracts of employment for recovery of sums
should performance fall below the required standard. Trust employees were not
specifically consulted on the policy and procedure for determining the remuneration of
directors. However, the policy was developed with full consideration given to the terms and
conditions of other staff groups within the Trust and in accordance with national guidance.
The policy is aligned in many ways to the terms and conditions of other staff groups.

The Council of Governors determines the terms of appointment for non-executive directors
based on benchmarking data for similar posts elsewhere in the NHS. Typically, non-
executive directors are appointed for three-year terms of office and do not have access to
the NHS pension scheme.

Information on the salaries and pensions of directors is included within the senior manager
remuneration tables from page 68.

Diversity

The Trust recognises its legal obligation to ensure that its practices through service
provision and its employees do not discriminate. The Trust is committed to promoting
equality of opportunity and equity of opportunity for all its employees. Individuals will be
treated fairly in all aspects of their employment at the Trust.

The Trust has an equality and diversity policy detailing the guiding principles to remove
any barriers, bias, or discrimination that prevent individuals or groups from realising their
potential and contributing fully to the Trust’s performance. This policy and associated
documents, such as the gender pay gap plan, are implemented in accordance with
statutory requirements. This policy supports the work of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee.

Future policy table

Annual Long term- .
Taxable Pension-related
Salary/fees . performance- related .
benefits benefits
related bonus bonus
Ensure the Ensure the
Support for the short- and | recruitment/retention recruitment/retention
long-term strategic of directors of None n/a n/a of directors of
priorities of the sufficient calibre to disclosed sufficient calibre to
Foundation Trust deliver the Trust's deliver the Trust's
objectives objectives
Contributions paid by
both employee and
How the component Paid monthly _None n/a n/a employer, except for
operates disclosed any employee who
has opted out of the
scheme
As set out in the
remuneration table, o
X Contributions are
salaries are .
. . None made in accordance
Maximum payment determined by the disclosed n/a n/a with the NHS pension
Trust’'s Nominations P
) scheme
and Remuneration
Committee
Framework used to Trust appraisal None
. n/a n/a n/a
assess performance system disclosed
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Annual Long term- .
Salary/fees Taxable performance- related Pensmn-r_elated
benefits benefits
related bonus bonus
Based on individual
S None
Performance measures objectives agreed . n/a n/a n/a
Nt disclosed
with line manager
. Concurrent with the None
Performance period ) : . n/a n/a n/a
financial year disclosed
Amount paid for minimum No performance-
level of performance and None .
related payment . n/a None paid n/a
any further levels of disclosed
arrangements
performance
Explanation of whether
there are any provisions Any sums paid in N Any sums paid
- one ; .
for recovery of sums paid error may be . in error may be | None paid n/a
. S disclosed
to directors or provisions recovered recovered
for withholding payments

Service contracts

Information relating to directors’ service contracts is included within the section Names of
Trust directors during 2023/24 from page 59. The Trust has assessed only directors as
senior managers for the purpose of this disclosure.

Policy on payments for loss of office

Payments for loss of office in a compulsory redundancy situation are made under the
nationally negotiated compensation scheme. The Nominations and Remuneration
Committee has the authority to consider compensation in relation to exit arrangements for
directors. In the event of early termination, executive director contracts provide for
compensation in line with the contract. Notice periods are subject to contract and between
three and six months. The committee may consider non-contractual compensation
payments in line with NHS England guidance and subject to NHSE and Treasury
approvals. There were no payments for loss of office made in 2023/24.

Statement of consideration of employment conditions elsewhere in the
foundation trust

When setting the remuneration policy for senior managers, consideration is given to pay
rates within NHS Agenda for Change conditions.

The Trust utilises information available via NHSE and peer benchmarking information from

comparative local trusts within London, as recommended for use by NHSE to allow the
Committee to assess where the Trust’s senior pay benchmarks.

Nominations and Remuneration Committee

The executive Nominations and Remuneration Committee is chaired by the Trust vice-
chair and membership comprises three other non-executive directors.

The Trust’s chief executive may be invited to attend all or part of the committee meetings

provided they are not present when their executive role is subject to committee
discussion/decision-making.
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The committee is supported by the Chief People Officer and Director of Corporate
Governance. Details of committee attendance in 2023/24 may be found in the section NHS

Foundation Trust Code of Governance Disclosures from page 92.

Disclosures required by Health and Social Care Act

The Trust is governed by a Board of Directors. At 31 Mar 2024, the Board comprised ten
non-executive directors (including the chair) and five executive directors (including the

chief executive).

There are 31 governor positions (25 were in post as at year end), comprising:

e 8 patient governors (elected): Patients treated at the hospital in the last three years,

or their carers

e 14 public governors (elected): Two each from seven local boroughs, except for one
borough having one representative and a ‘Rest of England’ constituency

e 6 staff governors (elected): Two non-clinical staff members, one allied health
professional, one scientific and technical staff member, one medical and dental staff

member, two nursing and midwifery staff members

e 3 stakeholder governors (appointed): Nominated from partnership organisations

Expenses paid to governors and directors are outlined in the table below:

Total n°in post

N° receiving expenses | Total sum of expenses £00 |

2023/24

Governors 25 2 1.82
Directors 19 5 134.48
2022/23

Governors 25 0 0.00
Directors 19 5 161.18
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Senior manager remuneration tables

Senior manager remuneration 2023/24 (audited)?

Real Total Lump sum at

. Real . . ension age Cash
Expense Performance All pension ! . increase in accrued p g g
increase in related to equivalent

SEIELY payments related related Total pension pension at accrued transfer . transfer
equivalent

pension at lump sum  pension age )
pension age at pension at 31 Mar pension at 31 | valueat1 transfer value at 31
p Mar 2024  April 2023 March

(bands of
£2,500) af?fEE(zbggg)s ng‘ééboag‘od)s (bands of £000 value 5454 £000

£5,000) £000

Real
increase
in cash

Cash
equivalent

Name and title (bands of (taxable) bonuses benefits (bands of
£5,000) to nearest (bands of (bands of £5,000)
£100 £5,000) £2,500)

Executive directors*

Lesley Watts, Chief Executive® 305-310 0 15-20 n/a 320-325 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Roger Chinn, Chief Medical Officer® 230-235 0 0 n/a 230-235 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Rob Hodgkiss, Chief Operating Officer’ 165-170 0 0 37.5-40 205-210 0-2.5 25-275 40-45 95-100 621 106 854
Virginia Massaro, Chief Financial Officer 170-175 0 0 47.5-50 215-220 0-2.5 45-47.5 45-50 125-130 585 259 930
Robert Bleasdale, Chief Nursing Officer® 175-180 0 0 57.5-60 235-240 0-2.5 42.5-45 45-50 115-120 542 253 873
Non-executive directors

Matthew Swindells, Chair in Common?® 20-25 0 0 n/a 20-25 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a nfa n/a
Steve Gill, Vice Chair'? 10-15 0 0 n/a 10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Aman Dalvi, Non Executive Director!? 5-10 0 0 nla 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a nla
Carolyn Downs, Non Executive Director!? 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

3 The factors used to calculate a CETV increased on 30 Mar 2023—this affects the calculation of the real increase in CETV

4 The accounting officer has reviewed which officers act as ‘senior managers’ for the purposes of the remuneration report and considers that, for 2023/24, this only includes the chair and executive and
non-executive directors of the Trust

> Figures for pension and CETV are not available as the individual is no longer part of the NHS pension scheme—salary excludes £10-15k for selling annual leave

& The remuneration of the chief medical officer includes £160—165k in respect of their clinical role—salary excludes £5-10k for the selling of annual leave, and figures for pension and CETV are not
available as the individual is no longer part of the NHS pension scheme

7 Left the Trust Board in Dec 2023

8 Salary excludes £5-10k for the selling of annual leave

®  Matthew Swindells is chair in common for all Trusts within the Acute Provider Collaborative—his total salary for the current year fell in the £80—85k salary banding, of which £20-25k is attributable to the Trust

10 steve Gill held the position of vice chair of the Trust and his directorship extended to cover Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—his total salary for the current year for both directorships fell in the
£20-25k salary banding, of which £10-15k is attributable to the Trust

1 Aman Dalvi held the position of non executive director of the Trust and his directorship extended to cover Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust—his total salary for the current year for both
directorships fell in the £15-20k salary banding, of which £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

12 Appointed to the Trust Board in Sep 2023, Carolyn Downs held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust—her salary banding of £5—
10k is attributable to the Trust
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Lump sum at

Real Total Real

Expense Performance All pension . Real . increase in accrued pension age C_ash increase C_ash
SEIERY payments related related Total Increase in pension pension at related to equivalent in cash equivalent
N . : pension at . accrued transfer . transfer
ame and title (bands of (taxable) bonuses benefits (bands of pension age lump sum  pension age pension at 31 value at 1 equivalent value at 31
£5,000) tonearest (bands of (bands of £5,000) at pension at 31 Mar - transfer
£100 £5,000) £2,500) (bands of 0o (bands 2024 (bands | Mar2024 | April 2023 o March
’ ' £2,500) of £2,500) of £5,000) (bands of £000 £000 2024 £000
' ' £5,000)
Patricia Gallan, Non Executive Director? 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Nilkunj Dodhia, Non Executive Director4 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Ajay Mehta, Non Executive Director®® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Peter Goldsbrough, Non Executive Director'® 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Catherine Jervis, Non Executive Director!’ 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Neville Manuel, Non Executive Director8 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Nena Modi, Non Executive Director!® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Syed Mohinuddin, Non Executive Director® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Prof Andy Bush, Non Executive Director? 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a nla n/a n/a nla n/a
gﬁgtérsol;zgpton, Associate Non Executive 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

13 Appointed to the Trust Board in Sep 2023, Patricia Gallan held the position of non executive director of the Trust and her directorship extended to cover Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—her
total salary for both directorships fell in the £10-15k salary banding, of which £5k—10Kk is attributable to the Trust

14 Having left the Trust Board in Jun 2023, Nilkunj Dodhia held the position of non executive director of the Trust and his directorship extended to cover Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—his
total salary for both directorships fell in the £0-5k salary banding, of which £0-5k is attributable to the Trust

15 Ajay Mehta held the position of non executive director of the Trust and his directorship extended to cover London Northwest University Healthcare NHS Trust—his total salary for the current year for both
directorships fell in the £15-20k salary banding, of which £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

16 Having left the Trust Board in Jun 2023, Peter Goldsbrough held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by Imperial College Healthcare Trust—his salary banding of £0-5k is
attributable to the Trust

17 Catherine Jervis held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—her salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

18 Neville Manuel held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by hosted by Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—his salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

19 Appointed to the Trust Board in Sep 2023, Nena Modi held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by Imperial College Healthcare Trust—her salary banding of £5-10kK is
attributable to the Trust

20 syed Mohinuddin held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by London Northwest University Healthcare NHS Trust—his salary banding of £5—10k is attributable to the Trust

2L Having left the Trust Board in Aug 2023, Prof Andy Bush held the position of non executive director of the Trust and was hosted by Imperial College Healthcare Trust—his salary banding of £0-5k is
attributable to the Trust

22 Left the Trust Board in Sep 2023
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Senior manager remuneration 2022/23 (audited)

Lump sum at

Real Total pension age Real
Real increase in accrued related to Cash increase Cash
Expense Performance All pension increase in pension pension at accrued equivalent incash  equivalent
payments related related pensionat lumpsum pensionage pensionat3l transfer equivalent transfer
SEIELY (taxable) bonuses benefits Total pension age at pension at 31 Mar Mar 2023 valueat1l transfer value at 31
(bands of to nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of | age (bands 2023 (bands (bands of Apr 2022 value Mar 2023
Name and title £5,000) £100 £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) £2,500) of £2,500) of £5,000) £5,000) (£000) (£000) (£000)
Executive directors?
Lesley Watts, Chief Executive?* 290-295 0 15-20 n/a 305-310 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Roger Chinn, Chief Medical Officer®® 190-195 0 0 337.5-340 | 530-535 15-17.5 35-37.5 90-95 225-230 1,661 375 2,114
Rob Hodgkiss, Deputy Chief Executive/ Chief | g5 54, 0 0 765-767.5 | 965-970 |  35-40 55-60 35-40 55-60 0 603 621
Operating Officer’
Virginia Massaro, Chief Financial Officer 150-155 0 0 40-45 195-200 25-5 0-2.5 40-45 70-75 525 18 585
Robert Bleasdale, Chief Nursing Officer?” 165-170 0 0 200-202.5 | 365-370 7.5-10 62-62.5 40-45 65-70 413 95 542
Vanessa Sloane, Acting Chief Nursing Officer?® 0-5 0 0 47.5-50 45-50 0-2.5 0 50-55 120-125 972 7 1,056
Non-executive directors?®
Matthew Swindells, Chair in Common?® 20-25 0 0 n/a 20-25 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Steve Gill, Vice Chair3® 15-20 0 0 n/a 15-20 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Aman Dalvi, Non-Executive Director3! 10-15 0 0 n/a 10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Nilkunj Dodhia, Non-Executive Director3? 10-15 0 0 n/a 10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

2 The accounting officer has reviewed which officers act as ‘senior managers’ for the purposes of the remuneration report, and considers that for 2022/23, this only includes the chair and executive and

non-executive directors of the Trust

2 Figures for pension and CETV are not available as the individual is no longer part of the NHS pension scheme—salary excludes £20-25k for the selling of annual leave

% The remuneration of the Chief Medical Officer includes £140-145k in respect of their clinical role—salary excludes £10-15k for the selling of annual leave

% salary excludes £15-20k for the selling of annual leave

27 Appointed to the Trust Board in Apr 2022

2 | eft the Trust Board in Apr 2022

2 From Apr 2022 Matthew Swindells has held the position of chair in common for all trusts within the acute collaborative—his total salary for all of the current year fell in the £85-90k salary banding, of
which the banding of £20-25k is attributable to the Trust

30 From Apr 2022 to Aug 2022 Steve Gill held the position of vice chair of the Trust, and from Sep 2022 his directorship extended to cover Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—his total salary for all
of the current year for both directorships fell in the £20-25k salary banding, of which the banding of £15-20k is attributable to the Trust

31 From Apr 2022 to Aug 2022 Aman Dalvi held the position of non executive director of the Trust, and from Sep 2022 his directorship extended to cover Imperial College Healthcare Trust—his total salary

for all of the current year for both directorships fell in the £15-20k salary banding, of which the banding of £10-15k is attributable to the Trust

From Apr—Aug 2022 Nilkunj Dodhia held the position of non-executive director of the Trust, and from Sep 2022 his directorship extended to cover Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust—his total

salary for all of the current year for both directorships fell in the £15-20k salary banding, of which the banding of £10-15k is attributable to the Trust

32
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Lump sum at

Real Total pension age Real
Real increase in accrued related to Cash increase Cash
Expense Performance All pension increase in pension pension at accrued equivalent incash equivalent
payments related related pensionat lumpsum pensionage pensionat3l transfer equivalent transfer
SEIELY (taxable) bonuses benefits Total pension age at pension at 31 Mar Mar 2023 valueatl transfer value at 31
(bands of to nearest (bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of | age (bands 2023 (bands (bands of Apr 2022 value Mar 2023
Name and title £5,000) £100 £5,000) £2,500) £5,000) £2,500) of £2,500) of £5,000) £5,000) (£000) (£000) [€0[0]0)]
Ajay Mehta, Non-Executive Director33 10-15 0 0 n/a 10-15 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Peter Goldsbrough, Non-Executive Director3* 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Catherine Jervis, Non-Executive Director3® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Neville Manuel, Non-Executive Director3® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Syed Mohinuddin, Non-Executive Director3” 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Prof Andy Bush, Non-Executive Director3® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Nicholas Gash, Non-Executive Director3® 5-10 0 0 n/a 5-10 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Eliza Hermann, Non-Executive Director® 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
M_a rtin LLipton, Associate Non-Executive 0-5 0 0 n/a 0-5 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Director*

33 From Apr—Aug 2022 Ajay Mehta held the position of non-executive director of the Trust, and from Sep 2022 his directorship extended to cover London Northwest University Healthcare NHS Trust—his
total salary for all of the current year for both directorships fell in the £15-20k salary banding, of which the banding of £10-15k is attributable to the Trust

34 From Sep 2022 Peter Goldsbrough directorship (hosted by Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust) extended to cover the Trust—his salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

% From Sep 2022 Catherine Jervis directorship (hosted by Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) extended to cover the Trust—her salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

% From Sep 2022 Neville Manuel directorship (hosted by Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) extended to cover the Trust—his salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

37 From Sep 2022 Syed Mohinuddin directorship (hosted by London Northwest University Healthcare NHS Trust) extended to cover the Trust—his salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

% From Sep 2022 Prof Andy Bush directorship (hosted by Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust) extended to cover the Trust—his salary banding of £5-10k is attributable to the Trust

39 Left the Trust Board in Aug 2022.

40 Left the Trust Board in Jun 2022.

4l From Sep 2022 Martin Lupton joined the Trust Board as an associate non-executive director.
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Fair pay disclosures (audited)

NHS foundation trusts are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the lower quartile, median, and upper
quartile remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

Percentage change in remuneration (audited)

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the organisation in the financial
year 2023/24 was £307,500 (2022/23: £292,500). This represents a change of 5%
between years (2022/23: 3%).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, and
benefits-in-kind but excludes severance payments, employer pension contributions, and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

For employees of the Trust as a whole, the range of remuneration in 2023/24 was from
£18,000 to £307,500 (2022/23: £17,500 to £292,500). The percentage change in average
employee remuneration (based on the total for all employees on an annualised basis
divided by the full-time equivalent number of employees) between years is 2% (2022/23:
5%). This 2% is reflective of the following:

e Agenda for Change (AfC) staff received a 5% pay award across all bands (apart from
entry-level Band 2, which received 10.4%)

e Medical and dental staff received a 6% pay award in most areas, with doctors in training
also receiving an additional consolidated increase of £1,250 to each pay point

e The increase is 2% despite higher general pay awards because this metric measures
the movement between financial years, where 2022/23 included two non-consolidated
pay awards—one of 2% and one backlog bonus between £1,250 and £1,600 for staff

One employee received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director in 2023/24 on
an annualised basis (one in 2022/23).

Performance pay and bonuses (audited)

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the organisation in the financial
year 2023/24 was £17,500 (2022/23: £17,500). This represents a change of 0% between
years (2022/23: 0%).

For employees of the Trust as a whole, the range of remuneration in 2023/24 was from
£17,500 (2022/23: £17,500). The percentage change in average employee remuneration
(based on the total for all employees on an annualised basis divided by the full-time
equivalent number of employees) between years is 0% (2022/23: 0%). No employees
received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director in 2023/24 (nil in 2022/23).
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Pay ratio information (audited)

The remuneration of employees at the 25th percentile, median, and 75th percentile is set
out below. The pay ratio shows the relationship between the total pay and benefits of the
highest-paid director (excluding pension benefits) and each point in the remuneration

range for the organisation’s workforce.

2023/24 25th percentile | Median | 75th percentile |
Salary component of pay £36,358 £48,845 £60,225

Pay an_d beneﬁts excludmg_ pension: 8.90'1 6.62:1 5371

pay ratio for highest paid director

2022/23 25th percentile \ Median | 75th percentile |
Salary component of pay £34,703 £46,644 £59,796

Pay an_d bene_ﬂts excluc_:llng_ pension: 8.86:1 6.59:1 514:1

pay ratio for highest paid director

Changes in the ratios between the current and prior financial years are minimal, with an
increase in the ratio in 2023/24 from 2022/23 in the remuneration range of the
organisation’s workforce compared to the highest-paid director. The movement is
attributable to a lower percentage increase in the remuneration of the Trust's employees
taken as a whole, compared to the highest-paid director, as explained on the previous
page, due to the non-consolidated pay awards in 2022/23.

Lo D

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2024
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STAFF REPORT
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Analysis of staff costs

2023/24 2022/23

£ 0[0]0] £000
Salaries and wages 420,381 386,827
Social security costs 48,275 44,264
Apprenticeship levy 2,016 1,829
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 60,569 56,005
Pension costs other 44 127
Temporary staff (including agenc 11,502 17,075
Total gross staff costs 542,787
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets 3,426 5,346

Operating expenses (group)

2023/24 2022/23
0[0]0] 0[0]0]
Difference 14, 388 15,516 |
Rec
Costs capitalised as part of assets 3,426 5,346
Research and development 5,050 4,518

Education and training 5,912 5,652
Total operating expenses 14,388 15,516 |

Analysis of average staff numbers

Average numbers are spread over the year and include bank and agency staff.

Average number of employees (WTE basis)

2023/24

2022/23

total total

n° n°

Medical and dental 504 988 1,492 1,379
Ambulance staff - - - -
Administration and estates 1,131 277 1,408 1,274
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 780 331 1,111 959
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 2,365 460 2,825 2,637
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 577 98 675 656
otal average pe 0 0,9

Of which:

N° of employees (WTE) engaged on capital projects 62 3 65 38

Breakdown of employees

The following chart provides information of the gender split between the different staff
groups as at 31 Mar 2024. Numbers are for substantive staff only.

Payscale Male \ Female % Male % Female |

Under Band 1 0 0 - -

Band 1 0 0 - -

Band 2 129 422 23.41% 76.59%

Band 3 163 504 24.44% 75.56%

Band 4 114 379 23.12% 76.88%

Band 5 244 1,247 16.36% 83.64%
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Payscale Male | Female % Male % Female

Band 6 204 968 17.41% 82.59%
Band 7 169 726 18.88% 81.12%
Band 8A 80 228 25.97% 74.03%
Band 8B 46 86 34.85% 65.15%
Band 8C 27 40 40.30% 59.70%
Band 8D 18 18 50.00% 50.00%
Band 9 8 9 47.06% 52.94%
VSM 14 11 56.00% 44.00%
Consultant 320 486 39.70% 60.30%
Career/staff grade 26 35 42.62% 57.38%
Trainee grade/Trust grade 283 316 47.25% 52.75%
Total 1,845 5,475 25.20% 74.80%

Sickness absence

The chart below details the Trust’'s sickness absence data for 2023/24.

2022/23 2023/24

Sickness absence

n° n°
Total days lost (FTE days lost) 103,349 124,350
Total staff 6,886 6,874
Average working days lost per whole time equivalent 15.01 18.09

Staff health and wellbeing

We are delighted to deliver an inclusive and wide-ranging staff health and wellbeing
programme. The Trust is aware that without such a comprehensive offer in place for staff,
we could see higher turnover and increased long-term sickness. Our staff health and
wellbeing programme engages in all elements and stages of life to ensure all staff can
access our offers, ranging from family planning to retirement. We are very proud to have
established a health and wellbeing programme that meets the varying needs of our diverse
workforce. Our staff health and wellbeing programme is broken into four main elements:

Healthy mind: Enhanced psychological and mental wellbeing support for staff
Healthy body: Programme to support our staff to be physically well

Healthy living: Programme to support our staff to live well

Feeling safe: Ensuring our staff feel safe at home and in the workplace

Overall, our health and wellbeing programme had a total of 15,859 engagements during
the year, which would not have been possible without the work of our 121 Wellbeing
Champions and 158 Mental Health First Aiders (MHFAS). There are plans to train a further
48 MHFAs in 2024/25.

Our psychological support services were accessed by more than 2,805 staff, while our
wellbeing sessions reached over 3,258 staff. We provided targeted support for staff
professional groups, including doctors’ induction, preceptorship, and excellence in care
teaching sessions, reaching 361 staff. Our Back-up Care offer for staff in the event of a
breakdown in child/elder care arrangements was fully utilised, as were our bike doctor
days delivered as part of our quarterly well fest programme, where we deliver an
enhanced week-long wellbeing programme. We made further strides in women’s and
men’s health through Peppy for menopause and men’s health, with a monthly staff
menopause support group reaching 239 staff during 2023/24.
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In our 2023 national staff survey, 58% of staff felt the Trust takes positive action on health
and wellbeing. We continue to work with our London and national colleagues to share and
learn from others on our staff health and wellbeing programmes, as well as continuing to
evaluate our programme so we can be confident we are meeting the varying needs of our
workforce.

Staff engagement

Over the past 12 months, steady progress has been made in delivering a more targeted
and consistent approach to our communications both within the organisation and to our
stakeholders, community and partners. Overall, our staff engagement score is above the
national average and has remained relatively stable in recent years, noting the slight
decline since 2019 which is in line with the sector.

Theme: Staff Engagement

Staff Engagement

-

0
a ‘ ot Aren
8
7 £ —
6
5
4
3
2
1
0
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
7.29 7.5 7.00 696 7.3
7.58 7.59 744 7.28 7.32

7.04 7.03 6.84 6.80 691
Worst result 6.10 6.45 6.30 6.13 6.34
Responses 2742 3615 2977 2890 3515

Throughout 2023/24 we engaged our people through various means including all staff
webinars, team briefings, senior link visits to departments and wards, staff recognition
events such as PROUD awards and the Great Big Thank You week. We also reinstated
Schwartz Rounds, which provide a forum for staff to reflect on the emotional and social
aspects of working in healthcare. We invested in our staff networks to provide protected
time and funding to promote network activities.

In Q4 we reviewed our approach and developed our Trustwide staff engagement plan for
2024/25 to reflect our pride in our people, our diversity, our community and what we do.
Our new engagement framework is based on four key elements—people and culture,
rewards and recognition, staff voice and feedback, and governance and quality. We have
identified a range of strategies and initiatives, some a continuation of existing programmes
and several new to be delivered through a regular rhythm of engagement, communication,
and rewards and recognition on an annual, monthly, fortnightly and weekly basis.

National NHS staff survey 2023

The NHS staff survey is conducted annually. In 2023, 51% of our people (3,523)
responded to the staff survey, an improvement from 45% (2,901 responses) in 2022. The
median response rate across all acute Trusts was 45%. Our ‘Bank Staff Only’ survey was
completed by 266 (14.6%) respondents. The responses were broadly comparable with
those from substantive staff, with the exception of a more positive response regarding
workloads and an area for improvement in ‘we are always learning’.
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Headlines

Our results show that out of nine themes (Seven People Promises, staff engagement and
staff morale), scores in six themes are significantly better than the acute average. As a
Trust, we have improved significantly in ‘We are recognised and rewarded’ and ‘We are
always learning’ compared to 2022.

The scores for our Friends and Family Test questions show an improvement in the number
of staff who would ‘recommend my organisation as a place to work’ from 65% in 2022 to
70% in 2023, which is better than the average acute score of 61%. In answer to the
question ‘if a friend or relative needed treatment | would be happy with the standard of
care provided by this organisation’, 77% responded positively, which is statistically better
than 65% in 2022 and the acute average score of 64%. Finally, 83% of staff reported that
they feel the ‘care of patients is my organisation’s top priority’, which is also significantly
improved from last year’s 79% and better than the acute average score of 78%.

At the question level, compared to 2022, 52 questions (49%) have shown significant
improvement, two questions (2%) have shown significant decline, and 53 questions (50%)
have no significant movement. The two questions where we scored significantly worse are
around discrimination on the grounds of religion and age. Actions to address these areas
are included in our EDI action plans being delivered through our people strategy delivery
subgroup, Belonging in the NHS.

Overall, the People Promise scores for the 2023 National NHS Bank Staff Survey for the
Trust are broadly the same as the substantive Trust scores.

We celebrate our key successes, noting that the score for staff engagement and five of the
People Promises are ahead of the sector benchmark, almost half of all question-level
scores have significantly improved year-on-year, including questions on raising concerns,
recognition and burnout, and that we rank second among the top London Acute Trusts to
work for.

We also identify our key areas of focus as the need to continue to reduce the incidence of
violence and harassment, bullying and abuse faced by staff from patients/members of the
public as well as discrimination and reinforce standards of acceptable behaviour from
patients and colleagues.

2023 staff survey scores

The national staff survey coordination centre applies statistical significance testing using a
‘two-tailed t-test’ with a 95% level of confidence to conclude whether a result is likely due
to chance or to some factor of interest. The table below, provided by our staff survey
contractor IQVIA, presents the results of significance testing conducted on the theme
scores calculated in both 2022 and 20234, This shows we were significantly better in six
out of nine themes compared to the sector average and we significantly improved in two
themes compared to our 2022 results.

42 Data in this table are weighted to the national benchmarking groups to allow for fair comparisons between
organisations. Not all questions can be weighted or benchmarked because some questions ask for
demographic or factual information. Weighted data is used by the National Staff Survey coordination
centre for peer benchmarking purposes and may be different to data that includes all results to all
guestions and demographics.
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735 6.83 6.07 5.92 6.13 6.89 7.13 5.95
7.71 7.16 6.59 6.07 6.87 7.19 7.32 6.52
 Averageresult 7.24 6.70 6.09 5.61 6.20 6.75 6.91 5.91
6.85 6.21 5.75 5.05 5.60 6.35 6.34 5.54
Responses 3513 3482 3474 3298 3485 3502 3515 3518

2023 staff survey scores and those of the previous three years

Themes overview 2021 | 2022 | Best | Average | Worst |

Theme—staff engagement 7.0 7.0 7.13 7.32 6.91 6.34

Theme—morale 5.7 5.7 5.95 6.52 5.91 5.54

People Promise 1: We are 7.2 7.1 7.35 7.71 7.24 6.85

compassionate and inclusive

People Promise 2: We are 5.8 5.7 5.99 6.37 5.04 5.50

recognised and rewarded

Pepple Promise 3: We each have a 6.7 6.7 6.83 716 6.70 6.21

voice that counts

People Promise 4: We are safe and 59 57 6.07 6.55 6.06 575

healthy

Peop'le Promise 5: We are always 5.4 5.6 5.92 6.07 5.61 505

learning

People Promise 6: We work flexibly 5.8 5.9 6.13 6.87 6.20 5.60

People Promise 7: We are a team 6.6 6.6 6.89 7.19 6.75 6.35
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In terms of the three staff engagement questions:

Question/score 2021 | 2022 2023 Best Average | Worst
Q25a Care of patients/service users is my 81.4% | 79.2% | 83.5% | 86.6% | 74.8% | 60.6%
organisation’s top priority

Q25c | would recommend my organisation as
a place to work

Q25d If a friend or relative needed treatment
| would be happy with the standard of care 76.1% | 72.2% | 77.1% | 88.8% 63.3% 44.3%
provided by this organisation

66.8% | 64.6% | 70.1% | 77.1% 60.5% 44.1%

The full staff survey report is published at www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com.

Gender pay

Gender pay reporting legislation requires employers with 250 or more employees to
publish statutory calculations every year showing how large the pay gap is between their
male and female employees:

Average gender pay gap as a mean average

Average gender pay gap as a median average

Average bonus gender pay gap as a mean average

Average bonus gender pay gap as a median average

Proportion of males receiving a bonus payment and proportion of females receiving a
bonus payment

Proportion of males and females when divided into four groups ordered from lowest to
highest pay

The Trust’s gender pay gap report for 2023/24 is published at www.chelwest.nhs.uk/edi.

Workforce gender split

As at 31 Mar 2023, the total relevant paid workforce was 6,986 staff across all sites and
staff groups.

Gender N° of staff % split of the workforce |
Male 1,867 20% of the total workforce
Female 5,544 80% of the total workforce

Average and median hourly rates

Gender Average hourly rate Median hourly rate |
Male £29.86 £26.04

Female £25.19 £22.85

Difference £4.43 £3.19

Pay gap % 16% 12%

Our 2023/24 report shows no change in the mean and a decrease of 2% in the median
pay gap compared to the previous year. When expressed as a mean average, a pay gap
exists of 15.9%, equating to a difference of £4.43 per hour in favour of male staff. When
expressed as a median average, female staff earn 12.3% less than male staff, equating to
a difference of £3.19 per hour. However, overall, we have reduced our gender pay gap
mean average by 4.6% from a starting point of 20.5% in 2017/18.
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Average bonus gender pay gap by hourly rate

For the purpose of this report, the bonus payments referred to are those made to
consultants in the form of clinical excellence awards (CEASs), discretionary points, and
distinction awards. As at 31 Mar 2024, there were 613 consultants at the Trust, of which
46.7% were male and 53.3% female.

e Mean average: When comparing mean (average) bonus pay, women’s mean bonus
pay is 16.5% lower than men’s, a difference of £978 per annum

e Median average: In 2023/24, the median average was the same for males and females
at £3,241.23—there was no bonus gap differentiation between genders

pay
Male £5,920.89 £3,241.23
Female £4,943.39 £3,241.23
Difference £977.51 £0
Pay gap % 16.5% 0%

Proportion of males and females when divided into four groups ordered
from lowest to highest pay

Quartile Female Male Female % Male %
1 1,410 452 76% 24%
2 1,499 371 80% 20%
3 1,483 385 79% 21%
4 1,144 724 61% 39%

We will maintain focus on career progression and support/removal of barriers for and
gender-specific targets are being considered in a refreshed strategy. We are committed to
continuing the following actions and have reviewed the government equalities office advice
for best practice action plans. We will undertake further analysis of the reasons driving our
gender pay gap and ensure our people plan and associated activities are focused on
reducing inequalities. Some of our steps will be:

Working with the Trust’'s Women’s Network to increase the voice of all women
Improving our flexible working offer and access

Improving our recruitment processes for fairness and equity

Revising our policies and processes

Further details of key actions are detailed in the Trust’'s gender pay gap report for 2023/24,
which can be accessed at www.chelwest.nhs.uk/genderpaygap.

Trade union facility time

The Trust acknowledges the importance of partnership working between management and
recognised trade unions. Partnership working provides a clear framework for consultation,
negotiation, and decision-making where our trade unions can have a proactive role in
matters of strategic importance that affect the workforce.

It also enables joint ownership of problems and solutions to get the best outcome for the

Trust, patients, and our people to ensure delivery of high-quality patient care and a
positive working environment for staff.
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In line with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) regulations, which
came into force on 1 Apr 2017, trade union representatives are required to record their
paid time off to carry out trade union duties and the Trust is required to publish this
information on an annual basis. To comply with the regulations the Trust is required to
publish the data included in the following four tables. This data relates to facility time
recorded between the period 1 Apr 2023—-31 Mar 2024.

Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the
relevant period, and the number of full-time equivalent employees

\ 2023/24 |
Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period 15
Number of full-time equivalent employees as at 31 Mar 2024 6,811

Percentage of time spent on facility time for each relevant union official*

2023/24 |
0% 8
1-50% 7
51-100% 0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

2023/24 |

Total cost of facility time £42,159.86
Total pay hill £440,121,000
% of total pay bill spent on facility time (total costs of facility time/total pay bill x100) 0.01%

Hours spent by employees who were relevant union officials during the
relevant period on paid union activities, as a % of total paid facility time

Time spent on paid union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours
calculated as (total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union 43.74%
officials during the relevant period/total paid facility time hours) x100

Workforce improvement activity

Recruitment and retention

Over the last 12 months, the Trust has maintained a low vacancy rate, closing the year at
5.77%. Recruitment time to hire has fluctuated across all non-medical staff groups,
reflecting pressure on operational services but reduced to 7.32 weeks at the close of year
and 8.46 weeks as an average over the year. We have maintained pace with local
recruitment while also working closely with APC, sector and national partners to tackle
hard-to-recruit roles. We continue to review our recruitment processes and practices, and
our externally commissioned audit in Q4 gave us positive assurance on our compliance
and steps towards achieving best practice. Further plans are being developed, and these

43 Where no information on facility time has been provided by a trade union representative this has been
included in those recorded as 0% of time spent on facility

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 82

Overall page 114 of 355



include a new starter and managers’ pack and enhanced local induction tools that would
streamline the new starter processes for improved onboarding experience.

Retention remained a key area of focus, and at the end of Mar 2024, we recorded an in-
year reduction in overall turnover from 17.5% to 14.9% and voluntary turnover from 14.1%
to 12.1%. This is a significant achievement towards our target to remain under 10% and is
broadly comparable with the sector position. During Q1 and Q2, we carried out a retention
deep dive, following which a retention work stream under the growing for the future pillar of
the People Strategy delivery plan was established. The retention workstream would direct
future activity to the key areas of focus identified in the deep dive, including a review of
leavers processes, a focus on ‘early career’ colleagues between ages 20—30 and in their
first two years of joining, and work with the Disabled Staff Network to improve the
experience of staff with a disability and maintain reduction in the proportion of leavers
(WDES action plan). Efforts continue through a range of initiatives delivered across the
Trust, including Health and Wellbeing provision, recruitment campaigns for high vacancy
roles, education and training provision including apprenticeships, reward and recognition,
and locally developed pledges in response to the staff survey.

As part of looking after our staff, we held a Great Big Thank You week and had local
stallholders and events, including CW+ arts with live musicians, dancing, choir, and art
sessions. We had festive food available for staff and pampering sessions to support the
wellbeing of our staff.

Performance and development reviews (PDRSs)

Staff have been having their Performance Development Reviews (PDRs) throughout the
year despite operational issues including industrial action and elective recovery. We
continued to look at ways of improving people’s experience with their PDR and made this
a core topic of discussion at divisional and Trust people committees.

Core training

Core training remained above the 90% target through 2023/24. We reviewed all core and
mandatory training requirements and introduced clearer processes. We upgraded our
Learning Management System for an enhanced learner experience and are working with
partners for greater collaboration and potential for future services.

Leadership development

The Emerging Leaders programme has continued to bring opportunities for quality
improvement and in 2023/24, projects included improving staff induction and onboarding
experience, launching a patient cinema on one of the antenatal wards and improving
patient awareness and information around sarcoma. Our Management Fundamentals
programme continued with a range of masterclasses for leaders and managers across our
Trust and a partner Trust, with a total of 856 participants in 2023/24. Following a
successful pilot, we relaunched our line managers’ induction programme as well as a team
leader apprenticeship, co-designed and delivered with a local college. We continue
providing bespoke one-to-one sessions or group sessions for managers as well as insight
and 360 feedback sessions.
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Medical education

We continue to run the Clinical Attachment Training Programme and have run four
courses with 135 candidates attending, of which 66 went on to gain employment in the
NHS. Work by the fellows has resulted in presentations at conferences nationally and
internationally. At CW, following the MBA of the Director of Medical Education and their
dissertation in digital education, we have now recruited a digital education fellow to bring
some of that work to fruition.

In undergraduate, the Trust is now used for the Acute Simulation Course for all final year
medical students at Imperial, building on the work of the Director of Clinical Studies (DCS)
at Chelsea. The undergraduate work has been recognised with 10 abstracts being
presented at local, national and international conferences, and the Imperial Teacher of the
Year is the DCS from CW, recognising the good work achieved in the department. The
West Middlesex undergraduate team won the Pre-Foundation Assistantship award for their
work on Tofu cannulation from Imperial University.

A new palliative care simulation course has been designed and rolled out across both sites
to support medical students in understanding end of life care, and ongoing work with the
HoloLens and virtual reality is opening up the world of virtual learning for all students.

Recognition schemes

The CW+ PROUD awards is a monthly recognition scheme in which staff are nominated
for above and beyond demonstration of our Proud values. During April 2023 to March
2024, there were 187 nominations received, from which 73 individuals and 12 teams were
recognised. The winners are invited to an event where the Chief Executive presents them
with a signed certificate and special pin badge.

There were 322 Excellence Reporting nominations during the last financial year. There are
plans to reinforce these and encourage more participation. In Dec 2023 we held a Great
Big Thank You week to celebrate our staff and this included two staff award events. We
received 1,062 nominations and had 39 individual winners and 19 winning teams. All
winners received a certificate and award.

Apprenticeships

Investment and growth in apprenticeships continue to be an integral part of the Trust’s
agenda with expansion of offers provided in partnership with reputable apprenticeship
training providers to ensure opportunities are diverse and delivery is of good quality. In
2023/24, the Trust delivered 40 different apprenticeship programmes. On average, 4% of
the Trust workforce were apprentices, higher than the public sector target of 2.3%.

Following an OFSTED inspection in Q3, we maintained our Main Provider Status and
continued to deliver Healthcare Support Worker Apprenticeship as a main provider. We
are also now co-delivering Team Leader Apprenticeship, with the view of being registered
as a CMI centre and delivering this as a main provider. With the increase in the wage bill
resulting in an increase in levy contribution, more work is needed to improve levy
utilisation. However, the Trust utilised £117,500 more levy this year compared to last year
and remained the best performing Trust across the acute collaborative in terms of levy
utilisation and number of apprentices. There were 67 apprenticeship completions
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compared to 33 last year and these included the first two midwives and the first
radiographer that the Trust has supported through the apprenticeship route. Other
completions include 13 registered nurses, six registered nursing associates, six pharmacy
assistants, six healthcare support workers, two advanced clinical practitioners, three it-
and engineering-related programmes and 28 leadership- and management-related
qualifications. Apprenticeships have indeed played a key role in growing talent, particularly
in hard-to-recruit roles, and have supported the case for change in terms of introducing
new roles to bridge gaps within the workforce.

Apprenticeships have been a key element and have contributed to delivering the People
Strategy, particularly with “growing for the future” and “new ways of working” aims.
Apprenticeships have also played a key role in retaining staff by providing opportunities
through career development pathways. There are now monthly face-to-face careers clinics
that staff can access on-site to discuss their career aspirations and opportunities via the
apprenticeship route. There were also online information sessions delivered throughout
the year. This year’s National Apprenticeships Week celebration in Q4 featured current
and previous apprentices in the Trust, along with their managers, who showcased the
difference that they have made since undertaking an apprenticeship programme.

Health and safety and occupational health

The Trust’s core health and safety and occupational health policies continue to be updated
to ensure that such documents support both main hospital sites and satellite locations.
Details and data relating to incidents, complaints, claims, risk registers and occupational
health data are captured on Datix, a web-based, integrated safety learning system. The
Datix system is subject to further enhancements to include other patient safety topics such
as patient experience and mortality reviews and supports a robust reporting culture
throughout the Trust to improve our safety practices. There were 42 RIDDOR (Reporting
of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013) incidents reported to
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) during 2023/24, of which 26 related to Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital and 15 to West Middlesex. One incident was RIDDOR reported for
community nursing/clinics provided by the Trust. The Trust’'s health and safety team works
with clinical and corporate departments to support a system of self-assessment and
independent spot-checks. Areas subject to spot-check are identified using a risk-based
approach. A total of 17 body fluid exposures, including sharps and splash injuries relating
to staff, were reported during the period.

In Q1 2023/24, we transferred our occupational health service to the NWL Occupational
Health Shared Service, hosted by Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust.
We are now evaluating the service one year post-transfer, but so far we have seen
significant improvements around quality, compliance, greater resilience and improved
performance from reduced sickness days lost and quicker turnaround of pre-employment
checks. Transferring the service has also supported the ICS direction of travel for
collaboration of back office services, and we expect greater efficiencies through scale.

Policies and procedures in respect of countering fraud
and corruption

The Trust has an approved counter-fraud and corruption policy and does not tolerate any
form of fraud, bribery or corruption by its employees, partners or third parties acting on its

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 85

Overall page 117 of 355



behalf. We investigate allegations fully and apply sanctions to those found to have
committed a fraud, bribery or corruption offence. RSM continues to be contracted by the
Trust during 2023/24 to provide local counter-fraud specialist services in accordance with
Secretary of State directions. The Trust Board’s Audit and Risk Committee formally
approves the counter-fraud annual work plan and progress reports are provided to the
committee at each meeting.

Expenditure on consultancy

In 2023/24, the Trust incurred £0.3m (£1.5m in 2022/23) of consultancy expenditure.
Overall, this is a reduction from the previous financial year and includes specialist advice
to support procurement saving opportunities.

Off-payroll arrangements

The Trust’s policy is that off-payroll arrangements should only be used on rare occasions
where recruitment to key/specialist roles has not been possible. The use of any off-payroll
arrangements is regularly reviewed to ensure that they are used for the shortest period of
time possible.

Highly paid off-payroll worker engagements as at 31 Mar 2024 earning £245 per day
or greater

Number of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2024 3

Of which:

Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting.

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting.
Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting.
Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting.
Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting.

O|0O|0|0|W

All highly paid off-payroll workers engaged at any point during the year ended
31 Mar 2024 earning £245 per day or greater

Number of off-payroll workers engaged during the year ended 31 Mar 2023 26
Of which:

Not subject to off-payroll legislation 0
Subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as in-scope of IR35 15
Subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as out-of-scope of IR35 11
Number of engagements reassessed for compliance/assurance purposes during the year 0
Of which number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following review 0

For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

\ Total |
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials with 0
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility’ during the financial year—his figure must include both off- 0
payroll and on-payroll engagements

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 86

Overall page 118 of 355



Exit packages

Reporting of compensation schemes—exit packages 2023/24

Exit package cost band (including any N° of compulsory N° of other Total n° of exit
special payment element) redundancies departures agreed packages
<£10,000 - 5 5
£10,001-25,000 - 1 1

£25,001-50,000 - - -
£50,001-100,000 - - -
£100,001-150,000 - - -
£150,001-200,000 - - -
>£200,000 - - -

Total number of exit packages by type
Total resource cost (£) £0 £27,693 £27,693

Reporting of compensation schemes—exit packages 2022/23

Exit package cost band (including any N° of compulsory N° of other Total n° of exit
special payment element) redundancies departures agreed packages
<£10,000 - 8 8
£10,001-25,000 - 2 2

£25,001-50,000 - - -
£50,001-100,000 - - -

£100,001-150,000 - 1 1
£150,001-200,000 - - -
>£200,000 - - -
Total number of exit packages by type | 0 | 11 11 |

Total resource cost (£) £0 £162,418 £162,418

Exit packages—other (non-compulsory) departure payments

2023/24 2022/23
Total Total
Exit package cost band (including N° of payments value of N° of payments value of
any special payment element) agreed agreements agreed agreements
[€0[0]0)] [€0]0]0)]

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs

Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 3 11 1 106
Exit payments following employment tribunals or
court orders

Non-contractual payments requiring
HMT approval

Of which:

Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval made to individuals where the
payment value was more than 12 months of
their annual salary
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Awards and achievements

Internal recognition
CW+ PROUD awards

The CW+ PROUD Awards recognise the outstanding achievements of members of staff or
teams. Each month, winners are recognised with a certificate, a special gold PROUD to
Care pin badge and a voucher, while other nominees receive a letter advising them of their
nomination. From Apr 2023—-Mar 2024, 187 nominations were received. The winners are

listed below.

April 2023 August 2023

e Christopher Caruana ¢ Rebecca Davies

e Leishea Higgins e NICU Team

e Leigh Paxton e Eye Team

e Georgina Pennant ¢ Sinead Bowditch

e John Kimberly Peralta e Farrah Jamalzadeh

e Sarah Jane Rosario e lIraida Safiulova

e Shainaz Mathurin e Vaneshree Moodley

e Muneeba Siddiqi e \Women’s Health Research Team

May 2023 September 2023

e Amanda Osborn e Chloe Christensen

e Hayley Hutton e Tracy Brown

e WM Critical Care Outreach Team ¢ Neptune Ward

e Katharine Balfour e Asmita Karki

e Maria Mercer e Serge Fedele-Rebaudengo

e Rhian Bull e Orthopaedic Senior Sisters
e |CU Team

June 2023 e Gemma Brown

e Kiristina Russell

e Ada Zenunillari October 2023

e Barbara Wetherell e Joanne Burke

e Christopher Rees e Paediatric Nurses, Healthcare

¢ Davina Sadyakeerthy Assistants and Anaesthetic Team
e |eeza Watts

July 2023 ¢ Neha Agyei-Dua

¢ Irina Stankevicinte e Patricia Correia da Costa

e Sarah Chin e Jean Murphy

e PC Lee Sommerville e Andrew Snell

e Debbie Ensor-Dean e Petra Hrnciar

e Marirose Agustin e Jerome Jones

e Brooke Wilson

e Deputy Superintendent Radiographers
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November 2023

Pharmacy Out-of-hours Team
Thomas Ewins

Patricia Gutierrez

Denise Allison Garcia

Daniel Adekitan

IT Infrastructure Project Team

December 2023
Marie-Louise Svensson
Perry Barnes

Lillian Anya

Fleur Slaghekke

Lise Heritier

Rosie Harris

January 2024

¢ Rozanna Slade

e Bilal Hassan

e Emergency General Surgery

The Great Big Cheer awards

IT Database Administration Team and

February 2024

e Alando Clarke

e Sarah Hazeldine

e Pearl Angelie Gindap
e Day Surgery Unit

March 2023

e Dr Umer Ashraf

e Dr Basit Alagae

Dr Lara Alsadoun

Dr Krunal Meuva
Francesca Yeldham

Apollo Ward/Paediatric HDU
Matthew Townsley

Meenal Patel

In addition, as part of the Great Big Thank You Week, we invited nominations for Great Big
Cheer awards, holding two ceremonies for our winners:

Chelsea site

e Aura Gameiro

e Bradley White

Bruno Delgado Silva
Carmel McCullough
Carmelita Mallari

Carolyn Moughal
Charlotte llles

Clinical Research Team
CNS Team at Watford, Harlow
Hertsfordshire and Stevenage
Damon Foster

Daniel Adetikan

Dr Skandhini Carthigesan
Emeka Ezechukwu
Emergency Department
Ibrahim Al Bakir

ISS Team

Jewel Fernandez

Maria Camara

Maria Villafania

Mollie Sparling
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Nicola Whitley
Radiology Team
Rainsfort Mowlem
Robert Owusu

Saji Alexander
Sakshi Gupta
Stephen Cole

Tissue Viability Team
Treatment Centre
Volunteers Team

West Mid site

Ami Kotecha

Angela Pollard

Bill Frewin

Caroline Angela Jeffrey
Carys Prentice

Chiara Vedi

Claire O’Connor
Clinical Research Team
Emergency Department
Florinda Fernandes
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e George Kiriai e Natasha Herman

e Governance and Risk Team e Radiology Team
(Paediatrics) e Rubey Peter Cherian

¢ Haematology Day Unit e Sheldon Harris

e ISS Team e Shenelle Phillips

e Jesus Fernandez e Susan Barnes

e Lachlan Cleeve e The CNS Team at Watford/Herts/

e Lauren Trepte Harlow/Stevenage

¢ Manita Sethi e Tracy Oakes

e Marie-Louise Svensson e Volunteers Team

o Mark Lethby

Reporting excellence

Reporting Excellence is a chance to recognise staff who have demonstrated excellence in
any aspect of their work. It allows us to capture these observations so they can be shared
and gives staff the chance to receive positive feedback on their behaviour. It could be
communication at a difficult time, dealing with an incident, supporting their colleagues, or
anything at all. There were 322 excellence reporting nominations received in the period
Apr 2023—Mar 2024.

External recognition

HSJ Awards—highly commended in Trust of the Year category

NHS Staff Survey 2023—rated number two in London as a place to work

HSJ Partnership Award—Klick app for Most Effective Contribution to Clinical Redesign

Armed Forces Covenant Employer Recognition Scheme Gold Award

HSJ Patient Safety Awards 2023—highly commended in the Virtual or Remote Care

Initiative of the Year category for our Mpox virtual monitoring

Baby Lifeline UK MUM Awards—regional winner, maternity team

HSJ Digital award—Optimising Clinical Pathways Through Digital for Sexual Health

London (SHL)

Healthinvestor Awards—Public/Private Partnership of the Year for SHL

Anti-racism framework bronze award—maternity cultural safety champions

National Preceptorship Interim Quality Mark

CQC maternity ratings—Chelsea and Westminster rated ‘good’, West Middlesex rated

‘outstanding’

e NHS at 75 Fujifilm photography competition—Emmanuel Espiritu winner for ‘Mother
Obe’

¢ Royal College of Nursing Rising Stars Winners 2023—Blessing Bello, Arvin Vinas,
Gwen Makosana

e Mariposa Award for Midwife of the Year—Navi Fernandes, Bereavement Midwife

e Royal Voluntary Service Coronation Champion—Nina Littler

e HSJ Partnership Awards—nheart failure team shortlisted in Health Tech Partnership of
the Year category

e HSJ Digital Awards 2024—digital innovation pilot project Dora shortlisted for the
Driving Change through Al and Automation category

e HSJ Awards—shortlisted in the Driving Efficiency through Technology category

e AHSN 2023 Innovate Awards—burns service finalists for the Best Workforce

Innovation award
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NHS FOUNDATION TRUST CODE OF
GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES
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Code of governance compliance statement

An updated Code of Governance for NHS provider trusts, setting out an overarching
framework for the corporate governance of trusts, was published by NHS England in
October 2022 and came into effect in April 2023. The new Code covers both foundation
trusts and NHS trusts and is based on the principles of the UK Corporate Governance
Code issued in 2012. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has
applied the principles of this Code on a ‘comply or explain’ basis.

The purpose of the Code of Governance is to assist trusts in improving governance
practices by bringing together the best practice of public and private sector corporate
governance.

During the year, we completed a ‘comply or explain’ self-assessment exercise in relation to
the code, which was reviewed and considered by the Audit and Risk Committee. Our
assessment did not identify any material issues of non-compliance.

As a trust, we are committed to effective, representative and comprehensive governance,
which secures organisational capacity and the ability to deliver mandatory goods and
services.

Governance arrangements
The Trust is led by a Board of Directors whose key responsibilities are to:

¢ Provide leadership to the Trust within a framework of processes, procedures and
controls which enable risk to be assessed and managed

e Ensure the Trust complies with its licence, its constitution, requirements set by NHSE,
and relevant statutory and contractual obligations

e Set the Trust’s vision, values and standards of conduct

e Set the Trust’s strategic aims and ensure that the necessary human and financial
resources are in place to deliver these

e Ensure the quality and safety of the healthcare services provided by the Trust

e Ensure the Trust exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically

The Trust Board undertakes its responsibilities through a set business cycle, which
includes approving strategies and receiving monitoring reports on areas such as key risks
and financial, operational, quality and safety performance. The Trust Board approves
standing financial instructions, the scheme of delegation and reservation of powers
policies, which outline the decisions that must be taken by the Board and the decisions
that are delegated to the management of the hospital. These include contracts, tendering
procedures, security of the Trust’s property, monitoring and ensuring compliance with
Department of Health and Social Care directions on fraud and corruption, delegated
approval limits, budget submission, annual reports and accounts, banking arrangements,
payroll, borrowing and investment, risk management and insurance arrangements.

The Trust Board of Directors, collectively and individually, have a legal duty to promote the
success of the Trust to maximise the benefits for the populations that it serves. They also

have a duty to avoid conflicts of interest, not to accept any benefits from third parties, and
to declare interests in any transactions that involve the Trust.
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Throughout the reporting period, the Nominations and Remuneration Committee have kept
under review the overall size of the Trust Board and the balance of skills, experience and
expertise of its members.

The Council of Governors represents the interests of the local communities, patients,
public and staff, and shares information about key decisions with Foundation Trust
members. The Council of Governors is not responsible for the day-to-day management of
the organisation, which is the responsibility of the Trust Board.

The role of the Council of Governors includes:

e Appointment or removal of the chair and other non-executive directors

e Approving the appointment (by non-executive directors) of the chief executive

¢ Deciding the remuneration, allowances and other terms and conditions of office of non-
executive directors

¢ Appointment or removal of the Foundation Trust's financial auditors

¢ Reviewing and developing the Trust's membership strategy

A formal procedure is in place should there be a dispute between the Board and the
Council of Governors. During 2023/24 no issues of dispute arose, and the governors did
not exercise their power under paragraph 10(c) of schedule7, NHS Act 2006.

Board of directors

As at 31 Mar 2024, the Board had four executive directors (including the chief executive)
and 10 non-executive directors (including the Chair in Common). The Board comprises
43% female and 57% male directors. The skills, expertise and experience of each Trust
Board director as at the end of March 2024 are detailed below and are appropriate to meet
the requirements of an NHS foundation trust.

Executive directors

£\ Lesley Watts, Chief Executive Officer
'-@é\
g/

A

Lesley is chief executive of the Trust and was also chief executive of the North

West London Integrated Care System (ICS) until Nov 2021. A nurse and midwife

by training, Lesley has extensive executive managerial experience, having led
the Trust since 2015, and was previously chief executive for East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group. In 2020, under her leadership, the Trust was awarded a
CQC rating of ‘outstanding’ for well-led and use of resources. During 2021/22 she was
awarded a position in the Top 50 NHS Chief Executives in the Country. During 2022/23
she was awarded a CBE.

r/

Robert Bleasdale, Chief Nursing Officer
VIR
"3 Robert joined the Trust in Apr 2022. He was previously Chief Nurse and Director
> of Infection Prevention and Control at St George’s University Hospital and has
held a number of senior nursing leadership roles in the NHS. He has been
instrumental in the COVID-19 response, leading on the vaccination programme to
establish one of the first vaccination clinics in the country. He has led on a number of

guality improvement programmes, including the development of accreditation systems,
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which helped raise standards of care and was involved in St George’s exiting CQC special
measures. He has proactively promoted partnership working and is passionate about the
role of staff and patient involvement in key service decisions.

Robert became Deputy Chief Nurse at St George’s in 2017, having previously held a
number of other senior nursing roles at St George’s since 2014. He started his nursing
career in acute medicine before moving into emergency care. He is an advanced trauma
nursing course instructor and completed his nursing degree at Oxford Brookes University.
He also has a Master’s in Senior Healthcare Leadership from Birmingham University.

,«m\) Dr Roger Chinn, Chief Medical Officer

r’\

L Roger Chinn was appointed as chief medical officer in Dec 2020. He is a clinical
dg‘i ¢ radiologist who has been a consultant with the Trust since 1996. Previously, he
\ has held senior leadership roles as deputy medical director and chief clinical
information officer in the Trust and was the medical director at West Middlesex University
Hospital for the year prior to its acquisition by the Trust.

Virginia Massaro, Chief Financial Officer
-
i Virginia joined the Trust in 2010 as head of financial planning before
i. progressing to assistant director of finance and deputy director of finance,
having previously worked in finance teams across other NHS organisations in
North West London. She has been chief financial officer since Oct 2019 and is a qualified

chartered management accountant.

Non-executive directors

3 Matthew Swindells—Chair

e

T"‘ Matthew joined the Trust in April 2022. He has over 30 years’ experience in

o ‘ healthcare. He is the former Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Operating Officer
for the NHS in England. He also runs his own consultancy, through which he provides
strategic advice on digital transformation and global healthcare to a small number of
innovative companies. Matthew’s NHS career started as an NHS supplies management
trainee and includes a series of operational management roles in the NHS up to Chief
Executive at the Royal Surrey County Hospital and as the NHS’s first Chief Information
Officer. He then worked in government, firstly as head of the health team in the Prime
Minister’s Office of Public Service Reform and then as special policy adviser to the
Secretary of State for Health. Matthew is President of the Health Care Supply Association
and holds a Visiting Professorship at Imperial College Institute of Global Health Innovation.
Matthew is joint chair, responsible for 12 hospitals across four NHS trusts in North West
London—Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Hillingdon Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust and London North West
University Healthcare NHS Trust.

[~ Steve Gill—Vice Chair and Senior Independent Director

u

el
‘§ Steve was appointed as a non-executive director (NED) on 1 Nov 2017. He was
Chair of the People and Organisational Development Committee from
Feb 2018—-Mar 2021. In Aug 2020, Steve was appointed as Vice Chair and
Senior Independent Director (SID). Steve served as Interim Trust Chair from Mar 2021—
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Mar 2022—in Apr 2022 he resumed his role as Vice Chair and SID. In Mar 2021, Steve
was appointed as the Board NED Maternity Safety Champion. Steve is currently Chair of
the Quality Committee and of the Nominations and Remuneration Committee. With the
implementation of the North West London Acute Provider (NWL APC) governance
structure in Sep 2022, Steve was appointed as Chair of the NWL APC Quality Committee
in Common (CiC). He was also appointed to the Board of The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust (THHT) as a NED and is a member of the Finance and Performance
Committee at THHT.

Steve has had an international executive career in the IT industry, including chief financial
officer roles in the UK and in Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA), chief operating
officer roles in EMEA, global sales roles for Asia Pacific, and chief executive roles in the
UK, South Korea and China. He has held various NED roles, including advising the UK
government on IT in education. Steve qualified as a chartered accountant with PwC in
London and has extensive experience in mergers and acquisitions, strategic planning,
talent and succession planning, organisational development, risk management and
disaster recovery. Steve has been the Chair of Trustees of Age Concern Windsor (ACW)
since Jan 2018.

m Aman Dalvi

2 Aman Dalvi has worked at very senior levels for many years and has been a
chief executive of three organisations where he has led multidisciplinary teams.
Aman has extensive experience in planning and regeneration and, in his career,
he was executive director of development and renewal in a major local authority. Aman
was also a ministerial appointee on the boards of English Partnerships and the Olympic
Park Legacy Company. Aman has also served as a chair of a number of organisations,
including the Anchor Trust and PA Housing. In addition, Aman Dalvi has been a statutory
appointee on a number of large and diverse organisations. He is currently working as a
consultant for two major developers and is chair of a development company.

At the Trust, Aman is the chair of the Audit and Risk Committee, the board non-executive
director (NED) for the Freedom to Speak Up Champion and the lead NED for Estates and
Facilities. In Sep 2022, he was appointed to the board of Imperial College Healthcare NHS
Trust as part of his wider duties within the North West London Acute Provider
Collaborative.

Carolyn Downs

,:) Carolyn Downs CB is a recently retired local authority chief executive. Carolyn
AR -E;é was chief executive of the London Borough of Brent from 2015-23 and prior to
w B2 that was chief executive of the national body for local government, the Local
Government Association, for four years. She spent three years in the civil service as
deputy permanent secretary in the Ministry of Justice and as the chief executive of the
Legal Services Commission. Prior to that, she was chief executive of Shropshire County
Council. She has, in total, worked for almost 40 years in local government in numerous
councils.
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Patricia Gallan

Patricia is a non-executive director for Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs as
well as the Trade Remedies Authority. She is an external member of the Council
of Queen Mary, University of London, chair of governors at an East London
infant and junior school, and a member of the Drapers’ Multi-academy Trust. A former
chief police officer, she began her police career as a graduate entrant in East London,
rising to Assistant Commissioner (Specialist Crime and Operations) of the Metropolitan
Police Service, retiring in 2018 with more than 13 years of executive board experience in
policing. Patricia was a detective, hostage negotiator and is a qualified barrister. She
previously served as Deputy Assistant Commissioner (Specialist Operations—Security
and Protection) and Deputy Assistant Commissioner (Professionalism) in the Met. In
addition, she has served in Merseyside Police and the National Crime Squad as a Chief
Police Officer, as well as completing a secondment to the Home Office. In Jul 2023,
Patricia joined the respective boards of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust within the NHS
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative as a non-executive director.

i

Catherine Jervis

- . Catherine has held a range of board-level positions, has worked in the public,

4, not-for-profit and private sectors, and has a broad skills base with recognised
strategic insight and financial and governance expertise. She is currently deputy chair and
non-executive director at The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. In Sep 2022,
with the implementation of the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative (NWL
APC), she was appointed to the board of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and is the chair for the NWL APC Finance and Performance Committee.
She is also the non-executive director and SID with Barnet Enfield and Haringey Mental
Health NHS Trust and NED at IOPC (the Independent Office for Police Conduct). Prior to
this, Catherine was an executive director and strategic advisor to a national education
charity established to maximise educational outcomes for children and young people with
SEND and director at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, leading the Children’s Services Team
working across education, health and social care. Catherine is a qualified accountant.

Neville Manuel

Neville is an accomplished senior executive with more than 30 years’ extensive
experience operating at board level in the private, public and third sectors, in
both executive and non-executive roles. He is a skilled commercial leader with a
proven track record in transformational change, developing and executing strategy, setting
up joint ventures, launching new businesses and operational, and P&L management in the
telecoms, media and technology sectors.

In his corporate career, his roles included Vice President of BT's internet business, director
of its TV business and group general manager of strategy. Now focused on non-executive
roles, he currently sits on the boards of the West London NHS Trust, The Hillingdon
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and the National Institute of Economic and Social
Research (NIESR). In Sep 2022, with the implementation of the North West London Acute
Provider Collaborative, he was appointed to the board of Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. He is also a founder director of a small independent film
production company.
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r\i' Ajay Mehta
>

= Ajay is an organisational development specialist supporting the growth and
sustainability of civil society organisations globally to increase their social
impact. With significant contributions in the social impact and public sectors, he
brings a breadth of experience in the areas of strategic planning, resource mobilisation
and sustainability, community engagement, leadership and governance. Ajay's portfolio of
work has ranged from large international institutions to smaller community-based
organisations, supporting them to review and re-engineer their strategic interventions and
maximise impact.

Ajay has particular interests in human and environmental rights, a focus of his company
em4, which engages with institutional funders to build the capacities of their grantees and
invests in social entrepreneurs internationally to increase their regional impact. He has
held board-level positions with national and international charities. He was previously a
non-executive director of Hounslow and Richmond Community Healthcare NHS Trust.
Ajay is currently chair of the People and Workforce Committee. He also holds the position
of Wellbeing Guardian on the Trust Board. Ajay is in his second term of office at Chelsea
and Westminster Hospital and was appointed to the board of London North West
University Healthcare NHS Trust as a NED in Sep 2022, as part of his duties within the
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative.

Prof Neena Modi

"% Prof Neena Modi (MB ChB MD FRCP FRCPCH FFPM FMedSci) is Professor of

‘F/, 2 Neonatal Medicine and Faculty of Medicine Vice-Dean (International Affairs) at
Imperial College London, a fellow and member of Council of the UK Academy of

Medical Sciences, and president-elect of the European Association of Perinatal Medicine.
Neena has held a number of previous health leadership roles. She is a past president of
the British Medical Association, UK Medical Women’s Federation and UK Royal College of
Paediatrics and Child Health. She has also headed the research societies, the Neonatal
Society and Academic Paediatrics Association of Great Britain and Ireland. Neena leads a
multidisciplinary neonatal research group focused on improving the health and life-long
wellbeing of infants born preterm or sick. She has published more than 350 peer-reviewed
original research papers, chapters in textbooks, reports and other publications. She also
leads the award-winning UK National Neonatal Research Database and eNewborn, an
International Neonatal Research Database. She is head of the current Imperial Biomedical
Research Centre “Pregnancy and Prematurity” theme.

Neena has been a longstanding advocate for the rights of infants, children and women to
benefit from biomedical research. She is also committed to championing the values of
health equity, social justice and high quality, publicly provided and delivered healthcare for
all. In 2022, she received the US Critical-Path Institute, International Neonatal Consortium
Pioneer Award for “contributions to health data research” and the Medical Women
International Association award ‘to a woman physician who has made outstanding
contributions to the cause of women in medicine’.
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Dr Syed Mohinuddin

Dr Syed Mohinuddin has worked in the NHS for more than 25 years. He is a
Consultant Neonatologist and leads the pan-London Neonatal Transfer Service.
He graduated from the Armed Forces Medical College, India and was awarded
the Colonel Malhotra Memorial Gold Medal in medicine. He subsequently moved to the UK
and completed his core and higher specialist training in paediatrics and neonatology. He is
a fellow of the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. He has a Master's in Medical
Leadership from the Bayes Business School and is a Faculty of Medical Leadership and
Management group member.

Syed is an experienced educator who has held various training and development
positions. He has extensive experience in team training, simulation and human factors. He
is a digital and innovation enabler and the clinical lead for the NeoMate App that won the
NHS Innovation Acorn Award 2015. He is a member of the Harrow Muslim Community and
the Seacole Group. He is passionate about improving the quality and safety of NHS care
and reducing healthcare inequalities.

Syed also chairs the Quality and Safety Committee and is a non-executive director on the
London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust board.

Directors and others in regular attendance at Board meetings 2023/24

Peter Jenkinson, Director of Corporate Governance
Lindsey Stafford-Scott, Chief People Officer

Emer Delaney, Director of Communications

Alexia Pipe, Chief of Staff to the Chair in Common

Key responsibilities of non-executive directors
For all non-executive directors, key responsibilities include:

e Challenging and supporting the executive directors in decision-making and on the
Trust’s strategy

e Holding collective accountability with the executive directors for the exercise of their
powers and for the performance of the Trust

Independence of non-executive directors

The Trust Board has evaluated the circumstances and relationships of individual non-
executive directors which are relevant to the determination of the presumption of
independence and determines all its non-executive directors to be independent in
character and judgement. During 2023/24, there were a number of changes to the non-
executive director composition on the Board of Directors to enable the implementation of
the governance structure of the North West London Acute Provider Collaborative. This
included:

e The appointments of Carolyn Downs, Patricia Gallan and Professor Neena Modi as
non-executive directors on the Board

e Approval to a second term of office for Syed Mohinuddin as a non-executive director on
the Board
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We expressed our sincere thanks to three committed and longstanding Non-Executive
Directors who reached the end of their terms of office during the course of the year—
Professor Andy Bush, Nilkunj Dodhia and Peter Goldsbrough.

The chair meets frequently with the vice chairs without having the executive team present.

Performance evaluation of the Board

The annual appraisal of the chair was led by the senior independent director. The views of
non-executive directors, executive directors, external partners and governors were sought
and contributed to the process. The performance of non-executive directors is evaluated
annually by the vice chair, who also seeks the views of colleagues and stakeholders.
Executive directors have an annual appraisal with the chief executive. All Trust Board
committees reviewed their effectiveness during 2023/24 and provided assurance reports to
the Committees on their reported effectiveness and associated improvement actions.

Board meetings

The Trust Board meets in public no less than four times per year. Special meetings are
organised as and when required. There were four meetings in public held in 2023/24.
These were meetings of the Chelsea and Westminster NHS Foundation Trust Board of
Directors, meeting as part of the Board in Common with the other North West London
Acute Collaborative Provider Trusts. Director attendance is detailed below.

Board Public meeting attendance |

Required to attend Attended

Executive directors

Lesley Watts 4 4
Robert Bleasdale 4 4
Roger Chinn 4 4
Rob Hodgkiss 3 2
Virginia Massaro 4 4
Non-executive directors

Matthew Swindells 4 4
Stephen Gill 4 4
Aman Dalvi 4 4
Nilkunj Dodhia 1 1
Professor Andy Bush 2 1
Peter Goldsbrough 2 2
Patricia Gallan 3 3
Carolyn Downs 2 2
Neena Modi 2 1
Ajay Mehta 4 2
Catherine Jervis 4 4
Neville Manuel 4 3
Syed Mohinuddin 4 4

The Trust’s Board of Directors held an additional (standalone) meeting in private in Nov
2023 to consider the refresh of the Financial and Operating Plan 2023/24.
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Committees of the Board of directors

The Trust Board committee structure is set out below. Terms of reference detail the
responsibilities of each committee and this structure monitors and provides assurance to
the Board on the delivery of our objectives and other key priorities.

Board of Directors

N T

Quality Audit and Risk Nominations and Finance and People and
Committee Committee Remune_ratmn Performance Workf:_:rce
Committee Committee Committee

Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Board of directors for
the appointment of executive directors

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee is a committee of the Trust Board of
Directors. It is appointed in accordance with the constitution of the Trust to decide the
remuneration and allowances, and the other terms and conditions of office, of the chief
executive and other executive directors. The committee comprises the chairman and four
other non-executive directors. The committee met on four occasions during the year and at
these meetings they:

Approved executive director pay and very senior management pay
Approved the terms of reference of the committee

Approved the annual business cycle of the committee

Reviewed the effectiveness of the committee

Nominations and remuneration committee attendees : Attendance
Required to attend Attended

Stephen Gill (Chair of Committee) 4 4
Aman Dalvi 4 3
Nilkunj Dodhia 1 1
Patricia Gallan 3 3
Ajay Mehta 4 3
In attendance

Lesley Watts, Chief Executive Officer 3 3
Lindsey Stafford-Scott, Chief People Officer 3 3
Peter Jenkinson, Director of Corporate Governance 3 244

Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Council of Governors
for the appointment of non-executive directors

A separate Nominations and Remuneration Committee exists for the nomination,
appointment and remuneration of the chair, vice-chair and non-executive directors. This is
a committee of the Council of Governors and its membership comprises the chairman, the
lead governor and five public- and patient-elected governors.

4 Agreed deputy attended in place for third meeting
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Appointments and reappointments

During 2023/24, on recommendation by the committee and agreement of the Council of
Governors, it was agreed to increase the composition of non-executive directors on the
Board to enable the implementation of agreed North West London Acute Provider
Collaborative governance arrangements. As such, the following recommendations in
relation to appointments, reappointments and remuneration were agreed:

e To appoint Patricia Gallan and Carolyn Downs as non-executive directors of the Board

e The Trust used GatenbySanderson search consultancy to support the process for the
above non-executive director appointments

e To approve a new term of office for Dr Syed Mohinuddin as a non-executive director of
the Board

e To appoint Prof Neena Modi as an academic non-executive director of the Board

e To appoint Vineeta Manchanda as a non-executive director of the Board (to start in May
2024)—Nurole consultancy provided support in the search process for this appointment

O OoT Governor No allo anad Attendance

Re eratio 0 ee attendee Required to attend Attended
Matthew Swindells, Chair 5 5
Steve Gill, Vice-Chair 5 5
Richard Ballerand, Public Governor 5 5
Simon Dyer, Lead and Patient Governor 5 5
Minna Korjonen, Patient Governor 5 4
David Phillips, Patient Governor 5 5
Laura-Jane Wareing, Public Governor 5 4
In attendance

Lesley Watts, Chief Executive Officer 5 5
Dawn Clift, Interim Director of Corporate Governance 1
and Compliance

Peter Jenkinson, Director of Corporate Governance 4 3%

Quality Committee

The Quality Committee is mainly responsible for issues of quality and patient safety. It
seeks assurance on systems, processes and outcomes relating to the safety and
effectiveness of care which we deliver to our patients. This includes monitoring regulatory
compliance with the standards set out by the Care Quality Commission.

People and Workforce Committee

The People and Workforce Committee is responsible for reviewing Trust performance on
key workforce metrics (turnover, mandatory training and appraisal rates) while also
reviewing key workforce and organisational development strategies on behalf of the Trust
Board.

4 Agreed deputy attended in place for fourth meeting
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Finance and Performance Committee

The Finance and Performance Committee is responsible for seeking assurance as to the
satisfactory management of the Trust’s finances, cost improvement programme, cash
management and capital programme. The committee also reviews and recommends to the
Trust Board for approval those business cases with high-level strategic significance.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee assures the Trust Board that probity and professional
judgement are exercised in all financial matters. It advises on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control systems, risk management arrangements,
counter-fraud measures and governance processes, and on ways of maximising efficiency
and effectiveness. In doing this, the Audit and Risk Committee primarily utilises the work of
internal audit (provided by BDO in 2023/24), external audit (provided by Deloitte in
2023/24) and other external bodies. The committee approves the annual work plans of
internal and external audit as well as the local counter-fraud specialist (provided by RSM in
2023/24). The chief executive is the Trust’s designated accounting officer who has the
duty of preparing the accounts in accordance with the NHS Act 2006. Aman Dalvi chaired
the Audit and Risk Committee, which includes two other non-executive directors. The
Committee met five times in 2023/24.

- A a ada -
A O a O O ee a a agee

Required to attend Attended
Aman Dalvi (Chair) 5 5
Dr Syed Mohinuddin 5 5
Catherine Jervis 5 5

Significant issues considered by the Audit and Risk Committee in relation to the
financial statements, operations and compliance

During the year, the Audit and Risk Committee received several reports from the internal
auditors BDO. These covered various areas including Capital Project Management,
Discharge and Ambulance Handover Processes, Divisional Governance, Waiting List
Management, Key Financial Systems, Recruitment and Retention, Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion (EDI), Contract Management, North West London Acute Provider Collaborative
Governance (NWL APC), Facilities and Estates Management, Cultural Mat Maturity, Data
Security and Protection Toolkit, and Patient Communication. For the period 1 Apr 2023-31
Mar 2024, 5 high-risk recommendations were identified by our internal auditors.

Following the year end, the Committee considered the draft annual report and accounts
2023/24 and received the ISA 260 report from the Trust’s external auditors.

During 2023/24, in addition to non-executive directors and those executive directors in
attendance, the Trust’s internal and external auditors and counter-fraud specialist attended
the committee meetings. When relevant, other senior managers attended meetings to
provide a deeper level of insight into certain key issues within their respective areas of
expertise, including all areas of significant risk, such as cyber security, risk management,
Board assurance framework and information governance.

The committee has engaged regularly with the external auditors over the financial year.
External audit matters discussed have included consideration of the external audit plan,
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matters arising from the audit of the Trust’s financial statements, implementation of
adoption of international reporting standards and any recommendations on control and
accounting matters proposed by the auditor.

The Committee assesses the external auditor’s quality and value of work and the
timeliness and reporting and fees on an annual basis. This assessment includes the
review and monitoring of the external auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness
of the audit process in light of relevant professional and regulatory standards. The
Committee discusses and agrees with the external auditors, before the audit commences,
the nature and scope of the audit as set out in the annual plan, including a consideration of
their local evaluation of audit risks. The Committee reviews all external audit reports,
including the report to those charged with governance, agreement of the annual audit letter
and the appropriateness of management responses and progress on implementation of
recommendations received by the Trust’s external auditor. In addition, the Committee
received and considered the significant risks identified by the Trust’s internal auditor in the
end-of-year report.

Policy for safeguarding the external auditors’ independence

The Trust carried out an Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) tender for statutory
audit services in Oct 2016 and reappointed Deloitte LLP on a three-year contract with an
option to extend for a further two years. It was agreed by the Audit and Risk Committee
during 2019/20 to extend the contract for two years. Following an unsuccessful
procurement process in 2022/23, it was agreed by the Audit and Risk Committee to extend
the contract with Deloitte LLP for a further two years. As part of the initial procurement
process, the independence of applicants was assessed. The external auditor has not
provided non-audit services in the year. This is the one area of non-compliance (albeit not
material as stated earlier in this report) regarding the Code of Governance, whereby Trusts
should not retain the same auditors in excess of 20 years. As described above, the Trust
has tried to address this and will continue to do so in 2024/25.

Internal audit

From June 2021, following a competitive tender, the Trust awarded the contract to provide
internal audit to BDO on a three-year contract with an option to extend for a further two
years. The internal audit plan covered the Trust’s risk management, governance and
internal control processes, both financial and non-financial, across the Trust. Through
detailed examination, evaluation and testing of the Trust’s systems, internal audit plays a
key role in the Trust’'s assurance processes. The Audit and Risk Committee signs off the
annual internal audit plan and reviews the findings of internal audit's work against the
annual plan at each of its meetings. The head of internal audit reports to the committee
and has a right of direct access to committee members. The internal audit function is
managed by the chief financial officer.
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Council of Governors

The role, powers and composition of the Council of Governors were outlined earlier in this
report and are also set out within the Trust’s constitution. The Council of Governors meets
at least quarterly and held four meetings in 2023/2024. Executive and non-executive
directors of the Trust Board are invited to attend. Both elected and appointed governors
normally hold office for a period of three years and are eligible for re-election or
reappointment at the end of that period. The details of the governors holding office as at
31 Mar 2024 are provided within the table below:

Surname

First name

Constituency

Borough/
organisation

Kensington and

Date
elected
or

appointed

Term

Attendance at
council
meetings
2023/24
(required to
attend)

Attendance at
council
meetings
2023/24
(attended)

Ballerand Richard Public Nov 2017 3 4
Chelsea 3
Boulliat Moulle | Caroline Patient - Feb 2023 1 4 4
Carter Julie Public Ealing Nov 2021 1 4 0
Cass-Horne Cass J Public Westminster Feb 2023 2 4 4
Chatterley4® Maureen | Public Richmond Upon Nov 2023 | 1 1
Thames 1
. Lead/Public Hammersmith
Clarke Nigel Governor and Fulham Feb 2023 1 4 4
Dalton*” lan Patient - Nov 2023 1 1 1
Daubeney Nara Public Wandsworth Feb 2023 1 4 1
Digby-Bell Christopher | Patient - Nov 2017 3 4 4
Dyer Simon Patient - Nov 2015 3 4 4
Fleming Stuart Public Wandsworth Nov 2021 1 4 3
Garcha gﬁ]rg;]”der Public Hounslow Nov 2021 | 1 4 3
Korjonen Minna Patient - Nov 2018 4 3
. Hammersmith
Levy Rose Public and Eulham Nov 2020 4 4
Littler Nina Public Kensingtonand | oy 5003 | 1 4 4
Chelsea
Macaskill Stella Patient - Nov 2021 1 4 3
Martin Ras | Public Rest of England | Feb 2023 1 4 3
Nelson Mark Staff Medical and Nov 2020 | 3 4 4
Dental
Pascal Wwill Local Authority Kensington and May 2022 4 4
Chelsea
Phillips David Patient - Nov 2015 3 4 4
Sharpe*® Lucinda Staff Nursing and Nov 2023 | 1
Midwifery
Dr . . .
Walsh Desmond University Imperial College | Oct 2018 2
Wareing Laura-Jane | Public Hounslow Nov 2015 3 4 3
Winterbottom | Jo Public Westminster Feb 2023 1 4 2

Note: One governor stepped back from duties during 2023/24 on a temporary basis

46 Elected as governor in Nov 2023 and therefore required to attend one Council of Governors meeting
during 2023/24
47 Elected as governor in Nov 2023 and therefore required to attend one Council of Governors meeting
during 2023/24
48 Elected as governor in Nov 2023 and therefore required to attend one Council of Governors meeting
during 2023/24
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Vacancies

Appointed/Local Authority: Hounslow

Public: Richmond Upon Thames

Staff: Allied Health Professionals, Scientific and Technical
Staff: Non-Clinical (x2)

Staff: Nursing and Midwifery

There were no disputes between the Council of Governors and the Board of Directors
during the year. Should any such dispute or disagreement arise, governors are able to
contact the lead governor or senior independent director.

Council of Governors elections held during 2023/24

An election was held in Nov 2023 to fill vacant seats in the patient and public
constituencies. The results were as follows:

Patient constituency

e Christopher Digby-Bell (elected)
¢ lan Dalton (elected)

Public constituency

e Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
Richard Ballerand (elected)

e London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham
Rose Levy (elected unopposed)

e London Borough of Richmond Upon Thames
Maureen Chatterley (elected unopposed)

Staff constituency

e Medical and Dental
Mark Nelson (elected unopposed)
e Nursing and Midwifery
Lucinda Sharpe (elected unopposed)

Council of Governors’ register of interests

Governors are required to sign a code of conduct, declare any relevant interests annually,
and confirm they meet the fit and proper person condition as set out in Regulation 5 of the
Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulation 2014.

The register of governors’ interests is published annually—a copy can be downloaded
from the Trust website at www.chelwest.nhs.uk/cog, by emailing
chelwest.corporategovernance@nhs.net, or by calling 020 3315 6716/6725.
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You can also request a hard copy by writing to:

Corporate Governance Team

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
369 Fulham Road

London

SW10 9NH

Contacting the governors

Governors welcome the views and suggestions of members and the wider public. Please
see www.chelwest.nhs.uk/cog for governors’ details and biographies. If you would like to
contact any of the governors, email chelwest.corporategovernance@nhs.net or call

020 3315 6716/6725.

How the Board of Directors and Council of Governors have acted to
understand the views of governors and Foundation Trust members

The Trust Board interacts regularly with the Council of Governors to ensure it understands
their views and those of members. Governors can attend the Trust’s public Board
meetings, and at least five governors usually take this opportunity. Non-executive directors
attend the public Council of Governors meetings. Governors and Non-executive directors
also meet twice a year to discuss various topics in an open and informal manner. A rolling
programme of non-executive director chairs of Trust Board committees presenting at each
Council of Governors meeting enables governors to hold the non-executive directors to
account. In addition, we hold regular governor briefing sessions on topics of strategic or
operational interest to governors, allowing them to develop their knowledge around the
range of information presented to them for assurance purposes and to seek their views on
improving aspects of our business.

Foundation Trust membership

As a foundation trust, we are accountable to our local community, patients and staff, who
all have the right to become members. Trust members play an active role in helping us to
understand the views and needs of the population we serve. Membership is open to
anyone aged 16 or older. The membership has three constituencies—patient, public and
staff—as defined in the Trust constitution and summarised below.

Patient membership

Anyone who has attended any of the Trust’s hospitals as either a patient or the carer of a
patient within the last three years.

Public membership

Any member of the public over the age of 16 who lives in the area the Trust serves,
divided into eight constituencies based on local government boundaries:

e City of Westminster, London boroughs of Ealing, Hammersmith and Fulham, Hounslow,

Richmond upon Thames and Wandsworth, Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea,
or the ‘rest of England’
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Staff membership

All staff automatically become members unless they choose to opt out of membership.
Individuals employed by the Trust under a contract of employment with the Trust are
divided into four constituencies. During 2023/24, the Council of Governors, following a
recommendation at an away day, agreed to streamline the staff constituencies as follows:

Non-clinical staff (two positions)

Allied health professionals, scientific and technical staff (one position)
Medical and dental staff (one position)

Nursing and midwifery staff (two positions)

Membership engagement strategy

The Trust’'s membership engagement strategy focuses on recruitment, communication and
engagement with members. In 2023/24, the Trust made positive progress in delivering its
Membership Engagement Strategy to ensure it diversified its approach to facilitate
engagement with a more representative group of members. Actions implemented include:

e Members’ News: A monthly newsletter providing up-to-date information about the
Trust, distributed via email to all Trust members

e Meet a Governor sessions: Face-to-face meetings between governors and the public
and patients at both the Chelsea and Westminster and West Middlesex sites

e QR code: A QR code implemented to simplify the process of becoming a member of
the Trust, displayed in various departments throughout the Trust and satellite areas and
on screens at both the Chelsea and Westminster and West Middlesex sites

Governors participated in public and member engagement events organised by the Trust
throughout the year. The Meet a Governor sessions have been held regularly since Aug
2023, with healthy representation of governors at these sessions. Governors have also
been involved in the recruitment of the non-executive directors and on stakeholder panels.

Our overall membership as of 31 Mar 2024 is 19,293 members, a change from 19,366 last
year. New members have joined, but the change is largely attributed to a comprehensive
update of the membership list following a mail out. While the majority of our members are
aged over 40 years, we continue to encourage greater representation of the under-40 age
range, with 1,541 (8%) members in the 22—-29 age category. We have a very successful
youth volunteering platform being explored to encourage and share the benefits of
membership, and we are developing targeted work with colleges, universities and
workplaces. We will refresh our approach to using alternative media to reach these
populations and provide in-person interaction.

Ensuring that our membership is representative of the population we serve is important.
Socioeconomically, we know that most of our membership sits within categories B, D and
E—‘executive wealth’, ‘city sophisticates’ and ‘career climbers’. The next highest
proportion of our membership sits within category P, defined as those residing in
‘struggling estates’.
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Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the accounts

The directors have undertaken their responsibility for preparing the accounts under
directions issued by NHS England, as detailed in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities from page 112.

The Trust has ensured that the annual accounts of the organisation have met the
accounting requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual.

The directors consider that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable, providing the information necessary for patients, regulators
and stakeholders to assess the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, business model and
strategy.

The directors are responsible for maintaining and ensuring the integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the Trust’s website. Legislation in the UK governing

the preparation and dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
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NHS OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK
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NHS systems oversight framework

NHS England’s NHS oversight framework provides the structure for overseeing systems,
including providers, and identifying potential support needs. NHS organisations are
allocated to one of four ‘segments’.

A segmentation decision indicates the scale and general nature of support needs, from no
specific support needs (segment 1) to a requirement for mandated intensive support
(segment 4). A segment does not determine specific support requirements. By default, all
NHS organisations are allocated to segment 2 unless the criteria for moving into another
segment are met. These criteria have two components:

¢ Objective and measurable eligibility criteria based on performance against the six
oversight themes using the relevant oversight metrics (the themes are quality of care,
access and outcomes, people, preventing ill-health and reducing inequalities, leadership
and capability, finance and use of resources, local strategic priorities)

¢ Additional considerations focused on the assessment of system leadership and
behaviours, and improvement capability and capacity.

An NHS foundation trust will be in segment 3 or 4 only where it has been found to be in
breach or suspected breach of its licence conditions.

Segmentation
The Trust has been placed into segment 1.

This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 31 Mar 2024. Current
segmentation information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS
England website atwww.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-system-oversight-framework-
segmentation/.

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 110

Overall page 142 of 355


http://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-system-oversight-framework-segmentation/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-system-oversight-framework-segmentation/

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING
OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 111

Overall page 143 of 355



Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as
the accounting officer of Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS
foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are
answerable and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS England.

NHS England has given accounts directions which require Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts
in the form and on the basis required by those directions. The accounts are prepared on
an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and
of its income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive income and cash flows for
the financial year.

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the use of public funds, the accounting officer is
required to comply with the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual and, in particular, to:

e Observe the accounts direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis

e Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

e State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual) have been followed and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements

e Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated
authorities and guidance

¢ Confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and
stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business model and
strategy

e Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and disclose any material
uncertainties over going concern

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and
to enable him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirement outlined in the
above-mentioned act. The accounting officer is also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the NHS foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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As far as | am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the foundation trust’s
auditors are unaware and | have taken all the steps that | ought to have taken to make
myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors
are aware of that information.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, | have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

by 2 el

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2024
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
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Scope of responsibility

As accounting officer, | have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and
objectives while safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which | am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. | am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and
economically, and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. | also acknowledge
my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum.

Purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised. This enables us to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in
place in Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended

31 Mar 2024 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

As part of our system of internal control, it is of paramount importance to ensure that the
Trust is well-led in accordance with NHS England and NHS England’s Well-Led
Framework, so that the services are safe and patient-centred. In Nov 2019 we welcomed
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to inspect our services, which included a well-led
inspection and a use of resources inspection by NHS England. The Trust maintained the
rating of ‘good’ overall, seeing an improvement in well-led rating from ‘good’ to
‘outstanding’, and maintaining the use of resources rating of ‘outstanding’. The Chelsea
site improved the overall rating from ‘good’ to ‘outstanding’, and the West Middlesex site
maintained the overall rating of ‘good’. Within our system of internal control, we have a
range of approaches and methodologies to continually assess our performance against
the well-led framework. This includes the use and analysis of data (quality, effectiveness,
financial and access times), board-to-floor visibility, our ward accreditation scheme and our
governance arrangements from Board to local service. The Trust remains fully compliant
with the registration requirements of the Care Quality Commission.

Capacity to handle risk

Governance arrangements in the Northwest London Acute Provider
Collaborative

The North West London Acute Provider Collaborative (the ‘collaborative’) came into being
from Sep 2022, following approval of the trust boards of the four acute trusts—Chelsea
and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust and London North West
University Hospitals NHS Trust—also from Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust’s and The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust's Councils of
Governors, London Region and National NHS England. The four acute trusts remain as

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 115

Overall page 147 of 355



statutory bodies who also continue to work with other partners in the North West London
Integrated Care System to deliver health to the population of North West London.

The governance arrangements have been developed based on core principles of
corporate governance in a collaborative system, including adhering to the principle of
subsidiarity (meaning decision making to be local where possible) while ensuring
collaborative decision-making and holding each other to account and ensuring the
continuation of public accountability and stakeholder involvement and engagement at trust
level as well as at the level of the collaborative.

During the year we commissioned an internal audit review across the collaborative which
demonstrated that the governance model is operating appropriately overall to enable the
individual Trust boards to fulfil their duties, but highlighted some areas for improvement.
These included the need for a collaborative strategy, the development of a collaborative
risk management approach and improved engagement and oversight of local trust issues
as unitary boards. Actions in response to these recommendations are all in progress and
will be addressed as part of the ongoing development of the governance model, either
through reinforcement of existing structures and mechanisms or through the board
development programmes at Trust and collaborative level.

To support the collaborative model, governance arrangements were established, including
key elements:

e Trust level committees providing local oversight across quality, workforce, and finance
and performance as well as the statutory committees—audit and risk committee and
nominations and remuneration committee

e Collaborative committees, covering the domains of quality, workforce, finance and
performance, digital and data, and estates and sustainability

¢ Bringing the four trust boards together to form a board in common—four trust boards
meeting together at the same time and same place with a common agenda.

¢ A model of shared non-executive directors across trusts
e Lead chief executives for strategic priorities across the collaborative

The board in common meets in public and is collectively responsible for setting the
strategy for the Collaborative. It is comprised of the four trust boards and meets four times
per year. To ensure agility in decision making and to maintain oversight, the four trust
boards (as the board in common) delegate some specific responsibilities to a board in
common cabinet, comprising the chair, vice chairs and chief executives, meeting in the
months when the board in common is not meeting. The meetings of the board in common
cabinet are reported to the board in common.

Each statutory entity has a responsibility to maintain its own system of internal control,
including a robust risk management framework. The audit and risk committees remain
independent in each trust and retain responsibility for ensuring that a system of internal
control is maintained across the trust, to ensure that risks are being identified and
managed, and appropriate assurance mechanisms are in place. The audit and risk
committees provide a summary of committee matters directly to the board in common.
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The governance arrangements for the Collaborative continue to develop and evolve and
the four Trust Boards agree any amendments to the scheme of delegated authority as
appropriate. For example, we anticipate developing governance arrangements further
around risk and assurance in the next financial year, to enable the collaborative to identify
common risk areas where collaborative action can most effectively add value in the
management of risks being ‘owned’ by trusts.

Each trust has its board committee structure, and committees review the key risks aligned
with their functional domain and receive assurance regarding the management of risk for
those risks, via regular reports or risk and assurance deep dives where appropriate. Trust
committee chairs report the outcome of their committees, including matters for escalation,
including risks, to the respective collaborative committee.

The board in common receives summary reports from the collaborative committees and
trust audit and risk committees, as well as more detailed reports where required including
reports from each CEO, from which each board takes assurance that there are effective
systems in place to ensure risks are being identified and managed at the appropriate level.

The Trust is committed to a comprehensive, integrated, Trustwide approach to the
management of risk based upon the support and leadership offered by the Board of
Directors and the committees of the Board.

The Trust’s risk management process is designed to provide a systematic method of
identifying risks and determining the most effective means to minimise or remove them
following risk analysis and evaluation. Practice is supported through the maintenance of an
organisation wide risk register—the register is a management tool that promotes visibility,
escalation and provides a repository from which assurance can be offered that risks are
being identified and appropriately managed.

The Risk Management Strategy describes the roles and responsibilities of all staff in
relation to the identification, management and control of risk, and encourages the use of
risk management processes as a mechanism to highlight areas they believe require
improvement.

The executive directors have responsibilities for the management and coordination of
strategic and operational risk within their areas of control. These responsibilities include
the maintenance of risk registers, the promotion of risk management activity, the
development of strategic and business plans required to address risk and the escalation of
principle risks and associated assurance to Trust Board. Responsibility for the
implementation of risk management activity has been delegated to the executive directors
as follows:

e The Chief Nursing Officer has responsibility for the professional standards and
revalidation of the nursing workforce and allied health professionals, clinical
governance, patient safety, staff safety, regulatory compliance and associated risks

e The Chief Medical Officer has responsibility for the professional standards and
revalidation of the medical workforce, research and development, service development,
clinical effectiveness, public health and associated risks

¢ The Chief Financial Officer has responsibility for financial governance, physical estate
and associated risks
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¢ The Chief People Officer has responsibility for learning and development, equality,
diversity and inclusion, workforce management, staff wellbeing and associated risks

e The Chief Operating Officer (COQ) has responsibility for site development, business
development, digital innovation and associated risks#°

e The Chief Information Officer is responsible for information management, information
technology, information security and associated risks

Executive and non-executive directors receive training as part of a scheduled risk and
board assurance development session. All staff receive risk management training on
various aspects of risk as part of the Trust’s induction programme. This training forms part
of the mandatory courses provided by the Trust, which all staff undertake on a regular
basis. The organisation’s Quality and Clinical Governance directorate also provides one-
to-one and group risk management training. The risk assurance framework is scrutinised
by the following committees of the Board:

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

Quality Committee (QC)

People and Workforce Committee (PODC)
Finance and Performance Committee (FPC)

The committees and their sub-groups ensure risks and the associated mitigation actions
are recognised and good practice is supported across all areas. The scrutiny given by
these Committees also assures learning from excellence.

The Trust risk management policy is accessible to all staff via the intranet and aims to
provide guidance on the process of risk identification, assessment and the escalation, as
appropriate, in accordance with each staff member’s level of authority and duties.

Risk and control framework

The Trust’s risk management process is designed to provide a systematic method of
identifying risks and determining the most effective means to minimise or remove. Practice
is supported through the maintenance of an organisation wide risk register.

Operational risk assurance is provided via the divisional quality boards within the clinical
divisions—these groups ensure the risk register process is embedded and mitigation
actions are undertaken within appropriate timescales. Within the corporate/non-clinical
division, individual management teams undertake this responsibility with executive
oversight.

Management and mitigation assurance are provided via the committees of the board. All
items recorded within the risk register are categorised according to the risk ‘subject’—each
categorisation is aligned to an executive director and a committee or sub-group
responsible for measuring risk assurance and supporting mitigation action where required.

4 This post is currently vacant and the deputy COOs are responsible
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While the Trust Board retains overall responsibility, detailed scrutiny of specific areas of
the Trust’s work, including relevant risks, is provided by Board sub-committees:

e Quality Committee: Assures the Board that quality and safety within the organisation is
being delivered to the highest possible standards and that there are appropriate
policies, processes and governance in place to continuously learn and improve care.

e People and Workforce Committee: Assures the Board on matters related to staff,
considering the following work areas—people and organisational development strategy
and planning, leadership development and talent management, education, skills and
capability (clinical and non-clinical, statutory and mandatory), performance, reward and
recognition, culture, inclusion, equality and diversity, values and engagement, and
health and wellbeing. The committee ensures robust processes to identify and manage
risks and issues accordingly. It oversees the development and governance of short,
medium and long-term workforce strategies to ensure safe, sustainable and effective
staffing processes and compliance with developing workforce safeguard standards. The
committee receives regular reports on workforce and people-related key performance
indicators and metrics alongside other hard and soft intelligence.

e Finance and Performance Committee: Assures the Board on financial and investment
policy, capital, information management and technology, estates management and

commercial development issues, ensuring the Trust operates economically and
efficiently against agreed income and expenditure positions.

Annual Report and Accounts 2022/23 Page 119

Overall page 151 of 355



¢ Audit and Risk Committee: Assures the Board that probity and professional
judgement are exercised by providing an independent and objective review of financial
and corporate governance, assurance processes, risk management across the Trust’'s
clinical and non-clinical activities, and fraud and corruption. The committee also
measures assurance in the process for identifying and responding to potential conflicts
of interest relating to commercial partnership working. It scrutinises the output of all
audits undertaken by the Trust’s internal and external auditors, reporting any identified
risks to the Board, and assures the Board on the appropriateness and effectiveness of
the Trust’s risk assurance framework.

¢ Nominations and Remuneration Committee: Oversees all aspects of the
appointment process for executive directors and very senior managers, including the
approval of arrangements for the termination of directorships, determining the
remuneration, allowances, pensions, gratuities and other major contractual terms, and
evaluating the performance of individual executive directors.

The Trust control framework ensures the transmission of risk information from ward to
board—this process is supported by:

e Risk appetite statement: Describes the amount of risk the Board is prepared to take in
pursuit of its objectives and is detailed in our Board Assurance Framework. The Trust’s
risk appetite varies between objectives and risk types.

¢ Risk management strategy: Describes the systems of internal controls in place to
oversee, monitor and manage risk within the Trust.

e Risk register: Documents risks at each level of the Trust alongside actions to control,
mitigate or resolve each risk.

e Board assurance framework (BAF): Records the principal risks that could
substantially impact the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives.

The risk management framework informs objective setting, business planning, service
delivery, and the routine functioning of the organisation and ensures risk management is
an integral part of routine management.

The last internal audit of the organisation’s risk management framework took place in
Jan 2020. The Head of Internal Audit opinion was that significant assurance with minor
improvements required can be given on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
organisation’s framework of governance, risk management and control. Auditors
completed a risk maturity report in 2021 which demonstrated a positive level of risk
maturity.

Identification of risk

There are four principal methods of risk identification used by the Trust:

¢ Known ongoing inherent risks of which the Trust is aware, which are controlled and
managed

e Foreseeable local risks which are inherent and identified proactively by competent
persons
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e Strategic risks identified by the Board (including the risks associated with complying
with the Trust’s foundation trust licence)
e Retrospectively realised risks from risk sources

As per the fourth method of risk identification, risks can be identified from a number of
sources, including but not restricted to:

¢ Recommendations from incident investigations and themes/trends arising from
cumulative analysis of incident data

¢ Risks arising as a result of an external review or inspections

Recommendations from internal audit reports or other internal or external monitoring

reviews, audits, assessments or reports

Clinical risk assessments

Non-clinical risk assessments (security, health and safety, health and wellbeing etc)

Patient surveys

Staff surveys

PALS and complaints key themes

¢ Risks shared by other NHS organisations, other stakeholders/duty holders or authorities

In some cases, through the processes described above, the Trust Board may identify
complex risks that affect or involve external organisations, such as local stakeholders
within the local healthcare community (ICB, NWL Acute Provider Collaborative, local
authorities). Where this is the case, the Trust adopts a collaborative approach to its risk
mitigation plans, ensuring a transparent and ‘joined-up’ approach to managing risk,
recognising that in some cases the Trust will be limited in the degree of risk mitigation it
can achieve as an individual organisation.

Risk assessment

The purpose of undertaking risk assessments is to effectively manage and control
significant risks which are/have been identified/inherited or which are foreseeable in
nature, as required by health and safety legislation. Risks are evaluated to determine the
level of exposure and provide input to decisions on where responses to reduce, accept or
avoid risks are necessary/acceptable or likely to be worthwhile. The evaluation of the risk
assessment involves the analysis of the individual risk to identify the consequences/
severity and likelihood of the risk being realised. Within the Trust, the severity and
likelihood of risk are given a numeric score based on the following matrix.

Consequence
Likelihood Negligible Moderate Catastrophic |

1 3 5
1 Rare L 2 . i ;
(Low) (Low) (Low) (Medium) (Medium)

_ 2 4 6 8 10

2 Unlikely (Low) (Medium) (Medium) (High) (High)
. 3 6 9 12
3 Possible (Low) (Medium) (High) (High)
. 4 8 12
4 Likely (Medium) (High) (High)
. 5 10

5 Almost certain (Medium) (High)
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In addition, the risk register process involves a set of risk metrics pertaining to risk impact
and likelihood, which helps improve the robustness of the calculation of risk assessments
within the Trust:

Impact o cqi Risk type
escriptor . . . . B .
Service delivery Financial 'Reputation/publicity |
No injuries or injury Service disruption that Less than
1 Insignificant | requiring no treatment |does not affect patient £10.000 Rumours
or intervention care ’
Minor injury or iliness | Short disruption to Loss of
requirng minor services affecting between
2 Minor intervention patient care or £10.000 and Local media coverage
<7 days off work if intermittent breach of £106,000
staff key target
Moderate injury . )
requiring professional | Sustained period of Loss of Local media coverage with
3 Moderate intervention dlsruptlon to services/ |between reduction in public
sustained breach of £100,001 and :
RIDDOR reportable key target £500.000 confidence
incident ’
Major injury leading to | Intermittent failures in a L oss of National media coverage
long-term incapacity | critical service between and increased level of
4 Major requiring significant Significant under- £500.001 and political/public scrutiny,
increased length of performance of a range £5m ’ total loss of public
stay of key targets confidence
Incident leading to Long term or repeated
death Permanent closure/ adverse national publicity
. u
5 Catastrophic i inci . Loss of >E5m
Phie | Serious Inadenl loss of a service Removal of chair/ CEO or
number of patients executive team
Likelihood level Descriptor Range
5 Almost certain >50%
4 Likely 10-50%
3 Possible 1-10%
2 Unlikely 0.1-1%
1 Rare <0.1%

Alongside the general risk assessment process the Trust employs, there are also patient-
and staff-specific risk assessment forms used at ward/department level in relation to
particular risk domains.

The risk register record is structured in a way that requires the recording of a ‘current risk
rating’ and a ‘target risk rating’. This allows the Trust to track changes in risk, from risk
recognition through to an assessment of the risk post-mitigating actions. In each case, the
Trust’s risk ‘appetite’ is determined by the target risk rating—ie once the mitigating actions
have been implemented successfully and the risk has reduced to the target, the Trust
accepts this residual level of risk. However, each time a risk is reviewed and updated, the
determination of the Trust’s risk appetite is also reviewed, particularly after new mitigating
actions have been identified.
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Principal risks

The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) records the principal risks that could substantially
impact compliance with the NHS Foundation Trust licence and achievement of the Trust’'s
strategic objectives. It provides a framework for reporting key information to the Board by
identifying primary controls in place to manage strategic objectives, assurance about the
effectiveness of controls, and any gaps in the controls or assurances.

The executive management team prepare and approve the Board Assurance Framework
as a means of communicating principal risk. The Committees of the Board receive the
Board Assurance Framework quarterly to support understanding of principal risks,
controls, assurance evidence, and assess outcomes of management activity.

Compliance with the NHS provider licence is routinely monitored through the NHS
Oversight Framework but, on an annual basis, the licence requires the Trust to self-certify
as to whether the organisation has effective systems, governance arrangements and the
resources required to ensure compliance. The 2023/24 self-certification processes
concluded that the organisation had taken the necessary precautions to comply with the
conditions of the licence, any requirements imposed on it under the NHS Acts and had
regard to the NHS Constitution. Principal risks were considered as part of this review and
informed by the Board Assurance Framework—no principal risks to compliance were
identified.

At Mar 2024, the following principal risks that could act as barriers to the organisation’s
strategic objectives were reported to the Audit and Risk Committee:

¢ Failure to ensure the application of clinical and operational processes within an
increasingly complex environment could compromise the delivery of outstanding, high-
guality, safe and patient-centred care

¢ Failure to innovate and coproduce quality improvements with our staff, patients, carers,
and stakeholders/partners could drive health inequalities in outcomes and patient
experience

¢ Failure to fully realise the Trust’'s academic and Research and Development (R&D)
potential may adversely affect its reputation and lead to loss of opportunity

¢ Risk that the population’s continuously changing need for services exceeds the Trust’s
capability and capacity to respond in a timely way—where there are instances of
demand outstripping supply, there is a risk that quality and safety of care will be
compromised, the needs of service users could be insufficiently met, and this will lead to
poorer health outcomes and experiences

¢ Insufficient or ineffective planning for current and future workforce requirements
(including number of staff, skill mix and training) may lead to impaired ability to deliver

the quantity of healthcare services to the required standards of quality, and inability to
achieve the business plan and strategic objectives
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¢ Failure to look after our staff's physical and mental wellbeing could lead to reduced
retention of staff, increased sickness levels, pressure on staff and decreased resilience,
poor staff morale, over-reliance on agency staffing at high cost/premiums, potential
impairment in service quality, and loss of the Trust’s strategic ambition to be the
employer of choice

¢ Failure to maintain a coherent and coordinated structure and approach to succession
planning, organisational development and leadership development may jeopardise the
development of robust clinical and non-clinical leadership to support service delivery
and change, staff being supported in their career development and to maintain
competencies and training attendance, staff retention, and the Trust being a ‘well-led’
organisation under the CQC domain

¢ Failure to develop and maintain our culture in line with the Trust values and the NHS
People Promise, which includes being compassionate and inclusive, recognition and
reward, having a voice that counts, health, safety and wellbeing of staff, working flexibly,
supporting learning and development, promoting equality, diversity and inclusivity and
fostering a team culture—the absence of this could result in harm to staff, an inability to
recruit and retain staff, a workforce which does not reflect Trust and NHS values, and
poorer service delivery

e Failure of the integrated care systems and provider collaboratives in which we work to
deliver transformation, reduce health inequalities, integrated care, maintain financial
equilibrium and share risk responsibly may impact adversely compromising service
delivery and the quality of patient care

¢ Failure to deliver a fit-for-purpose digital and physical estate to deliver the Trust’s clinical
strategy and strategic objectives through ineffective business planning arrangements
and/or inadequate mechanisms to track and control delivery of plans and programmes

e Failure to deliver the financial plan and maintain financial sustainability, including, but
not limited to, non-delivery of CIP savings, budget overspends, underfunding and
constraints of block contracts in the context of increasing levels of activity and
demand—this could lead to an inability to deliver core services and health outcomes,
financial deficit, intervention by NHS England and Improvement, NWL ICS constraints,
and insufficient cash to fund future capital programmes

e Failure to protect the integrity and security of our information could lead to cyber-attacks
which could compromise the Trust’s infrastructure and ability to deliver services and
patient care, data loss or theft affecting patients, staff or finances, reputational damage
and/or personal data and information being processed unlawfully (with resultant legal or
regulatory fines or sanctions)

e Failure to take reasonable steps to minimise the Trust’s adverse impact on the
environment, maintain and deliver a green plan, and maintain improvements in
sustainability in line with national targets, the NHS Long Term Plan and ‘For a Greener
NHS’ ambitions (30%, 50% and 80% reduction in emissions by 2023, 2025 and 2030,
respectively, and net zero carbon by 2040), could lead to a failure to meet Trust and
system objectives, reputational damage, loss of contracts, contribution to increased
pollution within the wider community, and loss of cost saving opportunities
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¢ Failure to maintain adequate business continuity and emergency planning
arrangements to sustain core functions and deliver safe and effective services during a
widespread and sustained emergency or incident, for example a pandemic, could result
in harm to patients, pressure on and harm to staff, reputational damage and regulator
intervention

In addition, the Trustwide risk register is reported to the Audit and Risk Committee,
providing a full and detailed report on the Trust’s risks, along with the actions in place to
mitigate these and full progress updates. The key risks relate to staffing capacity and
training, with actions in place within divisions and HR to support improved recruitment and
retention. These remain challenges for 2024/25 and the refreshed People Strategy sets
out how the Trust will further focus on recruiting, progressing and retaining staff. Further
challenges remain and will continue into 2024/25 in terms of estate and equipment given
the financial challenges and constrained capital, but a focus on this within the estates,
divisional and leadership teams is mitigating the risks, with work underway to boost
resilience and the key capital programmes on track for delivery—such as the new
Ambulatory Diagnostic Centre, which will provide additional capacity and new equipment.
Full risk reports are provided to divisions and discussed at the executive management
board, which also receives specific updates on key risks relating to workforce and estates.

Data security and protection toolkit (DSPT) attainment levels

Information governance is the way organisations process or handle information. It covers
information relating to patients and staff as well as corporate information and helps ensure
the information is handled appropriately and securely, with particular emphasis on
managing personal data within the data protection legislation.

The Data Security and Protection Toolkit is an online self-assessment tool that allows
organisations to measure their performance against the National Data Guardian’s 10 data
security standards and provides an overall measure of the quality of data systems,
standards and processes.

All organisations that have access to NHS patient data and systems must use this toolkit
to provide assurance that they are practising good data security and that personal
information is handled correctly.

There are four possible outcomes to the DSPT assessment:

Standards met

Standards exceeded

Standards not fully met (improvement plan agreed)
Standards not met

For more information about the DSPT please visit www.dsptoolkit.nhs.uk.

Assessment outcome: For 2023/24, the Trust achieved ‘standards met’ with an
independent audit finding of substantial risk assurance and high confidence level in the
DSPT submission.
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Information governance incidents reported through the DSPT

Information governance incidents of a certain severity need to be reported to the UK data
protection regulator, the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO), within 72 hours of
discovery. The mechanism for doing this is usually through the incident reporting section of
the DSPT, where you can also report sub-ICO level serious incidents. A total of two
incidents met the DSPT reporting threshold with neither being escalated to the ICO.

Freedom of information (FOI)

In the financial year 2023/24, we received 906 FOI requests (up 6.7%). The act says we
must respond to FOI requests within 20 working days and the Trust achieved this in just
over 90% of cases, against the ICO minimum acceptable requirement of 90%, up from
89% last year.

General data protection regulation (GDPR)

GDPR came into force on 25 May 2018 along with the UK interpretation of this legislation,
the Data Protection Act 2018. As required by law, we have appointed a Data Protection
Officer and are compliant with the core aspects, led in part by work on the DSPT and
various other workstreams.

Quality governance and performance

Ensuring safe staffing

The annual safe staffing report was submitted to the Executive Management Board and
Quality Committee in Aug 2023. Safe staffing metrics are reported monthly within the
integrated performance report to the Executive Management Board, Trust subcommittees
and Trust Board, and the national safe staffing team. It is noted that compliance with
theatres and ICU safe staffing guidance has been added to the report for this year. The
Trust is compliant with national requirements and regulations for reporting as laid down by
the National Quality Board and the NHSI Developing Workforce Safeguards.

Following a review of safe staffing levels within the Trust for nursing and midwifery,
therapies, pharmacy and medicine, the chief nursing officer and chief medical officer
conclude the following: “As Chief Nursing Officer and Chief Medical Officer for the Trust,
we confirm that we are satisfied that we currently meet safe staffing standards and
compliance with the National Workforce Safeguards Standards 2018. We recognise we
currently have partial compliance with elements of the medical and therapy standards.”

The Trust’s focus in 2023/34 will be:

e Improving compliance in relation to maternity ratios and staffing recommendations for
neonatal nursing staffing standards

e Focus on staff retention, particularly in therapies, pharmacy and among the HCA
workforce

e Addressing the deficit in nursing establishment across EIC wards in business planning
or by reviewing the use of the ‘specialling’ budget

e Working to improve compliance and mitigate staffing shortages across therapies in
business planning and use of new roles
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¢ Reviewing the usage of mental health nurses and support workers on the wards and
recruiting to a central pool of staff to care for a number of these patients.

e Reviewing the staffing requirements in each division for medical tier 3 cover with an
establishment review and job planning

¢ Working within the NWL collaborative to develop a collaborative approach to
recruitment and retention of workforce, using novel roles and addressing temporary
staffing issues

e Ensuring non or partial compliance with safe staffing guidance is added to the
appropriate divisional risk registers

Data assurance

The Trust assures the quality and accuracy of elective waiting times data through a
combination of regular daily and weekly meetings, and review and sign-off procedures for
performance data. The review and sign-off process includes review at the elective access
group, Trust executive team meetings, Quality Committee and Trust Board.

We have an advanced feed from the patient administration system (PAS), which is
available throughout the Trust and updated daily. Divisional staff and the information team
regularly review a suite of reports, including more advanced information for elective waiting
times and patient-level information. The Trust has a set of training modules available to
support staff and is currently undertaking an assessment to further improve staff adoption.

A manual data validation process is undertaken by the information team to review the
information entered into the PAS and to investigate the data that underlies reported
performance. Identified data issues are logged by the performance team, then investigated
and corrected. Recurring issues are subject to root cause analyses, from which corrective
action plans are developed to support the relevant services to improve the quality of
inputted and reported data.

We have invested significantly in data quality improvement via the electronic patient record
(EPR) system. A Trustwide data quality group is in place, which provides oversight of data
quality policies, strategies and reviews. The data quality group reports to the Information
Governance Steering Group, which in turn provides reports to the Executive Management
Board and the Audit and Risk Committee to enable prompt escalation of emerging issues
to the Trust Board when required.

All Trust sites use the Datix database system for reporting incidents, which provides a
unified approach to aid the review of the information governance (IG) incident
management process. IG incidents are summarised and reported to the information
governance steering group. The IG team assists IG incident investigations as required and
advises on lessons learned from these incidents at departmental meetings and/or via
Trustwide communication tools.

Corporate governance
Details of the corporate governance structure can be found within the accountability report
from page 59. It is a fundamental part of our Trust’'s governance structure that all material

risks and issues are scrutinised and monitored by the Executive Management Board, in
addition to being reported to Board committees. This includes the key areas of quality,
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workforce, performance and finance, giving further assurance that the Trust is fully
compliant with the Care Quality Commission registration requirements.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS pension scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure compliance with all employer obligations contained within
the scheme regulations. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and
that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the regulations.

There are control measures in place to ensure that the organisation complies with
obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation. The Trust has
implemented a number of equity and diversity programmes to support openness, honesty
and transparency. The policy and procedure is maintained by the human resources team
and compliance is monitored by the People and Workforce Committee.

Conflicts of interest

The Trust has an up-to-date register of interests, including gifts and hospitality, for
decision-making staff (as defined by the Trust with reference to the guidance) within the
past 12 months as required by ‘managing conflicts of interest’ in the NHS guidance. Over
the past year, the Trust implemented a new online system for recording declarations of
interests, which has improved compliance and resulted in a ‘green’ rating from the Trust’s
Local Counter Fraud Specialist. The register can be viewed at www.chelwest.nhs.uk/bod.

Climate change and Greener NHS programme

The Trust, with its partners, will continue to pursue its ambition to reduce the impact of our
activities on the environment while providing leading sustainable healthcare. This means
that the way the Trust operates today must meet the needs of the present while
collaboratively building on a cleaner, healthier environment for future generations.

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments and has plans in place which take account of
the ‘Delivering a Net Zero Health Service’ report under the Greener NHS programme. The
Trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation
Reporting requirements are complied with.

The Trust’'s Green Plan was approved by the Trust Board in November 2021 and confirms
commitment to the NHS Delivering a Net-Zero Health Service report and Greener NHS
programme, which outlines the NHS’s ambition to become the world’s first carbon net-zero
national health service by 2045. For further information on our progress over 2023/24,
please see the more detailed section on page 42.

During 2022/23 we supplemented our Green Plan with the first of our sustainability
strategic reviews, a complex review of the governance, targets and enabling strategies
required to meet our ambitious goals. As a result of the strategic review, our Sustainability
Board was reformed with 12 new supporting workstreams:

e Governance and administration
e Energy and estates
e Biodiversity and air quality
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Procurement and supply chain
Travel and transport

Water

Waste

Medicines

Food and catering

Behaviour and engagement
Innovation

Adaptation and resilience

The Board meets every month and submits reports to the Improvement Board, Finance
and Performance Committee, and the Trust Board. Progress is also monitored through the
APC Estates and Sustainability Committee, which looks at individual and overall APC
performance.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the
use of resources

The Trust Board keeps a regular review of the Trust’s use of resources through the
integrated quality and performance report in addition to the finance report, which is
reviewed at both the Trust Board and both the Trust and Acute Provider Collaborative
Finance and Performance Committee. This allows the Trust Board to maintain oversight of
financial and operational performance and productivity and allows the triangulation of
guality, performance, workforce and financial data.

During 2023/24, the Trust has continued to use various benchmarking sources and the
improvement board to identify efficiency and productivity opportunities. Productivity,
efficiency and benchmarking data are also reviewed at regular speciality level deep dives.

The oversight roles of the Trust Board and Finance and Performance Committee are
supplemented by the annual internal audit programme which includes a comprehensive
annual review of the Trust’s financial systems and controls.

The governance structure below the Executive Management Board provides opportunities
through the divisional boards for divisional quality, financial and operational performance
to be reviewed, and monthly reviews with the executive and divisional triumvirate teams
allow for regular oversight of the performance within the respective clinical services they
provide. The cost improvement programme is monitored through the improvement board,
and this is further supplemented by productivity work programmes (such as bed
productivity, theatre productivity and outpatient pathway optimisation) and specialty deep
dives, which is in addition to the internal audit work undertaken throughout 2023/24.

The detalil of the key actions of the internal audit programme can be found in the Review of
effectiveness section below.
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Review of effectiveness

As Accountable Officer, | have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system
of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is
informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers
and clinical leads within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. | have drawn on performance information
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in
their management letter and other reports. | have been advised on the implications of the
result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the
Audit and Risk Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.

The clinical audit programme also supports my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. A full internal review of each clinical audit is undertaken and actions are
taken to address any identified risks and improve the quality of healthcare that is provided.

The role of the Board, Audit and Risk Committee, Quality Committee, Finance and
Performance Committee and People and Organisational Development Committee in
maintaining and reviewing the Trust’s systems of internal control is described above. The
internal audit programme provides a further mechanism for doing this. BDO, the Trust’s
internal auditors, identify high, medium and low priority recommendations within their audit
reports, which are monitored in an internal audit recommendations tracker and reviewed
regularly by the executive team.

In 2023/24 there were five high-risk recommendations identified by our internal auditors.
The overall head of internal audit opinion for the period 1 Apr 2023-31 Mar 2024 is
moderate assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the
Trust’s objectives and that controls are being applied consistently.

Conclusion

In conclusion, to the best of my knowledge, no significant internal control issues have been
identified within 2023/24.

Lo D

Lesley Watts
Chief Executive Officer

27 June 2024
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SECTION 3

AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of
Governors and Board of Directors of Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust (‘the foundation trust’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’):

e give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the foundation trust’s affairs as
at 31 March 2024 and of the group’s and the foundation trust’s income and expenditure
for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting requirements of the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, as directed by NHS
England; and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service
Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;

the group and foundation trust Statements of Financial Position;
the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity;

the foundation trust Statement of Changes in Equity;

the group and foundation trust Statement of Cash Flows; and
the related notes 1 to 35.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual, as directed by NHS England.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)), the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the foundation trust in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including
the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the accounting officer’s use of
the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt
on the group’s and the foundation trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period
of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern
are described in the relevant sections of this report.

The going concern basis of accounting for the group and the foundation trust is adopted in
consideration of the requirements set out in the Department of Health and Social Care
Group Accounting Manual which require entities to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements where it is anticipated that the
services which they provide will continue into the future.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The accounting officer is
responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements
themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of accounting officer

As explained more fully in the statement of accounting officer's responsibilities, the
accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
accounting officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the accounting officer is responsible for assessing
the group’s and the foundation trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention
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to dissolve the foundation trust without the transfer of the foundation trust’s services to
another public sector entity.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting non-
compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud

We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including fraud.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting non-compliance with laws

and regulations, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group and its control environment, and reviewed the
group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance
with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management and local counter fraud about
their own identification and assessment of the risks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group
operates in, and identified the key laws and regulations that:

¢ had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. This included the National Health Service Act 2006.

¢ do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may
be fundamental to the group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These
included the Data Protection Act 2018 and relevant employment legislation.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists
such as valuations and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may
exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial
statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the
following areas, and our specific procedures performed to address it are described below:
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e The continuing high level of capital expenditure in the current year, and the annual cut-
off of capital budgets and requirements of PDC funding increase the risk of amounts
being incorrectly capitalised, or of incorrect recognition in the current period. This has
been identified as a significant risk due to fraud in light of these factors.

We tested the capital expenditure on a sample basis to assess whether they meet the
relevant accounting requirements to be recognised as capital in nature; we agreed a
sample of year-end capital accruals to supporting documentation and assessed whether
the capitalised expenditure is recognised in the correcting accounting period. We have
tested the transfers out of assets under construction on a sample basis to ensure
depreciation is charged from the correct date. We have reviewed the project ledger and
the status of individual projects to evaluate whether they have been depreciated at the
appropriate point. We tested a sample of vesting certificates to assess whether they were
appropriately accounted for.

In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific
procedures to respond to the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud
through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness of journal entries
and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the
following:

¢ reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having
a direct effect on the financial statements;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships
that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

e enquiring of management, internal audit and external legal counsel concerning actual
and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

¢ enquiring of the local counter fraud specialist and review of local counter fraud reports
produced; and

¢ reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing internal
audit reports.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the National Health Service Act 2006

In our opinion:

¢ the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report subject to audit have been
prepared properly in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006 in all
material respects; and

¢ the information given in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the

financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Use of resources

Under the Code of Audit Practice and Schedule 10(1(d)) of the National Health Service Act
2006, we are required to report to you if we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that
the foundation trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor relating to the
foundation trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in the use of resources

The accounting officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the foundation trust’s resources.

We are required under the Code of Audit Practice and Schedule 10(1(d)) of the National
Health Service Act 2006 to satisfy ourselves that the foundation trust has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
foundation trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources are operating effectively.

We undertake our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to
the Auditor Guidance Notes issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General, as to whether
the foundation trust has proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources against the specified criteria of financial
sustainability, governance, and improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Comptroller & Auditor General has determined that under the Code of Audit Practice,
we discharge this responsibility by reporting by exception if we have reported to the
foundation trust a significant weakness in arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2024 by the time of the
issue of our audit report. Other findings from our work, including our commentary on the
foundation trust’s arrangements, will be reported in our separate Auditor's Annual Report.

Annual Governance Statement and compilation of financial statements

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

¢ the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading, or is inconsistent

with information of which we are aware from our audit; or
e proper practices have not been observed in the compilation of the financial statements.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether the Annual Governance

Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by
internal controls.
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We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Reports in the public interest or to the regulator
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are also required to report to you if:

e any matters have been reported in the public interest under Schedule 10(3) of the
National Health Service Act 2006 in the course of, or at the end of the audit; or

e any reports to the regulator have been made under Schedule 10(6) of the National
Health Service Act 2006 because we have reason to believe that the foundation trust, or
a director or officer of the foundation trust, is about to make, or has made, a decision
involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to
cause a loss or deficiency.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Certificate of completion of the audit

We certify that we have completed the audit of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust in accordance with requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National
Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the council of Governors and Board of Directors (“the
Boards”) of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, as a body, in
accordance with paragraph 4 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Boards those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the Boards as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

STy TN
Craig Wisdom

Key Audit Partner

For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Appointed Auditor

London, UK

27 June 2024
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Independent auditor’s statement to the directors of
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust on the NHS foundation trust consolidation
schedules

We have examined the consolidation schedules of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust, version 1.23.12.2 for the year ended 31 March 2024, which have
been prepared by the Chief Financial Officer and acknowledged by the Chief Executive.
Our examination of the consolidation schedules covers the following:

e Designated TACO02 to TAC29 for tables outlined in red, excluding TACO5A, TAC014X
TAC14B andTAC23.

This statement is made solely to the Board of Directors of Chelsea and Westminster
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (the Act) and paragraph 4.8 of the Code of Audit
Practice and for no other purpose.

For the purpose of this statement, reviewing the consistency of figures between the
audited financial statements and the consolidation schedules extends only to those figures
within the consolidation schedules which are also included in the audited financial
statements.

Auditors are required to report on any differences over £300,000 between the audited
financial statements and the consolidation schedules, with the following exceptions as set
out in NHS England & Improvement TAC completion instructions and financial reporting
guidance:

e Centrally-procured inventory—where trusts do not recognise consumables in inventory
on the grounds of materiality, and inventory remains immaterial, the receipt and
utilisation may be omitted from the inventory note in local accounts. However, trusts
should record the receipt of items in inventory with an equivalent figure in utilisation
within the TAC form (footnote on page 58 of the TAC Completion Instructions M12
2023/24).

The figures reported in the consolidation schedules are consistent with the audited
financial statements, on which we have issued an unqualified opinion.

TS\ Lof
Deloitte LLP

1, New Street Square
London

EC4 3HQ

27 June 2024
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SECTION 4

FINANCE
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2023/24
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Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

Annual accounts for the year ended 31 Mar 2024
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Foreword to the accounts

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2024, have been prepared by Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of
Schedule 7 within the National Health Service Act 2006.

Signed ...\ e P
Name Lesley Watts
Job title  Chief Executive Officer
Date 27.06.24
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive

Income
Group
2023/24 2022/23

Note £000 £000
Operating income from patient care activities 2 839,129 770,634
Other operating income 3 100,977 96,538
Operating expenses 6,8 (922,032) (845,317)
Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 18,074 21,855
Finance income 10 9,264 3,961
Finance expenses 11 (8,275) (5,098)
PDC dividends payable (11,651) (11,487)
Net finance costs (10,662) (12,624)
Other gains / (losses) 12 (16) (334)
Corporation tax expense (2) (21)
Surplus / (deficit) for the year from continuing operations 7,394 8,876
Surplus / (deficit) for the year 7,394 8,876
Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments 7 11,230 17,230
Fair value gains / (losses) on equity instruments designated at fair
value through OCI 20 ) (375)
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 18,624 25,731
Surplus/ (deficit) for the period attributable to:
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 7,394 8,876
TOTAL 7,394 8,876
Total comprehensive income/ (expense) for the period
attributable to:
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 18,624 25,731
TOTAL 18,624 25,731
The figures below outline the adjusted financial performance on a control total
basis as reported to NHSE. This is part of NHSE's control purposes, rather
than set by the Trust.
Adjusted financial performance (control total basis):
Surplus / (deficit) for the period 7,394 8,876
Remove net impairments not scoring to the Departmental expenditure limit (6,841) (6,754)
Remove I&E impact of capital grants and donations 69 (2,110)
Remove I&E impact of IFRS 16 on IFRIC 12 schemes 2,028 -
Remove net impact of inventories received from DHSC group bodies
for COVID response 31 34
Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit) 2,681 46
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Statements of Financial Position

Group Trust
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2024 2023
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13.1 32,107 36,834 32,107 36,834
Property, plant and equipment 15 570,892 527,562 570,892 527,562
Right of use assets 19 9,929 14,057 9,929 14,057
Other investments / financial assets 20 - 12 3,200 3,212
Receivables 22 990 1,244 990 1,244
Total non-current assets 613,918 579,709 617,118 582,909
Current assets
Inventories 21 10,331 11,363 8,867 9,448
Receivables 22 52,829 53,229 51,873 52,674
Cash and cash equivalents 23 161,614 160,205 160,756 159,881
Total current assets 224,774 224,797 221,496 222,003
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 (119,778) (129,174) (119,797) (129,669)
Borrowings and lease liabilities 26 (9,678) (9,253) (9,678) (9,253)
Provisions 27 (27,157) (15,559) (27,157) (15,559)
Other liabilities 25 (28,574) (26,091) (28,574) (26,091)
Total current liabilities (185,186) (180,077) (185,206) (180,572)
Total assets less current liabilities 653,506 624,429 653,409 624,340
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and lease liabilities 26 (86,726) (78,865) (86,726) (78,865)
Provisions 27 (8,103) (8,279) (8,103) (8,279)
Total non-current liabilities (94,829) (87,144) (94,829) (87,144)
Total assets employed 558,678 537,285 558,580 537,196
Financed by
Public dividend capital 302,160 283,689 302,160 283,689
Revaluation reserve 150,468 139,985 150,468 139,985
Financial assets reserve - (4,510) - (4,510)
Income and expenditure reserve 106,050 118,120 105,952 118,031
Total taxpayers' equity 558,678 537,285 558,580 537,196
The notes on pages 149-196 form part of these accounts.
SR
Name Lesley Watts
Position Chief Executive Officer
Date 27.06.24
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2024

Public Financial Income and
dividend Revaluation assets expenditure
Group capital reserve reserve reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2023 -
brought forward 283,689 139,985 (4,510) 118,120 537,285
Application of IFRS 16 measurement principles to PFI
liability on 1 April 2023 - - - (15,701) (15,701)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - 7,394 7,394
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and
expenditure reserve for impairments arising from
consumption of economic benefits - (747) - 747 -
Other transfers between reserves - - 4,510 (4,510) -
Impairments - 11,230 - - 11,230
Public dividend capital received 18,471 - - - 18,471
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2024 302,160 150,468 0 106,050 558,678
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2023

Public Financial Income and
dividend Revaluation assets expenditure
Group capital reserve reserve reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2022 -
brought forward 279,599 122,812 (4,135) 109,188 507,464
Prior period adjustment - - - - -
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2022 -
restated 279,599 122,812 (4,135) 109,188 507,464
Implementation of IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022 - - - - -
Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - 8,876 8,876
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and
expenditure reserve for impairments arising from
consumption of economic benefits - (57) - 57 -
Impairments - 17,230 - - 17,230
Fair value gains/(losses) on equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI - - (375) - (375)
Public dividend capital received 4,090 - - - 4,090
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2023 283,689 139,985 (4,510) 118,120 537,285

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March

2024
Public Financial Income and
dividend Revaluation assets expenditure
Trust capital reserve reserve reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2023 - brought forward 283,689 139,985 (4,510) 118,031 537,196
Application of IFRS 16 measurement principles to PFI liability on
1 April 2023 - - - (15,701) (15,701)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - 7,385 7,385
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure
reserve for impairments arising from consumption of economic
benefits - (747) - 747 -
Other transfers between reserves - - 4,510 (4,510) -
Impairments - 11,230 - - 11,230
Public dividend capital repaid 18,471 - - - 18,471
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2024 302,160 150,468 0 105,952 558,580
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March

2023
Public Financial Income and
dividend Revaluation assets expenditure
Trust capital reserve reserve reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2022 - brought forward 279,599 122,812 (4,135) 109,188 507,464
Prior period adjustment - - - - -
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2022 - restated 279,599 122,812 (4,135) 109,188 507,464
Implementation of IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022 -
Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - - 8,787 8,787
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure
reserve for impairments arising from consumption of economic
benefits - (57) - 57 -
Other transfers between reserves - - - - -
Impairments - 17,230 - - 17,230
Recycling gains/(losses) on disposal of financial assets
mandated at fair value through OCI - - (375) - (375)
Public dividend capital repaid 4,090 - - - 4,090
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2023 283,689 139,985 (4,510) 118,031 537,196

Information on reserves

Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be
issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised
by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where,

and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case
they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement
represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Financial assets reserve

This reserve comprises changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. When these instruments are derecognised, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised as other comprehensive income or expenditure are recycled to income or expenditure, unless the
assets are equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income as a result of
irrevocable election at recognition.

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust.
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Statements of Cash Flows

Group Trust
2023/24 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus / (deficit) 17,760 21,294 17,749 21,731
Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation 6 30,809 29,198 30,809 29,198
Net impairments 7 (6,841) (6,754) (6,841) (6,754)
Income recognised in respect of capital donations 3 (1,320) (3,109) (1,320) (3,109)
(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets 1,548 (14,090) 1,949 (13,535)
(Increase) / decrease in inventories 1,032 (2,601) 581 (686)
Add back inventory written off in the year 314 561 314 561
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities (9,654) 24,333 (10,127) 24,849
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 11,333 2,503 11,333 2,503
Tax (paid) / received (7) - (7) -
Other movements in operating cash flows (186) - (186) -
ggtti\(/:i?iir; flows from / (used in) operating 44788 51,335 44,254 54758
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 9,022 3,408 9,022 3,408
Purchase of intangible assets (4,675) (2,640) (4,675) (2,640)
Purchase of PPE (41,452) (27,411) (41,452) (27,411)
Sales of PPE 86 56 86 56
Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets 1,320 3,000 1,320 3,000
glstti\(/:i?iz’; flows from / (used in) investing (35,699) (23,587) (35,699) (23,587)
Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 18,471 4,090 18,471 4,090
Movement on loans from DHSC (3,673) (3,673) (3,673) (3,673)
Movement on other loans (1,375) (1,342) (1,375) (1,342)
Capital element of lease liability repayments (2,154) (3,011) (2,154) (3,011)
S:r?;’fslseil)enmpeanytnggrizl, LIFT and other service (502) (1,318) (502) (1,318)
Interest on loans (861) (962) (861) (962)
Other interest (33) 3) (33) (3)
Interest paid on lease liability repayments (322) (116) (322) (116)
Lrgﬁgzztsi)ar:dogﬂgzggnl_leT and other service (4,582) (4,040) (4,582) (4,040)
PDC dividend (paid) / refunded (12,649) (9,985) (12,649) (9,985)
2:&;?;2 flows from / (used in) financing (7,680) (20,360) (7,680) (20,360)
ancl:iiaasl,: nlt(sdecrease) in cash and cash 1,409 7,388 875 10,811
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward 160,205 152,817 159,881 149,070
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - restated 160,205 152,817 159,881 149,070
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 23 161,614 160,205 160,756 159,881
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Notes to the Accounts
Note 1 Accounting policies and other information
Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with
HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
GAM 2023/24 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the
GAM follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory
Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been
selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts

Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Note 1.2 Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial reporting framework applicable
to NHS bodies, derived from the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, defines that the anticipated
continued provision of the entity’s services in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence of going
concern. The directors have a reasonable expectation that this will continue to be the case.

Note 1.3 Consolidation

Other subsidiaries

Subsidiary entities are those over which the trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the
appropriate financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority interests are included
as a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position.

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Trust and its wholly
owned subsidiary, CW Medicine Ltd. CW Medicines Ltd began trading in April 2022, with Its primary activity
being the dispensing of medicines to outpatients of the Trust.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, reserves, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions

between members of the group are eliminated on consolidation.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the Trust in full.

Note 1.4 Revenue from contracts with customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands
the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or
another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS).
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Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are
satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount of the
transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income
relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for
those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. Where entitlement to
consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be
recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be
satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract liability.

Revenue from NHS contracts

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. Funding
envelopes are set at an Integrated Care System (ICS) level. The majority of the Trust's NHS income is earned
from NHS commissioners under the NHS Payment Scheme (NHSPS) which replaced the National Tariff
Payment System on 1 April 2023. The NHSPS sets out rules to establish the amount payable to trusts for
NHS-funded secondary healthcare.

Aligned payment and incentive contracts form the main payment mechanism under the NHSPS. In 2023/24
API contracts contain both a fixed and variable element. Under the variable element, providers earn income
for elective activity (both ordinary and day case), out-patient procedures, out-patient first attendances,
diagnostic imaging and nuclear medicine, and chemotherapy delivery activity. The precise definition of these
activities is given in the NHSPS. Income is earned at NHSPS prices based on actual activity. The fixed
element includes income for all other services covered by the NHSPS assuming an agreed level of activity
with ‘fixed’ in this context meaning not varying based on units of activity. Elements within this are accounted
for as variable consideration under IFRS 15 as explained below.

High costs drugs and devices excluded from the calculation of national prices are reimbursed by NHS
England and ICBs based on actual usage or at a fixed baseline in addition to the price of the related service.

In 2022/23 fixed payments were set at a level assuming the achievement of elective activity targets within
aligned payment and incentive contracts. These payments are accompanied by a variable-element to adjust
income for actual activity delivered on elective services, advice and guidance services, drugs, devices and
unbundled imaging activity. Where actual variable activity delivered differed from the agreed level set in the
contract, the variable element either increased or reduced the income earned by the Trust at a rate of 100%
of the tariff price or pass-through value (drugs & devices only).

The Trust also receives income from commissioners under Commissioning for Quality Innovation (CQUIN)
and Best Practice Tariff (BPT) schemes. Delivery under these schemes is part of how care is provided to
patients. As such CQUIN and BPT payments are not considered distinct performance obligations in their own
right; instead they form part of the transaction price for performance obligations under the overall contract with
the commissioner and accounted for as variable consideration under IFRS 15. Payment for CQUIN and BPT
on non-elective services is included in the fixed element of API contracts with adjustments for actual
achievement being made at the end of the year. BPT earned on elective activity is included in the variable
element of API contracts and paid in line with actual activity performed.

Where the relationship with a particular integrated care board is expected to be a low volume of activity
(annual value below £0.5m), an annual fixed payment is received by the provider as determined in the
NHSPS documentation. Such income is classified as ‘other clinical income’ in these accounts.

Elective recovery funding provides additional funding to integrated care boards to fund the commissioning of
elective services within their systems. In 2023/24, trusts do not directly earn elective recovery funding, instead
earning income for actual activity performed under API contract arrangements as explained above. The level
of activity delivered by the trust contributes to system performance and therefore the availability of funding to
the trust's commissioners. In 2022/23 elective recovery funding for providers was separately identified within
the aligned payment and incentive contracts.

Revenue from research contracts
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Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations
are satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one performance
obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim
performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable
right to payment for the performance completed to date. It is therefore considered that the performance
obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract.
Some research income alternatively falls within the provisions of IAS 20 for government grants.

NHS injury cost recovery scheme

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of
treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance
by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when performance obligations are satisfied. In practical terms
this means that treatment has been given, it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's
Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with
the treatment. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured
individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9
requirements of measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.

Note 1.5 Other forms of income

Grants and donations

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for
the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grants is used to fund capital expenditure, it is
credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income once conditions attached to the grant have been met.
Donations are treated in the same way as government grants.

Apprenticeship service income

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is
recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are paid directly to an
accredited training provider from the Trust's Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the
Department for Education, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition
for the benefit.

Note 1.6 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy
are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave
entitiement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both schemes
are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, general practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The
scheme is not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as though it is a defined contribution scheme:
the cost to the trust is taken as equal to the employer's pension contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period. The contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
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Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating
expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

Note 1.7 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and
is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses
except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

Note 1.8 Property, plant and equipment
Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

« it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes

« it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust

« it is expected to be used for more than one financial year

« the cost of the item can be measured reliably

« the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

« collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated
to have similar disposal dates and are under single managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different
asset lives, eg, plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated
over their own useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in
the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service
potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and
the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the
replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part
replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or
service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in
the period in which it is incurred.

Measurement
Valuation

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and are in
use (ie operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are measured at
their current value in existing use.

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying
values are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.
Current values in existing use are determined as follows:

« Land and non-specialised buildings — market value for existing use

» Specialised buildings — depreciated replacement cost on a modern equivalent asset basis.
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For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset's
remaining service potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service
potential. Specialised assets are therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern
equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern asset of
equivalent capacity and meeting the location requirements of the services being provided. Assets held at
depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an alterntive or existing site basis at a reduced space to
match the requirement of MEA facilities.

Valuation guidance issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors states that valuations are performed
net of VAT where the VAT is recoverable by the entity. This basis has been applied to the trust’s Private
Finance Initiative (PFl) scheme where the construction is completed by a special purpose vehicle and the
costs have recoverable VAT for the trust.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23,
borrowings costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational
use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or low values or both,
as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to have
an infinite life and is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated upon the
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial
Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the trust,
respectively.

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they
reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case
they are recognised in operating expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for
the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or of
service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the
impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that
asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed
when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are
recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would
have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the
revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve
when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as
revaluation gains.
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De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The sale
must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair
value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where
the 'fair value less costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material
sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘held
for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset'’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is
de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated and grant funded assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt.
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to
the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of
property, plant and equipment.

This includes assets donated to the trust by the Department of Health and Social Care as part of the response
to the coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, the trust applies the principle of donated asset
accounting to assets that the trust controls and is obtaining economic benefits from at the year end.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s
FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the trust. Annual contract payments to the
operator (the unitary charge) are apportioned between the repayment of the liability including the finance cost,
the charges for services and lifecycle replacement of components of the asset.

Initial recognition

In accordance with HM Treasury’s FReM, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and
equipment, together with an equivalent liability. Initial measurement of the asset and liability are in accordance
with the initial measurement principles of IFRS 16 (see leases accounting policy).

Subsequent measurement

Assets are subsequently accounted for as property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as
appropriate.

The liability is subsequently reduced by the portion of the unitary charge allocated as payment for the asset
and increased by the annual finance cost. The finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to
the opening liability and is charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The element
of the unitary charge allocated as payment for the asset is split between payment of the finance cost and
repayment of the net liability.

Where there are changes in future payments for the asset resulting from indexation of the unitary charge, the
Trust remeasures the PFI liability by determining the revised payments for the remainder of the contract once
the change in cash flows takes effect. The remeasurement adjustment is charged to finance costs in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Initial application of IFRS 16 liability measurement principles to PFIl and LIFT liabilities

IFRS 16 liability measurement principles have been applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession
arrangement liabilities in these financial statements from 1 April 2023. The change in measurement basis has
been applied using a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative impact of remeasuring the liability
on 1 April 2023 recognised in the income and expenditure reserve.

Comparatives for PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangement liabilities have not been restated on an
IFRS 16 basis, as required by the DHSC Group Accounting Manual. Under IAS 17 measurement principles
which applied in 2022/23 and earlier, movements in the liability were limited to repayments of the liability and
the annual finance cost arising from application of the implicit interest rate. The cumulative impact of
indexation on payments for the asset was charged to finance costs as contingent rent as incurred.

Please see Note 31 impact of change in accounting policy for On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession
arrangements.

Note 1.9 Intangible assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold
separately from the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided
to, the trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not
capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised. Expenditure on development is capitalised where it meets the
requirements set out in IAS 38.

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised as part of the
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware, eg
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create,
produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists,
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the
asset is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner
as for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use
is valued at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet
the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to
sell.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the consumption
of economic or service delivery benefits.

Note 1.10 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured using
the first in, first out (FIFO) method.
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The Trust received inventories including personal protective equipment from the Department of Health and
Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual Framework,
the Trust has accounted for the receipt of these inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best available
approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction based on the cost of acquisition by the
Department.

Note 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’'s cash management. Cash, bank and
overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

Note 1.12 Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a
financial instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another
financial instrument. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which
give rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do not give rise to
transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the Trust's normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to
the extent which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly attributable
transaction costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through income and
expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted
market prices or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through leasing
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described
below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through income and
expenditure.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through income and
expenditure.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of collecting
contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes cash
equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease
arrangements and loans receivable and payable.

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income and a financing income or expense. In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and
Social Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan.

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business model
objectives are met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of financial assets in this
category are recognised as gains or losses in other comprehensive income except for impairment losses. On
derecognition, cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except where the Trust elected to measure an equity
instrument in this category on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables and
contract assets or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust recognises
an allowance for expected credit losses.

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract assets and
lease receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other
financial assets, the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit
losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk
assessed for the financial asset significantly increases (stage 2).

Credit losses is recognised in line with IFRS 15. Injury costs recovery (ICR) credit losses are recognised as
advised by the Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) at 23.07% for 2023-24. The credit losses for receivables
are recognised in line with IFRS 9 of the simplified approach, based on the age and type of each debt. The
percentages applied reflect an assessment of the recoverability of each class of debt provisions are charged
to operating expenditure. In some cases a specific credit losses applied consider the relevant credit quality of
relevant financial assets. Write off of debt will be undertaken only where the Trust has exhausted all means of
recovery, this includes on the reocmmendation of a debt collection agency.

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses
at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and
reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position.

Derecognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have
expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Note 1.13 Leases

A lease is a contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. An adaptation of the relevant accounting standard by HM Treasury for the public
sector means that for NHS bodies, this includes lease-like arrangements with other public sector entities that
do not take the legal form of a contract. It also includes peppercorn leases where consideration paid is nil or
nominal (significantly below market value) but in all other respects meet the definition of a lease. The trust
does not apply lease accounting to new contracts for the use of intangible assets.
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The Trust determines the term of the lease term with reference to the non-cancellable period and any options
to extend or terminate the lease which the Trust is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Trust as a lessee

Recognition and initial measurement

At the commencement date of the lease, being when the asset is made available for use, the Trust recognises
a right of use asset and a lease liability.

The right of use asset is recognised at cost comprising the lease liability, any lease payments made before or
at commencement, any direct costs incurred by the lessee, less any cash lease incentives received. It also
includes any estimate of costs to be incurred restoring the site or underlying asset on completion of the lease
term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease payments discounted at the interest
rate implicit in the lease. Lease payments includes fixed lease payments, variable lease payments dependent
on an index or rate and amounts payable under residual value guarantees. It also includes amounts payable
for purchase options and termination penalties where these options are reasonably certain to be exercised.

Where an implicit rate cannot be readily determined, the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate is applied. This
rate is determined by HM Treasury annually for each calendar year. A nominal rate of 3.51% applied to new
leases commencing in 2023 and 4.72% to new leases commencing in 2024.

The Trust does not apply the above recognition requirements to leases with a term of 12 months or less or to
leases where the value of the underlying asset is below £5,000, excluding any irrecoverable VAT. Lease
payments associated with these leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Irrecoverable VAT on lease payments is expensed as it falls due.

Subsequent measurement

As required by a HM Treasury interpretation of the accounting standard for the public sector, the Trust
employs a revaluation model for subsequent measurement of right of use assets, unless the cost model is
considered to be an appropriate proxy for current value in existing use or fair value, in line with the accounting
policy for owned assets. Where consideration exchanged is identified as significantly below market value, the
cost model is not considered to be an appropriate proxy for the value of the right of use asset.

The Trust subsequently measures the lease liability by increasing the carrying amount for interest arising
which is also charged to expenditure as a finance cost and reducing the carrying amount for lease payments
made. The liability is also remeasured for changes in assessments impacting the lease term, lease
modifications or to reflect actual changes in lease payments. Such remeasurements are also reflected in the
cost of the right of use asset. Where there is a change in the lease term or option to purchase the underlying
asset, an updated discount rate is applied to the remaining lease payments.

The Trust as a lessor

The Trust assesses each of its leases and classifies them as either a finance lease or an operating lease.
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Where the Trust is an intermediate lessor, classification of the sublease is determined with reference to the
right of use asset arising from the headlease.

Finance leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating leases
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Income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the term
of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Initial application of IFRS 16 in 2022/23

IFRS 16 Leases as adapted and interpreted for the public sector by HM Treasury was applied to these
financial statements with an initial application date of 1 April 2022. IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and other interpretations.

The standard was applied using a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative impact recognised in
the income and expenditure reserve on 1 April 2022. Upon initial application, the provisions of IFRS 16 were
only applied to existing contracts where they were previously deemed to be a lease or contain a lease under
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Where existing contracts were previously assessed not to be or contain a lease, these
assessments were not revisited.

The Trust as lessee

For continuing leases previously classified as operating leases, a lease liability was established on 1 April
2022 equal to the present value of future lease payments discounted at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate
of 0.95%. A right of use asset was created equal to the lease liability and adjusted for prepaid and accrued
lease payments and deferred lease incentives recognised in the Statement of Financial Position immediately
prior to initial application. Hindsight was used in determining the lease term where lease arrangements
contained options for extension or earlier termination.

No adjustments were made on initial application in respect of leases with a remaining term of 12 months or
less from 1 April 2022 or for leases where the underlying assets had a value below £5,000. No adjustments
were made in respect of leases previously classified as finance leases.

The Trust as lessor

Leases of owned assets where the Trust was lessor were unaffected by initial application of IFRS 16.

Note 1.13 Leases

A lease is a contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. An adaptation of the relevant accounting standard by HM Treasury for the public
sector means that for NHS bodies, this includes lease-like arrangements with other public sector entities that
do not take the legal form of a contract. It also includes peppercorn leases where consideration paid is nil or
nominal (significantly below market value) but in all other respects meet the definition of a lease. The trust
does not apply lease accounting to new contracts for the use of intangible assets.

The Trust determines the term of the lease term with reference to the non-cancellable period and any options
to extend or terminate the lease which the Trust is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Trust as a lessee

Recognition and initial measurement

At the commencement date of the lease, being when the asset is made available for use, the Trust recognises
a right of use asset and a lease liability.

The right of use asset is recognised at cost comprising the lease liability, any lease payments made before or
at commencement, any direct costs incurred by the lessee, less any cash lease incentives received. It also

includes any estimate of costs to be incurred restoring the site or underlying asset on completion of the lease
term.
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease payments discounted at the interest
rate implicit in the lease. Lease payments includes fixed lease payments, variable lease payments dependent
on an index or rate and amounts payable under residual value guarantees. It also includes amounts payable
for purchase options and termination penalties where these options are reasonably certain to be exercised.

Where an implicit rate cannot be readily determined, the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate is applied. This
rate is determined by HM Treasury annually for each calendar year. A nominal rate of 3.51% applied to new
leases commencing in 2023 and 4.72% to new leases commencing in 2024.

The Trust does not apply the above recognition requirements to leases with a term of 12 months or less or to
leases where the value of the underlying asset is below £5,000, excluding any irrecoverable VAT. Lease
payments associated with these leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Irrecoverable VAT on lease payments is expensed as it falls due.

Subsequent measurement

As required by a HM Treasury interpretation of the accounting standard for the public sector, the Trust
employs a revaluation model for subsequent measurement of right of use assets, unless the cost model is
considered to be an appropriate proxy for current value in existing use or fair value, in line with the accounting
policy for owned assets. Where consideration exchanged is identified as significantly below market value, the
cost model is not considered to be an appropriate proxy for the value of the right of use asset.

The Trust subsequently measures the lease liability by increasing the carrying amount for interest arising
which is also charged to expenditure as a finance cost and reducing the carrying amount for lease payments
made. The liability is also remeasured for changes in assessments impacting the lease term, lease
modifications or to reflect actual changes in lease payments. Such remeasurements are also reflected in the
cost of the right of use asset. Where there is a change in the lease term or option to purchase the underlying
asset, an updated discount rate is applied to the remaining lease payments.

The Trust as a lessor

The Trust assesses each of its leases and classifies them as either a finance lease or an operating lease.
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Where the Trust is an intermediate lessor, classification of the sublease is determined with reference to the
right of use asset arising from the headlease.

Finance leases

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Operating leases

Income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the term
of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Initial application of IFRS 16 in 2022/23

IFRS 16 Leases as adapted and interpreted for the public sector by HM Treasury was applied to these
financial statements with an initial application date of 1 April 2022. IFRS 16 replaced /AS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease and other interpretations.

The standard was applied using a modified retrospective approach with the cumulative impact recognised in
the income and expenditure reserve on 1 April 2022. Upon initial application, the provisions of IFRS 16 were
only applied to existing contracts where they were previously deemed to be a lease or contain a lease under
IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. Where existing contracts were previously assessed not to be or contain a lease, these
assessments were not revisited.
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The Trust as lessee

For continuing leases previously classified as operating leases, a lease liability was established on 1 April
2022 equal to the present value of future lease payments discounted at the Trust’s incremental borrowing rate
of 0.95%. A right of use asset was created equal to the lease liability and adjusted for prepaid and accrued
lease payments and deferred lease incentives recognised in the Statement of Financial Position immediately
prior to initial application. Hindsight was used in determining the lease term where lease arrangements
contained options for extension or earlier termination.

No adjustments were made on initial application in respect of leases with a remaining term of 12 months or
less from 1 April 2022 or for leases where the underlying assets had a value below £5,000. No adjustments
were made in respect of leases previously classified as finance leases.

The Trust as lessor

Leases of owned assets where the Trust was lessor were unaffected by initial application of IFRS 16.

Note 1.16 Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that
PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is
recorded at the value received.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The
charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the
trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all
liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as defined by the Department of Health and Social Care.

This policy is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-
trusts-and-foundation-trusts.

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the issuer of
PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-
audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net
assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.

Note 1.17 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Note 1.18 Corporation tax

The trust has determined that it has a corporation tax liability based on the nature of the Trust's business
through its Wholly Owned Subsidiary CW Medicines.

Note 1.19 Climate change levy

Expenditure on the climate change levy is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred,
based on the prevailing chargeable rates for energy consumption.
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Note 1.20 Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties in which the Trust has no beneficial interest (such as money held on behalf of
patients) are not recognised in the accounts. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts
in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

Note 1.21 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided
into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special
payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis.

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which
reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

Note 1.22 Gifts

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return.
Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of
an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.

Note 1.23 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2023/24.

Note 1.24 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted

IFRS 17 a new accounting standard that was effective for 2023/24, with HM Treasury proposing its mandatory
adoption in the public sector in 2025/26. The standard is not expected to have any significant bottom line
impact to the Trust, but it will require reclassification for those contracts within scope of IFRS17 from
contingency liabilities to insurance contracts.

Note 1.25 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the trust accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Independent valuers Montagu Evans were instructed to carry out a desk top valuation of all land and buildings
at the Chelsea and West Middlesex sites as at 31 December 2023, as part of the final year of their three year
contract with the Trust. The valuation was prepared under the requirements of the DHSC Group Accounting
Manual and the RICS Valuation — Global Standard 2021 and the national standards and guidance set out in the
UK national supplement (January 2019), the International Valuation Standards, and IFRS as adapted and
interpreted by the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). Specialised assets such as hospitals for which no
market exists are valued at Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) valuation method to arrive at the Modern
Equivalent Asset. Other assets are valued at Existing Use Value (EUV) in Current Use.

A majority of the buildings owned by the Trust are specialised assets which have been valued on a Modern
Equivalent Asset basis. This requires assumptions to be made about the design of a modern asset with
equivalent service potential to the existing asset:

- reviewing the Useful Economic Life of the asset and the residual value at the end of that life;

- revising the areas excluded from the valuation of the Chelsea site (as used by Imperial College rather
than the Trust) to reflect current usage, and reassessing the overall layout of an equivalent modern asset;

- excluding recoverable VAT when revaluing PFI buildings on the West Middlesex site reflecting the cost
at which the service potential would be replaced by the PFI operator; and

- adopting an “alternative site” basis of valuation for the Chelsea site, and at West Middlesex reducing the
area of the site required for the modern equivalent asset on the basis that it would be more efficiently arranged
as part of a single holistic design.

Non-specialised assets and land such as the Trust's residential staff accommodation have been valued on an
Existing Use Value basis with assessed in line with the Group Accounting Manual.

Note 1.26 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year:

Disputes with Commissioners

As set out in note 27.1, Management considers the extent to which contractual revenue can be collected.
Where the Trust considers there is a risk of non-payment of monies owed Management has made an
assessment of the potential recoverability and where it believes there is a risk of dispute it records a provision
for contractual dispute. Provisions for the disputes are £17.6m at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023

£4.9m). Disputes relate to challenges on activity reported and charging that it has not been possible to settle
by reference to the contract, under which the Trust has been entitled to the income. The Trust has recognised
the income in relation to the disputes in its Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Trust has determined
the level of provision on a basis that reflects settlement of the issue for the financial year in which the issue was
raised and any subsequent years. Given the Trust has a contract in place the Trust is legally owed the money
the Trust has chosen to provide a contractual dispute provision.

Recoverability of NHS and Local Authority Debt

The Trust has £7.2m of debt with NHS bodies at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023 £12.2m) and £5.8m of debt
with Local Authorities (31 March 2023 £4.7m). Management has considered the recoverability of this debt as
at 31 March 2024 and has established a level of bad debt provision which is felt adequate to cover the risk of
non-recovery.

The Trust has signed contracts with Local Authorities within London which it accounts for under IFRS 15. For
contracts with Local Authorities outside of London the Trust also recognises income in accordance with IFRS
15 as it has an implied contact albeit not a signed explicit one.
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Note 2 Operating income from patient care activities (Group)

All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting policy 1.4

Note 2.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000
Acute services
Income from commissioners under API contracts - fixed element* 677,596 624,416
High cost drugs income from commissioners 67,927 44,805
Other NHS clinical income 5,654 991
Community services
Income from commissioners under API contracts* 2,648 1,735
All services
Private patient income 22,474 20,097
Elective recovery fund - 19,947
National pay award central funding*** 435 11,485
Additional pension contribution central funding** 18,451 17,005
Other clinical income **** 43,944 30,153
Total income from activities 839,129 770,634

*Aligned payment and incentive contracts are the main form of contracting between NHS providers and their
commissioners. More information can be found in the 2023/25 NHS Payment Scheme documentation.

https://www.england.nhs.uk/pay-syst/nhs-payment-scheme/

**The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding administration
charge) from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over contributions at the former
rate with the additional amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and related
funding have been recognised in these accounts.

*** Additional funding was made available by NHS England in 2023/24 and 2022/23 for implementing the
backdated element of pay awards where government offers were made at the end of the financial year.
2023/24: In March 2024, the government announced a revised pay offer for consultants, reforming consultant
pay scales with an effective date of 1 March 2024. Trade Unions representing consultant doctors accepted the
offer in April 2024. 2022/23: In March 2023, the government made a pay offer for staff on agenda for change
terms and conditions which was later confirmed in May 2023. The additional pay for 2022/23 was based on
individuals in employment at 31 March 2023.

**** Other clinical income includes Industrial action £4.5m, Winter funding £5m, Local authority income £29.5m
and Injury cost recovery scheme £3m.

Note 2.2 Income from patient care activities (by source)

2023/24 2022/23
Income from patient care activities received from: £000 £000
NHS England 185,406 196,685
Clinical commissioning groups - 123,212
Integrated care boards 596,960 399,496
Other NHS providers 431 991
NHS other 481 -
Local authorities 29,403 27,247
Non-NHS: private patients 22,474 20,097
Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 2,784 2,324
Injury cost recovery scheme 814 371
Non NHS: other 376 211
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Total income from activities 839,129 770,634

Of which:
Related to continuing operations 839,129 770,634

Note 2.3 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider) :
2023/24 2022/23|
£000 £000}
Income recognised this year 2,784 2,324 |
Cash payments received in-year 2,356 1,945 :
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables 976 4011
[Amounts written off in-year 604 1,534
|
Note 3 Other operating income (Group) 2023/24 : 2022/23
Contract Non-contract! Contract Non-contract
income income) Total income income Total
£000 £ooo! £000 £000 £000 £000
Research and development 5,206 2,395 7,601 5,167 1,745 6,912
Education and training 28,796 1,024 : 29,820 28,257 1,210 29,467
Non-patient care services to other bodies 14,483 - 14,483 13,211 - 13,211
Reimbursement and top up funding : 3,129 - 3,129
Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis 12,206 -l 12,206 11,937 - 11,937
Receipt of capital grants and donations and peppercorn leases - 1,320 : 1,320 - 3,109 3,109
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure - 823 823 - 2,424 2,424
Revenue from operating leases - gs | 88 - 125 125
Other income 34,636 - 34,636 26,224 - 26,224
Total other operating income 95,327 5,650 ! 100,977 87,925 8,613 96,538
Of which: 1
Related to continuing operations : 100,977 96,538
|
Other income of £34.6m includes (2022/23 £26.2m), car parking income £3.2m (2022/23 £2.7m), staff acolpmmoda\ion
rental £2.2m (2022/23 £2.0m), Sexual Health E-Services £2.1m (2022/23 £2.0m), RM Partners £0.8m to impprove cancer
pathways (2022/23 £1.2m), Clinical Excellence awards £0.7m (2022/23 £0.4m), Pathology facilities £3.0ml(2022/23
£2.8m), Facilities recharges £1.1m (2022/23 £1.1m) . ltems that are specific to 2023/24 and account for the increase
from 2022/23 include, industrial action funding £6.9m, funding for PDC depreciation capital charges of £0.y8m, BBV
(blood borne virus) - ED opt out testing £1m (2022/23 £0.6m), funding for staffing in Maternity and Sexual Health £3m
and various departmental schemes. :

Note 4 Income from activities arising from commissioner requested services

The trust is required to analyse the level of income from activities that has arisen from commissioner requested
and non-commissioner requested services. Commissioner requested services are defined in the provider licence
and are services that commissioners believe would need to be protected in the event of provider failure. This
information is provided in the table below:

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000
Income from services designated as commissioner requested services 782,366 719,393
Income from services not designated as commissioner requested
. 56,763
services 51,241
Total 839,129 770,634

Note 5 Operating leases - Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust as lessor

This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.
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Note 5.1 Operating leases income (Group)

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000
Lease receipts recognised as income in year:
Minimum lease receipts 88 125
Total in-year operating lease income 88 125
Note 5.2 Future lease receipts (Group)
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
£000 £000
Future minimum lease receipts due in:
- not later than one year 88 125
- later than one year and not later than two years - 88
- later than two years and not later than three years - 88
- later than three years and not later than four years - 88
- later than four years and not later than five years - 67
Total 88 456
Note 6.1 Operating expenses (Group)
2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000
Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 3,553 2,572
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 15,786 9,444
Staff and executive directors costs 528,399 490,611
Remuneration of non-executive directors 162 21
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 95,589 83,910
Supplies and services - general 44,740 48,293
c[j)rrl:Jggsc):osts (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory 84.932 80.128
Inventories written down 314 560
Consultancy costs 310 1,526
Establishment 4,422 3,740
Premises 26,337 21,129
Transport (including patient travel) 4,009 4,612
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 23,581 22,636
Amortisation on intangible assets 7,228 6,562
Net impairments (6,841) (6,754)
g/lsc;veet;nent in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract 1,376 293
Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and
investments 288 35
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions 11,908 3,031
Fees payable to the external auditor
audit services- statutory audit 406 325
Internal audit costs 128 195
Clinical negligence 36,265 36,221
Legal fees 383 263
Insurance 561 213
Research and development 5,050 4,518
Education and training 8,789 9,292
Expenditure on short term leases 336 -
Expenditure on low value leases 4 -
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Redundancy

Charges to operating expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schemes (e.g.
PFI/LIFT)

Car parking & security

Hospitality

Losses, ex gratia & special payments
Other services, eg external payroll
Other

Total

Of which:
Related to continuing operations

2

21,129 18,213
1,358 1,549
98 73

479 942
546 609
405 365
922,032 845,317
922,032 845,317

The Group's appointed external auditors are Deloitte LLP. The auditors carry out the statutory audit of the Trust's
Annual Accounts. The cost of this service in 2023/24 was £339k including CW Medicines subsidiary (2022/23
£292k). All audit fees are presented net of VAT. Under VAT Contracted out services, the VAT is non-recoverable on

the Trust’s audit fees.

Note 6.2 Limitation on auditor's liability (Group)

There is £2m limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work carried out for the financial years

2023/24 or 2022/23, with the exception for liability in the event of death, injury or fraud which is

unlimited.

Note 7 Impairment of assets (Group)

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting
from:

Changes in market price

Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve

Total net impairments

2023/24 2022/23

£000 £000
(6,841) (6,754)
(6,841) (6,754)
(11,230) (17,230)
(18,071) (23,984)

The position includes impairment of £2.55m and reversal of Impairments of £9.39m arising from the
annual valuation exercise of the Trust’s estate (based on industry standard indices). This has
improved the Trust financial performance, but the gain does not impact the control total, which the

Trust is measured against.

Note 8 Employee benefits (Group)

Salaries and wages

Social security costs

Apprenticeship levy

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions
Pension cost - other

Temporary staff (including agency)
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2023/24
Total
£000

420,381

48,275
2,016
60,569
44
11,502

2022/23
Total
£000

386,827

44,264
1,829
56,005
127
17,075
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Total gross staff costs 542,787 506,127

Total staff costs 542,787 506,127
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets 3,426 5,346

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health (Group)

During 2023/24 there were 8 early retirements from the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (3 in the year
ended 31 March 2023). The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £735k
(£188k in 2022/23).

These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 9 Pension
costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both the 1995/2008 and 2015 schemes are accounted for, and the scheme liability valued, as a single combined
scheme. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that
scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An
outline of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government
Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the
scheme liability as at 31 March 2024, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2023, updated to 31 March 2024
with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also
been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which
forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions
website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes
(taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by
employees and employers.
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The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2020.
The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2024. The Department of
Health and Social Care has recently laid Scheme Regulations confirming the employer contribution rate will
increase to 23.7% of pensionable pay from 1 April 2024 (previously 20.6%). The core cost cap cost of the
scheme was calculated to be outside of the 3% cost cap corridor as at 31 March 2020. However, when the wider
economic situation was taken into account through the economic cost cap cost of the scheme, the cost cap

corridor was not similarly breached. As a result, there was no impact on the member benefit structure or

contribution rates.

NEST is the workplace pension set up by the Government. The Trust offers employees the NEST pension
scheme alongside the two NHS Pension Schemes. NEST is a defined contribution workplace pension scheme
backed by the UK Government. In 2023/24 the Trust paid £44k into NEST. Staff are automatically enrolled into

the NHS pension scheme or the NEST scheme unless staff opt out.

Note 10 Finance income (Group)
Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period.

2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 9,264 3,961
Total finance income 9,264 3,961
Note 11.1 Finance expenditure (Group)
Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money or asset financing.

2023/24 2022/23

£000 £000

Interest expense:
Interest on loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 731 791
Interest on other loans 125 161
Interest on lease obligations 317 118
Interest on late payment of commercial debt 1 3
Finance costs on PFl, LIFT and other service concession arrangements:
Main finance costs 4,829 1,860
Contingent finance costs* - 2,165
Remeasurement of the liability resulting from change in index or rate* 2,240 -
Total interest expense 8,243 5,098
Unwinding of discount on provisions 32 -
Total finance costs 8,275 5,098

* From 1 April 2023, IFRS 16 liability measurement principles are applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession
liabilities. Increases to imputed lease payments arising from inflationary uplifts are now included in the liability, and

contingent rent no longer arises. More information is provided in Note 31.

Note 11.2 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract Regulations 2015 (Group)

2023/24
£000
Total liability accruing in year under this legislation as a result of late payments 209

Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this

legislation 1
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2022/23
£000
876

3
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Note 12 Other gains / (losses) (Group)

Gains on disposal of assets
Losses on disposal of assets

Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets
Total other gains / (losses)

Note 13.1 Intangible assets - 2023/24

Group

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2023 - brought
forward

Additions
Reclassifications
Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2024

Amortisation at 1 April 2023 - brought forward
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2024

Net book value at 31 March 2024
Net book value at 1 April 2023

Note 13.2 Intangible assets - 2022/23

Group

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - as previously
stated

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - restated
Additions

Reclassifications

Disposals / derecognition

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2023

Amortisation at 1 April 2022 - as previously stated

Provided during the year
Disposals / derecognition
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2023/24 2022/23
£000 £000
95 56
(111) (390)
(16) (334)
(16) (334)
Internally Intangible
Software generated assets
- . . Total
licences information under
technology construction
£000 £000 £000 £000
9,646 66,431 2,770 78,847
- - 3,946 3,946
234 2,320 (3,999) (1,445)
9,880 68,751 2,717 81,348
6,143 35,870 - 42,013
1,167 6,061 - 7,228
7,310 41,931 - 49,241
2,570 26,820 2,717 32,107
3,503 30,561 2,770 36,834
Internally Intangible
Software generated assets
- . . Total
licences information under
technology construction
£000 £000 £000 £000
7,911 64,535 1,505 73,951
7,911 64,535 1,505 73,951
- - 4,955 4,955
1,794 1,896 (3,690) -
(59) - - (59)
9,646 66,431 2,770 78,847
5,248 30,219 - 35,467
911 5,651 - 6,562
(16) - - (16)
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Amortisation at 31 March 2023

Net book value at 31 March 2023
Net book value at 1 April 2022

Note 14.1 Intangible assets - 2023/24

Trust

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2023 - brought
forward

Additions
Reclassifications
Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2024

Amortisation at 1 April 2023 - brought forward
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2024

Net book value at 31 March 2024
Net book value at 1 April 2023

Note 14.2 Intangible assets - 2022/23

Trust

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - as previously
stated

Prior period adjustments

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - restated
Additions

Reclassifications

Disposals / derecognition

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2023

Amortisation at 1 April 2022 - as previously stated
Amortisation at 1 April 2022 - restated

Provided during the year

Disposals / derecognition

Amortisation at 31 March 2023
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6,143 35,870 - 42,013
3,503 30,561 2,770 36,834
2,663 34,316 1,505 38,484
Internally Intangible
Software generated assets
- . . Total
licences information under
technology construction
£000 £000 £000 £000
9,646 66,431 2,770 78,847
- - 3,946 3,946
234 2,320 (3,999) (1,445)
9,880 68,751 2,717 81,348
6,143 35,870 - 42,013
1,167 6,061 - 7,228
7,310 41,931 - 49,241
2,570 26,820 2,717 32,107
3,503 30,561 2,770 36,834
Internally Intangible
Software generated assets
- . . Total
licences information under
technology construction
£000 £000 £000 £000
7,911 64,535 1,505 73,951
7,911 64,535 1,505 73,951
- - 4,955 4,955
1,794 1,896 (3,690) -
(59) - - (59)
9,646 66,431 2,770 78,847
5,248 30,219 - 35,467
5,248 30,219 - 35,467
911 5,651 - 6,562
(16) - - (16)
6,143 35,870 - 42,013
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Net book value at 31 March 2023 3,503 30,561 2,770 36,834
Net book value at 1 April 2022 2,663 34,316 1,505 38,484

Note 14.3 Useful lives of intangible assets

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful lives are shown in
the table below:

Min life Max life

Years Years

Information technology 2 10

Software licences 3 10
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Note 15.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2023/24
Buildi Assets
ul |r]gs . under Plant & Transport Information! Furniture &
Group Land excluding! Dwellings X N L o Total
. constructio machinery equipment technology fittings
dwellings n
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/gross costat 1 April 2023 - 97,395  359,5621 18,308 19,150 95,402 121 28,580 3674 622,192
brought forward
Additions - - - 45,267 - - - - 45,267
Impairments (1,382) (4,806) - - - - - - (6,188)
Reversals of impairments 1,990 18,733 3,536 - - - - - 24,259
Revaluations - (12,013) (555) - - - - - (12,568)
Reclassifications 606 19,731 - (30,432) 9,162 - 2,333 45 1,445
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (856) - - - (856)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2024 98,609 381,207 21,289 33,985 103,708 121 30,913 3,719 673,551
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April
2023 - brought forward - 5,979 139 - 65,560 121 19,339 3,492 94,630
Provided during the year - 12,380 587 - 5,381 - 2,944 60 21,352
Revaluations - (12,013) (555) - - - - - (12,568)
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (755) - - - (755)
:‘:;:m“'ated depreciation at 31 March . 6,346 171 - 70,186 121 22,283 3552 102,659
Net book value at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 21,118 33,985 33,522 - 8,630 167 570,892
Net book value at 1 April 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 - 9,241 182 527,562
Note 15.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2022/23
Buildings Assets
.g . under Plant & Transport Information; Furniture &
Group Land excluding; Dwellings X . . L Total
d N constructio machinery equipment technology fittings
wellings "
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross costat1 April 2022-2s g 935 34350| 14,777 14,727 87,896 121 22,545 3,665 581,817
previously stated
:;as':’:t:‘;“ I'gross cost at 1 April 2022 - 94,836 343,250 1 14,777 14,727 87,896 121 22,545 3,665 581,817
Additions - - - 29,358 - - 1,560 - 30,918
Impairments - (596) - - - - - - (596)
Reversals of impairments 2,559 18,178 3,843 - - - - - 24,580
Revaluations - (11,051) (437) - - - - - (11,488)
Reclassifications - 9,781 125 (24,935) 10,458 - 4,562 9 -
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (2,952) - (87) - (3,039)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2023 97,395 359,562 18,308 19,150 95,402 121 28,580 3,674 622,192
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April . 5,257 109 - 63,456 121 16,653 3427 89,023
2022 - as previously stated
Provided during the year - 11,773 467 - 4,709 - 2,773 65 19,787
Revaluations - (11,051) (437) - - - - - (11,488)
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (2,605) - (87) - (2,692)
?g;;m“'ated depreciation at 31 March . 5,979 139 - 65560 121 19,339 3492 94,630
Net book value at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 - 9,241 182 527,562
Net book value at 1 April 2022 94,836 337,993 14,668 14,727 24,440 - 5,892 238 492,794
In 2023/24 the Trust invested £44.81m on capital which included £30.61m on estates works and maintenance across both sites, £9.15m on rhedical equipment,
£5.05mon I.T. goods and services.
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Note 15.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 31 March 20?4 i
ildi | ]
Bu"d"Tgs} . Assets under Plant & Information Furniture &|
Group Land excluding; Dwellings . : e Total
. construction machinery technology fittings
dwellings| 1
£000 EOOOE £000 £000 £000 £000 EOOOE £000
Owned - purchased 98,609 298,243 | 21,118 33,971 30,415 8,630 1671 491,153
" i I 1
On SoFI? PFI contracts and other service } 61,489 | } : } } .y 61,489
concession arrangements 1 |
Owned - donated/granted - 15,129 | - 14 3,107 - -1 18,250
NBYV total at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 i 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 167 | 570,892
i i
[ [
' |
Note 15.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 31 March 2013 :
| 1
Bu"dufgs' . Assets under Plant & Information Furniture &|
Group Land excludingi Dwellings . . . 1 Total
. construction machinery technology fittingsi
dwellings 1
I 1
£000 £000} £000 £000 £000 £000 £000} £000
1 1
Owned - purchased 97,395 282,552 ! 18,169 19,055 26,773 9,241 182 ! 453,367
- i | [
On SoFl.D PFI contracts and other service ) 56,694 | ) : } ) R 56,694
concession arrangements | |
Owned - donated/granted - 14,337 | - 95 3,069 - -1 17,501
NBYV total at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 i 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 | 527,562
i i
I I
1 1
Note 15.5 Property plant and equipment assets subject to an ope:rating lease (Trust as a lessor) - 31 March 2024 i
I 1
oy I I
Bu"d"TgsI . Assets under Plant & Information Furniture &}
Group Land excluding; Dwellings . . L | Total
. | construction machinery technology fittings,
dwellings; H
I 1
1 1
£000 £000] £000 £000 £000 £000 £000] £000
Subject to an operating lease - 3,302 | - - - - -1 3,302
Not subject to an operating lease 98,609 371,559 : 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 167 : 567,590
NBYV total at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 ! 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 167! 570,892
| i
I I
| i
Note 15.6 Property plant and equipment assets subject to an opelrating lease (Trust as a lessor) - 31 March 2023 i
[ [
| [
Bmldufgs: . Assets under Plant & Information Furniture &|
Group Land excluding; Dwellings . X . 1 Total
. | construction machinery technology fittings,
dwellings, 1
I [
£000 EOOOE £000 £000 £000 £000 £oooi £000
Subject to an operating lease - 3,483 | - - - - -1 3,483
Not subject to an operating lease 97,395 350,100 I 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 I 524,079
NBYV total at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 i 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 : 527,562
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Note 16.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2023/24
Trust Land eE;(L::III::;I’:EZ Dwellings Assets un(.ier Pl.ant & Tra.nsport Information Furni.tu.re & Total
dwellings construction machinery equipment! technology fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Z)a'rw”::':"' gross cost at 1 April 2023 - brought 97,395! 359,562 18,308 19,150 95402 121 28,580 3674 622,192
Additions - - - 45,267 - - - - 45,267
Impairments (1,382) (4,806) - - - - - - (6,188)
Reversals of impairments 1,990 18,733 3,536 - - - - - 24,259
Revaluations - (12,013) (555) - - - - - (12,568)
Reclassifications 606 19,731 - (30,432) 9,162 - 2,333 45 1,445
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (856) - - - (856)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2024 98,609 381,207 21,289 33,985 103,708 121 30,913 3,719 673,551
gisvuar::lated depreciation at 1 April 2023 - brought : 5,079 139 B 65,560 121 19,339 3,492 94,630
Provided during the year - 12,380 587 - 5,381 - 2,944 60 21,352
Revaluations - (12,013) (555) - - - - - (12,568)
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (755) - - - (755)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2024 - 6,346 171 - 70,186 121 22,283 3,552 102,659
Net book value at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 21,118 33,985 33,522 - 8,630 167 570,892
Net book value at 1 April 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 - 9,241 182 527,562
Note 16.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2022/23
Trust Land eBxL::III::;gZ Dwellings Assets un(.ier Pl.ant & Tra.nsport Information Furni.tu.re & Total

dwellings construction machinery equipmenti technology fittings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
zfe':‘:‘;:’s“l ; g::ts:d“s‘ at 1 April 2022 - as 94,836 ! 343,250 14,777 14,727 87,896 121 22,545 3,665 581,817
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - restated 94,836 343,250 14,777 14,727 87,896 121 22,545 3,665 581,817
Additions - - - 29,358 - - 1,560 - 30,918
Impairments - (596) - - - - - - (596)
Reversals of impairments 2,559 18,178 3,843 - - - - - 24,580
Revaluations - (11,051) (437) - - - - - (11,488)
Reclassifications - 9,781 125 (24,935) 10,458 - 4,562 9 -
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (2,952) - (87) - (3,039)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2023 97,395 359,562 18,308 19,150 95,402 121 28,580 3,674 622,192
‘:f:\:’i?:s'f;‘;'a‘:zg'e°'at'°" at1 April 2022 - as . 5,257 109 - 63,456 121 16,653 3427 89,023
Prior period adjustments - - - - - - - - -
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2022 - restated - 5,257 109 - 63,456 121 16,653 3,427 89,023
Provided during the year - 11,773 467 - 4,709 - 2,773 65 19,787
Revaluations - (11,051) (437) - - - - - (11,488)
Disposals / derecognition - - - - (2,605) - (87) - (2,692)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2023 - 5,979 139 - 65,560 121 19,339 3,492 94,630
Net book value at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 - 9,241 182 527,562
Net book value at 1 April 2022 94,836 337,993 14,668 14,727 24,440 - 5,892 238 492,794
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Note 16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 31 March 2024
Buildings . .
Trust Land] excluding Dwellings Assets um.ier PI?m &| Information Furnl_ture & Total
X construction machinery technology fittings
dwellings |
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Owned - purchased 98,609 298,243 21,118 33,971 30,415 8,630 167 491,153
On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service concession } 61,489 ) : ) : } 61,489
arrangements
Owned - donated / granted - 15,129 - 14 3,107 -1 - 18,250
Total net book value at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 167 570,892
Note 16.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 31 March 2023
Bmldlr_lgs . Assets under Plant & Informationi Furniture &
Trust Landi excluding Dwellings . . . Total
X construction machinery technology fittings
dwellings
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Owned - purchased 97,395 282,552 18,169 19,055 26,773 9,241 182 453,367
On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service concession : 56,694 ) : } : ) 56,694
arrangements
Owned - donated / granted - 14,337 - 95 3,069 - - 17,501
Total net book value at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 527,562
Note 16.5 Property plant and equipment assets subject to an operating lease (Trust as a lessor) - 31 March 2024
Bmldlr_lgs . Assets under Plant & Information! Furniture &
Trust Land! excluding Dwellings . . . Total
X construction machinery technology fittings
dwellings
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Subject to an operating lease - 3,302 - - - - - 3,302
Not subject to an operating lease 98,609 371,559 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 167 567,590
Total net book value at 31 March 2024 98,609 374,861 21,118 33,985 33,522 8,630 i 167 570,892
Note 16.6 Property plant and equipment assets subject to an operating lease (Trust as a lessor) - 31 March 2023
Bmldlr}gs . Assets under Plant & Informz-ltionI Furniture &
Trust Landi excluding Dwellings . . . Total
X construction machinery technology fittings
dwellings
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Subject to an operating lease - 3,483 - - - - - 3,483
Not subject to an operating lease 97,395 350,100 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 524,079
Total net book value at 31 March 2023 97,395 353,583 18,169 19,150 29,842 9,241 182 527,562
Note 16.6 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining lifejof an asset. The range of useful lives are shown in the table below:
Min life Max life
Years Years
Buildings, excluding dwellings 1 50
Dwellings 32 32
Plant & machinery 5 15
Transport equipment 5 5
Information technology 3 10
Furniture & fittings 5 10
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Note 17 Donations of property, plant and equipment

The Trust has received donation and grant income of £1,320k in the year.

- £897k cash grant from NHS North West London ICB for the development of Elective Care Transformation
Programme.

- £420k cash grant from NHS England for the purchase of medical equipment to support the Gender
Affirmation Services (GAS).

- £3k donation of (physical) medical equipment from CW+.

Note 18 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment

The Trust instructed Montagu Evans to carry out a revaluation of its property portfolio as at 31 December
2023. The revaluation was predominantly based on modern equivalent asset values using the alternative site
approach where appropriate. This exercise resulted in an increase in the value of the relative assets of

£18,071k, this represents £6,84 1k reversal of impairment charged to the I&E and £11,230k increase in
revaluation reserves in accordance with the Trust's accounting policies and NHS Improvement guidance.

Note 19 Leases - Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a lessee

IFRS 16 as adapted and interpreted for the public sector by HM Treasury has been applied to leases
in these financial statements with an initial application date of 1 April 2022.

Lease liabilities created for existing operating leases on 1 April 2022 were discounted using the
weighted average incremental borrowing rate determined by HM Treasury as 0.95%, where 4.72% discount
rate has applied for newly commenced leases, lease modifications and lease re-measurement.
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Note 19.1 Right of use assets - 2023/24 i
Proberty Of which:
P yl Plant & leased from
Group (land and . Total
L 1 machinery DHSC group
buildings); .
I bodies
£000i £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2023 - brought 12,905 : 4,001 16,906 1,060
forward I
Additions 940 i - 940 -
Remeasurements of the lease liability 769 : - 769 699
I
Movements in provisions for restoration / removal costs 89 : - 89 -
I
Disposals / derecognition (957): (4,001) (4,958) (558)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2024 13,746 : - 13,746 1,201
]
I
- - - I
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2023 - brought 2,192 : 657 2,849 354
forward :
Transfers by absorption - | - - -
Provided during the year 2,119 : 110 2,229 364
Disposals / derecognition (495): (767) (1,262) (320)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2024 3,816 : - 3,816 398
I
I
Net book value at 31 March 2024 9,929 : - 9,929 803
Net book value at 1 April 2023 10,713 | 3,344 14,057 706
I
I
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other NHS providersl -
i
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other DHSC group b:odies 803
I
Note 19.2 Right of use assets - 2022/23 :
I .
Of which:
I
Property: Plant & leased from
Group (land and, . Total
L | machinery DHSC group
buildings)| .
: bodies
£000] £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - brought ) : ) ) )
forward :
. . . T 1
IFRS 1.6 implementation - adjustments for existing 10,960 : 4,001 14,961 1,060
operating leases / subleases H
Remeasurements of the lease liability 1,945 : - 1,945 -
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2023 12,905 i 4,001 16,906 1,060
I
I
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2022 - brought i : i ) i
forward |
Provided during the year 2,192 : 657 2,849 354
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2023 2,192 : 657 2,849 354
i
I
Net book value at 31 March 2023 10,713 : 3,344 14,057 706
Net book value at 1 April 2022 - : - - -
I
I
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other NHS providers: 141
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other DHSC group biodies 565
[
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Note 19.3 Right of use assets - 2023/24 i
I -
| Propert Of which:
! perty Plant & leased from
Trust 1 (land and . Total
H o machinery DHSC group
i buildings) ;
H bodies
| £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2023 - brought forward : 12,905 4,001 16,906 1,060
Additions ! 940 - 940 -
Remeasurements of the lease liability ! 769 - 769 699
Movements in provisions for restoration / removal costs E 89 - 89 -
Disposals / derecognition ! (957) (4,001) (4,958) (558)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2024 ! 13,746 - 13,746 1,201
|
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2023 - brought forward : 2,192 657 2,849 354
I
Provided during the year E 2,119 110 2,229 364
Disposals / derecognition ! (495) (767) (1,262) (320)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2024 I 3,816 - 3,816 398
I
I
Net book value at 31 March 2024 i 9,929 - 9,929 803
Net book value at 1 April 2023 : 10,713 3,344 14,057 706
I
i
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other DHSC groug bodies 803
I
1
Note 19.4 Right of use assets - 2022/23 :
: Of which:
: Property Plant & leased from
Trust i (land and . Total
| g machinery DHSC group
1 buildings) ;
H bodies
| £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2022 - brought forward ! - - - -
. ) . . . I
IFRS 16 implementation - adjustments for existing operating leases : 10,960 4,001 14,961 1,060
/ subleases |
I
Remeasurements of the lease liability ! 1,945 - 1,945 -
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2023 ! 12,905 4,001 16,906 1,060
I
I
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2022 - brought forward i - - - -
Provided during the year ! 2,192 657 2,849 354
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2023 ! 2,192 657 2,849 354
]
I
Net book value at 31 March 2023 i 10,713 3,344 14,057 706
Net book value at 1 April 2022 : - - - -
I
i
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other NHS providelrs 141
Net book value of right of use assets leased from other DHSC groug bodies 565
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Note 19.5 Reconciliation of the carrying value of lease liabilities i

Lease liabilities are included within borrowings in the statement of finanfial position. A breakdown of borrowings is

disclosed in note 26. :

Grq'up Trust

2023/24 i 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

£000 | £000 £000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 14,115 : 218 14,115 218
IFRS 16 implementation - adjustments for existin H

operating Ie[:)ases J ° i 14,961 14,961

Lease additions 940 | - 940 -

Lease liability remeasurements 769 i 1,945 769 1,945

Interest charge arising in year 317 ! 118 317 118

Early terminations (3,707) | - (3,707) -

Lease payments (cash outflows) (2,476) | (3,127) (2,476) (3,127)

Other changes - : - - -

Carrying value at 31 March 9,958 : 14,115 9,958 14,115
I

1
Lease payments for short term leases, leases of low value underlying a{;sets and variable lease payments not
dependent on an index or rate are recognised in operating expenditure.:
These payments are disclosed in Note 6.1. Cash outflows in respect ofieases recognised on-SoFP are disclosed in
the reconciliation above. H
Income generated from subleasing right of use assets in £0k and is incllilded within revenue from operating leases in
note 3. |

I
Note 19.6 Maturity analysis of future lease payments at 31 March :2024

Grdup Trust
i Of which Of which
Tt | (SO o ey
: bodies: bodies:
31March | 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2024 2024 2024
£000 | £000 £000 £000
Undiscounted future lease payments payable in: i
-notlaterthanoneyea; | ___________________: 2197 4 2 2197 ____: 221 |
- later than one year and not later than five years; 7,458 : 666 7,458 666
- later than five years. 1,296 | - 1,296 -
Total gross future lease payments 10,951 i 887 10,951 887
Finance charges allocated to future periods (993) i (81)
Net lease liabilities at 31 March 2024 9,958 ! 806 10,951 887
Of which: |
Leased from other DHSC group bodies i 806 806
1
Note 19.7 Maturity analysis of future lease payments at 31 March [Z023
Gra:up Trust
i Of which Of which
ol | ST e e
| bodies: bodies:
31 March E 31 March 31 March 31 March
2023 ! 2023 2023 2023
£000 | £000 £000 £000
Undiscounted future lease payments payable in: E
- not later than one year; 2,763 : 358 2,763 358
- later than one year and not later than five years; 8,283 : 358 8,283 358
- later than five years. 3,532 | . 3,532 )
Total gross future lease payments 14,578 | 716 14,578 716
Finance charges allocated to future periods (463) | (6)
Net finance lease liabilities at 31 March 2023 14,115 i 710 14,578 716
Of which: :
Leased from other NHS providers | 142 142
Leased from other DHSC group bodies i 568 568
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Note 20 Other investments / financial assets (non-current) i
Grdup Trust
I

2023/24 | 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23
£000 | £000 £000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April - brought forward 12 i 387 3,212 3,587
Movement in fair value through OCI - (375) (375)
Disposals (12) | - (12) -
Carrying value at 31 March 0 i 12 3,200 3,212
I
I

The Sensyne Health PLC, now called Arcturis Health, was delisted frorh the Alternative Investment Market (AIM) in
June 2022. The shares were transferred to CW+ during the year at £1.lt is agreed that the cost of registering the
transfer of the Shares (if any) will be borne by the Charity.

Note 21 Inventories

|
|
i
Grd:up Trust
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
£000 i £000 £000 £000
Drugs 6,313 | 6,780 4,849 4,865
Consumables 3,811 : 4,313 3,811 4,313
Energy 106 | 206 106 206
Other 101 1 64 101 64
Total inventories 10,331 I 11,363 8,867 9,448
|
I

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £98,827k (2022/23: £95,848k). Write-down of inventories
recognised as expenses for the year were £314k (2022/23: £560k). !

|

I
In response to the COVID 19 pandemic, the Department of Health and $ocia| Care centrally procured personal
protective equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of chargé During 2023/24 the Trust received £492k of

items purchased by DHSC (2022/23: £1,858k). !
|

|
These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the corresponding benefit
recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in the expenses disclosed above.
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Note 22.1 Receivables

T
I
Gru:up Trust
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 : 2023 2024 2023
£000 ! £000 £000 £000
Current !
Contract receivables 21,662 i 19,745 21,662 19,745
Contract assets 23,567 | 27,628 23,567 27,628
Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (7,179) | (6,476) (7,179) (6,476)
Allowance for other impaired receivables (601) i (345) (601) (345)
Prepayments (non-PFI) 5,596 : 5,192 5,596 5,192
Interest receivable 871 | 629 871 629
PDC dividend receivable 652 E - 652 -
VAT receivable 4,015 | 3,130 3,068 2,575
Corporation and other taxes receivable 19 | 11 19 11
Other receivables 4,227 | 3,715 4,218 3,715
Total current receivables 52,829 I 53,229 51,873 52,674
I
Non-current i
Other receivables 990 | 1,244 990 1,244
Total non-current receivables 990 : 1,244 990 1,244
Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies: :
Current 25,020 | 25,090 25,020 25,090
Non-current 990 | 1,244 990 1,244
|
I
1

Following the application of IFRS 15 from 1 April 2018, the Trust's entitlllements to consideration for work performed
under contracts with customers are shown separately as contract recei\{ables and contract assets.

The main change in the decrease in contract assets relates to credit no{es issued for remaining debts of £1,511k for a
specific project around retrospective invoicing. The project involved a rewew of historical private patients insurer
billing, to identify recovery any historical under billing. .

Non-current receivables includes Clinician Pension tax of £990k 2022/?3 £1,244k) provided by NHSE, using
information provided by the Government Actuaries Department and NH$ Business Services Authority. A separate

provision is recognised in Payables. !
1
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Note 22.2 Allowances for credit losses - 2023/24 I

Gn}?up Trust

Contract; Contract
receivables: All other receivables All other
and contract| receivables and contract receivables

assets| assets
£000i £000 £000 £000
Allowances as at 1 Apr 2023 - brought forward 6,476 : 345 6,476 345
New allowances arising 2,720 : 292 2,720 292
Reversals of allowances (1 ,344)! (4) (1,344) (4)
Utilisation of allowances (write offs) (673)! (32) (673) (32)
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2024 7,179 : 601 7,179 601

!
The total balance for allowances contract credit losses includes £2, 378k for Overseas patients credit losses (2022/23
£1,944k), £1,384k for NHS (2022/23 £1,169k), £736k for Local Authorltles (2022/23 £798k), £648k for Private Patient
(2022/23 £566k), £1,082k for Road Traffic Accident (RTA) (2022/23 £1,225k), and £951k for Others (2022/23 £774k).
Each year the Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) advises a percentage probability of not receiving the RTA
income, for 2023/24 this figure is 23.07% (2022/23 24.86%). The total balance for allowances for non-contract credit
losses is for salary overpayment of £601k. |

Amounts written off in the year that are still subject to enforcement activiiy is zero.

=gt

Note 22.3 Allowances for credit losses - 2022/23

O

Group Trust

Contracti Contract
receivablesi All other receivables All other
and contracti receivables and contract receivables

assets: assets
£oooi £000 £000 £000
Allowances as at 1 Apr 2022 - as previously stated 8,143 i 310 8,143 310
New allowances arising 1,562 i 38 1,562 38
Reversals of allowances (1,269)| 3) (1,269) (3)
Utiisation of allowances (write offs) (1,960) : (1,960) :
Allowances as at 31 Mar 2023 6,476 i 345 6,476 345

Note 23.1 Cash and cash equivalents movements i
I

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash e'quivalents. Cash equivalents are readily
convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insigniﬁcant risk of change in value.

Gru:up Trust

2023/24 | 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23

£000 | £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 160,205 E 152,817 159,881 149,617

Net change in year 1,409 | 7,388 875 10,264

At 31 March 161,614 | 160,205 160,756 159,881
Broken down into: i

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 950 : 370 92 47

Cash with the Government Banking Service 160,664 I 159,835 160,664 159,834

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 161,614 i 160,205 160,756 159,881

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 161,614 : 160,205 160,756 159,881
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Note 24.1 Trade and other payables i
Grqlup Trust
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
£000 i £000 £000 £000
Current !
Trade payables 29,449 E 19,839 27,899 20,903
Capital payables 15,161 | 12,075 15,161 12,075
Accruals 52,061 | 76,487 53,655 75,954
Social security costs 6,287 : 5,800 6,277 5,794
Other taxes payable 7,531 i 6,211 7,521 6,204
PDC dividend payable - 346 - 346
Pension contributions payable 6,358 E 5,696 6,358 5,694
Other payables 2,931 ! 2,720 2,926 2,699
Total current trade and other payables 119,778 : 129,174 119,797 129,669
i
|
Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: |
Current 15,290 E 8,681 15,290 8,681
|
I
As of March 31 2024, the Trust's Trade payables include the amount o1i £2,576k (2022 £4,146k) owed to its
subsidiary, dispensing drugs to the Trust's outpatients. :
I
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Note 25 Other liabilities

Current
Deferred income: contract liabilities
Total other current liabilities

Note 26 Borrowings and lease liabilities

Current

Loans from DHSC
Other loans
Lease liabilities

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service
concession contracts (excl. lifecycle)
Total current borrowings and lease liabilities

Non-current
Loans from DHSC
Other loans
Lease liabilities

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service
concession contracts

Total non-current borrowings and lease liabilities

£7,446k), with an interest rate of 2.2%.

£5,707K).

T
|
|
Grdlup Trust
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 : 2023 2024 2023
£000 ! £000 £000 £000
i
28,574 1 26,091 28,574 26,091
28,574 l 26,091 28,574 26,091
i
|
Grdup Trust
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
£000 : £000 £000 £000
|
3,750 : 3,753 3,750 3,753
1,412 | 1,381 1,412 1,381
2,197 i 2,763 2,197 2,763
2,319 i 1,356 2,319 1,356
9,678 i 9,253 9,678 9,253
i
33,486 : 37,158 33,486 37,158
1
2,923 | 4,332 2,923 4,332
7,761 : 11,352 7,761 11,352
1
42,556 | 26,023 42,556 26,023
1
86,726 : 78,865 86,726 78,865
i
S S LR
1
I
[
|

The Trust has four loans outstanding at the end of the financial year. Three loans are from the Department of Health
and Social Care and comprise of one working capital loan and two sepa'rate capital investment loans. The working

capital loan balance at the end of the year is £27,749k (2022/23 £29 43’lk) with an interest rate of 1.8%. The capital
investment loans have balances of £2,376k (2022/23 £3,954k), with an |hterest rate of 1.46%, and £7,033k (2022/23

[
In 2018/19 the Trust took out a further loan with Natwest Plc for £10 QOQK with an interest rate of 2.44% to purchase
the Maternity Modular building on the West Middlesex Site. The outstanplng loan at end of year is £4,332k (2022/23
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Note 26.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing actilvities (Group)
I
1
Loans! PFl and
Group - 2023/24 from| %::; "ab"iﬁt"‘i:‘; LIFT Total
DHSC| schemes
£000/ £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April 2023 40,911 : 5,713 14,115 27,379 88,118
Cash movements: i
Fir\ar)cing cash flows - payments and receipts of (3,673)= (1,375) (2,154) (502) (7,704)
principal :
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (733)) (128) (322) (4,582) (5,765)
Non-cash movements: i
Application of IFRS 16 measurement principles to PFI
Ii:t?ility on 1 April 2023 Prnep ) i i ) 15,701 15,701
Additions -1 - 940 - 940
Lease liability remeasurements - i - 769 - 769
Remeasurement of PFI/ other service concession !
liability resulting from change in index or rate ) i i ) 2,240 2,240
Application of effective interest rate 731 125 317 4,829 6,002
Early terminations -1 - (3,707) - (3,707)
Other changes - : - - (191) (191)
Carrying value at 31 March 2024 37,236 ! 4,335 9,958 44,874 96,403
|
I
Loansi PFl and
Group - 2022/23 from| ~ Other  Lease LIFT Total
DHSC! loans liabilities schemes
£000! £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April 2022 44,595 : 7,054 218 28,712 80,579
Carrying value at 1 April 2022 - restated 44,595 : 7,054 218 28,712 80,579
Cash movements: i
Fir\ar.]cing cash flows - payments and receipts of (3,673): (1,342) (3,011) (1,318) (9,344)
principal !
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (802); (160) (116) (1,875) (2,953)
Non-cashmovements: ___________________________ ]
IFRS 1.6 implementation - adjustments for existing ) i ) 14,961 ) 14,961
operating leases / subleases H
Lease liability remeasurements - : - 1,945 - 1,945
Application of effective interest rate 7911 161 118 1,860 2,930
Carrying value at 31 March 2023 40,911 i 5,713 14,115 27,379 88,118
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Note 26.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing actilvities
Loans! PFl and
Trust - 2023/24 from! f::::; et LIFT Total
DHSC: schemes
£000] £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April 2023 40,911 i 5,713 14,115 27,379 88,118
Cash movements: !
Fipar)cing cash flows - payments and receipts of (3,673): (1,375) (2,154) (502) (7,704)
principal !
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (733)} (128) (322) (4,582) (5,765)
Non-cash movements: i
ﬁ;;:lif;g?,n1°:\;,?§0122 measurement principles to PFI ) i ) ) 15,701 15,701
Additions - i - 940 - 940
Lease liability remeasurements -1 - 769 - 769
Remeasurement of PFI/ other service concession !
liability resulting from change in index or rate i E i ) 2,240 2,240
Application of effective interest rate 731 I 125 317 4,829 6,002
Early terminations ) i - (3,707) ) (3,707)
Other changes -1 - - (191) (191)
Carrying value at 31 March 2024 37,236 | 4,335 9,958 44,874 96,403
i
Loans! PFl and
Trust - 2022/23 from| ﬁ::ﬁ; “ab"iﬁfi:z LIFT Total
DHSC: schemes
£000: £000 £000 £000 £000
Carrying value at 1 April 2022 44,595 | 7,054 218 28,712 80,579
Prior period adjustment : -
Carrying value at 1 April 2022 - restated 44,595 I 7,054 218 28,712 80,579
Cash movements: !
Fipar?cing cash flows - payments and receipts of (3,673)i (1,342) (3,011) (1,318) (9,344)
principal |
Financing cash flows - payments of interest (802): (160) (116) (1,875) (2,953)
Non-cashmovements: I N N
IFRS 16 implementation - adjustments for existin !
operating Iepases / subleasesJ ° ) i i 14,961 ) 14,961
Lease liability remeasurements - : - 1,945 - 1,945
Application of effective interest rate 791 | 161 118 1,860 2,930
Carrying value at 31 March 2023 40,911 i 5,713 14,115 27,379 88,118
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Group

At 1 April 2023

Arising during the year

Utilised during the year

Reversed unused

Unwinding of discount

At 31 March 2024

Expected timing of cash flows:
- not later than one year;

- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

Total

Note 27.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Gr'oup)

Pensions:: Pensions:
early: injury Le.gal Redundancy Other Total
departure: benefits claims
costs:
£000! £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,081 | 792 398 374 21,193 23,838
152 | 60 209 274 23,362 24,057
(176): (74) (96) - (307) (653)
(Q)E - (196) - (11,809) (12,014)
191 13 - - - 32
1,067 i 791 315 648 32,439 35,260
i
178 | 75 315 648 25,941 27,157
670 i 299 - - 5,206 6,175
2191 417 - - 1,292 1,928
1,067 | 791 315 648 32,439 35,260

Redundancy; this relates to specific staff, the rate provided are a:t normal statutory rates.

Pensions; early departure and Injury benefits. The Trust is respopsible for meeting additional costs arising from early departure and
injury benefits awards in respect of claims made by employees. The amount disclosed here is discounted to their present value.
1

I
Legal claims; this relates to employment tribunals. The amount p}ovided will be subject to tribunal outcomes.
1

Other provisions include Contractual disputes, this relate to challlenges from Commissioners on pricing, charging and penalties of
£17,640k (2022/23 £4,945k), NHS Resolution LTPS Claims of £{28k (2022/23 £227k); Dilapidations £1,312k (2022/23 £1,241k);
Contractual pay claims £1,707k (2022/23 £362k): Clinician pensi'on tax £1,009k (2022/23 £1,255k); Liability for Sphere Joint Venture
£1,300k (2022/23 £2,080k); Outsourced record management £4,:194k (2022/23 £4,153k); Covid and Vaccination overpayment £3,47 1k
and other Contractual claims £1,678k (2022/23 £2,407k). |

Trust

At 1 April 2023

Transfers by absorption

Change in the discount rate

Arising during the year

Utilised during the year

Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal groups
Reversed unused

Unwinding of discount

At 31 March 2024

Expected timing of cash flows:

- not later than one year;

- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

Total

Note 27.2 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Triist)

PensLoar:-Is:: Pensions: Legal
y: injury 9 Redundancy Other Total
departure benefits claims
costsl
1
£000: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,081 i 792 398 374 21,193 23,838
- i - - - - -
-1 - - . - -
152 i 60 209 274 23,362 24,057
(176)] (74) (96) - (307) (653)
1
-1 - - . - -
(9)! - (196) - (11,809) (12,014)
191 13 - - - 32
1,067 | 791 315 648 32,439 35,260
T
:
178 : 75 315 648 25,941 27,157
670 | 299 - - 5,206 6,175
219 | M7 - - 1,292 1,928
1,067 i 791 315 648 32,439 35,260

Other provisions include Contractual disputes, this relate to chall:lenges from Commissioners on pricing, charging and penalties of
£17,640k (2022/23 £4,945k), NHS Resolution LTPS Claims of £1|28k (2022/23 £227k); Dilapidations £1,312k (2022/23 £1,241k);
Contractual pay claims £1,707k (2022/23 £362k): Clinician pensilon tax £1,009k (2022/23 £1,255k); Liability for Sphere Joint Venture
£1,300k (2022/23 £2,080k); Outsourced record management £4,194k (2022/23 £4,153k); Covid and Vaccination overpayment £3,471k
and other Contractual claims £1,678k (2022/23 £2,407k). i
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Note 27.3 Clinical negligence liabilities i
|
At 31 March 2024, £373,265k was included in provisions of NHS Resolbtion in respect of clinical negligence liabilities
of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (31 MarcH 2023: £454,166k).
|
|
|
Note 28 Contingent assets and liabilities E
Grqup Trust
31 March | 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 : 2023 2024 2023
£000 E £000 £000 £000
Value of contingent liabilities l
NHS Resolution legal claims (78) : (55) (78) (55)
Gross value of contingent liabilities (78) : (55) (78) (55)
Net value of contingent liabilities (78) | (55) (78) (55)
i
Note 29 Contractual capital commitments i
Grdup Trust
31 March i 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 ! 2023 2024 2023
£000 | £000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 8,965 i 6,493 8,965 6,493
Intangible assets 36 | 150 36 150
Total 9,001 | 6,643 9,001 6,643
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Note 30 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangem:ents
i
Note 30.1 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangement obligations
[
The following obligations in respect of the PFI, LIFT or other service cmpcession arrangements are recognised in the
statement of financial position: !
Grdup Trust
I
31 March : 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
£000 | £000 £000 £000
. . H
(.;ro.s_s.PFI, LIFT or other service concession 64,238 | 41,218 64,238 41,218
liabilities !
Of which liabilities are due :
- not later than one year; 5,231 i 3,131 5,231 3,131
- later than one year and not later than five years; 21,781 : 12,708 21,781 12,708
- later than five years. 37,227 : 25,379 37,227 25,379
Finance charges allocated to future periods (19,364) ! (13,839) (19,364) (13,839)
. . H
Net PFI, LIFT or c?the.r service concession 44,874 | 27,379 44,874 27,379
arrangement obligation 1
- not later than one year; 2,319 i 1,356 2,319 1,356
1
- later than one year and not later than five years; 11,811 : 6,518 11,811 6,518
- later than five years. 30,744 : 19,505 30,744 19,505
i
Note 30.2 Total on-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other service concession alrrangement commitments
Total future commitments under these on-SoFP schemes are as follows}
Grq'up Trust
I
31 March | 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
1
£000 | £000 £000 £000
Total future payments committed in respect of the i
PFIl, LIFT or other service concession 233,276 | 223,130 233,276 223,130
arrangements i
Of which payments are due: |
-notlaterthanoneyear, 19500 | 14903 19500 ____ 14903
- later than one year and not later than five years; 78,723 | 64,004 78,723 64,004
- later than five years. 135,053 : 144,223 135,053 144,223
!
Note 30.3 Analysis of amounts payable to service concession opérator
This note provides an analysis of the unitary payments made to the serYice concession operator:
Groiup Trust
2023/24 | 2022/23 2023/24 2022/23
£000 | £000 £000 £000
. . . I
Unitary payment payable to service concession 28,790 : 25,264 28,790 25,264
operator |
Consisting of: :
- Interest charge 4,829 : 1,860 4,829 1,860
- Repayment of balance sheet obligation 502 i 1,318 502 1,318
- i i 1
Serwc_e element and other charges to operating 21129 | 18213 21,129 18.213
expenditure !
- Capital lifecycle maintenance 2,330 : 1,708 2,330 1,708
- Contingent rent - : 2,165 - 2,165
Total amount paid to service concession operator 28,790 ! 25,264 28,790 25,264
|
The Trust paid £28,790k in the year which represents £6,916k in exces',s of the contractually committed amount. A
significant amount of this excess relates to volume adjusters, that were hot included in the contractual committement.
The Trust expects to incur a comparable spend in addition to the contra:ctual liability presented above for 2023/24 in
the coming year. Beyond 2023/24, it is not possible to easily estimate alny variances to the contracted amount which
might be incurred. !
1
In 2023/24 the Trust has applied IFRS 16 principles to the measurement of PFI liabilities, this has resulted an increase
in PFI liabilities of £18,032k. |
1
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Note 31 Impact of change in accounting policy for on-SoFP PFIi LIFT and other service concession liabilities

IFRS 16 liability measurement principles have been applied to PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangement
liabilities from 1 April 2023. When payments for the asset are uplifted for inflation, the imputed lease liability recognised
on the SoFP is remeasured to reflect the increase in future paymenté. Such increases were previously recognised as

contingent rent as incurred. !

I
|

The change in measurement basis has been applied retrospectively }Nithout restatement of comparatives and with the

cumulative impact on 1 April 2023 recognised in the income and expénditure reserve. The incremental impact of

applying the new accounting policy on (a) the allocation of the unitary charge in 2023/24 and (b) the primary

statements in 2023/24 is set out in the disclosures below. :

I
Note 31.1 Impact of change in accounting policy on the aIIocatiIbn of unitary payment

| IFRS 16 basis IAS 17 basis Impact of
: (new basis) (old basis) change
! 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24
i £000 £000 £000
Unitary payment payable to service concession operator i 28,790 28,790 -
Consisting of: i
- Interest charge ! 4,829 1,776 3,053
- Repayment of balance sheet obligation ! 502 1,198 (696)
- Service element i 21,129 21,129 -
- Lifecycle maintenance ! 2,330 2,330 -
- Contingent rent ! - 2,357 (2,357)
|

|
I

Note 31.2 Impact of change in accounting policy on primary stgtements
I

Impact of change in PFl accounting policy on 31 March 2024 Sta'atement of Financial Position: £000
Increase in PF1/ LIFT and other service concession liabilities i (18,637)
Decrease in PDC dividend payable / increase in PDC dividend receiyable 605
Impact on net assets as at 31 March 2024 i (18,032)
I
Impact of change in PFl accounting policy on 2023/24 Statemer;t of Comprehensive Income: £000
PFl liability remeasurement charged to finance costs : (2,240)
Increase in interest arising on PFl liability i (3,053)
Reduction in contingentrent I | S | 2367,
Reduction in PDC dividend charge ! 605
Net impact on deficit I (2,331)
| ]
Impact of change in PFl accounting policy on 2023/24 Statemejt of Changes in Equity: £000
Adjustment to reserves for the cumulative retrospective impact on 1 April 2023 (15,701)
Net impact on 2023/24 deficit : (2,331)
Impact on equity as at 31 March 2024 i (18,032)‘
|
Impact of change in PFl accounting policy on 2023/24 Statement of Cash Flows: £000
Increase in cash outflows for capital element of PFI/ LIFT : 696
Decrease in cash outflows for financing element of PFI/ LIFT i (696)
Net impact on cash flows from financing activities ! -
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Note 32 Financial instruments

Note 32.1 Financial risk management

IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation), IAS 39 (Financial Instrument Recognition and
Measurement) and IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) require disclosure of the role that financial
instruments have had during the year in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its
activities. The Trust does not have any complex financial instruments and does not hold or issue financial
instruments for speculative trading purposes. Because of the continuing service provider relationship the Trust
has with healthcare commissioners and the way those healthcare commissioners are financed, the Trust is not
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by non NHS business entities.

The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated
by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its
activities.

Liquidity Risk

The Trust’s net operating costs are mainly incurred under legally binding contracts with commissioners, which
are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. This provides a reliable source of funding stream
which significantly reduces the Trust's exposure to liquidity risk.

The Trust also manages liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and loan facilities to meet its short and
long-term capital requirements through continuous monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows.

In addition to internally generated resources the Trust finances its capital programme through agreed loan
facilities with the Independent Trust Financing Facility. The Trust has a working capital facility as at 31 March
2024 but has not drawn down against it.

Credit Risk

Credit risk exists where the Trust can suffer financial loss through default of contractual obligations by a
customer of counterparty.

The policy reflects the position on the causes of debt, the implications of compliance and the need to identify
trading counterparties correctly and the varied level of risk associated with them along with the requirement to
maintain an adequate bad debt provision. The Trust maintains a bad debt provision rule set which is flexible
and reflects the monthly movements on the sales ledger, however it also requires that a line by line review of
items to be provided is carried out regularly.

Trade debtors consist of high value transaction with NHS England and ICB commissioners under contractual
terms that require settlement of obligation within a time frame established generally by the Department of
Health and local authorities under contractual terms although these are subject to individual negotiation. Other
trade debtors include private and overseas patients, spread across diverse geographical areas.

Credit risk exposures of monetary financial assets are managed through the Trust's treasury policy which limits
the value that can be placed with each approved counterparty to minimise the risk of loss. The counterparties
are limited to the approved financial institutions with high credit ratings. Limits are reviewed regularly by senior
management.

The majority of the Group’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, thus the Trust has

low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure of the Trust to credit risk is equal to the total trade and
other receivables within Note 22.

Interest rate risk

The Trust's borrowings comprise fixed rate loans or interest free loans; the Trust is not therefore exposed to
interest rate risk.
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Note 32.2 Carrying values of financial assets (Group) i

1
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is applied restrospectively from 1 April {2018. Comparative disclosure have been prepared
under IAS 39 and the measurement categories is consistent to thosdI in prior year.

Held at fair Held at fair

Held at value value Total book
Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2024 amortised through through value
cost I&E ocl
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 42,547 - - 42,547
Cash and cash equivalents 161,614 - - 161,614
Total at 31 March 2024 204,161 - - 204,161
Held at Held at fair Held at fair
Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2023 amortised value value  Total book
cost through through value
I&E OcClI
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 44,896 - - 44,896
Other investments / financial assets - - 12 12
Cash and cash equivalents 160,205 - - 160,205
Total at 31 March 2023 205,101 - 12 205,113

Note 32.3 Carrying values of financial assets (Trust)

Held at Held at fair Held at fair

e e e e e e e e e e e e e e T . T . . . ([ T e . . . . . o B

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2024 amortised th:::;:i thr\::::f\ TOtalvb;f::
cost I&E ocl
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 42,547 - - 42,547
Cash and cash equivalents 160,756 - - 160,756
Total at 31 March 2024 203,303 - - 203,303
""""""""""""""""""""""""""""" Held ot Held at fair Held atfair |
Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2023 amortised value value Total book
cost through through value
I&E OcClI
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 44,896 - - 44,896
Other investments / financial assets - - 12 12
Cash and cash equivalents 159,881 - - 159,881
Total at 31 March 2023 204,777 - 12 204,789
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Note 32.4 Carrying values of financial liabilities (Group) i

: Held at Total
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2024 : amortised book value

: cost

: £000 £000
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care l 37,236 37,236
Obligations under leases i 9,958 9,958
Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions : 44,874 44,874
Other borrowings l 4,335 4,335
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities i 92,286 92,286
Provisions under contract ! 8,836 8,836
Total at 31 March 2024 I 197,525 197,525

i

i Held at Total
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2023 ! amortised book value

I cost

i £000 £000
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care : 40,911 40,911
Obligations under leases I 14,115 14,115
Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions i 27,379 27,379
Other borrowings : 5,713 5,713
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities I 111,123 111,123
Provisions under contract I 11,051 11,051
Total at 31 March 2023 l 210,292 210,292

I

I

|
Note 32.5 Carrying values of financial liabilities (Trust) i

| Held at Total
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2024 i amortised book value

! cost

! £000 £000
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care I 37,236 37,236
Obligations under leases i 9,958 9,958
Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions ________ Lo 44874 44,874
Other borrowings ! 4,335 4,335
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities i 92,325 92,325
Provisions under contract : 8,836 8,836
Total at 31 March 2024 | 197,564 197,564

i

i Held at Total
Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2023 : amortised book value

! cost

: £000 £000
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care | 40,911 40,911
Obligations under leases I 14,115 14,115
Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions i 27,379 27,379
Other borrowings H 5,713 5,713
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities : 111,631 111,631
Provisions under contract i 11,051 11,051
Total at 31 March 2023 ! 210,800 210,800

|
Note 32.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities i

I

|
The book value of financial liabilities represents 79% of fair value. The d:ifference is due to future
interest costs for loan arrangements. !
DH Loans book value £37,236k (fair value £42,797k), Commercial Loan book value £4,335k (fair value
£4,506k), PFI book value £44,874k (fair value £64,238k) and lease booki value £9,958k (fair value
£10,951k) i
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Note 32.7 Maturity of financial liabilities i

I
The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contdactual undiscounted cash flows. This differs
to the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position which qre discounted to present value.

Compensation payments received

Grciup Trust
31 March i 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 | 2023 2024 2023
£000 E £000 £000 £000
In one year or less 114,398 i 133,976 114,437 130,360
In more than one year but not more than five years 43,612 : 38,628 43,612 38,628
In more than five years 65,604 : 58,576 65,604 58,576
Total 223,613 : 231,180 223,652 227,564
|
Note 33 Losses and special payments :
202#/24 2022/23 (restated)
]
Group and trust num bT:r)t:: : Total value numb-::ts; Total value
cases : of cases cases of cases
Number | £000 Number £000
Losses :
Cash losses 1 E 1 - -
Bad debts and claims abandoned 476 : 776 1,509 1,956
Stores losses and damage to property 50 | 411 27 561
Total losses 527 | 1,188 1,536 2,517
Special payments :
Ex-gratia payments 63 | 67 41 73
Total special payments 63 : 67 41 73
Total losses and special payments 590 I 1,255 1,577 2,590
|
]
|

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant headings on bn accrual basis, including losses which
would have been made good through insurance cover had the Trust nolt been bearing its own risk.

There was no individual case over £300k in the year (2022/23 none).

The disclosure of special payments in the 2022/23 financial statements|included 1 case with value of £362k, in
respect of a payment to staff of a christmas voucher. During the 2022/28 year end process, NHS England had
advised providers to disclose small discretionary awards to staff of this type as ex gratia payments, while NHS
England considered how these should be treated and therefore whether any HM Treasury approvals were required.
NHS England has subsequently concluded that this type of payment dqes not represent a special payment, and that
no approvals were required. The 2022/23 figures have been restated fc}IIowing this clarification from NHS England.

]
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Note 34 Related parties i

|

|

The Trust is a public benefit corporation and has been authori$ed pursuant to Section 6 of the Health and Social
Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003. The Depaftment of Health and Social Care is the parent

department. !

1

]
During the year an entity (Travill Construction Ltd) related to a|Trust Board member had transactions with the
Trust to the value of £179k (£146k 2022/23); an entity (Cerner:Limited) related to a Trust Board member had
transactions with the Trust to the value of £530k (£851k 2022/]23).

1

During the year the Trust has had a significant number of mate:rial transactions with the
following Whole Government bodies:

— NHS England

— NHS Integrated Care Boards

— NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups
— NHS Foundation Trusts

— NHS Trusts

— Department of Health and Social Care
— Health Education England

— NHS Pension Scheme

— NHS Property Services

— Local Authorities

— Ministry of Defence

In addition to the above the Trust has a number of transactions with CW+ (the official charity partner of the Trust)
and Imperial College Health Partners {Academic Health Sciende Network for North West London} (ICHP).
I

2023/24 2022/23

1
|
CW+ i £000s £000s
Receivables I 13 195
Payables i 272 157
Income : 799 1,394
Expenditure : 930 536
|
ICHP i £000s £000s
Receivables i 529 1,104
Payables _________ A 1200 ol |
Income : 6,001 5,493
Expenditure i 155 97
i
Note 35 Events after the reporting date :
None :
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Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

369 Fulham Road
London
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+44 (0)20 3315 8000

Website
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3.2 ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE CHAIR OF THE AUDIT AND RISK

COMMITTEE (ARC)

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

A
3.2 Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report (July 2023).pdf

3.2a Annual Report from the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee COG 2024 - DRAFT.pdf
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NHS

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

TITLE AND DATE

(of meeting at which report to be presented)

Council of Governors Meeting — 18 July 2023

AGENDA ITEM NO.

3.2

TITLE OF REPORT

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) Chairman’s Report to
Council of Governors

AUTHOR NAME AND ROLE

Aman Dalvi, Non-Executive Director

ACCOUNTABLE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aman Dalvi, Non-Executive Director

PURPOSE OF REPORT

Decision/Approval

Assurance X
Info Only X
Advice

Please tick above and then describe the requirement in the
opposite column

To provide an update to the Council of Governors of the
Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

REPORT HISTORY

Committees/Meetings where this item has been considered

Committee Date of Outcome
Meeting

NIL

SUMMARY OF REPORT AND KEY MESSAGES THE MEETING NEEDS

TO UNDERSTAND

e ARCis directly accountable to the Board and
provides assurance that probity and professional
judgement is exercised in all financial and
operational areas of governance.

KEY RISKS ARISING FROM REPORT

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES THIS PAPER SUPPORTS (please confirm Y/N)

Deliver high quality patient centred care

Be the employer of Choice

Deliver better care at lower cost

IMPLICATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS REPORT:
Equality And Diversity
Quality
People (Workforce or Patients/Families/Carers)
Operational Performance
Finance
Public Consultation

Council of Governors Y

The Council of Governors have a responsibility for
membership engagement and development. This sub-
committee holds delegated responsibility for the system
to deliver these responsibilities.
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please mark Y/N —where Y is indicated please explain the
implications in the opposite column

REASON FOR SUBMISSION TO THE BOARD IN PRIVATE ONLY (WHERE RELEVANT)

Commercial Confidentiality Y/N
Patient Confidentiality Y/N
Staff Confidentiality Y/N

Other Exceptional Circumstances
(please describe)

Overall page 235 of 355



Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (CWFT) Audit and
Risk Committee
Chair’s Annual Report to the Council of Governors (CoG), July 2024.

This report summarises the work of the CWFT Board Audit and Risk Committee for the
period 2023-2024.

1-Introduction/Governance Structure:

1.1 CWFT Audit and Risk Committee (ARC):

The CWFT Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) met five times within the last year. The meetings
provide the Trust Board of Directors with means of an independent and objective review of
financial and corporate governance, the assurance of processes and risk management
across the whole of the Foundation Trust’s activities (clinical and non-clinical), both
generally and in support of the annual governance statement.

Escalation reports from these meetings were presented at the North West London Acute
Provider Collaborative (NWL APC) Board in Common (BiC) during 2023/24. For 2024/25 the
reporting line moves to the new Trust Standing Committee, a new quarterly committee
comprised of all Board members of Chelsea and Westminster Trust

The Trust Committee’s objectives are to:

e Support the Trust’s values and objectives.

e Review the establishment and maintenance of effective systems of internal control,
establishment of value for money and risk management including fraud and
corruption.

e Assure the Board on completeness and compliance of required disclosure
statements and policies.

e Review the Trust’s Annual Report, including Quality Report and financial statements,
Annual Governance Statement and Head of Internal Audit Opinion and the External
Assurance on the Trust’s Quality Report and assure the Board on compliance.

e Assure the Board on judgements and adjustments relating to annual financial
statements.

e Review the Trust’s self-certification as required by NHS Improvement or its
successors to comply with any conditions of its Foundation Trust licence.

e Assure the Board on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the internal audit
service, its fees, findings and co-ordination with external audit.

e Assure the Board on the appropriateness, effectiveness and co-ordination of
external auditors, and the Trust’s management response and outcomes.

e Assure the Board on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the local counter fraud
specialist service, their fees, findings and co-ordination with internal audit and
management.

¢ Make recommendations to the Council of Governors on the appointment, re-
appointment and remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors.

e Assure the Board on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Trust’s Risk
Assurance Framework and of the processes for its implementation.
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e Ensure that arrangements are in place for investigation of matters raised, in
confidence, by staff relating to matters of financial reporting and control, clinical
quality, patient safety or other matters.

e Assure the Board on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Trust’s approach
to mitigate and manage information and cyber security related risks.

e Undertake such other tasks as shall be delegated to it by the Board in order to
provide the level of assurance the Board requires.

e Report to the Council of Governors on significant matters where these matters are
not notified to the Council of Governors via other means.

2-CWFT Audit and Risk Committee Membership and Attendance:

2.1 Non-Executive Director (NED) membership: | continued as Chair of this Committee and
the other NED committee members from the period June 2023 until June 2024 were
Catherine Jervis and Dr Syed Mohinuddin.

Lesley Watts (Chief Executive Officer), Virginia Massaro (Chief Financial Officer), and Robert
Bleasdale (Chief Nursing Officer) attend these meetings but are not members of this
Committee.

The Committee meetings are on a cycle that runs alongside the Trust’s external reporting
timetable, with standing items on the ARC agenda which include internal audit, external
audit and counter fraud. The attendance at these meetings is consistent, with regular
participation from all attendees with in-depth discussion and robust challenge on the topics
presented on the agendas.

3 — Areas of focus and achievement

3.1 Committee Role and Membership

ARC is directly accountable to the Board and provides assurance that probity and
professional judgement is exercised in all financial and operational areas of governance, and
is the only Board Committee which is made up solely of NEDs (Executive Directors attend
but are not members).

The overall role is well described by the Healthcare Financial Management Association
(HFMA): “..it is the ‘lens’ through which the Board examines the assurances it requires to
discharge its duties.”

To fulfil this role, this Committee is supported by independent advisors, with
representatives from each who attend all ARC meetings:

e External auditors - Deloitte

e Internal auditors - BDO
e Counter fraud specialists — RSM
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3.2 External Audit

The external auditors maintain a watching brief and provide advice to the Committee of
regulatory requirements and if there are any changes in reporting standards. They reviewed
the Trust Annual Report and governance statement for the period 2023/2024, and
considered the Trust had followed the format prescribed by the Foundation Trust annual
reporting manual, subject to minor changes. They also conducted an audit of the Trust’s
financial accounts.

The auditors also did not identify any risks of significant weakness in arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources, and did not identify
any matters to report by exception in financial statement and audit opinion.

3.3 Internal Audit

Internal auditors provide an important role in providing independent assurance on the full
range of strategic, financial and operational risks for the organisation to the Committee. This
is conducted through a series of thorough internal audits, with reports outlining the
findings, recommendations and actions to the Committee throughout the year.

The following reports were issued during 2023/24:

Capital Project Management Contract Management

Discharge and Ambulance Handover North West London Acute Provider
Processes Collaborative Governance (NWL APC)
Divisional Governance Facilities and Estates Management
Waiting List Management Cultural Maturity

Key Financial Systems Data Security and Protection Toolkit
Recruitment and Retention Patient Communication.

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI)

Internal auditors also provided progress updates in the progress of internal audit
recommendations with improvement noted on completing these over 2023/24.

At the end of the financial year, a Head of Internal Audit Opinion is produced. In 2024/25
the conclusion was of ‘...moderate assurance that there is a sound system of internal
controls, designed to meet the Trust’s objectives, that controls are being applied
consistently across various services.” This is the second highest rating and was noted by the
Committee at the June 2024 meeting.

3.4 Counter Fraud

The Trust had implemented proactive reviewing processes in relation to recruitment and
pre-employment checks, and these were considered as largely sound. An action plan has
been developed and shared for implementation by the Trust. There was also progress in
ensuring that staff training was maintained, and the benchmarking data demonstrated good
awareness of and confidence in reporting potential fraud.

The national return in relation to how the Trust is countering fraud, the ‘Counter Fraud
Functional Standard Return’ resulted in an overall rating of green. This rating assessed the
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Trust as fully compliant with the requirements, with demonstrative evidence of the impact
of counter fraud work undertaken available. Four local proactive exercises/compliance
reviews were concluded in respect of Overseas Visitors, Recruitment, Patient Transport
Services and the North West London Procurement Service, with actions in place to address
the findings.

The Committee also discussed the following: cases meeting the requisite criteria for
investigation, the alerts and fraud prevention notices shared with staff to highlight emerging
risks and reviews/actions in response, updates on the fraud and bribery awareness sessions
for staff and board members.

3.5 Risk and Control Framework

The Trust’s risk management process is designed to provide a systematic method of
identifying risks and determining the most effective means to minimise or remove these.
Practice is supported through the maintenance of an organisation wide risk register.
Operational risk assurance is provided through the divisions and leadership teams. The
Trust records the principal risks that could substantially impact compliance with the NHS
Foundation Trust licence and achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives. It provides a
framework for reporting key information to the Board by identifying primary controls in
place to manage strategic objectives, assurance about the effectiveness of controls, and any
gaps in the controls or assurances.

The risk register, BAF and review of the overall process for managing risk is a regular feature
on the ARC agenda. The diagram below shows the process:
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assurance relating to
Audit and Risk the functioning of
. the Trust’s risk
Committee management
L processes
[ 1

PROCESS & MITIGATION ASSURANCE - Provided by the Committees of the Board
Challenges

assurance on risk
Quality Committee People and Workforce Finance and Performance i"e"tiﬁ“ﬁ"':)ﬂ"."k
) ) management by ris|
(and sub-groups) Committee (and sub-groups) Committee (and sub-groups) g:type: v
I

1
OPERATIONAL ASSURANCE & STRATEGIC RISK IDENTIFICATION — Provided by EMB Seoks operational
assurance and
identifies risks that
Executive Management Board threaten strategic
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|
I 1

OPERATIONAL ASSURANCE — Provided by the Divisional Quality Boards

Women, Emergency West Divisional assurance
NICU, and Planned Clinical Enterprise Corporate London monitoring

HIV/GUM, Integrated Care Support Division Functions Children's

Dermatology Care Healthcare

OPERATIONAL ASSURANCE — Provided by Departments and Specialties Specialty /
Departmental risk

Supporting Supporting Supporting Supporting Supporting identification &
Directorates Directorates Dlrectorates Directorates Directorates management

OPERATIONAL ASSURANCE — Provided by Wards / Areas

Local risk
identification &

_ ____ -
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In the last year there remained a largely stable picture in terms of the scores for the BAF
risks, and this was reflective of the controls and actions implemented by the Trust. Further
detail on this is included in the recently produced Trust Annual Report 2023/24, which will
be shared at the Annual Members Meeting and published on the Trust’s website here:
https://www.chelwest.nhs.uk/about-us/organisation/corporate-publications

3.7 Data security and protection

Information governance is the way organisations process or handle information. It covers
information relating to patients and staff, as well as corporate information, and helps
ensure the information is handled appropriately and securely with particular emphasis on
managing personal data within the data protection legislation. The ARC received regular
reports on the Trust’s compliance with information governance, data and cyber security
requirements, including the outcome of the independent audit of our self-assessment
against the criteria within the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. For 2023-2024 the Trust
achieved ‘standards met’ with the independent audit finding of substantial risk assurance
and high confidence level in the DSPT submission.

3.8 Good governance

The Committee received reports on the compliance against key governance requirements,
including management of conflicts of interest and compliance with the new Fit and Proper
Persons regulations for Board directors. The Committee received the self-assessments
demonstrating compliance against the new NHS Provider Code of Governance and
requirements of the NHS Provider Licence.

4 - 2024/2025 Audit and Risk Committee Priorities:

The Committee has commissioned the following audits for the financial year and will receive
reports on each throughout the 2024/25 meetings. The programme is underway and on
track in quarter one:

e Key financial systems

e Data security and protection toolkit
e Data Quality (Clinical Indicator)

e Cost Improvement Programme

e Hard facilities management services, including ventilation
e |T Disaster Recovery

e Consultant Job Planning

e Gender Pay Gap

e Volunteering

e Freedom to Speak Up

e Transformation Projects

e Cyber

e Falls Management
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5-Comments/Assurance:

As highlighted within this report, the Committee receives regular and independent reports
and advice from the local counter fraud service, internal and external audit. In addition the
Committee meets with external auditors and other advisers separately from the executive
as required. Over the past year the Committee members have scrutinised the data
provided and are assured that overall compliance has been maintained against the required
standards during 2023/24

Aman Dalvi
Chair of CWFT Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

July 2024
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3.3 COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS MEMBERSHIP AND ENGAGEMENT

SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

A
3.3 CoG Membership and Engagement Sub-Committee Report.pdf
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CONFIDENTIAL
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KEY RISKS ARISING FROM REPORT
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please mark Y/N —where Y is indicated please explain the
implications in the opposite column

REASON FOR SUBMISSION TO THE BOARD IN PRIVATE ONLY (WHERE RELEVANT)

Commercial Confidentiality Y/N
Patient Confidentiality Y/N
Staff Confidentiality Y/N

Other Exceptional Circumstances
(please describe)

This report provides an update to the Council regarding the Membership, Involvement and Engagement Implementation Plan.

Members’ News
These continue to be published monthly and provides up to date information on what is happening at the Trust.
The engagement for these newsletters continues to be positive.

Meet a Governor Sessions

Since these started in August 2023 we have run a total of 9 sessions, with more sessions to take place over the summer at both
sites. The logistics of running these sessions remotely is being considered, and the suggestions provided by the Membership
and Engagement sub-committee are being taken on board. Any Governors who wish to participate in running these sessions
please contact the Corporate Governance Team.

Governor Elections

The 2024 Governor Elections will be taking place in November for Patient, Public and Staff constituencies, and we are aiming for
a broader demographic from constituencies where there are Governor vacancies in order to reflect the communities that the
Trust serves. Information regarding the elections will be published in September/October.

Healthwatch presentations

We are continuing to build relationships with Healthwatch regarding the delivery of Healthwatch presentations and webinars,
and the details of the first of these is taking place at the end of July, and the details have been advertised in the June issue of
Members’ News, and more presentations/webinars will be announced in due course. If anyone wants the details of the July
presentation please contact the Corporate Governance Team.

Equality Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Training
The EDI Training for all Governors is in the process of being arranged, and further details will be made available soon.
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4.1 QUALITY UPDATE

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

ﬁ 4.1 Quality Report - CoG July 2024 FINAL.pdf
E 4.1a IPC Annual Report 2023-24 FINAL.pdf

A
k 4.1b Falls Annual Report 23 24 final.pdf
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Council of Governors Meeting

18 July 2024

Quality Highlight Report

Purpose and Introduction
This report provides a summary of key quality updates from the July Quality
Committee meeting.

Key highlights

1. Integrated Quality and Performance Report

11

1.2

1.3

14

The Trust Integrated Quality and Performance Report for May 2024 was
reviewed at the Trust Quality Committee on 9" July 2024. This section
provides narrative regarding the Trust performance against each of the
measures and any action being taken to improve these.

Performance Summary: The Committee heard that in May 2024, A&E 4-
hour performance was 80.68%, above the nationally mandated target of
78%. The Trust successfully met NHS England targets for 31-Day, 62-Day,
and 28-Day Faster Diagnostics Cancer Standards in April 2024. The Trust
continues to be a top performer nationally for cancer standards. Elective
Referral to Treatment (RTT) 18-Week Wait performance remained
challenged with an improved position in May 2024, standing at 63.97%, an
increase from March 2024 which was at 59.18%.

The Committee was advised that the total referreral to treatment (RTT)
Patient Tracking List (PTL) increased to 61,549 (+759), 52ww decreased to
1,576 (-118), 65ww increased to 348 (+46) and 78ww decreased to 28 (-9).
Operational teams remain focused on expediting long-waiting pathways and
enhanced oversight and targeted interventions continue for at-risk
specialities: Trauma and Orthopaedics (T&O), Colorectal Surgery, Plastic
Surgery and General Surgery.

The Committee heard that to support the backlog reduction, trajectories have

been set with a plan to eliminate the 78ww by June 2024 while the 65ww is
forecasting 90 patients on the pathway at the end of September 2024.
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1.5 Infection control —In the month of May there were 8 cases of Clostridium
Difficile infections, (7 Hospital Onset Hospital Acquired and 1 Community
onset Hospital Acquired) taking the YTD total to 14 cases. Yearly targets
have yet to be published but the increase incidence at the Trust is in line with
the regional and national picture. The increased incidence at the Chelsea
Site (5 cases) prompted a deep dive and an action plan developed. Root
causes analysis has taken place for each case to establish learning and any
lapses in care. There have been no Trust-attributed case of MRSA recorded
for this year.

1.6  Serious Incidents — The Trust declared one Never Event in June 2024
which is being investigated as a Patient Safety Incident Investigation (PSII)
under the new Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF). The
incident was classified as a wrong site surgery, due to a liver biopsy being
taken from the wrong lobe. The patient had the correct procedure completed
on the day and was safely discharged.

1.7 Complaints — 87% of complaints were responded to within the 25-day KPI
(target 95%) during May 2024. 5 complaints were not responded to within
the timeframe. Compliance with responding to PALS concerns within five
working days was at 89% (KPI 90%). A review of escalation process has
taken place with the clinical divisions and close monitoring and escalation
implemented. It is anticipated this position will improve.

1.8 Patient experience — Inpatient satisfaction and response rates continue to
be maintained above the Trust target of 90%, with 96.8% satisfaction for
May 2024. Whilst not meeting the 90% target, A&E satisfaction remains high
in comparison to many other London Trusts. There has been a decline in the
experiences of women accessing maternity care, an improvement plan for
patient experience has been developed jointly with the Maternity and
Neonatal Voices Partners.

2. Final Quality Account
2.1  The Quality Account for 2023/24 was approved at the Trust Quality

Committee and has been submitted nationally, to the Integrated Care Board
(ICB) and uploaded to the Trust website.
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The Trust Quality Priorities for 2024/25 are detailed within the account, with
progress being monitored quarterly through the Quality Committee. The
priorities reflect the Trust strategic objectives, and align to the definitions of
quality:

e Patient Experience

e Patient Safety

e Patient Effectiveness

e Addressing Health Inequalities

The priorities are:

Deteriorating patient

Tobacco and smoking reduction

Improving care of our frail patients

Patient experience (nutrition and hydration)
Implementation of PSIRF

Transitional Care

o0k wbhPE

PSIRF Implementation Plan

The Trust has fully transitioned and implemented the patient safety incident
reporting framework (PSIRF) from April 2024. The Trust PSIRF policy and
plan was approved following a review and challenge by the ICB.

All external Serious Incidents previously declared under the old Serious
Incident Framework have now been closed. New incidents are being
reviewed through an established executive led initial incident review group,
providing oversite and challenge across divisions using the new PSIRF
methodology.

The training position for staff has improved following integration with the
Trust learning platform, but was below the target. Recovery trajectories have
been requested from services to be monitored through the executive
management board.

4. Quarterly Maternity and neonatal Staffing Report (Quarter 4)

4.1

The Quality Committee received a report detailing the measures in place to
ensure safe midwifery staffing as well as providing a summary of key
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workforce measures for obstetricians, neonates, and anaesthetics to provide
evidence for the Maternity Incentive Scheme (MIS) Year 6.

The quarterly overview provided a comprehensive summary of current
compliance with staffing and safety issues and provides evidence for MIS
year 6 submission under safety action 4 and 5.

5. Quarter 4 Maternity and Neonatal Report

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

A detailed plan was in place for neonatal nursing staff to attain the
Qualification in Specialty, West Middlesex (WM) currently exceeds the target
at 80.66% and Chelsea is currently 68.3%

Significant recruitment has taken place to meet the Birth Rate +
requirements. At the end of Q4 a total of 53.4wte new midwives had joined
the Trust, with further midwives in the recruitment pipeline for Quarter 1.

The Birth Rate+ acuity and dependency tool review will be repeated in
September 2024.

The Committee was provided with a summary relating to maternity and
neonatal quality and safety. Both sites have maintained their CQC ratings of
outstanding for WM and good for CW. All of the actions (3 must dos and 14
should dos) are being tracked via a cross site assurance group. The 3 must
do actions are complete, 5 should do actions are on track, 7 are completed
and 1 should do action awaits the outcome of a consultation and 1was
delayed due to phase 2 of K2 implementation.

MBRRACE 2021 has highlighted that the perinatal mortality rates across the
service are lower than Trusts of a similar size. 30 deaths were reported and
17 meet the criteria for review with the perinatal mortality review tool in Q4. 3
reports are overdue on the WM site. All actions and learning have been
identified and MDT panels have been conducted. An action plan has been
developed to ensure all overdue reviews completed in Q1 2024/25.

The national pause on the rollout of the maternity continuing care (MCoC)
teams until the building blocks are in place the first being safe staffing
remains. There remains variation across both sites in the percentage of
women booked on a MCoC pathway and the proportion of women from a
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BAME background booked on a MCoC pathway. The service is reviewing
this to ensure optimisation of the current pathway, and will develop detailed
plans for the expansion of the pathway in Q4 2024/25.

The services continues to progress the Maternity Single Delivery Plan with
20 interventions compliant and 22 interventions partially compliant. There is
one non-compliant intervention.

The service is currently demonstrating 93% compliance with the Saving
Babies Lives (Version 3) interventions. All evidence has been reviewed and
approved by the Local Maternity and Neonatal System (LMNS) and the
service has an action plan to achieve continued compliance.

The Trust remains below the national average for term admissions to the
neonatal unit with all cases reviewed with associated action plans where
required.

The service has been externally verified as fully compliant with all 10 safety
actions for MIS Year 5. MIS Year 6 has been published and quarterly
reporting is in place to the quality committee. None of the 10 standards have
ben flagged as a risk to compliance as of June 2024.

The service is undertaking a review of still births and neonatal deaths for the
year 2023/24 to identify any areas of learning, at site and Trust level. This
will be reported to the Quality Committee in the Quarter 1 Maternity Quality
report. No areas of concerns have been escalated currently as part of this
review.

The Maternity Neonatal Voices Partnership (MNVP) continues to engage
with communities and stakeholders and have commenced their 24/25 work
plan. An action plan has been co-produced with the MNVP to address the
findings from the 2023 National Maternity Survey.

The Trust as had the BFI accreditation. The West Middlesex Sire received
re-accreditation, with the Chelsea Site (CW) having 2 further items to work
on following the BFI re-accreditation visit. It was noted that significant
improvements in standards had been made and a decision is awaited
regarding the re-accreditation status of the Chelsea site.
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6. Health Improvement Committee

6.1

6.2

The Health Improvement Committee (HIC) continues to meet quarterly
supported by a monthly working group. The HIC provides assurance that the
Trust is supporting the NHSE statement on information on health inequalities
2023, the NHS people promise, making every contact count and Core20
PLUSS.

The Committee provides oversight to the implementation of key health
improvement work streams, which operate in alignment to the Trust’s Clinical
Strategy and the Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Strategy. The group is
developing emerging work streams covering women’s health and equity of
access to services. Key established work steams currently include:
Smokeless — Delivering the NHS Long Term Tobacco control plan for
smoking cessation across Acute Inpatient and Maternity
Oral Health | Embedding preventative messaging in oral health across
Maternity and Paediatrics, in alignment with Making Every Contact Count
Alcohol reduction— Joint funded Alcohol Care Team for the screening of
patients who are offered brief intervention and support in the community
where required

7. Health and Safety Executive

7.1

7.2

7.3

The Committee were informed that on the 71" May 2024 a planned HSE
inspection took place on Ron Johnson Ward as part of the Human Challenge
Research Study. The inspection highlighted areas that needed to be
improved.

The issues raised were in relation to the air handling units and the assurance
regarding negative pressure ventilation on the ward, and communication with
clinical teams. At the time of the inspection these two areas had been
highlighted through our internal processes and improvement works
underway.

The Trust will be compliant with the actions required and a formal response
will be sent to the HSE by 12" August 2024.

Overall page 252 of 355



Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS'

NHS Foundation Trust

8. Clinical Guidelines Status Report

8.1

8.2

The Trust has a robust management process for the oversight and approval
of clinical guidelines, of the 876 internally produced guidelines, 54 (6%) were
overdue for review at the end of May.

Despite the 6% being higher than normal for the Trust, services were aware
of the policies needing review and a plan was in place with timescales for
completion.

9. Risk Assurance Framework

9.1

9.2

9.3

The quarterly Risk Assurance Framework which detailed the live risk status
as of the 1t July was discussed at the Quality Committee. There are 300 live
risks which is a stable number. The report reflects 62 new risks added to the
register with 84 removed post-mitigation.

The risk management process was currently under review by the Deputy
Chief Nurse and training needs for risk register owners has been identified
and a training package is being developed.

The process for reviewing and updating risks is being reviewed as part of
this work, to consider the approach to tolerated risks.

10. Falls Annual Report

10.1

10.2

10.3

The annual report detailed the systems and processes in place to reduce the
incidence of falls for adult inpatients. The Falls Prevention Steering Group is
responsible for the improvement actions relating to falls, and this reports to
the Patient Safety Group quarterly.

Falls per 1000 bed days improved at the Trust in 2023/2024 compared to the
previous year, with an average rate of 3.4 compared to 3.6 in 2022/23. The
rate was 5.6 in April 2020. There was also a reduction in falls resulting in
severe harm or death, with 3 cases of severe harm in 2023/24 and zero
deaths, compared with 2021/22 when there was 12 cases of severe harm and
three deaths.

The locations by area as well as the wards which have the highest number of
falls were detailed. It was noted that Nightingale Ward had seen an increase
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of falls in 2023 and this was due to the length of time it was open in 2023/24
compared to 2022/23 when the ward was only used for escalation purposes.

10.4 Compliance with both falls risk assessment and bed rails risk assessment has
improved in 2023/24 in comparison to 2022/2023. At the Chelsea site falls risk
assessment within 6 hours of admission completion was 50.4% in 2023/24
compared to 32% in 2022/23 with West Middlesex site seeing a raise from
37.4% in 2022/23 to 58.3% in 2023/24. Despite an improvement, this falls
short of the internal target of 90%. Similarly for bed rails assessment this
increased at Chelsea from 15% in 2022/23 to 65.1% in 2023/24 and from 23%
at West Middlesex in 2022/23 to 58.35% in 2023/24. The 2023/24 compliance
rate still remains below the Trust internal target of 90%. The increase has
been enabled by the implementation of the Timely Care Hub and this increase
is anticipated to continue.

10.5 Fractured neck of femur in the elderly is a large contributor to hospital
admissions in the United Kingdom. There are 8 best practice criteria that are
required to be met for patients with a fractured neck of femur and 6 key
performance indicators.

10.6 A monthly working group to improve compliance with fractured neck of femur
best practice tariff compliance is in place cross-site led by the trainee
Orthopaedic Advanced Clinical Practitioners. This group reviews compliance
each month with a detailed case review for patients who do not meet all
elements of the best practice requirement. This analysis has been included in
their improvement plans.
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Introduction

This is the Chelsea and Westminster NHS Foundation Trust (CWFT) annual report of the Director of Infection Prevention
and Control (DIPC) for the period 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024.

The report summarises the work and measures undertaken to protect patients and staff against infections, and
provides assurance in relation to the Trust’s compliance with the requirements of the Health Act 2008 and the Code of
Practice on the prevention and control of infection and related guidance (updated 2022) and National Infection
Prevention and Control Manual for England. It outlines the developments undertaken by the Infection Prevention and
Control Team (IPCT) and summarises the following:

e The IPCT annual programme

e Mandatory surveillance reporting and progress against targets

¢ Incidents and outbreaks including the management of COVID-19 and seasonal influenza

e Hand hygiene and personal protective equipment (PPE) audits, infection prevention and control high impact
intervention audits

e  Surgical site infection surveillance programme

e Education and training including IPC link professionals

e Antibiotic stewardship

e Body fluid exposure management

e Decontamination and cleaning

e Hard services contributions

References:

NHS England (2022), National Infection Prevention & Control Manual for England. Updated February 2024, Version 2.9.
NHS England » National infection prevention and control manual (NIPCM) for England.

DOH 2008, Health & Social Care Act 2008 and the Code of Practice on the prevention and control of infection and
related guidance (updated 2022) and National Infection Prevention and Control Manual for England Health and Social
Care Act 2008: code of practice on the prevention and control of infections and related guidance - GOV.UK

(www.gov.uk)

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Version 5 —02.05.24
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2. Executive Summary

a. There were 4 cases of Trust apportioned MRSA bacteraemia against a trajectory of 0 to avoidable infection. A
targeted deep dive of Trust attributed MRSA bacteraemias was conducted at the end of the year, see Appendix
4.

b. There were 35 cases of Trust apportioned Clostridioides difficile infection (CDI) against a target of 25 for this
financial year. The Trust (January 2024 data) is ranked 11th of 135 Acute Trusts with a UK HSA average rate
(per 100,000 bed days + day admission) of 12.07, against the National average rate of 27.51 and a London NHS
Trust rate of 17.84 (UK HSA DCS data).

c. There were 127 Trust apportioned E.coli bacteraemias reported during 2023-24 which is an increase on last
year’s figure of 102. An increase in non-apportioned cases was also reported; 279 cases for 2023-24 in
comparison to 258 the previous year.

d. The average hand hygiene compliance score was 96% and overall completion of reporting was 99%. An
increase of 1% in completion from the previous year.

3. IPCT Annual Programme

Under the leadership of the DIPC, the IPCT in conjunction with a range of colleagues across the Trust have contributed
to the annual programme of work described in this report.

For the 2023/2024 period, the IPC team focussed on the harmonisation of IPC practices, policies and processes. Key
objectives for this year included; continuing to minimise the risk of healthcare associated infections, infection audit and
surveillance, further developing the skills and knowledge of staff, ensuring evidence based clinical guidance on IPC
practices and improving accessible patient information. The overarching IPC objectives for 2023/24 can be found in
Section 14.

The IPC team are involved in the provision of advice on Trust refurbishments and new builds projects. The team will
continue to provide proactive and reactive IPC advice, support Trust staff and monitor compliance with IPC policies.
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4, Mandatory Reporting

The Trust is required to report the healthcare associated infections outline in Figure 1 (below) to UKHSA. Cases are
apportioned into the following 3 categories based on data submitted.

e Hospital-onset healthcare-associated (HOHA): cases that are detected in the hospital two or more days after
admission.

e Community-onset healthcare-associated (COHA): cases that occur in the community (or within two days of
admission) when the patient has been a recent discharge from the reporting organisation with 28 days of their
positive blood culture.

e Community-Onset Community-associated (COCA): cases that occur in the community with no patient history
of a recent admission.

Due to the algorithm and definition changes introduced in July 2020, the Trust attributed blood stream infection rates
have risen in comparison to previous years. Analysis and review of all Trust attributed cases is conducted monthly.

2023/24 MANDATORY DATA
TRUST VS. COMMUNITY APPORTIONED CASES

M Trust Attributed Cases B Community Attributed Cases
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Figure 1: 2023/24 Mandatory Data Trust vs. Community Attributed Cases
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4.1. Clostridioides difficile Infection (CDI)
Trust apportioned Clostridioides difficile cases include:
e Hospital-onset healthcare-associated (HOHA): cases that are detected in the hospital two or more days after
admission.

e Community-onset healthcare-associated (COHA): cases that occur in the community (or within two days of
admission) when the patient has been an inpatient in the trust reporting the case in the previous four weeks.

There were 35 Trust apportioned CDI cases against a Target of 25. This is an increase in comparison to 27 Trust
apportioned cases for the year 2022/23 but is a 10.25% decrease with the 39 Trust attributed cases in 2019/2020.

There were 28 cases of non-trust apportioned CDI, a 180% increase on 2022/23’s 10 cases, in line with an increase in
community prevalence.

A root cause analysis (RCA) of each Trust apportioned case is initiated by the IPCT and senior medical and nursing staff
caring for each patient. Action plans are subsequently developed to address lessons learnt which are monitored at
Trust quality and risk meetings.

A Clostridioides difficile Deep Dive was conducted for 2023/24 (see Appendix 5) which summarises learning.

4.2. Meticillin Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) Bacteraemias

There were a total of 4 Trust apportioned MRSA bacteraemias from April 2023 — March 2024 against a target of zero, a
42.8% decrease on 2022/23. Of these four cases, two were community derived with patients admitted with signs and
symptoms of infection consistent with MRSA infection but attributed to the Trust due to the date of blood culture
receipt in relation to admission date. All four cases occurred at the CW site.

There were 8 Community apportioned cases. See Appendix 4 for a deep dive summary report of the MRSA bacteraemia
cases.

4.3. Meticillin Sensitive Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA) Bacteraemias

There were 24 cases of Trust apportioned MSSA bacteraemias (a reduction of 31% on last year’s Trust apportioned
cases) and 70 community apportioned cases (see Appendix 3 for summary data). No upper limit has been currently set.

4.4. E.coli Bacteraemias

There were 127 cases of Trust apportioned E.coli bacteraemias against a target of 70, and 279 community apportioned
cases (see Appendix 3 for summary data and Appendix 6 for in-depth report). This is an increase on the previous year’s
data of 102 Trust apportioned cases and 258 community apportioned cases also reflected in national increase in cases.

4.5. Klebsiella spp. Bacteraemias

There were 50 cases of Trust apportioned Klebsiella spp. bacteraemias, against a target of 33 and 68 community
apportioned cases (see Appendix 3 for summary data). This compares to 45 and 57 cases respectively for 2022 — 23.

4.6. Pseudomonas aeruginosa Bacteraemias
There were 22 cases of Trust apportioned Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemias, against a target of 19 and 17

community apportioned cases (see Appendix 3 for summary data). This is a reduction of 4.34% in Trust apportioned
cases when compared to 23 and 17 cases respectively for 2022 — 23.
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4.7. Orthopaedic Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Surveillance

Report written by IPC Surveillance Officer

Throughout the reported year 2023-24, the IPC Surveillance Officers continuously carried out mandatory Total Hip
Replacement (THR) and Total Knee Replacement (TKR) surgical site surveillance using criteria set forth by UK Health
Security Agency (UKHSA).

A total of two hundred and twenty-seven (227) hip procedures and three hundred forty-seven (347) knee procedures
were performed cross site for the year. One (1) hip and one (1) knee infections were identified for the Chelsea and
Westminster Hospital side with no infections at West Middlesex Hospital (see tables 1 and 2 below).

The required RCA meetings were conducted for the hip and knee infections and attended by all stake holders. The
meetings focused on refining protocols to help avoid infection; reinforcing the proven and appropriate care bundle, and
improving the overall engagement with the orthopaedics team and patients to encourage a better understanding of
necessary precautions to minimise the probability of infection. The RCA confirmed that there were no lapses in care.
The consultants/surgeons in attendance will follow up and discuss potential changes in practices by sharing learning
with the wider team.

It is worth noting that although the procedure numbers are slightly higher and infection rate is lower than those in the
previous year, the Trust infection rate for the Hip Replacement procedure is still above the national average. This is
understood to be affected by the generally lower numbers of procedures across both sites annually in comparison with
other trusts.

With regards to the 30-day surveillance follow-up with the patients, CWFT continues to have excellent engagement
from patients and is achieving between 85 — 95% patient responses in each quarter. There were no reported additional
cases of infection identified through surveillance follow up. The quarterly report generated by UKHSA is shared with the
orthopaedic surgeons for their information and action as required.

Table 1: CWFT Joint SSI Surveillance Data — Total Hip Replacement

Total Hip Replacement (THR)

Surveillance Period Number of Procedures | Number of Infections | Hospital % Infections | National Average
Apr—Jun 2023 56 0 0.0%

Jul —Sep 2023 61 0 0.0%

Oct — Dec 2023 68 1 0.0% 0.3%

Jan —March 2024 42 0 1.49%

Total 227 1 0.44%

Table 2: CWFT Joint SSI Surveillance Data — Total Knee Replacement

Total Knee Replacement (TKR)
Surveillance Period | Number of Procedures | Number of Infections Infections rate % National Average
Apr—Jun 2022 60 0 0.0%
Jul—Sep 2022 80 0 0.0%
Oct — Dec 2022 89 0 0.0% 0.3%
Jan —March 2023 118 1 0.85%
Total 347 1 0.28%
8

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Version 5 —02.05.24

Overall page 262 of 355



NHS

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust

&

5. Hand Hygiene
Hand hygiene is a key priority within the organisation. Monthly audits of hand hygiene compliance are conducted and
reported to the Infection Prevention and Control Group (IPCG).

Hand Hygiene

96%

Compliance

99%

Completion

From April 2023 — March 2043, 99% of hand hygiene audits were completed for the Trust and the mean hand hygiene
compliance rate was 96% (see summary data in Appendix 3).

Completion increased in comparison with the previous year and compliance remained above the local 95% target.

6. Infection Prevention and Control Audits
Infection Control Link Professionals (ICLPS) continue to audit peripheral venous catheters (PVC), urinary catheters (UC)
and central venous catheters (CVC) on a monthly basis, using a care bundle process. This process is an evidence-based

approach to clinical interventions which when implemented consistently, reduces variation and the risk of infection.

A new Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) audit was introduced in April 2022 which reviews staff compliance with
appropriate PPE usage.

Both sites audit electronically, via Survey Monkey.

Below are the average compliance scores for 2023/2024:

e PVC:92%

e (CVC:95%

e  Paediatrics CVC: 97%
e UC:93%

e PPE:95%

During April 2023 — March 2024, divisional triumvirates continued to receive a divisional dashboard, developed to allow
them oversight of their audit data in order to improve on the IPC performance figures, with feedback received at the
monthly IPCG. (See Appendix 3 for further details). Audit compliance has continued to improve with the additional
oversight and timely intervention. Trust apportioned bacteraemias and CDI cases are also included to facilitate further
monitoring, oversight and divisional review.
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2023/24 IPC Metric Compliance vs. Non-compliance per Division
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Figure 2: Compliant vs. Non-compliant IPC metrics per Division

As evidenced from the graph above (Figure 2), audit compliance is improving in the majority of divisions with the
number of IPC metrics requiring review reducing across the year.

10
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Screening for Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales (CPE)
A Carbapenem Resistant Organism (CRO) risk assessment is carried out on all patients on admission to the Trust; this
identifies patients that require screening for CRO and that are at high risk of carrying carbapenemase producing

Enterobacterales (CPE). Patients are also screened on admission to ITU and NICU and weekly during their augmented

the WM (see Appendix 3 for CPE matrix and Mechanism of resistance data).
2023/24 CPE Surveillance of New Cases per Site and Month

From April 2023 — March 2024 there were a total of 96 newly identified cases of CPE, 52 at the CW site and 42 cases at
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Figure 3: CWFT Monthly CPE Surveillance of New Cases
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Emerging Infections / Horizon Scanning

8.1. COoVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic remained a large focus of the IPC work alongside the usual work carried out by the IPC team in
2023/2024. The IPC team was responsive and actively involved in implementing the UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA)
guidance as it was published to keep patients, visitors and staff safe. This was delivered actively through review of and
writing of guidelines, patient pathways, Trust wide webinars, updated communication bulletins and included in all
training content.

Significant updates of guidance published by UKHSA in March 2023, included changes to the number of days required
for isolation. Furthermore, healthcare staff with respiratory symptoms were no longer required to test for COVID-19,

whilst staff who tested positive for COVID-19 were no longer required to have 2 negative lateral flow test (LFT) before
returning to work.

Updates to the Trust respiratory pathways were made to implement targeted testing of patients presenting with or
developing respiratory symptoms, moving away from universal testing. Pathways also included updated guidance on
isolation and patient management. The IPC team continued to manage clusters/outbreaks and to identify contacts of
patients with COVID-19 in need of testing and monitoring as a precautionary measure to facilitate early identification,
isolation and management.

Whilst the number of COVID-19 cases fluctuates, the incidence of severe iliness has reduced over the last year. The
team has, and will continue to, promote standard infection control and transmission-based precautions, in line with
national IPC guidance, to provide on-going safe care for patients, visitors and staff at all times.

8.1.1. COVID-19 Clusters / Outbreaks 2023-24

During the year 2023-24, the IPC team advised on and supported the management of 2 outbreaks and 1 clusters of
COVID-19 on the Chelsea site and 8 outbreaks and 3 clusters on the West Middlesex site, for a total of 14 managed
incidents. Divisionally, EIC division managed 8 outbreaks and 3 clusters, while PC division managed 2 outbreaks and 1
cluster. Regular outbreak/ incident meetings were held. The UKHSA and NWL ICS were notified and the following
additional containment measures were implemented:

* Isolating/cohorting advice for COVID-19 positive patients.

*  COVID-19 positive patients were reviewed for COVID-19 treatment by clinical teams.
*  Monitoring all patient contacts daily for new onset of respiratory symptoms.

*  Daily asymptomatic LFT testing for patient contacts. If symptomatic, rapid PCR testing performed and if
negative, routine respiratory viral screen performed.

*  Ward/bay closures to protect other patients, staff and visitors.

* Increased frequency of cleaning implemented and infectious discharge cleans for affected bays.

*  Universal surgical mask wearing on the affected areas.

*  Daily staff LFT screening.

*  Restricted visiting for the COVID-19 positive patients and contact bays, except for essential visitors.

*  Regular IPC ward visits to support staff.

12
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The vast majority of patients testing positive had mild infection, and the management of outbreaks created a significant
challenge, however business continuity, patient safety and flow was maintained and facilitated throughout to support

clinical and site teams.

Lessons learnt

Value of screening asymptomatic COVID-19 contacts with LFT due to the high number of conversions from
negative to positive in an outbreak setting which helped in the early identification of cases and enabled the
interruption of infection transmission.

Important to utilise PCR rapid testing for patients with respiratory symptoms rather than LFT as a more
sensitive test help early identification and exclude co-infection.

Perform Rapid PCR for symptomatic patients instead of routine PCR to avoid prolonged exposure of contacts.
Important to isolate symptomatic patients while awaiting COVID-19 PCR results.

Isolating positive patients as soon as possible was imperative to avoid exposing contacts and increasing the risk
of the contacts converting to positive cases.

Encouraging staff to send lab PCR if rapid PCR negative or indeterminate.

Importance of staff to strictly follow the sickness policy and isolate at home if symptomatic.

Importance of staff adhering to strict respiratory precautions when looking after COVID-19 positive patients,
which includes wearing FFP3 and eye protection.

Table 3: COVID-19 Summary of Outbreak/Cluster 2023-2024

Classifications
Site
co HO.iHA HO.pHA HO.dHA Total
Trust Total 5 26 33 83 147

CO: - Community onset (diagnosed within 2 days of admission)
HO.iHA: - Indeterminate as to whether acquired in hospital or community (diagnosed 3-7 days)
HO.pHA: - Probable hospital acquired (diagnosed 8-14 days after admission)
HO.dHA: - Definite hospital acquired (diagnosed 15+ days after admission)

Cases were classified according to the below COVID-19 case definitions:

13
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Seasonal Influenza

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust began flu planning in April 2023 and used learning from
previous flu seasons to develop a robust plan, particularly in relation to vaccination of front-line staff. The steering
group met weekly from September 2023 until February 2024. The group was chaired by the Director for Infection
Prevention and Control (IPC) and had representation from IPC, microbiology, nursing, clinical divisional representatives,
maternity, pharmacy and communications and cross-site medical directors. Planning meetings were held throughout
the summer of 2023 and staff vaccination commenced at the beginning of October 2023 with ‘big bang’ launch events
held across sites.

Figure 4 illustrates Influenza A and Influenza B positivity demonstrating an initial peak for Influenza A in December 2023
and a secondary peak January 2024, aligns with both regional data (see Figures 5 and 6) and national (Figure 7) below.

CWFT Influenza Surveillance 2023/24
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Figure 4: CWFT Seasonal Influenza Surveillance
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Figure 5: North West London pathology Influenza A Surveillance
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Figure 7: Weekly overall Influenza hospital admission rates per 100,000-trust catchment population with MEM (Moving
Epidemic Method) thresholds, SARI Watch, England. UK HSA weekly influenza surveillance report dated 18/04/2024.
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9.1. Staff Vaccination
The Trust achieved 34.50% vaccination rate of front-line staff against a CQUIN target of 70%.

Whilst the vaccination rate result was lower than the set CQUIN target, vaccination coverage was in line with other
organisations across the country and CWFT achieved the highest Influenza vaccination rate in NWL sector

As well as roving vaccinators, WMH offered a walk-in service whilst CWH was largely appointment focussed. Vaccine
hesitancy and perceptions of vaccine effectiveness may have contributed to the reduction in staff vaccinations.

Table 4: Staff Vaccination Rates

Total Immform for Trust
Eligible Substantive staff 6436
Flu Immunised 2463
Rate (flu) 34.50%
C19 Immunised 2108
Rate (C19) 28.23%

Table 5: Staff Vaccination Rates by Division

Flu Vaccine COoVID-19

Overall (CQUIN) (Frontline staff) 34.50% 28.84%
Overall (Internal) (all Trust staff) 37.32% 31.36%

Internal CQUIN Internal CQUIN
Emergency & Integrated Care Division 42.43% 42.43% 34.89% 34.89%
Corporate Division 30.90% 57.73% 31.37% 55.67%
Planned Care Division 40.44% 40.44% 33.23% 33.23%
West London Children’s Hospital 38.48% 38.48% 33.09% 33.09%
Specialist Care 35.59% 35.59% 28.97% 28.97%
Enterprise Division 31.84% 31.87% 22.87% 22.87%
Clinical Support Division 33.58% 33.58% 28.72% 28.72%
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Incidents, Outbreaks and Clusters (Excluding COVID-19)

10.1. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

Two Cases of HAlI MRSA Bacteraemia on Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

First case was a baby admitted to CW from Queen Charlottes Children’s Hospital on 15/04/23 due to intestinal
perforation. The baby was identified as MRSA colonised from routine screening swabs (17/07/23), endotracheal
secretions (18/07/23) and a blood culture (19/07/23). The second case was a baby born at CW on 15/06/23 through an
emergency C-section. The baby was initially colonised with MRSA on a sample taken on 16/07/23 and subsequently a
blood culture taken on 12/08/23 isolated MRSA.

IPC containment measures were implemented — with an immediate incident meeting and RCA performed, contact
precautions commenced, all inpatients on the unit had additional screening for MRSA above the usual weekly screens,
increased frequency of cleaning implemented with thorough cleaning of equipment, regular review of cleaning logs of
shared equipment initiated with daily hand hygiene and PPE audits, daily CVC/PVC audits, line care was optimized
through review of practice, competencies and products used for skin preparation for cannulation to ensure in line with
national guidance, staff refresher education sessions conducted on line care and management. Blood culture samples
were sent also sent for typing and were found to have different profiles (MLST: ST 1649 MLST allelic profile: 12, 4, 1, 4,
12, 1, 67 and MLST Allelic Profile: 12, 706, 1, 4, 12, 1, 3 MLST Multi locus sequence type: ST Novel ST Closest ST:6 SLV).
Although typing found differing profiles, the incidence highlighted the importance of hand hygiene, device care and
isolation along with compliance with IPC measures to prevent invasive infections, cross-transmission and all actions
taken were supported by UKHSA colleagues. No further MRSA blood stream infections on NICU have occurred since
April 2023 following IPC and NICU interventions

Increased Incidence of Staph capitis on Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

Five babies were identified with Staph capitis bloodstream infections between 25/04/23 to 10/05/23. IPC containment
measures were implemented — an incident meeting convened, and review highlighted that many babies required
multiple intravenous lines and had existing gut issues. All samples were sent to reference laboratory for typing and
results did not suggest cross-transmission.

Learning highlighted that following line removal, line tips should be sent to the laboratory with a paired blood culture
to ascertain if a line infection has occurred. A cot tracking system, was implemented along with additional cleaning of
cots prior to use from storage, even if they had been previously cleaned. The unit was advised to optimize IV line
management and all actions taken were overseen and supported by UKHSA colleagues.

Invasive Group A Streptococcus on Maternity

A patient admitted initially to Labour ward on 28/05/23 and discharged home on 30/05/23 was re-admitted to
Josephine Barnes ward on 03/06/23 due to feeling unwell and purulent discharge from suture site. Septic screen from
blood, urine, perineum and high vaginal swabs detected Beta-haemolytic Strep Group A. The patient received prompt
and appropriate antimicrobial therapy and the following IPC containment measures were initiated immediately -
incident meeting convened with UKHSA; patient and staff contact tracing conducted; chemoprophylaxis and warn and
inform letters distributed to all high risk patients; warn and inform letters given to all low risk contacts; staff contacts
were assessed and a warn and inform letter also provided following the advice of UKHSA. The incident meeting
emphasised the importance of compliance with IPC measures and was supported by UKHSA colleagues.
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Invasive Group A Streptococcus in a health care worker (HCW)

A HCW attended CW Emergency Department (ED) on 16/06/23 with fever and sore throat, and on that visit, was
treated and discharged with safety netting. The HCW re-presented on 19/06/23 and was admitted to AAU. An invasive
Group A Streptococcus (iGAS) was identified from a blood culture. During the infectious period the HCW worked a shift
on Osterley 2, Richmond ward and AAU. Immediate actions taken included: identification of patient and staff contacts;
isolation of the patient; instigation of respiratory precautions; incident meeting arranged with UKHSA in attendance.
Patient and staff contacts were identified and received warn and inform letters. The HCW lived with another CWFT
HCW and they were considered a close contact requiring chemoprophylaxis and were followed up by UKHSA. No staff
or patient contacts were categorised as “high risk” requiring chemoprophylaxis and community contacts were managed
by NWL Health Protection Team in liaison with Occupational Health.

Respiratory Tuberculosis (TB) exposure on Emergency Department (ED)

A patient presented to CW ED on 17/07/23 due to a drug overdose and was diagnosed with TB on 18/07/23. The
patient had multiple visits to CW ED unrelated to TB. Further investigation showed the patient had several abnormal
chest X-rays but absconded or self-discharged before action could be taken. The patient additionally attended St.
Mary’s Hospital ED on 13/07/23 due to head injury and trauma and abnormalities indicative of TB were seen on the
chest X-ray and CT which were communicated by the St. Mary’s TB team to CW TB team. IPC containment measures
initiated included - incident meeting convened, the patient required a section under part 2A order following clinical
assessment by the TB team and was transferred to St. Mary’s for further management and treatment, a risk assessment
of potential patient and staff contacts with a focus on recent admissions was conducted as advised by UKHSA, no
patient contacts were identified and no significant staff contacts, however staff were given a warn and inform letter. All
actions were directed and supported by UKHSA colleagues.

Norovirus increased incidence on Nightingale ward

From 20/12/23 to 26/12/23 there was an increased incidence of norovirus on Nightingale ward involving patients and
staff. Two patients were identified norovirus positive and nine members of staff were reported symptomatic and off
from work. The following containment measures were promptly implemented: isolation of the infectious patients with
enteric contact precautions, strict adherence to hand hygiene using soap and water, enhanced cleaning implemented,
closure of affected bays as appropriate, strict stool chart adherence, clinical assessment of all patients, norovirus
samples sent for any symptomatic patients, communication to all staff, staff adherence to Trust sickness policy.
Learning gained was the importance of prompt identification and isolation of symptomatic patients and prompt
communications to all staff.

Norovirus outbreak on Edgar Horne and Nightingale

In January 2024, there were two norovirus outbreaks, one on Edgar Horne and one on Nightingale ward. On Edgar
Horne, there were five confirmed patient cases and six staff reported symptoms of diarrhoea and/or vomiting. On
Nightingale ward, there were eight confirmed positive patients and five staff with symptoms. The Nightingale outbreak
was a mixed pathogen cluster with three patients also identified with COVID-19, requiring management on the ward in
order to prevent norovirus transmission to other areas of the hospital. Measures taken to contain both outbreaks
included closed bays and/or the ward to admissions as appropriate; outbreak meetings held with input from UKHSA;
strict adherence to enteric and respiratory precautions; increased frequency of cleaning; dedicated bathrooms for
affected bays; laxative and early clinical review for all patients; strict stool chart monitoring; restricted visiting;
appropriate signage display; staff adherence to Trust sickness policy; daily visits by IPC; safety netting advice to all
discharged patients.
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Learning identified from both outbreaks was the importance of: good communication between all staff groups; early
recognition of an outbreak by the wards; early involvement of IPC; prompt isolation of positive cases; education and
support for the wards with IPC practices; appropriate signage displayed; changing PPE between patients, BBE and
importance of laxative and timely clinical reviews to establish alternative diagnosis.

Influenza A outbreak on Rainsford Mowlem ward

In January 2024, eleven patients tested positive for influenza A, across all bays and four staff reported symptoms. The
following containment measures were implemented: incident meetings held; closure of the ward and bays as
appropriate; enhanced cleaning on the ward; laboratory testing in addition to rapid testing for symptomatic patients;
all patients clinically risk assessed for influenza prophylaxis and treatment; patient cohorting as appropriate; essential
visitors only; staff vaccinators attended the ward to improve staff vaccination uptake; volunteers advised not to attend
the ward; staff reminded to adhere to the sickness policy.

Lessons learned, the importance of prompt clinical risk assessment of contacts for influenza prophylaxis and
documenting that this has been done; ensuring that positive patients are on treatment and isolated as early as possible;
the importance of sending a Rapid PCR and additional laboratory PCR (as test sensitivity issues were highlighted) for all
symptomatic patients to ensure a diagnosis/dual infection is not missed; the importance of risk assessing patients for
other causes of fever/respiratory concerns, particularly when cohorting patients.

Measles

From January 2024 to March 2024 there have been thirty-eight cases of measles presenting to Chelsea and
Westminster hospital. Thirty-four presented to the Paediatric Emergency Department and four attended the Adult
Emergency Department, of these, eight were admitted to wards. Contact tracing and risk assessment of patients and
staff was carried out for all cases to determine whether chemoprophylaxis was required following UKHSA guidelines.
IPC reiterated the need for early diagnostics, the need for strict adherence to airborne respiratory precautions, the
correct use of personal protective equipment (PPE), the correct technique for donning and doffing PPE safely, prompt
isolation, patient placement and increased frequency of cleaning of inpatient rooms.

Two HAI Campylobacter cases on St Mary Abbot ward

Two patients have been identified on St Mary Abbot ward with Campylobacter. The first case had Campylobacter jejuni
detected in a blood culture on 19/03/24, and stool sample was culture negative. The second patient had Campylobacter
species PCR detected in a stool sample on 20/03/24. Two staff additionally reported diarrhoea in the previous 10 days,
and were followed up by the ward manager. No overlap in patient locations was identified and both patients were
managed clinically appropriately. There were no further cases identified and it was concluded that the two cases were
not related.

10.2. West Middlesex Hospital

Increased Incidence of Measles

For the month of May 2023, there were 5 patients (1 adult and 4 children) identified with measles. All confirmed IgM &
PCR positive, requiring further clinical management as inpatients. One further paediatric case was considered a
probable case but discharged from ED. All 6 cases were communicated to ED and concerned wards to contact trace
potential patient and staff contacts in order to initiate necessary management. Four patient contacts were identified
from the adult case and the clinical team were advised to inform patients, conduct a risk assessment and offer
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prophylaxis if necessary. There were no staff contacts reported and no onward transmission between patient and staff
was identified. Additional IPC measures performed included - reiterating the importance of strict adherence to
respiratory precautions and patient placement, maintaining enhanced cleaning in ED, and immediately isolating
patients with suspected or confirmed respiratory infections. NWL-HPT was notified of all cases. As measles continues to
be a concern nationally, the IPC team continue to reiterate the IPC precautions and management required in teachings
sessions along with any national alerts from UKHSA.

TB Exposure on Acute Medical Unit

A 68-year-old male presented to WM AEC on 04/07/23 due to SOB, unwell for 3-4 weeks. The patient previously
attended ED on 27/06/23 and was discharged with antimicrobials for a presumed community acquired pneumonia.
During the July admission, the patient was investigated for possible TB, however, the patient was not isolated with
respiratory precautions until 11/07/23 although TB was considered a possible diagnosis on admission. A sputum
specimen sent on 10/07/23 was positive for AFB+++ and TB PCR. IPC measures were initiated upon identification of
positive results — an incident meeting was convened with support from UKHSA colleagues to determine learning and
improve practice, contact tracing was conducted and identified possible exposure of 55 patients, 22 of which needed to
be screened for TB while the rest received warn and inform letters. 50 staff were sent warn and inform letters. The case
was investigated as a serious incidence by EIC Division to implement learning regarding the management of the patient,
including investigation and isolation

Chickenpox Exposure on Specialist Care Baby Unit

The sibling of one of the babies in Nursery 1 visited the ward on 14/09/23 and was later confirmed to have chicken pox
on 17/09/23. Six patient contacts were identified as a result of the exposure. The following IPC containment measures
were initiated immediately - an incidence meeting was convened, contacts were cohorted and risk assessed for
serology testing and prophylaxis, prophylaxis was administered to 5 patients based on the results, UKHSA colleagues
advised on the treatment plan and need for prophylaxis, and staff maintained standard infection control precautions.
No subsequent cases of chickenpox were identified among the six contacts. The ward and clinical and nursing team
were commended on the prompt management of the case given the short window for prophylaxis for babies at risk,
staff were all aware of their VZV status and provided excellent communication to families and staff and the Trust
Communications team were informed to help support.

Measles incident involving Emergency Department, Acute Medical Unit, and Specialist Care Baby Unit

A 36-year-old HCW, who works in the Trust, was admitted to WM AMU side room via ED on 23/02/24 with headache,
vomiting, chest pain and development of rash on the face on 22/02/24. The HCW was initially treated for meningitis
and was eventually confirmed as measles IgM positive from a serology sample sent on 27/02/24. An incident meeting
was convened to discuss the case with UKHSA, including patient and staff contacts during the admission and whilst
working on SCBU during their infectious period. Based on the risk assessment and UKHSA recommendations, patient
and staff contacts identified were given warn and inform letters. A total of 7 patient contacts were identified from
SCBU, all remained asymptomatic. A total of 55 staff contacts were identified. Lessons learnt included: the importance
of compliance with PPE including FFP3 and visors for patients suspected with measles; the importance of staff
compliance with the vaccination/ immunization requirement and if unsure to liaise with Occupational Health;
importance of staff adherence with the Trust sickness policy; and implementation of the Trust visiting policy.
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Education and Training

The IPC team provide training for staff across the organisation. This includes mandatory training for all staff along with
mandatory updates for clinical staff. The team also provided a wide range of additional education and training sessions
for all new clinical staff, including junior doctors and medical students. Furthermore, the team resumed the conduct of
face-to-face training for infection control link practitioners (ICLP). The team also delivered bite-sized teaching sessions
during ward visits in the clinical areas in response to incidences and outbreaks. A new updated eLearning module was
developed and has been implemented in January 2024.

Table 6: Mandatory Training Compliance 2023-24

Date Infection Control - Level 1 Infection Control - Level 2
30/04/2023 94% 92%
31/05/2023 95% 92%
30/06/2023 96% 93%
31/07/2024 96% 92%
31/08/2023 95% 91%
30/09/2023 95% 92%
31/10/2023 94% 92%
30/11/2023 95% 92%
31/12/2023 95% 92%
31/01/2024 94% 92%
29/02/2024 95% 93%
31/03/2024 94% 92%

Table 7: Level 1 Mandatory Compliance by Division
Infection Control (Hand Apr May | Jun Jul Aug | Sep | Oct | Nov | Dec | Jan | Feb | Mar
Hygiene)
Overall %

Clinical Support Division
Corporate Division

Emerge.!n.cy & Integrated 85% 85% 36% | 87%
Care Division

Enterprise Division
Planned Care Division
West London Children's
Hospital

Women’s, Children’s and
Sexual Health Division

Table 8: Level 2 Mandatory Compliance by Division

Apr May Jun Jul Aug | Sep | Oct | Nov | Dec | Jan Feb | Mar
23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24

Infection Control - Level 2

Overall %

Clinical Support Division
Corporate Division
Emergency & Integrated
Care Division

Enterprise Division
Planned Care Division
West London Children's
Hospital

Women'’s, Children’s and
Sexual Health Division
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11.1. IPC Roadshows

The IPC team conducted an IPC week roadshow cross site, providing war- based education sessions during the IPC week
in October 2023. The team focused on the use of isolation signage and gloves off campaign and the key themes were:
appropriate use of isolation signage, PPE and adherence to hand hygiene. The sessions were extremely well received
and over 100 staff have attended. The roadshow themes changed monthly with a focus on hand hygiene, glove use and
bare below elbows.

The survey which asked staff if they learned anything from the IPC week roadshow revealed that 98.18% of staff
responded yes while 1.82% said no. The roadshow was rated 9.4, out of 10. Overall, all staff enjoyed the IPC week
roadshow with a rating of 100%.
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The IPC team have a well-established cohort of Infection Control Link Professionals (ICLPs) across both sites. ICLPs are
responsible for supporting and monitoring the Trust’s infection control priorities at ward/department level. This

includes the completion of hand hygiene audits, personal protective equipment audits and High Impact Intervention

audits, which support the on-going care of peripheral vascular devices, central venous catheters and urinary catheters
to prevent infections. The IPC team held five ICLP study days this year and a total of 75 staff were trained with many
staff on the waiting list for the next course. The divisional breakdown of attendance was: 21 from Emergency and
Integrated Care, 26 from Planned Care and Surgery, 15 from Specialist Care, 2 from West London Children’s Hospital, 11
from Clinical Support and 2 from Enterprise. The ICLP study days continue to be oversubscribed with a long waiting list

of interested staff keen to be supported in improving IPC practice across the Trust and feedback is always very positive.

Table 9: Average feedback scores (out of 10) and sample feedback comments

Date A;:;:ge Sample of Comments Received
e Consolidated knowledge, cemented importance.
02.06.23 | 8.91/10 | e Good interaction between the attendees and speaker
e Veryinformative.
e Liked the use of pictures/graphs and practical hand gel demonstration.
04.08.23 | 9.15/10 | e So passionate and very engaging, answered all questions, excellent knowledge
e Lots of good examples, energetic and engaging
e Very good overall.
01.09.23 | 8.84/10 e Informative especially on notes/alerts on Cerner
e This session taught me an outbreak management and PPE usage. It has also shown me
new Cerner selections | had previously not known.
e Updated knowledge with current guidelines of respiratory and other infectious disease.
13.10.23 | 9.07/10 | e Good content.
e Provided good rationale and clear discussion.
e Informative and helpful
23.02.24 | 9.13/10 . Ha.nd hygie.ne important to .protect the patie.nts, collc.ea.gues a.n.d yours.elf. I really
enjoyed being able to practice the hand hygiene audit in a clinical environment.
e Interesting topics
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Infection Prevention and Control Board Assurance Framework

The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) document brings together all relevant information and guidance required to
assess compliance against the National Infection Prevention and Control Manual (NIPCM) and other related infection
prevention and control guidance, to identify risks associated with infectious agents, providing an additional level of
assurance to the Board.

The BAF was first drafted as a guidance document for healthcare providers in response to COVID-19; since UKHSA
COVID-19 guidance was archived at the end of April 2022, the BAF in combination with the NIPCM are supporting this
transition.

Using the BAF ensures that CWFT can respond in an evidence-based manner to maintaining the safety of patients,
service users, and staff. The BAF is regularly reviewed to ensure currency and identify gaps in policy and practice
implementation. Risks and gaps are captured and the required processes to address these gaps are highlighted to the
relevant leads and divisions to ensure patient and staff safety

Several gaps have been addressed over the last year by stakeholders including:

e 24/7 Rapid flu testing introduced including Influenza A/B/RSV/COVID-19

e Aventilation Group has been set up at CWFT to provide assurance and has highlighted several areas across the
organisation where ventilation and ventilation governance requires improvement and optimisation

e Transfer documentation to include patient infection status has been developed by the ICS

e Infection Dashboards have been developed to ensure consistent oversight of infection concerns at EMB and
divisional level for review and intervention

e Change of room function remains a gap that is being addressed by the Director of Estates and facilities team to
ensure that should wards require a change to room function, there is appropriate oversight, including water
safety to reduce the risk of Legionella and Pseudomonas aeruginosa across the organisation

e Weekly and monthly cleaning audits are in-line with National Standards of Healthcare Cleanliness

e The Trust has improved assurance of antimicrobial prescribing in the peri-operative surgical setting. The
increasing burden of resistance does increase the risk of post-operative related infections

e The Trust has improved oversight of the antimicrobial prescribing in the out-patient clinical settings. Areas of
high antimicrobial usage (e.g. dermatology and sexual health clinics) have limited AMS oversight at present
and this is being reviewed at ICS AMS level
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14.  Overarching IPC Priorities 2023-24

Table 10: IPC Priorities for 2023-24

Objective

Rationale

Reinvigorate Gloves Off campaign

Opportunity to review the best available evidence regarding PPE usage.
Improve healthcare worker hand hygiene practice.

Education for healthcare staff on best practice for glove use.

Reduce glove wastage.

Assess Financial impact of reducing glove use

This Objective is currently on-going with education and auditing in place

Increase the number of ICLP trained
staff across the Trust

To ensure there are IPC role models across all wards and departments
acting as a visible IPC advocates.

Promotion of best IPC practice.

Enable effective challenging/managing of poor practice across all
disciplines.

ICLPs can be used a training resource for local staff.

ICLPs will be encouraged to collaborate and communicate regularly with
the IPC team to offer support locally.

This objective is on-going with excellent feedback from ICLP training days
and improved IPC metrics across the Trust

Upskilling and education of the IPC
team

Ensure the IPC team continue to develop specialist IPC skills and knowledge
to better support and educate healthcare workers.

CVC Line Surveillance

This will enable identification of gaps in practice.

Opportunity to review the best available evidence regarding line care.
Reduce Gram positive and Gram-negative line-associated bloodstream
infections.

Improve patient outcomes.

A monthly peer review bacteraemia MDT meeting has been set up along
with monthly dashboards and feedback at divisional and ICS/APC level

Urinary Catheter Surveillance

Identify gaps in practice.

Opportunity to review the best available evidence regarding urinary
catheter care.

Reduce Catheter associated UTls.

Reduce Gram negative bloodstream infections associated with urinary
catheter care.

Improve patient outcomes.

A monthly peer review bacteraemia MDT meeting has been set up along
with monthly dashboards and feedback at divisional and ICS/APC level

Reduce Trust apportioned CDI cases.

Improve patient safety and patient outcomes

Ongoing regular deep dives of C.diff cases to review trend analysis with
local education and C.diff poster development. Feedback and learning
discussed at RCA and ward level and learning shared at NWL ICS/APC
meetings.

Reduce Trust apportioned E.coli
bacteraemia cases

Improve patient safety and patient outcomes are being achieved through
better oversight of blood stream infections through monthly MDT
discussions, divisional dashboards and NWL APC/ICS discussions

Collaborative working with divisions to
improve standards.

Transparency and oversight of cases of hospital acquired infections, IPC
audit results studies/ reports pertaining to the Divisions.

Improve patient safety and patient outcomes through on-going
refinement of divisional dashboard and communication. Shared learning
encouraged and highlighted at IPCG monthly meetings and across the
NWL APC IPC.

Work with the ICS and local health and
social care organisations to reduce

The Government has an ambition to halve healthcare associated Gram-
negative blood stream infections by delivering a 25% reduction by 2021 -
2022 with the full 50% reduction by 2023 — 2024.
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Gram-negative bloodstream Shared learning highlighted at IPCG monthly meetings and across the
infections. NWL APC IPC meetings
Continue to provide assurance that The Code of Practice sets out the 10 criteria against which the Trust will be

the Trust complies with the criteriain | judged on how it complies with the registration requirements related to
the Code of Practice for the control of | infection prevention by the Care Quality Commission achieved through
infection and related guidance (2015) continues BAF review.

The increase in antimicrobial resistance is recognised both nationally and

Continue to monitor multi-drug internationally as a major threat to public health and the IPC continue to
resistant micro-organisms and ensure monitor invasive infections and screen positive results to prevent cross
processes are in place to minimise transmission or Gram negative multi-drug resistant organisms as well as
their transmission. MRSA and C.auris. On-going surveillance in place and policies developed in

response to emerging pathogens.

14.1.  IPC Objectives for 2024-25

The infection Prevention and Control objectives and priorities are intended to focus on the continuing requirement to
reduce HCAI and to firmly embed infection prevention and control into everyday practice to keep patient, visitors and
staff safe. The IPC team will focus on the following four objectives for the period 2024/2025, which are aligned with the
Trust strategic priorities to provide high quality patient centred care along with the quality metrics of improving clinical
effectiveness, health outcomes, enhancing patient experience and translating learning into better outcomes:

e  “Back to basics campaign”: this will raise awareness and focus on all aspects of IPC including HCAI reduction,
gloves off campaign/ appropriate use of PPE and hand hygiene through education and communication
strategies in order to improve clinical effectiveness, health outcomes and translate learning

e There will be an ongoing focus on CDI cases with review on improving appropriate testing, isolation, case
identification and reduction of risk factors where possible, to improve and translate learning into better health
outcomes

e  Optimise use of digital media and learning platforms for the delivery of Key IPC messages to improve clinical
effectiveness, learning and health outcomes and align IPC education to the National IPC Education Framework

e  Build on providing patient centred care through a review of information provided to patients, including
supporting patients to adhere to IPC practice.

IPC Policies

The IPC team has a comprehensive policy review programme to ensure that all policies reflect the latest evidence —
based practice. For the period 2023 — 2024, the following policies and guidelines outlined in Table 10 have been
reviewed and updated. All other IPC polices are currently in date.

Table 11: IPC Policies reviewed in the period 2023-2024.

Policy Title Date of Approval

Candida Auris November 2023

Decontamination Procedure for the high-level disinfection of Semi-critical Ultrasound
Probes (Trans vaginal and Trans rectal): using a manual (chlorine dioxide) multi - wipe November 2023
system.

Animals on Hospital Premises Guidelines September 2023

See Appendix 2 for all other IPC policies and their renewal due dates.
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Antimicrobial Stewardship

The overarching aim of antimicrobial stewardship (AMS) is to optimise safe, appropriate, and economic use of
antimicrobial agents to improve patient outcomes from infection while minimising negative consequences such as HCAI
and the development of antimicrobial resistance (AMR). The AMS programme allows us to control and maintain
antimicrobial use and respond to the rising global resistance threat of antimicrobial resistance.

The Trust has a dedicated specialist pharmacy team working with medical microbiology, infection control and clinicians
to form the Antimicrobial Stewardship Group (ASG), which reports to the Medicines Committee. The antimicrobial
pharmacists and microbiologists work closely to ensure appropriate antimicrobial stewardship guidance is practiced in
the clinical setting. Regular ward rounds, MDTs, and surveillance help support this.

The AMS programme reported on several key achievements in 2022/23. These include:

e Successfully meeting and exceeding NHSE CQUIN 2023/24 goals

e Successfully meeting and exceeding NHSE NHS Contract requirements for reduced antimicrobial usage

e  Continued provision of real-time antimicrobial stewardship review of admitted patients with infection (>20,000
reviews completed in last 12 months)

e Recruitment of a research (pharmacy) fellow for 12 month FTE contract

16.1 Specialist Advice / Support / Ward Rounds

The antimicrobial team provide daily (Monday — Friday) ward rounds and virtual reviews to all in-patients at the CWFT
with the exception of neonates. The team use computer decision support system (CDSS) linked through Cerner to
proactively identify patients on antimicrobial therapy and provide a timely review of antimicrobial prescribing. There is
immediate and real time feedback on AMS performance to clinical teams, allowing for continued AMS education to
users. The team has oversight of 230 patients (120 CWH and 110 WMH) on antimicrobials, including antifungals and
COVID-19 therapies, every day (Monday — Friday). A total of 23,014 documented interventions made over the last
financial year.

16.2 Trust AMS group

The Trust AMS group meets quarterly across site to provide governance and oversight to antimicrobial prescribing and
management of infection. The group is supported by some clinical specialities across site (e.g. adult acute medicine,
paediatrics, HIV, anaesthetics, obstetrics and elderly care) but lacks engagement with some key stakeholders (no
surgical, intensive care, or emergency care representation).

16.3 Key Performance Indications

16.3.1 NHSE CQUIN 2023/24

The NHSE CQUIN for antimicrobials was launched in April 2023 with the expectation that Trusts would improve review
of intravenous antimicrobials in adult patients at CWFT. Data was collected quarterly for the Trust by the AMS
pharmacy team for submission. The Trust has exceeded the minimum target (60%) with compliance identified in 87%,

91%, 87% and 92% for the four quarters of the financial year, respectively. The Trust met all standards for each quarter.

16.3.2 NHSE National Contract
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The NHS national contract outlines target antimicrobial consumption targets for all NHS acute trusts. The 2023/24
contract sets out a target reduction (>6% in DDD/1,000 trust beds) of broad-spectrum antimicrobials, defined as WHO
Watch or Reserve, from baseline usage in 2018. The CWFT AMS team continued with an ongoing programme of
stewardship to best utilise antimicrobials and reduce unnecessary or excess prescribing. This has been implemented by
using shorter total durations of therapies (strategy for AMS at CWFT ‘shorter is better’), timely reviews of antimicrobials
for in-patients and the introduction of novel diagnostic tests to support antimicrobial avoidance in low risk patients
(e.g. procalcitonin). Through this work, CWFT has reduced broad-spectrum antimicrobial use by >30% reduction in total
broad-spectrum antibacterials from baseline (2018), exceeding the national targets (>6%). This is against a baseline
increase of 6% seen by peer London NHS hospitals [Figure 8].

Broad spectum (WATCH & RESERVE) usage
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Figure 8. Broad-spectrum antibacterial usage at CWFT compared to London peer NHS hospitals (2018 (baseline) —
2023/24)

Total antibacterials usage (narrow and broad-spectrum combined) has also reduced significantly (>20%) over the last
financial year from baseline 2018. This shows continued improvement in the AMS strategy to minimise unnecessary
antibacterial prescribing at a Trust level. Antibacterial usage with local peers within London has remained static during
this period.

i. Reducing quinolones, carbapenem and other ultra-broad spectrum antimicrobial usage

Broad-spectrum antibacterials, including quinolones (e.g. ciprofloxacin) and carbapenems (e.g. meropenem), are
continually monitored to ensure all use in clinically appropriate. CWFT has continued to reduce total usage of these
broad-spectrum therapies in response to the MHRA alert on quinolone safety and to reduce selective pressure on
carbapenemase producing organisms (CPO), for quinolones and carbapenems, respectively. Carbapenem use remain
low and are reducing despite increasing trends with NHS London peers; >25% overall reduction at CWFT versus a 9%
increase with London peers [Figure 9].
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Carbapenem usage
CWFT versus London acute trust providers
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Figure 9. Carbapenem usage at CWFT overtime and compared to NHS London peers

The overall quinolone usage has reduced by >16% at CWFT trust over this period compared to a 10% median increase
by NHS London peers [Figure 10]. All quinolone usage is reviewed by the AMS team and safer alternative offered where
appropriate.

Fluoroquinolone usage
CWEFT versus London acute trust providers
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Figure 10. Fluoroquinolone usage at CWFT overtime and compared to NHS London peers

The CWFT has also managed to control ultra broad-spectrum, piperacillin/tazobactam, during this period, maintaining
usage levels similar to baseline. Usage has reduced by 14% since baseline (2018) despite an increase of >30% seen
across NHS London peers during this same period.
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Piperacillin/tazobactam usage
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Figure 11. Piperacillin/tazobactam (Tazocin) usage at CWFT overtime and compared to NHS London peers

Optimising antifungal usage

Systemic antifungal stewardship is embedded within the AMS Pharmacy and infection teams with a focus on the safe
and effective use of antifungals whilst minimising any unnecessary antifungal usage. Total systemic antifungals (under
specialist commissioning) has diversified at the CWFT from baseline in 2018 with a move away from ultra-broad
amphotericin (Ambisome) intravenous treatment. This reduces patient risk of drug toxicity namely kidney failure (15-
30% of treated patients are expected to develop some kidney dysfunction). All high-cost antifungals are reviewed by
the AMS pharmacy team and the Trust has introduced in-house biomarkers (e.g. serum beta D-glucan) which have
supported these improvements. Total antifungal costs have reduced from £336,000 in 2018/19 to £224,000 in 2023/24
representing a >£100,000 saving in drug costs.
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Figure 12: Antifungal spend at CWFT

16.3.3. Patient related outcomes

i. C. difficile Infections

Antimicrobial-associated diarrhoea and associated C. difficile infection (CDI) is a known complication of antimicrobial
exposure in patients. Prolonged antimicrobial courses and use of broad-spectrum therapies are known risk factors for
CDl in hospitalised patients. Reducing this exposure through antimicrobial stewardship interventions through the CWFT
AMS group helps mitigate this risk and reduce future CDI cases. Rates have reduced over the last two years against a
backdrop of an increasing trend nationally and reassuringly the CWFT has the lowest rates of CDI across England (versus
peer NHS acute teaching hospitals). The infection, prevention and control team lead on the CDI improvement projects
but the AMS team supports through its daily review of all broad-spectrum antibacterial prescribing in hospital.
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Area Recent Count Value

£ Trend £ £
England = 7,289 204
Teaching trust -+ 3,187 21.2
Lancashire Teaching Hospitals = 167 52.1
“ork Teaching Hospital - 107 354
Wirral University Teaching Hospital -+ a3 31.0
University College London Hospitals - 63 30.4
Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust = 226 25 8*
Leeds Teaching Hospitals - 161 259
The Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals = 118 243
Derby and Burton Foundation Trust - 123 244
Cambridge University Hospitals - a8 241
Kings College Hospital - 115 238
Royal Free Lendon - 73 231
Morth Cumbria Integrated Care NHS Foundafion Trust - 47 22 0*
Liverpool University Hospitals -+ 116 21.7*
University Hospital Birmingham - 205 21.3*
Oxford University Hospitals -+ 79 211
Sheffield Teaching Hospitals - 103 211
Salford Royal = 108 210 S
Southampton University Hospitals - 78 EEN |
University Hospitals Bristol and Weston L [ix2] 1947 _
Mottingham University Hospitals = ag 17.7 |
Blackpoal Teaching Hospitals S 47 17.7
University Hospitals Of Leicester = 103 17.6 [
Barts Health MHS Trust S 114 172
Imperial College Healthcars = 58 16.6 [N
Merfelk and Morwich University Hospitals = 59 165 [N
Bradford Teaching Hospitals = 35 16.2 |
Guys and 5t Thomas = 55 13.0 [
University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire = 51 13.2 R
St Georges Healihcare = 36 1.7 R
Hull and East Yorkshire Hospitals = 40 10.5 [N
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital - 30 10.1* -

Sowrce: HCA! Msndstory Sunveillance Dats

Indicator Definitions and Supporting_Inform ation

Figure 13. Chelsea & Westminster NHS Trust vs NHS peers for hospital acquired CDI rates

ii. Crude mortality

The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) (Nov 2023) data highlights CWFT overall lower expected mortality
than predicted. Whilst this data should be interpreted with caution and does not link directly to the AMS / Infection team
performance, it does provide some reassurance that there is no signal of harm associated with the changes in
antimicrobial usages introduced to CWFT over the last decade.
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Figure 14: Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) (Nov 2023)

Respiratory Infections — Review of Practice

Pneumonia is the one of the most common infective complications on admission to CWFT. Local prescribing guidelines

and diagnostic pathway

s have been updated since the COVID-19 pandemic with aim to optimise management of lower

respiratory tract infections. Mortality has trended down over this period but caution with interpretation needed due to
impact of COVID-19 impact on mortality. Work to promote shorter treatment courses in line with local AMS strategy
has as yet, no measurable impact on length of stay (LOS) in this cohort. Future work is required to reduce hospital

length of stay for adult patients admitted with

Table 12. Patient (adult) outcomes related to ICD-10 coded respiratory tract infections

April 2020/21 April 2021/22 April 2022/23 April 2023/24

cwW 229 520 936 1,038
Patient admissions

WM 606 900 1,329 1,538

cwW 9.7 10.2 8.8 9.5
Average LOS (days)

WM 10.3 9.3 10.8 9.4
Adult In-hospital cwW 17.5% 11.5% 9.9% 10.2%
mortality (all-cause) | wm 19.5% 11.2% 14.4% 10.5%

Urinary Traction Infections — Review of Practice

Urinary tract infections

remains one of the top five infection diagnosis groups coded for mortality. Whilst the numbers

of community-onset cases of invasive Gram negative infection increase, CWFT continues to provide robust empirical

treatment guidelines fo
further work is needed

r adult patients with Gram negative sepsis. Mortality remains low across both sites however
to reduce LOS across both sites and increase ability to ambulate patients.
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Table 13. Patient (adult) outcomes related to ICD-10 coded urinary tract infections

April 2020/21 April 2021/22 April 2022/23 April 2023/24

Ccw 335 641 857 919
Patient admissions

WM 670 864 937 1,066

Ccw 7.8 6.3 6.5 7.0
Average LOS (days)

WM 6.1 6.5 7.7 7.9
Adult In-hospital cw 1.2% 2.3% 1.8% 1.2%
mortality (all-cause) | \y 2.7% 2.7% 1.8% 2.9%

Sepsis of unclear origin — Review of Practice

Patients presenting with infection with systemic signs of sepsis have been a focus of quality improvement work under
the CWFT. Work to improve access to antibacterials, timely identification and treatment and more robust diagnostic
pathways has been coordinated by the Sepsis and Antimicrobial teams. The AMS team provides daily review of all
patients treated for sepsis across both sites (exception of ITU and paediatrics) to ensure appropriate and timely

management.

Sepsis coding varies between practice therefore comparisons should be cautiously interpreted. The average LOS
remains high across both sites. Further work is required to investigate the crude mortality differences between the two

sites of CWFT (see below)

Table 14. Patient (adult) outcomes related to ICD-10 coded ‘Sepsis — of unknown source’

April 2020/21 April 2021/22 April 2022/23 April 2023/24

cwW 242 329 396 352
Patient admissions

WM 337 379 366 482

cwW 12.5 9.5 10.8 12.6
Average LOS (days)

WM 12.1 11.5 15.0 12.6
Adult In-hospital cwW 12.8% 11.9% 16.4% 13.4%
mortality (all-cause) WM 21.4% 33.5% 25.4% 21.4%

16.3.3 COVID-19 related activity

The AMS stewardship team have lead on the Trusts response to COVID19 treatments from March 2020. Over 2023/24,
the team has continued to support the safe and effective use of novel therapies including tocilizumab, remdesivir,
sotrovimab, molnupiravir and Paxlovid® into clinical practice for both out- and in-patient population. All prescribing is
overseen by the antimicrobial team to ensure safe and effective use of these novel therapies. A guideline and
prescriber information guideline has been created by the AMS and Microbiology / ID teams. The team has also
supervised the COVID19 medicines delivery unit (CMDU) introduction since December 2021 and provides 5 day
prescribing support for this complex patient group. A total of 1,147 patients received one or more of these therapies as

an in-patient over the last 12 months.

16.3.4 AMS priority objectives

AMS core objectives run continuously and seek to give assurance to national indicators. Priority objectives are set in

line with any emerging issues.
34

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Veﬁ'\i}éqéil—p%g%% of 355



&9 Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

NHS Foundation Trust

Table 15: Priority objectives for 2024/25
1. Provide safe and effective patient care

Effective use Reduce infection related complications (e.g. reduce C. difficile infection and other invasive hospital

acquired infections (S. aureus, Enterobacterales and Influenza) by

:rf'ltimicrobials e introducing personalised dosing and durations for common bacterial infections

(right drug, e minimising exposure to broad spectrum antimicrobials

right time,

right dose) Action: The AMS team review 150 — 250 individual patients each day (Mon-Fri; all non NICU
patients) to assess appropriateness of antimicrobials [21,000 patient reviews in 2023/24]. This
supports ambition to reduce sub-optimal treatment and reduces the risk of deteriorating patients /
sepsis
Measures: National benchmarking for ABX use (ACCESS %), HA-CDI rates, HA-MSSA and
Enterobacterales

safe use of Action: Ensure appropriate use of antimicrobials with known harm

antimicrobials e Reduce Trust use of quinolones since 2018 (>15% reduction in total usage since MHRA
alert); all pre-packs removed from A&E and patients discharged from hospital should
receive CWFT PIL on FQ

e Broad spectrum ABX account for <40% of total ABX use at CWFT thus reducing risks of
AMR / C. difficile infection (this is one of lowest % in England).

e TDM guidelines and individual follow up for patients on narrow therapeutic window
antimicrobials (e.g. aminoglycosides, glycopeptides and azoles).

e Nephrotoxic Ambisome use has reduced by >50% from baseline follow QI project (a £120k
annual saving for NHSE); aim to maintain low level prescribing

e All patients with known C. difficile colonisation are reviewed on admission using a ICNET
trigger alert to ensure timely and appropriate safe use of ABX

Measures: National benchmarking for ABX use (ACCESS %), HA-CDI rates, QI projects on TDM and
annual ABX Drug Safety report

2. Improve efficiencies and savings for the Trust

Promote early discharge and hospital avoidance in patients with infections

:?sr:‘ll\arge e  AMS pharmacy lead OPAT service operating across site with >30 patients/day managed on
service IV antibacterials outside of the hospital. This facilitates early discharge and direct A&E
referrals for hospital avoidance. Daily AMS rounds identify patients for early discharge
e promotion of IV-PO switch program results in early discharge (CQUIN <15% of patients on
IVs in appropriately)
e Introduction of short-course therapy to promote early discharge. The AMS team review
150 — 250 individual patients each day (Mon-Fri; all non NICU patients) to assess
appropriateness of antimicrobials [19,000 patient reviews in 2022/23] and provides
bespoke discharge plans
Measures: National benchmarking for ABX use, Hospital length of stay, OPAT activity, IV/PO
antibacterial usage
Minimising The antibacterial (in tariff) and antifungal (PBR excluded) costs are £1.95m and £0.23m in the last
drug spend year (2023)

e Overall increase in antibacterials by £300k in 2023; this is due to off-contract ABX
purchasing by CWH site. The ABX cost/1,000 admissions, despite off contract penalties,
remains stable with the help of reducing overall ABX prescribing by 19% from 2018.
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e BlueTeq forms completed for high-cost ABX to obtain 50% cost saving (>£60k direct cost
saving 2023)

e  Ambisome use reduction through AMS team has saved £120k/annum (NHSE saving)

o Self-filling of elastomeric pumps in OPAT/AEC saves approximately £80-100/day/patient
(introduced by AMS team)

Measures: National benchmarking for ABX spend and QI projects on prescribing

17. Body Fluid Exposure — Occupational Health
Report written by NWL OH service Manager

The Trust’s core health and safety and occupational health policies continue to be updated to ensure that such
documents support both main hospital sites and satellite locations.

Details and data relating to incidents, complaints, claims, risk registers and occupational health data are captured on
Datix, a web-based, integrated safety learning system. The Datix system is subject to further enhancements to include
other patient safety topics, such as patient experience and mortality reviews, and supports a robust reporting culture
throughout the Trust to improve our safety practices.

There were 44 RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 2013) incidents
reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) during 2023/24, of which 26 related to CW and 17 to WM. 1 incident
was RIDDOR reported for community nursing/clinics provided by the Trust. The Trust’s health and safety team works
with clinical and corporate departments to support a system of ward/department accreditation. All clinical areas are
accredited each year.

A total of 216 body fluid exposures, including sharps and splash injuries relating to staff, were reported during the
period (2023-2024), an increase of 27 from the previous year’s report 2022-2023 of 189 incidents.

In May 2023-2024, the occupational health service transferred, to the NWL Occupational Health Shared Service, hosted
by Central and Northwest London NHS Foundation Trust. Post transfer a number of data inputting and incident
recording systems have been enhanced, 151 incidents have been recorded using the enhanced system (see summary
information in table 11). The remaining 65 cases were pre system changes.

OH cannot comment on the needle-stick / sharps injury figures from the period 2022/2023. However, the figures
provided in Table 1.0 are comparable to the data shared and discussed in the safer sharps meeting. This meeting is held
monthly and chaired by the Director of Nursing. In the safer sharps meeting all cases of needle-stick or sharps injuries
are discussed, lessons learnt are shared and training needs identified. The managers provide assurance of actions
taken.
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Table 16: Sharps and Body Fluids Exposures for 2023-2024

Contact with Contact with Exposure to Needle stick /
Parameters Sharps — Clean Sharps — Dirty Biological Hazard Sharps Injury Total
. (full details) (Inc. splash / spill) | (limited details)
Incident
Affecting Staff ! 113 37 65
Total 1 113 37 65 216

Sharps / BBF exposures
A detailed description of all incidents reported to OHS is attached — see appendix 7.

Table 17: Sharps / BBF exposures Summary Information

Items 1%t April 2023 -31*" March 2024
Number of Incidents of Blood & Body Fluids,
exposure reported in each quarter

Number of total of Incidents of Blood & - 113 Needles / Sharp / Instrument
Body Fluids exposure - 37 Bites / mucocutaneous

- 1 Not known

Hepatitis B

- 4 Positive

- 64 Negative

- 83 Unknown source or not tested

2023-2024 =151 Incidents reported to OH

Hepatitis C

- 3 Positive

- 64 Negative

- 84 Unknown source /or not tested / deemed low risk

Donor BBV status

- 6 Positive

- 64 Negative

- 81 Unknown source or not tested
- 133 immune

Recipient hepatitis B immunity - 18 not immune (non-responders or not fully protected at time
of incident)

Recipient booster hepatitis B vaccine 140 given boosters

Staff groups:

Doctor All (Including trainee ) 70

Nurse / Midwife / Student / Agency Nurse 50

HCA / Support worker / Admin 13

Manager / Lead Nurse 3

PAM’s 4

11 (Data cleanse underway-not all employment details / Positions

Not recorded in OH data base )

Incident involving sharps assessed by OHS 151 sharps assessed by OHS

59 incidents involving sharp devices may have been avoided if
Preventable incident as assessed by OHS safer devices where deployed or used correctly.

with safer devices As per previous reports — Work to be done re donor bloods and
the safe use of safer sharp devices
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Outbreak Management

2023-2024 has seen an expediential increase in outbreak management exercises with each scenario affecting multiple
staff members. The OH department has supported the organisation in managing these events. It is important to note
these events take priority, which has at times had a negative impact on other core OH activities and associated KPI.

18. Decontamination
Report written by Decontamination leads.

The department successfully passed the annual three -days External Audit in July 2023 to confirm compliance with the
requirements the 1ISO 13485:2016.

The service is currently certified by NQA for this quality system but it is now in the process of transferring to a UK
Approved Body in order to be able to re-register with MHRA and supply products externally to other legal entities. The
transfer of the quality system certification to SGS UK (Approved Body) is scheduled to take place on 23 April 2024,
with subsequent UK/MDR Compliance Audits scheduled for July and August 2024. It is anticipated that the department
will therefore be able to register with MHRA by the end of September 2024.

e The new traceability system (Fingerprint) has been implemented also at West Middlesex.

e The new Quality Management System is under constant review with a full training programme to ensure
compliance.

e At Chelsea an Ultrasonic machine has been installed in September 2023; this will facilitate the cleaning of
cannulated items and sets that are more complex.

e At West Middlesex in endoscopy, four washer disinfectors and the five drying cabinets have been upgraded.

Departmental Improvements

The current structure for SSD and EDU is not fit anymore to accommodate the extra activity by all theatres, endoscopy
and clinics, more staff need to be employed; a business case has been already submitted.

Six new cabinets have been replaced throughout the Trust during the first phase, validation to be approved by AE, the
remaining four will be replaced during phase 2 starting in May 2024.

In the EDU department at Chelsea, the ventilation is currently being rebalanced.

EDU JAG Accreditation Audit will take place once all the cabinets have been validated.

Communication needs to improve with all the department /scheduler, to avoid cancellation and delays and to allow
SSD/EDU to plan for staff and equipment accordingly.

Sharps
There has been an improvement so far compare to 2023 however, we are still receiving sharps with the instruments.

SSD has been working closely with the wards to understand the root cause of the problem.
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Table 18: SSD Clinical User Error 2023
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SSD Clinical User Error 2023 Yearly
Total
Jan | Feb | Mar | Apr | May | Jun | Jul | Aug | Sep | Oct | Nov | Dec
Sharps / Blades 1 1 1 3 2 2 3 1 14
Other items returned 0
to SSD
Single use items 1 1
returned to SSD
Missing Items 3 1 3 8 1 5 1 4 1 27
Totals 4 0 1 3 1 1 11 3 7 1 8 2 42
CLINICAL USER ERROR 2023
o o M Sharps/ Blades
8
7 B Other item returned
g to SSD
4 3 3 .
3 Single use Items
2 i:I 1 I__L«i 1 returned to SSD
g-) i 1 1 I 1 1 I 1 B Missing Items

44927 44958 44986 45017 45047 45078 45108 45139 45170 45200 45231

Table 19: SSD Clinical User Error 2024

Figure 15: SSD Clinical User Error 2023

SSD Clinical User Error 2024 Yearly
Total
Jan | Feb | Mar | Apr | May | Jun | Jul | Aug | Sep | Oct | Nov | Dec
Sharps / Blades 3 2 5
Other items returned 3 3
to SSD
Single use items 0
returned to SSD
Missing Items 2 1 3
Totals 2 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
CLINICAL USER ERROR 2024  Sharps/ Blades
3.5 33
3
B Other item returned
2-5 Z Z
2 to SSD
1.5 1 1 Single use Items
11 returned to SSD
0.5 A
O A 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 J

45292 45323 45352 45383 45413 45444 45474 45505 45536 45566 45597

B Missing Iltems

Figure 16: SSD Clinical User Error 2024

39

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Ve@\ifé?aﬁl_p%gsz% of 355



&9 Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

NHS Foundation Trust

19. Trust Estate’s & Facilities Monitoring
Not available

19.1. JCA - Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

Report written by JCA Engineering Manager

JCA continue to contribute to the monthly Water Safety Group (WSG). ZetaSafe is constantly reviewed by the team on
site and the water AE, so when necessary additional outlets are added. The red readings on Zeta temperatures, those
falling outside of the required parameters, have been reported at the WSG monthly meetings. Identified infection risks
readings, for Pseudomonas and Legionella, have been subject to regulatory and IPCT guidance in non-clinical areas, risk
assessments have been undertaken to identify where samples need to be taken in clinical areas.

JCA have Responsible and Deputy Responsible persons on site who have both completed responsible person training in
Practical Water Safety for Healthcare Premises courses. In addition, there is a lead water technician and a water
technician who have completed water safety for healthcare technicians’ course.

The main control measures around both Legionella and Pseudomonas aeruginosa are based on maintaining the correct
temperatures, flushing little used water outlets, and minimising dead legs. Where positive counts have occurred in
clinical areas, remedial actions were immediately taken along with resamples. All microbiological samples are analysed
by UKHSA. Positive results usually have a local identifiable cause, such as low use of the outlet. All outbreaks are
thoroughly investigated to ascertain the root cause of the problem.

The Legionella risk assessment was carried out in May 2022, a review is due in 2024. JCA have completed the remedial
actions from the risk assessment in 2020 and pick up other identified remedial actions from the review assessments.

The hydrotherapy pool has now been removed.

The monitoring of the negative pressure rooms continues on a monthly basis. Where rooms were outside of the
accepted parameters remedial actions were taken. This area has now been added to the vent safety group to ensure
escalation in the correct area.

19.2. Equans (Formerly Bouygues Energies and Services) — West Middlesex Hospital

Report written by Bouygues Contract Manager

The change of year between 2023 and 2024 also saw the change in the Bouygues company - the FM arm of the
company now goes by the identity of Equans. The team on site remain the same.

Equans have representatives on, and continue to support, the Water Safety Group (WSG) and the Infection Prevention
Control Group (IPCG) and are also part of the Ventilation Safety Group (VSG). We have had training for both RPs and
CPs for Water along with appointments, and are currently booking training in 2024 for further Water RP and CP

roles. We have one appointed Ventilation AP on site, and are booking training for a further AP.

Equans at West Middlesex Hospital have continued the use of the ZetaSafe system. This is used to gather and analyse
water related data, allowing good insight into potential problems as well as good practice on the site. As a company
started to roll ZetaSafe out to other sites to assist with water safety management.
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The flow issue that was identified affecting the time it takes water to get to temperature in Richmond Ward and AEC,
has been worked on over the year with replacement thermal balancing valves installed in place of flow regulating valves
on both the first and Ground floor. This has been completed successfully on the Ground floor, and work continues on
the first floor. A new return leg has been installed from Richmond/AEC back to the main plant room. This issue has
been discussed in the Water Safety Group and there is a control scheme in place which includes daily flushing of outlets
in the affected area, along with enhanced monthly microbiological testing.

Microbiological testing is undertaken by a UKAS accredited lab. Positive results usually have a local identifiable cause,
such as low use of the outlet, but this year we have seen an increase of showers or utility rooms being used for storage
which has a deleterious effect on the water system. Equans have also introduced further colour coding with a quarterly
change, so any unchanged showers are easily identifiable. Equans are continuing to see a reduction in Pseudomonas
aeruginosa levels, but the past year has seen an increase in Legionella in some areas. Where possible, with agreement
from the Trust, some low use outlets have been completely removed. Any and all outbreaks are thoroughly
investigated to ascertain the root cause of the problem.

Ventilation validation has been carried out in all designated procedure rooms and theatres across site, and are carrying
out a condition survey of the AHUs in the main building in April and May of 2024.

Water risk assessments for all areas of the site were carried out in May of 2023.

All other HTM03-01 AND HTMO04/L8 compliance has been adhered to and the site is well maintained.

19.3. Water Management

Report written by Authorising Engineer (Water)

The Trust operates an established water management system in line with the requirements of HTM-00 and HTM-04-01.
The Trust has in place the key elements of a Water Policy, Water Safety Group, the key appointments of Designated
Person, Responsible Persons and Authorising Engineer (Water), Water Safety Plan, Written Schemes of Control,
Legionella risk assessments, Pseudomonas aeruginosa risk assessments to augmented care areas and a documented
record system. Between the two sites the maintenance service providers implement the required control measures
identified in the written schemes of control and maintain the records. The control programme includes an element of
investigative and reassurance sampling. The status of the programme and any exceptions noted are reported by the
maintenance service providers to the Water Safety Group. For any out of specification results appropriate response
actions are implemented as may be required. The Authorising Engineer (Water) acts to provide external support and
presents a summary overview of the status of the water management programme each quarter to the IPCG.
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Appendix 1: Terms of Reference - Infection Prevention and Control Group

1. Constitution

The Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) Group is established as a formal sub-committee of the Patient Safety Group,
which in turn reports to the Quality Committee, a formal Committee of the Trust Board.

The group will

e workto an annual plan

e monitor performance against targets/objectives and against policy standards

e report on the incidence and prevalence of ‘alert organisms’

e report on the nature of any outbreak of infection

e develop & maintain IPC policies and

e Reportinto & provide assurance to the Patient Safety Group on all aspects of IPC.

The Patient Safety Group will review and approve these Terms of Reference on a yearly basis.
2. Authority

The IPC Group is directly accountable to the Patient Safety Group, and will provide a summarised report of activity on a
quarterly basis, with more frequent reporting by exception as required or at the request of the Director of Infection
Prevention and Control.

3. Aim

The IPC Group will concern itself with all aspects of IPC for employees, patients and visitors to the Trust and will
operate in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and CQC Regulation 12 Guidance.

4. Objectives

e To approve and review progress against the annual plan for IPC.

e To approve the annual report for IPC prior to presentation to the Patient Safety Group/Quality Committee.

e To advise the Chief Executive Officer of any serious problems or hazards relating to IPC.

e To monitor Trust performance against the healthcare acquired infections explicated in the Health and Social
Care Act 2008 including externally set objectives.

e To monitor performance against hand hygiene, use of personal protective equipment and the high impact
intervention care bundles and associated internally set targets.

e To approve Trust policies in relation to IPC and monitor the relevance of and compliance with them.

e To advise on the planning and development of services and facilities in the Trust on issues relating to IPC.

e To monitor hard and soft facilities management, including water safety, on both sites on a monthly basis.

e  Monitor and report on Trust responsiveness to outbreaks of infection from ward to executive level.

e Examine and provide feedback on IPC audits on a regular basis.

e The Group will consider any other reports relevant to IPC of staff working in the Trust.

e The Group will be kept up to date with new or revised international, national or local guidance and legislation.

e  Receive quarterly reports from:

Decontamination Lead

Head of Occupational Health

Public Health England/Health Protection Units.

Antimicrobial Stewardship Team

o O O O

Surgical Site Surveillance Officers
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e Receive the following annually:
o Sharps and inoculation incidents and audits

5. Method of working

The IPC Group will have a monthly standard agenda with additional quarterly and annual reports.
6. Membership

The Members of the IPC Group shall comprise of:-

e Director of Infection Prevention and Control (Chair)

e Director of Nursing

e  Consultant Microbiologists

e Infection Prevention and Control Specialist Nurses

e Antimicrobial Pharmacists

e Consultant in Communicable Disease Control / Health Protection Team Nurse
e Health and Safety Manager

e  Occupational Health Manager

e  Trust Decontamination Lead

e Deputy Director for Facilities and Estates

e |ISS Soft FM General Manager

e  Bouygues Energies and Services General Manager

e JCA General Manager

e Divisional Senior Nurses including DDNs, Lead Nurses and Matrons
e Senior Divisional Doctors

e Divisional Directors

e Infection Prevention and Control Team Administrator
Core members are expected to send deputies in their absence.
Meetings of IPC Group shall not be held in public.

Only the Group Chair and members shall be entitled to be present. In addition, other members may be invited to attend
some meetings depending on the agenda items to be discussed at the invitation of the Group.

7. Quorum

The quorum shall be 8 members, of whom one shall be either the chair or a nominated deputy and at least 1
representative from each division.

8. Frequency of Meetings

The Infection Prevention and Control Group will meet monthly using video/teleconferencing facilities to enable across
site attendance.

Members are expected to attend a minimum of 80% of the meetings. If members cannot attend, they should expect to
send a well briefed deputy.

9. Secretariat

Papers, action logs, minutes and agenda to be circulated by the IPC Team.
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The meeting slides will be uploaded onto the intranet up to 72 hours before the meeting. The notes of the meeting will
be uploaded onto the intranet once approved. Both will stored by the IPC Team.

10. Review

The IPC Group will review these Terms of Reference on a yearly basis. Any recommended changes to the Terms of
Reference will require the approval of the Patient Safety Group.

Next review: July 2024
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Table 20: IPC Policies — All policies are currently up to date with clear review dates and are updated earlier if required

due to changes in national guidance

Policy Title Review Date
VHF May-24
Aseptic Technique Jun-24
Standard Infection Control Precautions Jul-24
Multi-Resistant Organism Oct-24
Hand Hygiene Jul-25
MRSA Jul-25
Management of Outbreaks Aug-25
Investigation of Healthcare Associated Infections and Surveillance Sep-25
Isolation of Patients Sep-25
Infection Prevention and Control Overarching Sep-25
Infection Prevention and Control during Building Works - Prevention of nosocomial Aspergillosis Oct-25
Linen Nov-25
Decontamination Nov-25
Group A Streptococcus Nov-25
Control of Varicella-Zoster Virus Infection Nov-25
MERS CO-V and Other Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Viruses Jan-26
PVL Jan-26
Infection Control of Tuberculosis in Hospital Jan-26
Prevention and Control of Clostridium Difficile Jan-26
Policy for the Prevention of latrogenic CJD/ vCID and other TSEs/Prion Diseases Feb-26
Animals on Hospital Premises Guidelines Jul-26
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Appendix 3: IPC Data (Figures 17 - 44)

UK HSA Mandatory Surveillance of bacteraemias April 2013 - March 2024
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100
80
60
40
20
0 \ —
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
MRSA MSSA  ess=wE.cOli  emmmmK|ebsiella Spp.  e====Paeudomonas aeruginosa
Figure 17: Mandatory Surveillance of bacteraemias 2013 — 2024
Mandatory Surveillance of Gene and Toxin Positive CDI Cases
April 2013 - March 2024
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Figure 18: Mandatory CDI Surveillance of Trust attributed cases April 2013 — March 2024
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BENCHMARKING 2023/24 MRSA BACTERAEMIAS BY COUNT AND RATE
M Total Count M Rate per 100,00 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 19: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed MRSA bacteraemias by count and rate against local organisations.

BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED CDI CASES BY COUNT AND
RATE
H Count B Rate per 100,000 beds days + day admissions
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Figure 20: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed CDI cases by count and rate against local organisations.
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BENCHMARKING 2023/34 TRUST ATTRIBUTED MSSA BACTERAEMIAS BY
COUNT AND RATE
H Count B Rate per 100,00 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 21: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed MSSA bacteraemias against local organisations

BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED E.COLI BACTERAEMIAS BY
COUNT AND RATE
H Count B Rate per 100,00 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 22: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed E.coli bacteraemias against local organisations
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BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED KLEBSIELLA SPP.
BACTERAEMIAS BY COUNT AND RATE
H Count M Rate per 100,000 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 23: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed Klebsiella Spp. bacteraemias against local organisations.

BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED PSEUDOMONAS
AERUGINOSA BACTERAEMIAS BY COUNT AND RATE

H Count M Rate per 100,000 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 24: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust Attributed Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemias against local organisations.
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Hand Hygiene Audit Data

2023/24 Trust Hand Hygiene Audit Compliance and Completion per Month
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Figure 25: 2023/24 Hand Hygiene Compliance and Completion

2023/24 WMH Hand hygiene Audit Compliance and Completion per Month
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Figure 26: 2023/24 WMH Hand Hygiene Compliance and Completion per Month
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2023/24 CWH Hand Hygiene Audit Compliance and Completion per Month
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Figure 27: CWH Hand Hygiene compliance and completion per month.
2023/24 Hand Hygiene Audit Results per Division
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Figure 28: Hand hygiene monthly compliance per division
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EIC Hand Hygiene and High Impact Intervention Audit compliance 2023/24

100% E E ﬁ E f

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%
APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEP OoCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

HH cve PVC uc PPE

Figure 29: EIC High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month

WMH EIC Hand Hygiene and High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance 2023/24
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Figure 30: PC High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month
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CWEFT SC Hand Hygiene and High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance
2023/24
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Figure 31: SC High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month

CWFT WLCH Hand Hygiene and High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance 2023/24
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Figure 32: WLCH High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month
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ENT Hand Hygiene and High Impact Intervention Audit Results 2023/24
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Figure 33: ENT High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month

CWFT CS Hand Hygiene and PPE Audit Compliance 2023/24

e

80%

60%
40%
20%

0%
APR MAY JUNE JULY AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR

e e PPE

Figure 34: CS High Impact Intervention Audit Compliance per month
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Divisional IPC Metrics

2023/24 TOTAL COMPLIANT METRICS VS. TOTAL FAILED METRICS
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I :
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@ Compliant Metrics 1983 1771 2255 513 915 241
Figure 35: 2022/23 Total Compliant Metrics vs. Total Failed Metrics
EIC: No. of IPC metrics audited vs No. of failed metric per month
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Figure 36: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month
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PC: No. of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month

180

160

14

12

10

8

6

4

| I

0 i

April June July August September  October  November December

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

B No. of IPC metrics B No. of failed metrics

Figure 37: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month

SC: No of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month
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Figure 38: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month

56

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Veﬁ\mal_p%g%ﬁ) of 355



QS& Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

NHS Foundation Trust

CS: No. of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month
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Figure 39: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month
WLCH No. of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month
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Figure 40: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month
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CS: No. of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month
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Figure 41: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month
ENT: No of IPC Metrics Audited vs No. of failed Metrics per month
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Figure 42: No of compliant vs. failed metrics per month
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CPE Surveillance

Table 21: CPE matrix by organism and mechanism of resistance.

2023/24 CPE Surveillance Data
Organism IMP ( cpl:sﬂgz:e d) NDM CN»“("AD 488‘ OXA48 | VIM TOTAL
Acinetobacter baumannii 0 3 0 0 0 0 3
Acinetobacter sp. 1 0 1 0 0 0 2
Citrobacter freundii 2 0 0 0 1 1 4
E.coli 0 0 23 5 22 0 50
E.coli & Klebsiella pneumoniae 0 0 1 1 0 0 2
Enterobacter Spp. 2 0 2 3 2 0 9
Klebsiella pneumoniae 4 1 4 4 7 0 20
Morganella morganii 0 0 1 0 0 0 1
Pseudomonas aeruginosa 0 1 0 0 0 2 3
Total 9 5 32 13 32 3 94
CWH 2023/24 (New) Positive Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales
Cases by Mechanim of Resistance (n=52)
m OXA 48
B NDM
B NDM & OXA 48

mViM

B MDRO (CPE tagged)

uIMP

Figure 43: CWH Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales (CPE) Surveillance 2023/24
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WMH 2023/24 (New) Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales CPE Cases
by Mechanism of Resistance (n=42)

mOXA 48

B NDM
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Figure 44: WMH Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales (CPE) Surveillance 2023/24
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Appendix 4: Deep Dive of MRSA Bacteraemias 2023/24

There were four Trust attributed MRSA bacteraemias from April 2022-March 2023; breaching the national target of
zero cases of avoidable infections. However, this is a 42.8% reduction in cases on the previous financial year. Of these
four cases, two were community derived with patients admitted with signs and symptoms of infection consistent with
MRSA infection but attributed to the Trust due to the date of blood culture receipt in relation to admission date.

All cases occurred at the CW site; 2 cases occurred in quarter 1 and a further 2 cases in quarter 3, see Figure 45 for a
breakdown of wards attributed.

2023/24 Trust attributed MRSA bacteraemias by ward (n=4)

H NICU
B SMA
ICU
Figure 45: Trust attributed MRSA bacteraemias per ward
BENCHMARKING 2023/24 MRSA BACTERAEMIAS BY COUNT AND RATE
B Total Count M Yearly Rate per 100,000 bed days + day admissions
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FOUNDATION TRUST

Figure 46: Trust attributed MRSA rates benchmarking against other organisations
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Root Cause Analysis (RCA) meetings were held for all cases and the learning and improvement opportunities identified
are described below. The RCA process established that MRSA blood stream infection was likely acquired before
presenting to CWFT. :

*  Prudent antibiotic stewardship remains important

=  Compliance with the 5 moments of hand hygiene imperative

= Improve appropriate management of Intravenous devices

=  Maintain high standards of environmental hygiene

= Reduce inappropriate use of gloves.

=  Prompt screening for MRSA

=  Prompt isolation of patients with MRSA

=  Prompt prescribing and appropriate administration of MRSA topical suppression therapy

NNU MRSA cluster — Case 1 and 2

During the first quarter of 2022-23, three babies were colonised with MRSA and 2 babies subsequently developed
MRSA bacteraemias. Sequencing results suggested one cross transmission event (same VNTR) and one differing VNTR
profile.

There was Divisional oversight with frequent unit visits from senior leaders and the IPC team. An action plan was
developed and monitored. High level walkabouts of the unit resulted in improvements in unit environmental and
equipment cleaning. Processes were developed to improve the existing management of intravenous devices,
environmental cleaning, hand hygiene, PPE use, and prompt isolation of MRSA babies. Additional support was provided
by UKHSA at incident meetings. The IPC team continues to support he neonatal unit with frequent auditing, walkabouts
and training and education session.

SMA - Case 3

Case details: Post incision and drainage of abscess at CWH, the patient was discharged for post-operative wound care
with their local GP. The patient was referred to ED on 16/11/23 by the GP practice with concerns of infection of the
wound. On presentation to ED, bloods and blood culture were taken; the patient was clinically well and discharged
with oral antibiotics (safety netted). The blood culture subsequently isolated MRSA and the patient was re-admitted for
appropriate antibiotics.

The RCA highlighted that the patient was not decolonised after initial MRSA swab results, pre axilla incision and
drainage. Wound swabs were also not taken in theatres which may have altered antibiotic prophylaxis given.

ICU- Case 4

This was a medically complex case. The patient screened positive for MRSA on surface swabs along with a viral
respiratory screen positive for Influenza A on admission on 31/12/2023. The patient was MRSA blood culture positive
on 02/01/2024, and it was noted that the patient was difficult to bleed with poor skin integrity and therefore this may
have contributed to the positive culture. However, the patient was appropriately managed with targeted MRSA
antimicrobial therapy and rapidly cleared MRSA from cultures.

62

Infection Prevention & Control Annual Report 2023-24 — Ve&i}éqéil—p%g%i% of 355



629 Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

NHS Foundation Trust

Appendix 5: Deep Dive of 2023/24 Trust attributed Clostridioides difficile

From April 1°t 2023 to March 31°t 2024 there were 35 Trust apportioned Clostridioides difficile infection (CDI) cases
against a yearly target of 25. Each case is subject to monthly mandatory reporting to UKHSA (previously PHE) by the
infection prevention and control team (IPCT) and is also presented at IPCG, the Trust Executive Board, Patient Safety
Groups and divisional forums.

CDI data is presented on a monthly basis to the Infection Prevention and Control Group and information regarding
lessons learnt is subsequently made available to Trust staff via the Trust intranet site and learning is shared at ICS and
ICB level and locally through the IPCG.

The graph below illustrates that the Trust continues to have low rates of trust attributed CDI in comparison to other
London NHS Trusts with a rate of 12.07.

2023/24 London NHS Trusts - Rate per 100,000 Beds Days + Day

Admissions
] 27.51
LONDON NHS TRUST AVERAGE RATE ] 17.84
] 22.88
UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION... ] 24.61
| 44.74
THE HILLINGDON HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ] 18.15
11309
ROYAL NATIONAL ORTHOPAEDIC HOSPITALNHS TRUST 1 9.00
] 23.86
NORTH MIDDLESEX UNIVERSITY HOSPITALNHS TRUST —___ ] 12.45
0.00
LONDON NORTH WEST UNIVERSITY HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST ] 17.85
11357
KINGSTON HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ] 18.50
] 20.87
IMPERIAL COLLEGE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST ] 21.76
] 19.15
GUY'S AND ST THOMAS' NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 1 15.24
1711
EPSOM AND ST HELIER UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS TRUST ] 24.80
11266
CHELSEA AND WESTMINSTER HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION... ] 12.07
] 23.14
BARKING, HAVERING AND REDBRIDGE UNIVERSITY... ] 16.96

Figure 47: UKHSA CDI benchmarking graph

Whilst the Trust exceeded the target of 25 Trust attributed cases set in the NHS 2023/24 Standard Contact, regression
modelling indicates that cases are down trending from the 39 cases in 2019/20 and comparable to 2020/21.

This is a reduction of 10.25% in comparison to 2019/20, and a reduction of 2.77% in comparison to 2021/22 cases.
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Trust attributed CDI cases 2019/20 - 2023/24

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Figure 48: Trust attributed CDI total cases by financial year 2019-2024.

In addition, CWFT continues to perform well in comparison to local organisations within the sector with the lowest rate
(per 100,000 bed days + day admissions), as detailed by the graph below.

BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED CDI CASES
BY COUNT AND RATE

H Count M Rate per 100,000 beds days + day admissions
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Figure 49: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust attributed CDI cases by count and rate

The IPC team monitor all CDI cases in the organisation and offer advice, guidance and support to healthcare staff on the
ongoing management of patients diagnosed with C. difficile.
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Root Cause Analysis (RCA) meetings are requested by the IPCT for each health healthcare associated C.difficile case and
are held in conjunction with the patient’s medical and nursing team and the antimicrobial pharmacist. Ribotyping is
performed on all cases and can help identify if cases have been linked by time or location to assess for potential cross-
transmission. The purpose of the RCA meeting is to ascertain if there were any ‘lapses in care’ that may have
contributed to the development of CDI at CWFT.

CDI Ribotyping of Trust Attributed CDI Cases 2023/24
{n=15, further results pending)

w020 «078 & 220 053 w072 w002 « 005 wUnknowntype
Figure 50: CDI Ribotyping of Trust Attributed CDI Cases 2023/24
Table 22: CDI Ribotyping of Trust attributed CDI Cases 2023/24

CDI Ribotyping of Trust attributed CDI Cases 2023/24
(n=15, further results pending)

CDI Ribotype No. of cases
020 4
078
220
053
072
002
005

RININ|IFRP|IRR|I NN

Unknown type
TOTAL 15

Of the 35 cases attributed to the organisation in 2023/24, 32 RCA meetings were held and the remaining 3 have been
requested and will be carried out in early 2024/25.
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A review of the RCAs identified:

e 1 lapse in care that may have contributed to the development of CDI, related to antibiotic prescribing and have
been addressed by the Pharmacy team. This is a 50% reduction in cases identified as having a lapse in care
(that may have contributed to the development of disease) in comparison to the 2022/23 financial year.

e 4 known positive patients (positive at CWFT/other organisations within 6 months) were retested and reported
as a new Trust attributed case.

e  Of the 6 COHA cases, 2 were known to have had other healthcare interactions between their initial discharge
from CWFT and their re-admissions and subsequent positive results.

Trust attributed CDI cases by Division

As expected, the majority of Trust attributed CDI cases occurred in the Emergency and Integrated Care Division with the
second largest cohort occurring in the Planned Care division.

2023/24 Trust Attributed CDI Cases by Division

mEIC HPC W ENT

EWLCH mSC

Figure 51: 2023/24 Trust Attributed CDI Cases by Division

Further issues identified through the RCA process but that did not contribute to the acquisition of C. difficile infections,
are highlighted in the table below:
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Table 23: Issues and Subsequent Actions Raised at C. diff RCA Meetings
Issue identified Action Taken

Poster devised.

Resending of known CDI positive samples for | CDI checklist on Cerner prompting and assessment for necessity of
testing. sample.

Education sessions delivered to nursing and medical teams

Included in IPC training and education sessions.

Stool charts poorly completed
I > Frequent reminders made on ward visits and supported by

divisions.

IPCT assisting with side room prioritisation as required, side room
pathogen priority tool relevance maintained.

The importance of prompt isolation of symptomatic patients even
Delay in isolating patients on development of | whilst pending a diagnosis is included in IPC training and education
symptoms sessions.

Point prevalence review conducted for IPC APC review to help
support all Trusts with identifying why delays occur.
Clinical teams advised to document requests for side rooms

o . . Review and revision of AMS policies in line with national guidance
Antimicrobial prescribing

and local epidemiology
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Appendix 6: 2023/24 Gram negative Bacteraemia Deep Dive

E.coli Bacteraemia

From April 15t 2022 to March 31t 2023 there have been 127 Trust attributed E.coli bacteraemia cases and 279
community attributed cases. Figure 51 illustrates Trust vs. Community Attributed E.coli bacteraemia from April 2021 to
March 2023. Figure 52 benchmarks CWFT cases and rates against other organisation in North West London. From July
2020, a new PHE/UKHSA apportionment algorithm was introduced on all reportable blood stream infections. Trust
attributed cases now include:

HOHA: Healthcare onset — Healthcare associated cases — diagnosed after day 2 of the current admission

COHA: Community onset- healthcare associated — diagnosed on day 1 or 2 of the current admission with a previous
admission within 28 days of their positive blood culture.

The algorithm change has increased the number of bacteraemia cases attributed to the Trust and unfortunately does
not take into account any other inpatient stays/ GP interactions a patient may have had within the 28 days after leaving
CWFT and being readmitted.

Trust vs. Community Attributed E.coli Bacteraemia Cases April 2021- March 2024

35

= Trust attributed Community Attributed

30
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15
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Figure 52: Community vs. Trust attributed E.coli bacteraemia April 2021- March 2024
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BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED E.COLI BACTERAEMIA
CASES BY COUNT AND RATE
H Count Rate per 100,00 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 53: Benchmarking 2023/24 Trust attributed E.coli Bacteraemias by count and rate against local organisations.

From June 2023, the IPC and microbiology team meet monthly to review all (reportable to UK HSA) bacteraemias in the
aim of identifying ‘modifiable risk factors’ (which may have contributed to the development of the bacteraemia), with
the aim of improving patient care and outcomes.

From June 2023, 12 bacteraemias have been classified as having a ‘modifiable risk factor’. Figure 53 shows the
breakdown of ‘modifiable’ cases in that period by organism.

Trust Attributed bacteraemias identified as having a
'modifiable risk factor

n

= E.coli = KlebsiellaSpp. = MRSA = MSSA = Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Figure 54: Trust Attributed bacteraemia cases with a ‘modifiable risk factor’ per organism.
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All cases classified as ‘modifiable’ are reported on Datix, the leading factors were:

e Line Care (CVC, Arterial, PICC etc.) (59%)
e Urinary Catheter Care (33%
e Delay in treatment (8%)

The IPCT carry out E.coli bacteraemia surveillance and each individual hospital acquired case is reviewed in order to
establish the cause of the infection and to identify possible changes to healthcare practice.

The leading sources of infection from internal surveillance are:

e Lower Urinary tract —36%

e  Gastrointestinal/ Intra-abdominal - 21%
e Hepatobiliary - 10%

e  Upper Urinary tract — 10%

Klebsiella spp. Bacteraemias

From April 1°t 2023 to March 31t 2024 there have been 50 Trust attributed Klebsiella spp. bacteraemia cases and 68
community attributed cases. Figure 55 illustrates Trust vs. Community Attributed Klebsiella spp. bacteraemia from April
2021 to March 2024. Figure 56 benchmarks CWFT cases and rates against other organisations in Northwest London.

Trust vs. Community Attributed Klebsiella spp. bacteraemia Cases
April 2021 - March 2024
12
Trust Attributed Community Attributed
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Figure 55: Community vs. Trust Attributed Klebsiella spp. Bacteraemias April 2021 — March 2024
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BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED KLEBSIELLA SPP.
BACTERAEMIA CASES BY COUNT AND RATE
H Count M Rate per 100,000 bed days + day admissions
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Figure 56: Benchmarking 2023/24 Klebsiella spp. Bacteraemias by count and rate

IPCT surveillance of all Trust attributed Klebsiella spp. Bacteraemias found the leading sources of infection were:

e  Gastrointestinal/ Intra-abdominal collection: 36%
e Lower Urinary Tract: 20%
o Hepatobiliary: 10%

Pseudomonas aeruginosa Bacteraemia

From April 1%t 2023 — March 31t 2024, there have been 22 Trust attributed Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemias and
17 community attributed cases. Figure 57 below illustrates Trust vs. Community attributed cases from April 2021 —
March 2024.
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Trust Attributed vs. Community Attributed Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemia
cases April 2021 - March 2024
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Figure 57: Trust vs. Community Attributed Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemias
BENCHMARKING 2023/24 TRUST ATTRIBUTED PSEUDOMONAS
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Figure 58: Benchmarking Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteraemias against local organisations
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IPCT surveillance of all Trust attributed Pseudomonas aeruginosa cases found the leading sources of infection were:

e Lower Urinary Tract: 18%

e Unknown —Source unclear: 18%

e  Gastrointestinal/ Intra-abdominal collection: 14%
e  Burn - Skin/ soft tissue: 14%

Initiatives to address the increase in Gram-negative bacteraemia:

Monthly Microbiology and IPCT review of all Trust attributed blood stream infections, are conducted with the aim of
identifying modifiable and source risk factors for intervention and further action improve patient care and outcomes.

Urinary catheter audits are completed on a monthly basis by each clinical area/Division, and aim to improve the
management of urinary catheter and reduce catheter related infections. Divisional representative’s feedback action
plans and share progress at the IPCG to help reduce catheter infections that may result in Gram-negative blood stream
infections (BSI).

Additionally working collaboratively with surgical and colorectal teams to review cases and improve anti-microbial
management is important to decrease intra-abdominal infections and subsequent Gram-negative BSI.

Further work at the ICS level is being conducted where an audit review of community prescribing with ICS is being
established, in order focus on improving urinary tract diagnosis, prescribing and catheter care to prevent blood stream
infections and hospital admissions.

Over the coming year 2024-25 the IPCT will be focusing on improving the identification, diagnosis and management of
healthcare associated E. coli bloodstream infections in order to improve patient care. Currently E.coli BSI represent
55% of all Gram-negative BSls and the IPC team will continue to collaborate with the ICS and CWFT clinical and
community colleagues to help improve patient care and reduce hospital admissions, as approximately three-quarters
of E. coli BSls are community attributed

Appendix 7: Sharps Summary

SHS_SharpsV2
(6).xIsx
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1. Introduction

The Chelsea and Westminster NHS Foundation Trust (CWHFT) Annual Falls Report details the systems and processes in place
to reduce the incidence of falls with harm for adults receiving care at the Trust. The report demonstrates the robust falls
management processes and oversight within the Trust utilising data to guide improvement processes overseen by the Falls
Prevention Steering Group.

The Trust delivers specialist and general hospital care at Chelsea and Westminster Hospital (CW) and West Middlesex
University Hospital (WM). Both hospitals have major Emergency Departments, provide a range of inpatient care services
and our Trust provides one of the largest maternity services in England.

The Trust commitment to preventing and reducing falls with harm to its patients population, and promoting safe mobility, is
underpinned by the three strategic objectives; to deliver high quality, patient centred care, to be the employer of choice
and to delivered better care at lower cost. The Trust operates an ambitious quality improvement programme and our well-
embedded improvement process enables the delivery of the falls reduction improvement programme.

This report covers the period from April 2023 to March 2024 and provides assurance that systems are in place to ensure
that falls risk is adequately assessed, the risk is adequately mitigated, and that staff are supported to deliver high quality,
safe patient care.

The purpose of this report is to:

e Provide an overview of falls activity at CWHFT in 2023/24
e  Provide assurance that CWHFT is using data to drive improvements
e Provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Falls Prevention Steering Group

2. Governance

The CWHFT Chief Nursing Officer is the executive lead responsible for ensuring that the Trust assesses, mitigates and
reduces the risk of falls with harm for our patients. The Falls Prevention Steering Group is a sub-group of the Patient Safety
Group which reports into CWHFTs Quality Committee. The Falls Prevention Steering Group reports into the Patient Safety
Group on a quarterly basis with the ability to escalate ad hoc should the need require.

The Falls Prevention Steering Group is an MDT forum chaired by a member of the Corporate Nursing Team. The group
meets monthly and leads, promotes and informs the falls prevention agenda across CWHFT. The group is responsible for
ensuring there are systems in place to support the safe delivery of care for our patients to reduce and mitigate falls
occurring while patients are being treated at the Organisation.

The steering group aims to reduce falls with harm by:

e Reviewing and analysing data to target improvement focus

e  Monitor the adequacy and frequency of falls risk assessments and care plans to ensure risks are mitigated
e Drive staff knowledge and education to deliver safe and effective care in relation to falls

e  Support a culture of continuous improvement

The objectives of the Falls Prevention Steering Group are:

e To monitor the effectiveness and implementation of the falls prevention agenda and associated improvement
action plan, informed by themes arising from incidents

e  To use Trust data to support the wider falls improvement programme

e Toreview and implement national best practice guidance

e To ensure participation in national clinical audits and to ensure the outputs of these are used to inform the falls
prevention improvement programme

e To support staff knowledge and inform education programmes to enable them to consistently provide evidence
based practice

e To ensure the Trust Policy for Inpatient and Non-Inpatient Slips, Trips and Falls is reflective of national guidance
and best practice and to monitor the effectiveness of the policy utilisation

Overall page 331 of 355



3. Falls at CWHFT

Falls and fall-related injuries are a common and serious problem for older people. People aged 65 and older have the
highest risk of falling, with 30% of people older than 65 and 50% of people older than 80 falling at least once a year. NICE
guidance recommends that older people in contact with healthcare professionals should be asked routinely whether they
have fallen in the last year and those who present for medical attention because of a fall, or show other indicators affecting
their risk of falls should be offered a multifactorial falls risk assessment and an individualised multifactorial intervention
where required.

All patients who are admitted to CWHFT who are aged 65 or over, or who are over the age of 50 who are identified on
admission to have a comorbidity which would pre-dispose them to a fall, are to have a multifactorial falls risk assessment
within 6 hours. If a patient is at high risk of falls a multifactorial care plan is then to be completed. In addition to this a bed
rail risk assessment must also be completed. Both the risk assessments and care plan support staff to identify, mitigate and
reduce the risk of patients falling and sustaining harm while they are being cared for within our organisation.

Any fall which occurs at the Trust requires an incident form to be completed on datix, irrespective of the harm caused by
the fall. The information required within the datix includes when and where the fall happened, what equipment was
involved, what the person was trying to do, the injuries sustained and subsequent assessment and movement of the
patient, what footwear was worn and any contributory factors, what time the Doctor was notified and what treatment was
implemented. The level of harm caused by the fall must also be included as part of the incident form. There are five levels of
harm which form part of this classification as detailed below:

e NoHarm

e Low Harm (minimal harm, patient(s) required extra observation or minor treatment)

e Moderate Harm (short term harm, patient(s) required further treatment, or procedure)
e Severe Harm (permanent or long term harm)

e Death (caused by the patient safety incident)

In line with NHS England guidance, any patient who has fractured their hip as a result of an inpatient fall must have their
level of harm classified as severe. This is because following a fractured hip patients are unlikely to regain the levels of
mobility and independence they had prior to the fall.

Analysis

Falls per 1000 bed days improved at the Trust in 2023/2024 compared to the previous year, with an average rate of 3.4
compared to 3.6 in 2022/23. Both years were within the control limits and in November 2023 the falls rate was below the
Trust target of 3.0 for the first time since April 2020. The Trust target for falls is currently a metric under review; it is
nationally recognised that eliminating inpatient falls is an unattainable achievement and that the focus should be on
avoiding falls with harm as well as promoting safe and effective post falls care. There was a high rate of falls during the
summer period (June-September) in 2022/23, with an average of 3.9, but this improved notably for the most recent period
to 3.2. However 2023/24 did see a sharp increase in December and January when the falls rate peaked at 3.9 then 4.1. Upon
review of the data this increase is in line with winter pressure and the use of elective wards to care for non-elective
patients.
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Table 1: Falls per 1000 bed days 2022-2024

Patient falls per 1000 bed days
Apr-22 to Mar-24
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In comparison to historical data the Trust has significantly decreased the rate of falls per 1000 bed days. In early 2020 the
rate of falls per 1000 bed days was at 5.6 in April and 5.7 in May. Comparatively in 2023 for the same 2 months the rate was

3.5in both April and May.

Table 2: Falls per 1000 bed days Apr-20 to Mar-24
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When comparing the two sites there is variability month on month in terms of the rate of falls per 1000 bed days. The CW
site has greater peaks than the WM site, most notably in June 2022 (4.48) and March 2023 (5.01). Rates at the WM site
appear more stable. Both sites on average have reduced their rate of falls per 1000 bed days in 2022/23 compared to

2022/23 with CW falling from 3.69 to 3.46 and WM falling from 3.46 to 3.36.
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Table 3: Falls rate per 1000 bed days Apr-22 to Mar-24 by site
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In addition to improvements in the falls per 1000 bed day rate there is also a decrease in the degree of harm sustained by
those who are falling. Patients who sustained severe harm (i.e. fractured hip) or above has fallen from 11 in 2022/23 to 3 in

Mar-23

Apr-23
May-23
Jun-23
Jul-23

Aug-23
Sep-23
Oct-23

Nov-23
Dec-23
Jan-24
Feb-24

e Patient Falls Per 1000 Bed Days West Mid

2023/24. There is however a rise in moderate harm which will be a priority to addressed in 2024/25.

Table 4: Falls by Degree of Harm

Mar-24

2021/2022 | 2022/2023 | 2023/2024
No harm 1017 1120 1123
Low harm 217 207 221
Moderate harm 6 5 18
Severe harm 12 11 3
Death 3 2 0
Total 1255 1345 1365
Incidents by Degree of harm and Reported
(Financial year)
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0 P
No harm Low harm Moderate harm Severe harm Death
W 2021/2022 1017 217 6 12 3
m2022/2023 1120 207 5 11 2
m2023/2024 1123 221 18 3 0
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The highest incidents of falls are seen in the inpatient areas and the Emergency Departments. There are minimal falls in
general areas across the Trust.

Table 5: Falls by Location
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A detailed breakdown on falls by inpatient ward area is reviewed monthly at the Falls Prevention Steering Group. The
majority of the falls occur within wards under the Emergency and Integrated Care Division with the exception of Osterley 1
which is a Planned Care Ward. Reviewing this data has allowed for focussed work to be undertaken with the ward leaders in
these areas.

Table 6: Falls by Ward top 10
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When reviewing the data for patients who are medically optimised, which is now a mandatory field on datix which wasn’t
previously available, we can see that 10% of the falls which occur are for patients who are medically optimised. This figure
has declined over 2023/24 whereby in May it was 15.32% and in March it was 7.03%. It is noted that the mandatory field
was introduced at the end of April which accounts for the low figure seen.
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Table 7: Medically Optimised Falls Data

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb  Mar Total
No. of falls reported | 112 111 106 100 | 106 103 117 94 128 | 148 112 128 1365

Was the patient 2 17 11 5 14 13 21 6 12 13 17 9 140
medically optimised
prior to the incident
occuring?

% - Was the patient | 1.79% |[15.32%|10.38% (5.00% [13.21%|12.62% [17.95% |6.38% [9.38% | 8.78% |15.18%|7.03%| 10.26%
medically optimised
prior to the incident
occuring?

Upon review of the timing of the inpatient fall we can see that the vast majority occur when the ward is at its busiest for
2023/24 between 1201 and 1800.

Table 8: Falls per Time of Day 2023/24

Fall by time band - 2023/24

400

350

300
250
200
W 2023/24

150
100
50
0

00:00 - 06:00 06:01:12:00 12:01:18:00 18:01:11:59 Not recorded

Those in the 80-89 age bracket have more falls followed by those who are between 70 and 79 years of age. The ethnicity of
patients who fall is now a mandatory field on datix and this data will be available for analysis from the end of May 2024.

Table 9: Falls by Age Band 2023/24

Falls by Age band 2023/24

400
350
300
250
200
e TOtal
150
100

50

Under 18 18-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90+ Not
recorded
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Compliance with both falls risk assessment and bed rails risk assessment has improved in 2023/24 in comparison to
2022/23. At the CW site falls risk assessment within 6 hours of admission completion was 50.4% in 2023/24 compared to
32% in 2022/23 with WM seeing a raise from 37.4% in 2022/23 to 58.3% in 2023/24. Despite an improvement this falls
short of the internal target of 90%. Similarly for bed rails assessment this increased at CW from 15% in 2022/23 to 65.1% in
2023/24 and from 23% at WM in 2022/23 to 5835% in 2023/24. The 2023/24 compliance rate still remains below the Trust
internal target of 90%.

In Q4 of 2023/24 there has been a focus on utilising digital tools to enable to the care delivery to patients. One such tool is
the Timely Care Hub module on the Care Coordination Solution. In addition to supporting board rounds and long length of
stay reviews the Quality Round view allows teams to view in real time compliance with key risk assessments including both
falls risk assessments and bed rails risk assessments. This has supported the increase in risk assessment completion which in
turn has enabled greater risk mitigation to reduce the risk of inpatient falls. April and May of 2024 focussed training on
better utilising all core elements of the timely care hub has been delivered and it is expected that compliance will continue
to rise through 2024/25.

Table 10: Risk Assessment Completion in 2023/24 and 2022/23 by Site

Falls risk assessment and bed rails assessment -

by site
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Falls risk assessment Rails assessment completed Falls risk assessment Rails assessment completed
completed <Ghrs in <Bhrs completed <Ghrs in <6hrs
Chelsea and Westminster West Middlesex

2022123 w2023/24

Table 11: Timely Care Hub Quality Round View

BoardRound  Criteria ToReside  Quality Round

Infection

Bed Location A Patient Age Basic Oral Bed Rail Falls Risk Prevention Moving And Handling S Pain Pressure Risk BodyMassindex  Covarced
West Middlesex - WM KEW - Bay 03 - Bed 05 _ 7 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
west Middlesex - wm kew -Bay 03-Bedos [ EEEE 83 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
west Middlesex-wh kew -Bay 04-sed 01 [ EEEEEIN | ¢ Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
West Middlesex - W KEW - Bay 04-Bed 02 | N EEEEEEEEN a3 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
West Middlesex - WM KEW -Bay 04-Bed 03 [N 7 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
West Middlesex - WM KEW - Bay 04 - Bed 04 _ 90 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
West Middlesex - wh Kew - Bay 04-Bed 05 | N IEEEE 80 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
Z";:E?_'g‘;'giex - WM KEW - Boarding N - Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
Z’::\t Middlesex- W KEW - Side Room A - _ a3 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete
West Middlesex- WM KEW - Side Room B [ ] 85 Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete Complete

SRB
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Following an inpatient fall there is a post fall protocol. This provides a framework to ensure that the correct care is delivered
post fall and also to reduce the risk of further injury when providing care after a fall and directs decision makers to onward
required referrals to further protect the patient to teams such as the fracture liaison team.

The post falls protocol focusses on the following elements:

e Not moving the patient until assessed by a Doctor

e Assessment for serious trauma using the CABCDE pneumonic (catastrophic haemorrhage, airway with spinal
protection, breathing, circulation, disability [neurological] and exposure and environment)

e  Following the correct pathway based upon the assessment

e Using a scoop hoist (this ensures if there is a fracture of the hip no further damage is done)

e Referring confirmed fracture patients to the orthopaedic and fracture liaison teams

e  Reporting all falls on datix

The post falls protocol is documented within the electronic patient record.

4. National Audits

National Audit of Inpatient Falls (NAIF) 2023

The National Audit of Inpatient Falls is a national clinical audit commissioned by the Healthcare Quality Improvement
Partnership (HQIP) and managed by the Royal College of Physicians (RCP) as part of the Falls and Fragility Fracture Audit
Programme (FFFAP). FFFAP is designed to audit the care that patients with fragility fractures receive and the standard of
care received by patients at risk from falling in hospital and to facilitate quality improvement initiatives.

NAIF looks at 6 key components of the multifactorial risk assessments which are potentially modifiable or require care plans
to accommodate which can reduce the risk of a patient falling and sustaining harm. This is important as assessment of risk
will not prevent falls unless action is taken to address the identified risk factors.

The 2023 NAIF audit, covering data from 2022, showed that 75% of patients at the Trust had a multifactorial risk assessment
completion within their admission compared to 78% across England and Wales. This shows some improvement on last year
which showed 76% of patients having a multifactorial risk assessment completed. It is expected with the work detailed
above and using the timely care hub to enable prompt risk assessment that this will improve further.

Table 12: Multifactorial Risk Assessment Completion Breakdown

Vision assessment 45% 50%
Postural blood pressure 39% 50%
Medication review 74% 82%
Mobility assessment 91% 100%
Continence assessment 82% 92%
Delirium assessment 52% 40%

While Trust performance was similar or better than the England and Wales average across most measures, there remains
scope for improvement. The national audit team have asked all Trust to focus on postural blood pressure, delirium
assessment in addition to ensuring training for post falls care is effective and that processes support timely analgesia for
patients who are injured as a result of their fall. This request is informing the development of the 2024/25 improvement
plan for falls reduction.

The KPIs for the 2023 dataset have been changed to include post falls management in addition to a high quality MFRA being
completed. Upon reviewing annualised data averaged over 12 months to the end of January 2024 the Trust scores favourably
against peers within the Acute Provider Collaborative for the completion of a quality MFRA as well as ensuring patients are
checked for injury and safe moving of patients post fall. The 2024 NAIF audit is released in Q1 of 2024/25 and the Falls
Prevention Steering Group will use this to further inform improvement priorities for the next year.
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National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD)

The National Hip Fracture Database (NHFD) is a nationwide audit within the NHS concerning the management and
outcomes of patients with hip fractures. The NHFD aims to improve the quality and effectiveness of hip fracture care by
enabling clinical teams to monitor their performance against agreed clinical standards.

Fractured neck of femur in the elderly is a large contributor to hospital admissions in the United Kingdom. Studies show that
achieving the components set out in the Best Practice Guidance (BPT) is associated with decreased mortality rates. There
are 8 best practice criteria that are required to be met for patients with a fractured neck of femur and 6 key performance
indicators.

Best Practice Criteria

e Time to surgery within 36 hours

e Assessed by a geriatrician within 72 hours of admission

e  Pre-operative 4AT assessment

e  Bone protection medication

e  Specialist falls assessment

e Nutrition assessment during admission

e Delirium assessment using the 4AT screening tool during admission
e Assessment by a physiotherapist the day of or day following surgery

Key Performance Indicators

e  Prompt surgery: Surgery by the day following presentation with hip fracture

e  Prompt Ortho-Geriatric review: Assessed by a senior geriatrician (ST3+) within 72 hours of presentation

e NICE compliant surgery: Surgical procedure consistent with the recommendations of NICE CG124

e  Return to original place of residence: Discharged back to original residence, or in that residence at 120 day follow-
up

e Not delirious post-operation: Not delirious (<4 on 4AT test) when tested in the week after operation

e  Prompt mobilization: Mobilized out of bed (standing or hoisted) by the day after operation

In order to meet best practice tariff all criteria must be met for the patient.

Nationally the WM site compares favourably across the indicators in relation to the NHFD overall position with the
exception of prompt mobilisation. The CW site has a less favourable position however does compare favourably for NICE
compliant surgery, bone protection and patients returning to their original residence.

Table 13: West Middlesex University Hospital KPI Overview

KPI overview: WMU. West Middlesex University Hospital

Annualised values based on 245 cases averaged over 12 months to the end of April 2024, except KPI& and KPI 7 which are delayed to allow for follow up data to be included.

0. Admission to specialist ward 1. Prompt orthogeriatric review 2. Prompt surgery 3. NICE compliant surgery

40% 99% 75% 72%

NHFD overall: 9% NHFD overall: 88% NHFD overall: 59% NHFD overall: 69%

4. Prompt mobilisation 5. Not delirious post-op 6. Return to original residence 7. Bone medication

79% 73% 77% 86%

NHFD overall: 81% NHFD overall: 66% NHFD overall: 74% NHFD overall: 43%

Table 14: Chelsea and Westminster Hospital KPl Overview
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KPI overview: WES. Chelsea & Westminster Hospital

| Annualised values based on 233 cases averaged over 12 months to the end of April 2024, except KPIg and KPI 7 which are delayed to allow for follow up data to be included.

0. Admission to specialist ward 1. Prompt orthogeriatric review 2_ Prompt surgery 3. NICE compliant surgery

1% 85% 48% 80%

NHFD overall: 9% NHFD overall: 88% NHFD overall: 59% NHFD overall: 63%

4. Prompt mobilisation 5. Not delirious post-op 6. Return to original residence 7. Bone medication

63% 50% 78% 45%

NHFD overall: 81% NHFD overall: 66% NHFD overall: 74% NHFD overall: 43%

Table 15: 2023/24 Compliance with Fractured NOF Best Practice Tariff by Site

Fractured Neck of Femur
Best Practice Tariff compliance

100%
9%
80%
T0%
60%

50%
40% —

30%
200
10%
0%
Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23  Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24 Feb-24 Mar-24

Table 15 shows that performance across the two sites falls short of us achieving compliance with best practice tariff. The
West Middlesex site have better site performance than Chelsea however performance is inconsistent and lower than
desired.

Overall at both sites 30 day mortality is low for hip fracture patients. The time to theatre at the WM site is improving year
on year and is lower than the national position. In previous years the CW site time to theatre was below the national
position however this has not been the case in 2023/24 and is the key focus for the monthly working group to address.
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Table 16: Overall Performance West Middlesex Site

Overall performance - WMU. West Middlesex University Hospital

siuaued

Admission Year &

Patients ~+ Hours to operation (annual) -~ Hours to operation (national) 30 day mortality % (annual) -~ 30 day mortality % (national)

Table 17: Overall Performance Chelsea Site

Overall performance - WES. Chelsea & Westminster Hospital

Per cent (%) / Hours

Admission Year & Month

Patients + Hours to operation (annual) - Hours to operation (national) = 30 day mortality % (annual) -~ 30 day mortality 5 (national)

A monthly working group to improve compliance with fractured neck of femur best practice tariff compliance is in place
cross-site led by the trainee Orthopaedic Advanced Clinical Practitioners. This group reviews compliance each month with a
detailed case review for patients who do not meet all elements of the best practice requirement. This analysis has fed into
their improvement plans. Owing to the deteriorating position, in particular at the CW site, the governance arrangements for
this group will be changing for 2024/25 with the group moving from solely reporting within the division to having oversight
at the patient safety group to provide greater support to deliver best practice outcomes.

Improvement plans at both sites follow an improvement methodology with smart actions, action owners and timescales
dictated. The plans will utilise internally collected performance data to adapt using PDSA cycles to ensure improvements to
care.

Improvement Plan CW

e  Orthogeriatrician review
o Orthogeriatrician review has been impacted by shortages within the care of the elderly team
o Partnership working between planned care and emergency and integrated care has taken place
o Attempts to recruit to cover known gaps have been unsuccessful
o Further review of job plans is on-going to mitigate this risk, this is a continued action for 2024/25
e Time to theatre
o Medically fit patients
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=  Capacity constraints on the trauma lists at the Chelsea site have led to delays for patients. This is
impacted by the multi-speciality element of the trauma care provide at Chelsea which includes
plastics as well as trauma and orthopaedics both adults and children.

= |n addition to this the availability of specialist hip surgeons has had an impact

= Inorder to address an internal escalation group is in place to respond to situations in real time

= Job plans are being reviewed in order to provide consistent hip specialist support to the trauma
list on a more frequent basis. This is a continued action for 2024/25

=  Trauma list capacity if being reviewed in line with current demand

o Medically unfit patients

= [ssues regarding reversible coagulopathy are patient specific

= There have been identified issues regarding diagnostic testing pre-operatively which are now
being escalated via the escalation group.

Improvement Plan WM

e Time to theatre
o Medically fit patients
= Capacity constraints on the West Middlesex site are consistent with increasing volumes and
spikes in activity
=  Trauma list capacity if being reviewed in line with current demand
o Medically unfit patients
= |Issues regarding reversible coagulopathy are patient specific

5. Learning from Incidents

CWHFT has implemented the new Patient Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF) which supports the key principles of
a patient safety culture and allows for effective learning from incidents which occur. Reducing harm associated with
inpatient falls is identified as an improvement priority in our Patient Safety and Incident Response Policy and Plan.

In 2023/24 7 initial incident reviews (IIR) were completed for falls which led to 7 after action reviews (AAR). Owing to the
change in framework it is not possible to compare this with the 2022/23. Themes and trends from the |IRs and AARs are
shared and discussed at the Falls Prevention Steering Group and feed into the group’s action plan.

Key themes identified are:

e Environmental issues in bathrooms specifically flooring issues

e Completion of postural blood pressures

e Accessibility and usability of the MFRA on the electronic patient record

e  Education gaps including reminding staff of their responsibilities when ‘Bay Tagging’
e  Gaps in information given to patients

Using the key learnings from incidents, as well as national reports and the output of the NAIF audit the following
improvement work streams took place last year:

Environment Project Nell Gwynne Ward

Aim: To reduce inpatient falls on the stroke unit in the bathroom

Description: Data and incidents on Nell Gwynne Ward show that there is a disproportionate amount of patients who fall
when they are using the bathroom facilities. This resulted in approximately 2 falls per month.

Following a review of the environment a textured flooring is being installed as well as a change to ensure that water drains
faster which will reduce the slip risk.

We have also asked the falls equipment pilot provider to help with an alarm which alerts if a patient has moved from the
toilet so that staff can be aware to reduce falls.

Postural Blood Pressure Project Nell Gwynne and Syon 2 Ward

Aim: To improve appropriate recording of postural blood pressure at key times to reduce the risk of patients falling
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Description: it was noted through the review of incidents and from the external NAIF audit that compliance with recording
postural blood pressures for patients at risk of falls was low. A multidisciplinary team project identified that a key
opportunity for completing this assessment was pre a therapy session being delivered.

Data: Falls reduced on Syon 2 from 1.24 falls per 1,000 bed days to 0.38 falls per 1,000 bed days.

North West London Falls Documentation Project

Aim: To review the current electronic patient record for falls assessment and care plan with a view to work collaboratively
across the acute provider collaborative to ensure the system is in line with current guidance and user friendly to the
workforce

Description: Addition of a screening question for all patients 18 and over, if identified the full Multifactorial falls risk
assessment (MFRA) will be triggered. Depending on the outcome of the MFRA this would trigger either a core care bundle
or an extended care bundle, with recommendations for interventions. This is being reviewed at the North West London
Acute Provider Collaborative Nursing Documentation Governance Group.

Improving Stroke Rehabilitation by reducing the risk of falls on Kew Ward

Aim: To work as an MDT to produce a stroke rehabilitation specific falls risk assessment and care plan, this project ran for
approximately 1 year, ending in January 2024. Compliance with the ward specific risk assessment varied from 70% to 90%,
however it was heavily reliant on the nurse in charge and there was poor compliance with completing the care plan.

Upon review of the data, as shown below, the process was burdensome in terms of time with no significant impact on
reducing falls. Kew Ward have reverted to using the standard MFRA.

! No Harm | Low harm
Aug 2023 3 1
Sept 2023 3 0
Oct 2023 3 1
Nov 2023 3 1
Dec 2023 2 0
Jan 2024 7 0
Feb 2024 7 0
Mar 2024 0 1
Apr 2024 3 0
May 2024 3 0
June 2024 0 0

Equipment Project

Aim: To review falls prevention equipment

Description: following a review of falls prevention equipment across the organisation it was noted that there were
inconsistencies in knowledge and utilisation of different types of equipment that can support mitigating falls.

Outcome: new falls alarms are in place and standardised across the organisation. Floor line beds have been introduced as
part of the bed contract in addition to the purchase of crash mats.

Next Steps: to review the utilisation of the new equipment and assess if there has been a corresponding decrease in falls
with harm in 2024/25

Falls Awareness Week

Aim: to promote the risks associated with falls across the organisation to increase knowledge and engagement

Description: Falls awareness weeks ran at the organisation from 18/09/2024 to the 22/09/2024 There were several
activities supporting this including stalls at both sites for both members of the public and staff to receive additional
information. A number of documents were also shared including safe use of bed rails flow charts, think falls posters as well
as education sessions on the ward and executive messaging.

A simulated experience of sensory deprivation and its relation to falls was also provided. This involved using gloves, ear
defenders and glasses, which were modified to replicate common eye conditions. Staff were then asked to complete a
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puzzle, the aim of this was to provide staff with some insight into the difficulties our older adults have with dexterity, vision
and hearing.

6. Education

A total of 130 tailored sessions were delivered across the organisation in 2023/24. The content of these sessions are guided
by the latest internal incident details and investigation outcomes as well as being informed by the national audits and any
other relevant external information such as the national patient safety alerts. Agenda items include:

e  MFRA completion and what constitutes a high quality MFRA
e Care planning for falls

e Interventions for those at risk of falls

e  The post falls workflow

e  Safe use of bed rails

e  Postural blood pressure

A full Training Needs Analysis is underway to ensure the correct staff members have access to their training they require.
Informatics

In order to support the oversight of assessments and intervention delivered to our patient’s information is now available in
real time on the Timely Care Hub. This information is available to the ward teams to show where assessments have been
completed and where they are still to be done. This is a significant enabler which has supported the evidenced increase in
falls risk assessments taking place.

The Timely Care Hub also allows a retrospective monitoring view so that wards can see their monthly compliance across a
range of indicators including falls to allow tailored interventions for areas requiring improvements. In addition to this a falls
dashboard has been developed for a divisional, site and trust overview of data and incidents.

7. National Patient Safety Alert

In August 2023 the National Patient Safety Alert: Medical beds, trolleys, bed rails, bed grab handles and lateral turning
devices: risk of death from entrapment or falls (NatPSA/2023/010/MHRA) was issued. From 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2022, the MHRA received 18 reports of deaths related to medical beds, bed rails, trolleys, bariatric beds, lateral turning
devices and bed grab handles, and 54 reports of serious injuries. The majority of these were due to entrapment or falls. The
alert detailed 7 actions to be undertaken by the Trust:

e Update your organisation’s policies and procedures on procurement, provision, prescribing, servicing and
maintenance of these devices in line with the MHRA’s updated guidance on the management and safe use of bed
rails.

e Develop a plan for all applicable staff to have training relevant to their role within the next 12 months with regular
updates. All training should be recorded.

e Review the medical device management system (inventory/database) for your organisation or third-party provider
for devices within your organisation, including those which have been provided to a community setting (for
example, the patient’s own home). Keep this system up to date.

e Implement maintenance and servicing schedules for the devices in the inventory/database, in line with the
manufacturer’s instructions for use and/or service manual. Prioritise devices which have not had regular
maintenance and servicing. If this is outsourced, compliance with the schedule should be monitored.

e Review patients who are children or adults with atypical anatomy as a priority. Ensure the equipment they have
been provided with is compliant with BS EN 50637:2017 unless there is a reason for using a non-compliant bed.
Record this on the risk assessment and put in place measures to reduce entrapment risks as far as possible.

e  Review all patients who are currently provided with bed rails or bed grab handles to ensure there is a documented
up-to-date risk assessment. Complete risk assessments for patients where this has not already been done and for
each patient who is provided with bed rails or bed grab handles.

o Implement systems to update risk assessments where the equipment or the patient’s clinical condition has
changed (for example, reduction/improvement in weight or mobility), and also at regular intervals.

All of these actions were completed by the deadline, March 2024, with evidence reviewed and closure initiated of the alert
by the patient Safety Group.

8. 2024/25 Priorities and Improvement Plan
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The Trust will continue to prioritise reducing inpatient falls with harm with the operational Falls Reduction Steering group
managing the improvement programme and reporting to the Patient Safety Group. In addition to building on the work that
has been done in 2023/24 the group has an improvement plan to support the achievement of the group’s objectives. The
improvement plan is being developed based on the NAIF and NHFD key recommendations with targeted work on high risk
areas being included. Sharing best practice from high achieving areas is also informing the plan. This improvement plan is in
the process of being finalised and is due for agreement at the steering group in July with final approval at the Patient Safety
Group in August.

In addition to continuing the work that has started across North West London on falls documentation two other key
projects which will support the overall work plan include patient information and rapid learning with the introduction of hot
debriefs.

Fall Patient Information project in Acute Medicine

Aim: To provide written information on how patient can use strength exercise to reduce their risk of falls

Description: Falls information being given to patients will be reviewed by therapists who are subject matter experts and
links into a wider piece of work across the organisation on reducing deconditioning while patients are in hospital.
Supporting patients to be better educated on the risk factors of falls as well as exercises and activities they can participate
in to further reduce their risk is hoped to reduce the incidence of falls within the inpatient setting.

Introduction of Hot Debriefs to Support Rapid Learning

Aim: To introduce hot debriefs following a fall to ensure that learning takes place in the moment and that staff feel
supported

Description: an external expert from our Magnet twin hospital was invited to share practice at one of the steering group
meetings as they had reduced falls with the introduction of a hot debrief post incidents which facilitated rapid in the
moment learning. It supported the teams to understand why falls were happening in their areas and to take corrective
action. The choice of debrief tool is currently being finalised and will then be piloted in two inpatient areas.
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4.2 ACCESSABLE WORK UPDATE
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5. OTHER BUSINESS - ITEMS FOR NOTING
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5.1 UPDATES FROM GOVERNOR FOCUS CONFERENCE
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5.2 ANY OTHER BUSINESS

5.2.1 CoG Forward Plan and schedule of CoG Meetings 2024/2025
5.2.2 Governor Attendance Register

| REFERENCES Only PDFs are attached

A
k 5.2.1 - COG and Briefing Forward Plan and Schedule of meetings 2023-2025.pdf

A
k 5.2.2 COG Attendance Record (2024-2025).pdf

Overall page 349 of 355




Chelsea and Westminster Hospital m

NHS Foundation Trust
Council of Governors (CoG’s) Forward Plan 2024 - 2025
18 July 2024 26 September 2024 17 October 2024
CoGs Meeting CoGs Briefing Sessions (TBC) CoGs Meeting (TBC)
14:00 — 15:00 hours 16:00 — 17:00 hours 16:00 — 18:30 hours
Statutory/Mandatory Business | ¢  Minutes of Previous Meeting, including Winter Planning e  Minutes of Previous Meeting,
Action Log including Action Log
e To receive the Annual Report and Accounts e Annual Report from the Quality
which will be formally presented at the Committee (Chair — Steve Gill)
Annual Members Meeting e  Performance and Quality Report
e Annual Report from the Chair of the Audit (including Winter Preparedness and
& Risk Committee (Chair — Aman Dalvi) Workforce Performance Report)
e Update from Membership and e NWL Collaborative Update
Engagement Sub-Committee e Update from Membership and
Engagement Sub-Committee
Papers for information e Chair’s Report e Chair’s Report
e Chief Executive Officer’s Report e  Chief Executive Officer’s Report
e Quality Update (Infection Control; Patient e Quality Update (Radiation Protection;
Experience; Trust Quality Account and Resuscitation; Health and Safety)
Priorities) e Governors Elections 2024 — update
e  Accessibility work update e Accessibility work update
Other Business e Any other business (Forward plan/ e Any other business (forward
Schedule of meetings/Governor plan/Schedule of meetings/Governor
attendance register) attendance register)
5 December 2024 23 January 2025 20 March 2025
CoGs Briefing Session COGs Meeting CoGs Briefing Session
16:00 — 17:00 hours 16:00 — 18:30 hours 16:00 — 17:00
Statutory/Mandatory Business | Briefing topic/presentation to be confirmed e  Minutes of Previous Meeting, including Annual Plan/Strategy Review
Action Log
e Annual Report from the People and
Workforce Committee (Chair — Ajay Mehta)
e NWL Collaborative Update
e Update from Membership and
Engagement Sub-Committee

Page 10f3
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Papers for information

Chair’s Report

Chief Executive Officer’s Report

Quality Update (Mental Capacity Act &
Deprivation of Liberty; End of Life Care;
Human Tissue Authority and Human
Fertilisation and Embryology Authority
Report; Safeguarding Adults and Children)
Governors Elections 2024 — update
Accessibility work update

Other Business

Governors Away Day 2025 — update
Any other business (Forward
plan/Schedule of meetings/Governor
attendance register)

16 April 2025
CoGs Away Day (TBC)
Time TBC

16 April 2025
COGs Meeting (TBC)
Time TBC (1.5 hours)

CoGs Briefing Session (TBC)

19 June 2025

16:00-17:00

Statutory/Mandatory Business

Briefing topic/presentation to be confirmed

Minutes of Previous Meeting, including
Action Log

Annual Report Finance and Performance
Committee (Chair — Patricia Gallan)
NWL Collaborative Update

Update from Membership and
Engagement Sub-Committee

Briefing topic/presentation to be

confirmed

Papers for information

Chair’s Report

Chief Executive Officer’s Report

Quality Update (Research and
Development; Medication Safety; Learning
from Deaths/Mortality; Maternity)
Accessibility work update

Other Business

Any other business (Forward
plan/Schedule of meetings/Governor
attendance register)

Page 2 of 3
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17 July 2025 25 September 2025 16 October 2025
CoGs Meeting (TBC) CoGs Briefing Sessions (TBC) CoGs Meeting (TBC)
Time TBC 16:00 — 17:00 hours 16:00 — 18:30 hours
Statutory/Mandatory Business Minutes of Previous Meeting, including Winter Plan Minutes of Previous Meeting,
Action Log including Action Log
To receive the Annual Report and Annual Report from the Quality
Accounts which will be formally Committee (Chair — Steve Gill)
presented at the Annual Members Performance and Quality Report
Meeting (including Winter Preparedness and
Annual Report from the Chair of the Workforce Performance Report)
Audit & Risk Committee (Chair — Aman NWL Collaborative Update
Dalvi) Update from Membership and
Update from Membership and Engagement Sub-Committee
Engagement Sub-Committee
apers for information Chair’s Report Chair’s Report
Chief Executive Officer’s Report Chief Executive Officer’s Report
Quality Update Governors Elections 2025 — update
Accessibility work update Accessibility work update
Other Business Any other business (Forward plan/ Any other business (Forward
Schedule of meetings/Governor plan/Schedule of meetings/Governor
attendance register) attendance register)
Page 3 0of3
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Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS

NHS Foundation Trust
Council of Governors — Attendance Record 2024/2025
Governor Category Constituency 17.04.2023 17.04.2023 18.07.2023 17.10.2023 23.01.2025 TOTAL
Awayday
Lisa Addison Patient Patient Apologies Apologies
Constituency
Richard Public Royal Borough Apologies Apologies
Ballerand of Kensington
and Chelsea
Caroline Patient Patient Apologies Apologies
Boulliat- Constituency
Moulle
Julie Carter Public London DNA DNA
Borough of
Ealing
Cass J. Cass- Public City of N4 N4
Horne Westminster
Maureen Public London Apologies Apologies
Chatterley Borough of
Richmond
Upon Thames
Nigel Clarke Public London V4 V4
Borough of
Hammersmith
and Fulham
lan Dalton Patient Patient N4 N4
Constituency
Dr Nara Public London Apologies Apologies
Daubeney Borough of
Wandsworth
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Christopher Patient Patient Apologies Apologies
Digby-Bell Constituency
Simon Dyer Patient/Lead | Patient N4 V4
Governor Constituency
Stuart Fleming | Public London Apologies Apologies
Borough of
Wandsworth
Parvinder Public London Apologies N4
Singh Garcha Borough of
Hounslow
Minna Patient Patient v Apologies
Korjonen Constituency
Nina Littler Public Royal Borough N4 N4
of Kensington
and Chelsea
Rose Levy Public Hammersmith Apologies | Apologies
and Fulham
Stella Patient Patient N4 V4
Macaskill Constituency
Ras. | Martin Public Rest of Apologies Apologies
England
Mark Nelson Staff Staff: Medical Apologies Apologies
and Dental
Clir Will Pascal | Appointed Royal Borough Vv v
of Kensington
and Chelsea
David Phillips | Patient Patient J v
Constituency
Lucinda Staff Staff: Nursing N4 N4

and Midwifery
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Sharpe

Dr Desmond Appointed University
Walsh Governor
(Imperial
College)
Laura-Jane Public London
Wareing BOI’OUgh of
Hounslow
lo Public City of

Winterbottom

Patient Governors — 8; Public Governors — 14; Staff Governors — 6; Appointed Governors — 3.

Westminster
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